Lessons from the Landscape of Six-dimensional Supergravity Theories

by

ARCHIVES

Daniel Sung-Joon Park

B.S., Seoul National University (2004)

Submitted to the Department of Physics in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

at the

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

June 2012

© Massachusetts Institute of Technology 2012. All rights reserved.

Certified by....

Washington Taylor Professor of Physics Thesis Supervisor

May 15, 2012

Accepted by Krishna Rajagopal Chairman, Associate Department Head for Education

~

Lessons from the Landscape of Six-dimensional Supergravity Theories

by

Daniel Sung-Joon Park

Submitted to the Department of Physics on May 15, 2012, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Abstract

Comparing the set of supergravity theories allowed by low-energy consistency conditions with the set of string vacua provides useful insights into quantum gravity and string theory. In fact, such a "landscape analysis" for ten-dimensional supergravity theories was at the core of the exciting series of developments that is now referred to as the first superstring revolution. In this thesis, we discuss the lessons we learn about quantum supergravity and string theory by carrying out such an analysis for the space of six-dimensional supergravity theories with minimal supersymmetry.

We first review six-dimensional supergravity theories and explain why the space of these theories is an ideal place to carry out the landscape analysis. We then describe how anomaly constraints bound the space of consistent theories, *i.e.*, we map the space of theories T that satisfy known low-energy consistency conditions. We then go on to describe string constructions that give six-dimensional string vacua with minimal supersymmetry, *i.e.*, we map the space of theories $S \subset T$ that come from string vacua. Finally, we compare the space of theories T and S and explore its implications.

We first find that there is a large discrepancy between T and S. Among the set T - S, we identify some theories that are potentially new string vacua, but also identify many theories that cannot be embedded in any known string vacua. These theories may potentially be ruled out by yet undiscovered low energy constraints. Understanding these theories is an important step in addressing the question of string universality in six dimensions. We also find some surprising equalities that hold for Calabi-Yau threefolds that follow from demanding that F-theory string vacua should be consistent.

Thesis Supervisor: Washington Taylor Title: Professor of Physics To my family -

to Abba and Umma, who more than happily gave up whatever they had at the moment for their Junni, to Wullbaengee and Jaerongee, the two brightest stars on my celestial sphere,

and to Bolmu with best wishes on her new journey.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost I would like to thank my advisor, Professor Washington Taylor. If there is any resemblance of a serious physicist in my work, it is probably Wati who is responsible for it. Wati not only taught me physics, but showed me what it is to be a physicist.

I would also like to thank all the great teachers and mentors I have met throughout my graduate studies here at M.I.T. — Professors Allan Adams, Roman Jackiw, Alan Guth, Hong Liu, John McGreeevy, Iain Stewart, Frank Wilczek and Barton Zwiebach. It was a great honor and a privilege to be in such a great environment for learning for my graduate studies. I would especially like to thank Professor Jackiw for his kindness and encouragement throughout the years I've gotten to know him, Professor Hong Liu for his unwavering support for my work and Professor Allan Adams for not only being a mentor, but a great friend. I would more than often be excited about nonsensical half-baked ideas, or be puzzled about rather trivial issues and take them to Allan's office. Every time I committed this crime, he would patiently listen to what I had to say and eventually lead the discussion into a useful direction. I always walked out of his office more happy and enlightened.

I thank all the friends I have met here for being great teachers as well as, well, great friends. It is a great pleasure to have friends like Koushik, Jae Hoon, Riccardo, Teppo, Ethan, Paolo, Jeremy, Yoni, Shelby, Seung Ki, Minda, Mark, Josephine, Juven, Silviu, Vijay, David (Vegh), David (Guarrera), Eric, Nabil, Christiana and many more whose names I have probably clumsily omitted. I would, in particular, like to thank Koushik Balasubramanian for — at least apparently — happily listening to my stream of consciousness as well as for sharing his, which I apparently enjoyed listening to. I also thank Vijay Kumar for the great experience I had collaborating with him.

It is a pleasure to thank Scott, Charles and Joyce — three of the sweetest people I know — who made life here at the Center for Theoretical Physics a great experience. I, and I believe I speak for everyone here at CTP, would literally not have been able to do anything if it weren't for what they do. I was fortunate to meet many mentors and friends who have helped me understand various topics that I have worked on — including the subject of this thesis — better. I thank Lara Anderson, Federico Bonetti, Rhys Davies, Frederik Denef, Jacques Distler, Xi Dong, Michael Douglas, Mboyo Esole, Iñaki García-Etxebarria, Ben Freivogel, James Fullwood, James Gray, Thomas Grimm, Jim Halverson, Ben Jurke, Daniel Harlow, Olaf Hohm, Bart Horn, Yoonbai Kim, Abhinav Kumar, Kimyeong Lee, Joseph Marsano, Richard Melrose, Dave Morrison, Soo-jong Rey, Yasuhiro Sekino, Douglas Stanford, Lenny Susskind, Erik Tonni and Martijn Wijnholt for helping me understand the world better. I should mention that I have benefited greatly from attending string theory courses at Harvard, taught by Professors Andrew Strominger, Cumrun Vafa and Xi Yin. I thank them for being the great teachers they are.

I am happy to acknowledge the support I have received from the Korea Foundation of Advanced Studies, the Department of Energy and the National Science Foundation (as a String Vacuum Project Fellow) for my graduate studies.

I would also like to thank Professors Choonkyu Lee, Doochul Kim and Tae Won Noh, from my home college Seoul National University, for leading me into physics and providing guidance ever since. There is nothing else I would rather be doing than what I am doing now, and I am indebted to them for introducing me to this beautiful field.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family for their love and support. I would like thank Wullbaengee for being proud of her husband — I often wonder if she really knows how much this means to me — and Bolmu for rooting for her big brother. Finally, I would like to thank Mom and Dad for everything — I hope that what little work I have done here could add to the pride they have for their undeserving son.

Contents

1	Intr	oducti	on	17
	1.1	Motiva	ation	17
	1.2	The La	andscape Analysis and Six Dimensions	22
	1.3	Summ	ary of Results and Outline of Thesis	26
2	6D	(1,0) T	heories and Anomaly Constraints	33
	2.1	6D (1,	0) Theories and Anomaly Cancellation	34
		2.1.1	The Massless Spectrum	34
		2.1.2	The Anomaly Polynomial for Theories with $U(1)$'s	36
		2.1.3	Anomaly Cancellation and Factorization	38
		2.1.4	The Factorization Equations	42
		2.1.5	Linear Multiplets and Generalized Green-Schwarz Anomaly Can-	
			$cellation \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ $	45
		2.1.6	Summary	48
	2.2	Non-a	belian Theories	49
	2.3	Non-a	belian $T = 0$ Theories $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	52
		2.3.1	Review of Constraints	52
		2.3.2	Strategy for Construction	54
	2.4	Theor	ies with Abelian Gauge Symmetry	60
		2.4.1	The Abelian Anomaly Equations	62
		2.4.2	Bounds on $T < 9$ Theories With U(1)'s	74
		2.4.3	Infinite Classes of Non-anomalous Theories with $U(1)$'s	86
		2.4.4	Summary	92

3	6D	(1,0) S	String Vacua	95
	3.1	F-the	ory and the Non-abelian Sector	96
		3.1.1	6D $(1,0)$ F-theory Vacua and Embeddability	97
		3.1.2	Type IIB Intersecting Brane Models	101
		3.1.3	Magnetized Brane Backgrounds	104
	3.2	Non-t	rivialities of the Abelian Sector : An Example	109
	3.3	M-the	ory/F-theory Duality and the Abelian Sector of F-theory	112
		3.3.1	M/F-theory Duality	113
		3.3.2	The Non-Abelian Sector	118
		3.3.3	The Abelian Sector	126
		3.3.4	Summary	129
4	Less	sons L	earned	131
	4.1	Non-a	belian $T = 0$ Theories \ldots	134
		4.1.1	Singe Blocks in $T = 0$ Theories	136
		4.1.2	Two-factor combinations	144
		4.1.3	Matter transforming under more than two factors	147
		4.1.4	Summary	150
	4.2	Theor	ies with Abelian Gauge Symmetry	152
	4.3	Interse	ection Theory	156
5	Con	clusio	ns and Outlook	161
A	App	oendice	es for Chapter 2	165
	A .1	Some	Lie Algebra	165
	A.2	Globa	l anomalies	170
	A.3	Proof	of bounds on b	173
		A.3.1	The Weyl Character Formula	173
		A.3.2	Restriction on b	176
		A.3.3	Comments on $SU(2)$ and $SU(3)$ Blocks	179
		A.3.4	Summary	183

	A.4	Proof of Bound on Curable Theories	183
		A.4.1 Case 1 : Bounded Simple Group Factors	186
		A.4.2 Case 2 : Unbounded Simple Group Factors	188
	A.5	A Bound on the Number of Vector Multiplets for Pure Abelian Theories	
		with $T = 0$	193
	A.6	Proof of Minimal Charge Condition for $SU(13) imes U(1)$ Models	196
в	Арр	pendices for Chapter 4	199
	B.1	Lie Algebra and Intersection Theory	199
		B.1.1 Simply Laced Lie Algebras	201
		B.1.2 Non-simply Laced Lie Algebras	204
	B.2	Proof of Intersection Equations for \mathcal{S}_n of Type S or C $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	208
		B.2.1 Type S Cycles Only	208
		B.2.2 Type C Cycles Only	210
		B.2.3 Both Type S and C Cycles	213

.

10

.

List of Figures

1-1	The landscape of quantum gravity theories. The crux of the landscape	
	analysis is to identify the "intermediate regime," by which we denote the	
	theories that are apparently consistent, but that are not known string vacua.	23
1-2	The change of the landscape of ten-dimensional $\mathcal{N}=1$ supergravity	
	theories throughout the years.	25
B-1	Resolved fiber for A_n . The curves α corresponding to root vectors are in	
	solid lines while the monodromy invariant fibers γ corresponding to coroots	
	are in dotted lines.	202
B-2	Resolved fiber for D_n	203
B-3	Resolved fiber for E_n	203
B-4	Resolved fiber for A_1	204
B-5	Resolved fiber for B_n . The curves α corresponding to root vectors are in	
	solid lines while the monodromy invariant fibers γ corresponding to coroots	
	are in dotted lines	205
B-6	Resolved fiber for C_n	206
B-7	Resolved fiber for F_4	207
B-8	Resolved fiber for G_2 .	207

List of Tables

2.1	Six-dimensional (1,0) supersymmetry multiplets. The signs on the	
	fermions indicate the chirality. The signs on antisymmetric tensors	
	indicate self-duality/anti-self-duality.	36
2.2	Normalization factors for the simple groups.	38
2.3	Values of the group-theoretic coefficients A_R, B_R, C_R , dimension and	
	genus for some representations of $SU(M)$, $M \ge 4$. For $SU(2)$ and	
	$SU(3)$, A_R is given in table, while $B_R = 0$ and C_R is computed by	
	adding formulae for $C_R + B_R/2$ from table with $M = 2, 3, \ldots$	57
2.4	A summary of the possible distinct matter representations for gauge	
	group factors $SU(M)$. The numbers in parentheses refer to possi-	
	ble blocks without constraint on the number of hypermultiplets, while	
	the numbers without parentheses refer to possible anomaly-free mod-	
	els with a single nonabelian factor with total gauge group $SU(M)$.	
	The number of blocks not individually satisfying gravitational anomaly	
	bound becomes very large at $M = 3$, as does the number of blocks for	
	M = 2 even with the gravitational anomaly constraint. We have not	

2.5 The number of charged hypermultiplets X for pure abelian theories obtained by Higgsing the adjoint of the SU(8) theory with one adjoint and nine antisymmetrics. We have also tabulated the number of uncharged hypermultiplets in the theory, $X' = (273 + V_A - X)$ 74

precisely computed the number of blocks in these categories.

60

3.1	Singular fibers and their associated gauge group in the absence of mon-	
	odromy. c denotes the coefficients appearing in the Kodaira formula.	99
3.2	The number of hypermultiplets of each representation in an intersecting	
	brane model.	102
3.3	The number of hypermultiplets of each representation and their $U(1)$	
	charge	106
3.4	Six-dimensional $(1,0)$ supersymmetry multiplets and their descendants	
	in five dimensions when compactified on a circle.	114

- 4.2 A summary of possible distinct SU(M) blocks. The numbers in parentheses refer to possible blocks without the gravitational anomaly constraint imposed, while the numbers without parentheses refer to possible single block SU(M) models. The last column gives the number of single factor models which satisfy the Kodaira constraint $bM \leq 36$ needed for an F-theory realization. The number of blocks not individually satisfying the gravitational anomaly bound becomes very large at M = 3, as does number of blocks for M = 2 even with the gravitational anomaly constraint. We have not precisely computed the number of blocks in these categories.

- 4.3 The number of charged hypermultiplets X for pure abelian theories obtained by Higgsing the adjoint of the SU(8) theory with one adjoint and nine antisymmetrics. We have also tabulated the number of uncharged hypermultiplets in the theory, $X' = (273 + V_A - X)$ 155
- A.1 Upper bound on b for individual block of group SU(M). 179
 A.2 Allowed charged matter for an infinite family of models with gauge group H(N). The last column gives the values of α, ã in the factorized anomaly polynomial. H', V' and N' are as defined in the text. . . . 189

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Motivation

It is by now well established that our universe can be described using the formalism of quantum field theory¹ if we ignore gravity. Another way to state this is to say that we know how to describe the nature of the three fundamental forces — electromagentic, weak and strong forces — by the standard model² in the formalism of quantum field theory. It has been a long-standing problem how to incorporate gravity into this picture. In fact, gaining a full understanding of quantum gravity is one of the principal objectives of theoretical physics research today. This objective turns out to be a surprisingly difficult task, that seems far out of reach at the moment.³

Nevertheless, there has been amazing progress in understanding quantum gravity. One framework that has improved our understanding is string theory [13, 14, 15, 16]. String theory is formulated by assuming that the fundamental objects in the universe are strings propagating in space-time. It was first conceived as an effective theory of strong interactions, but was subsequently realized to have much richer structure than

¹We have listed a far from extensive collection of standard texts on the subject in the bibliography [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8].

²A standard textbook on the standard model is [9].

³Why it is hard to formulate a quantum theory of gravity in and of itself is a fascinating subject, that we will not be able to do justice to in this thesis. We have listed an incomplete subset of some recent discussions in the bibliography. A review of some general challenges that quantum gravity presents can be found in [10, 11, 12].

intended.⁴ String theory ultimately found success as an ultraviolet complete theory with quantum gravity, that does not have many of the problems that arise when one attempts to quantize gravity in a more conventional way. For example, string theory does not have issues with regularization that plague quantum gravity theories. Also the theory contains non-perturbative objects that account for the microscopic structure of black holes [18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23]. Furthermore, string theory provides a framework to compute physical observables in various perturbative limits.

We cannot help but mention that there have been some surprising developments — inspired by string theory — that have revolutionized our understanding of quantum gravity more recently. We now have a sharper picture of how to think about gravity in asymptotically Anti-de Sitter space through the "AdS/CFT (Anti-de Sitter/Conformal Field Theory) correspondence [24, 25, 26, 27]," or rather the "QG/QFT(Quantum Gravity/Quantum Field Theory) correspondence [28]." In this framework, a bulk quantum gravity theory living in Anti-de Sitter space is defined as a boundary quantum field theory. Such a correspondence highlights the holographic nature of quantum gravity [29, 30, 31], which has been, and, to some extent, still is one of the mysteries of quantum gravity. There also are many exciting attempts that aim to understand gravity beyond Anti-de Sitter space inspired by the success of AdS/CFT, that have yet to be as successful as is predecessor.⁵

The goal of this thesis is conservative compared to these daring attempts to develop a new framework for quantum gravity. Here, we build on the simple observation that string theory is — despite the fact that there is much room for improvement exceptionally successful in accounting for the microscopic structure of quantum gravity. For example, Strominger and Vafa famously reproduced the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy for a class of five-dimensional extremal black-holes by counting the microscopic states in string theory [21]. Also, the most tractable context of the AdS/CFTcorrespondence is given by the duality between type IIB string theory on $AdS_5 \times S_5$

 $^{^{4}}$ A nice account on the early history of string theory by one of its principal architects can be found in [17].

⁵We have compiled a far from complete list of some work along these lines in the bibliography [32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52].

and $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills theory [24, 25, 26, 27]. Such exceptional success of string theory leads one to wonder whether all quantum gravity theories that have a sensible microscopic description are secretly string theories [53, 54]. This is the central question we attempt to address in this thesis. Since this question is so important to us, let us dignify it with a box and a label:

(Q') Are all consistent quantum gravity theories, string theories?

Having written down the question, a little thought reveals that question (Q') is not a well-posed one, principally due to our ignorance of fundamental aspects of quantum gravity and string theory. Let us break down the ill-definedness of question:

- 1. We do not understand how to define "quantum gravity theories."
- 2. We do not know how to formulate a complete definition of "consistency" in quantum gravity theories.
- 3. We do not know how to rigorously define "string theory."
- 4. We do not understand how to define the word "is," *i.e.*, how to define the equivalence of a quantum gravity theory to a string theory.

Despite of the state of our ignorance, it is actually possible to repose and explore this question in a meaningful way. Such efforts were carried out in many different contexts and have helped us gain new insight into quantum gravity and string theory.⁶ Arguably the most impactful among such efforts was made in the mid-80's that lead to ground breaking work that we now refer to as the "first superstring revolution." The problem underlying the developments of the first superstring revolution was a version of the unapproachable question (Q') modified in the following way:

 Although a "quantum gravity theory" is not well defined one can ask definite questions about the low-energy data — such as the massless particle spectrum — of a given quantum gravity theory.

⁶We have compiled an incomplete list of such work in the bibliography [53, 54, 55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65].

- 2. Although the complete set of consistency conditions of a quantum gravity theory could not be formulated, it is sensible to expect that the low-energy data of consistent theories should obey known low-energy consistency conditions.
- 3. Although we do not understand "string theory" we understand how to define it perturbatively in certain regimes, *i.e.*, we do have a knowledge of various string vacua.
- 4. Although we do not understand how to show that a string theory and a quantum gravity theory are equivalent, we can ask whether a quantum gravity theory with given low-energy data can be embedded into string vacua.

The modified problem is now phrased:

(Q) Can all low-energy data of quantum gravity theories satisfying known low-energy constraints be embedded into known string vacua?

This question is still a very broad one, in that we do not have a full knowledge of all string vacua. Also, low-energy constraints turn out to be stronger when further constraints are placed on quantum gravity theories that one would like to investigate. The question implicit in the work of the protagonists of the superstring revolution was the following one:

 (\mathbf{Q}_{10}) Can all massless particle spectra of ten-dimensional $\mathcal{N}=1$ quantum gravity theories that satisfy known low-energy constraints be embedded into known string vacua?

The answer to this seemingly very restricted question had surprisingly deep implications on quantum gravity and string theory. The crucial work that provided the breakthrough addressing this problem was [55]. In this work, Álvarez-Gaumé and Witten computed gravitational/gauge and mixed anomalies for chiral theories in various dimensions, and in particular, showed that any ten-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity theory has a non-vanishing anomaly at one-loop. Anomalies [66, 67], which were originally discovered by Adler, Bell and Jackiw, are quantum effects that break symmetries that are present in the classical theory. The existence of gravita-tional/gauge or mixed anomalies in a quantum theory implies that there is a violation of diffeomorphism/gauge invariance, which is needed for consistency⁷.

Ten-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity has very restricted structure, and its massless spectrum can be parameterized by its gauge group \mathcal{G} . At the time when the results of Álvarez-Gaumé and Witten were presented, it was known that type I string theory, whose massless spectrum has SO(32) gauge symmetry, is a consistent theory. This led Green and Schwarz to discover the Green-Schwarz mechanism [56] at play in type I string theory in which a tree level term cancels the anomalies generated at one-loop computed by Álvarez-Gaumé and Witten. Green and Schwarz also found that in order for this mechanism to work, the gauge algebra could be only one of SO(32), $E_8 \times E_8$, $E_8 \times U(1)^{248}$ and $U(1)^{496}$ [14].

Motivated by this observation, Gross, Harvey, Martinec and Rohm discovered the $E_8 \times E_8$ and SO(32) heterotic string theories [57, 58, 59], whose role in string theory, especially in string phenomenology, is hard to overstate. The $E_8 \times U(1)^{248}$ and $U(1)^{496}$ theories were not an active topic of research for a while, but believed to be pathological.⁸ Adams, de Wolfe and Taylor were able to show more recently that these theories are inconsistent by examining the supersymmetry of these theories closely [69].

Now we have an answer for question (\mathbf{Q}_{10}) , and it is "yes." The impact of this answer is clear by how we refer to the series of events that arrived at this conclusion. For one, this is strong evidence — in fact, as close to a proof as one can expect in quantum gravity — that supergravity in ten-dimensions must be a string theory. Put in more simple terms, if we lived in a ten-dimensional universe with quantum supergravity, we would not be having much of a debate on whether string theory was the underlying theory of our universe.

⁷For more discussion on this point, consult [55].

⁸See, for example, [68].

It would be ideal if we could duplicate the success of this approach on quantum gravity — which we refer to as the "landscape analysis" throughout this thesis — in four dimensions. At the present, this goal is out of reach due to the fact that anomaly constraints — which serve as the principal low-energy constraint in landscape analyses — are much weaker in four dimensions. In fact, pure gravitational anomalies exist only in (4k + 2) dimensions [55]. We may, therefore, be less ambitious and ask the question (Q) in six dimensions:

 (\mathbf{Q}_6) Can all massless particle spectra of six-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ quantum gravity theories that satisfy known low-energy constraints be embedded into known string vacua?

As we explain in the next section, this turns out to be an interesting question to ask. Not only were we able to learn much about quantum gravity and string theory by pursuing (Q_6) , but were also able to identify, what we believe to be important puzzles that stand in the way of answering it. The objective of this thesis is to present these results and puzzles.

1.2 The Landscape Analysis and Six Dimensions

Before presenting the results and challenges that we have encountered through studying the space of six-dimensional supergravity theories, it is useful set up a framework in which to understand them. In this section, we set up the language of the "landscape analysis"⁹ and explain why the space of six-dimensional supergravity theories with minimal supersymmetry is fertile ground for investigation using this method.

⁹We note that the term "landscape" used in this thesis is different from the conventional use in the string theory literature. Conventionally, the word "string landscape" is used to describe semirealistic vacua of string theory, and the term "landscape analysis" refers to a statistical analysis of this space. In the context of this thesis, by "landscape" we refer simply to the space of theories under investigation, and the "landscape analysis" involves classifying the individual theories in this space, as we explain further throughout the course of this section. We have included a small sample of the string landscape literature in the bibliography [70, 71, 72, 73, 74, 75]. An extensive review on the topic can be found in [76] and [77].



Figure 1-1: The landscape of quantum gravity theories. The crux of the landscape analysis is to identify the "intermediate regime," by which we denote the theories that are apparently consistent, but that are not known string vacua.

A useful picture to keep in mind when addressing a question of the type (\mathbf{Q}_X) on some space of theories¹⁰ of interest X is figure 1-1. One can draw four boundaries in X — the boundary of apparently consistent theories, consistent theories, string vacua and known string vacua. By saying a theory — or rather, low energy data of a given theory — is "apparently consistent" we mean that it satisfies all known consistency conditions. The two intermediate boundaries — the boundary of consistent theories, and the boundary of string vacua — are actual boundaries in "theory space" that are, for most interesting X, boundaries that we do not have access to at the moment. Meanwhile, the outermost boundary and the innermost boundary are artificial boundaries that are defined by our present knowledge, but are accessible to us.

The landscape analysis can be summarized in two steps:

 For given theories X, identify the theories in the "intermediate regime" of the diagram in figure 1-1, *i.e.*, theories that are apparently consistent, but not known string vacua. This process itself also involves two steps.

¹⁰The correct term to use in place of "theory" would be "low-energy data of the theory" or to be more specific, "massless spectrum and low-energy parameters of the theory," as elaborated previously. For most instances in this thesis, we have chosen concision over precision and have used the word "theory" in most places these other terms could have been used.

- First, use currently known consistency conditions to identify theories that are apparently consistent.
- Second, identify the known string vacua among these apparently consistent theories.
- 2. Understand the intermediate regime.

Identifying the intermediate regime lies at the heart of the landscape analysis, as the theories in the intermediate regime are either one of the following three:

- 1. Previously undiscovered string vacua.
- 2. Consistent gravity theories that are not string theories.
- 3. Secretly inconsistent theories that violate consistency conditions that are yet unknown to us.

Hence, the theories in the intermediate regime provide us with a window to previously uncharted territory in the "landscape" of gravity theories. By closely examining theories, one would hopefully be able to achieve one or more of the following:

- 1. Discover new string vacua.
- 2. Find new consistent gravity theories that are not embeddable in string theory.
- 3. Find new constraints on gravity theories.

Notice that the developments of the first superstring revolution can be phrased in terms of the landscape analysis picture. Before [55, 56], the picture of the landscape of ten-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity theories was given by figure 1-2(a) — it was understood that type I superstring theory was a consistent theory of gravity, but it was not known whether other theories were consistent or not. After [55, 56], the picture of the landscape changed into figure 1-2(b), *i.e.*, the papers [55, 56] identified the apparently consistent theories, and thereby identified the intermediate regime. The work [57, 58, 59] confirmed that $E_8 \times E_8$ was a consistent theory of gravity, hence changing the picture to 1-2(c). In the landscape analysis language, this work



Figure 1-2: The change of the landscape of ten-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity theories throughout the years.

incorporated the $E_8 \times E_8$ supergravity theory into known string vacua. The work [69] showed that the two gauge groups $U(1)^{496}$ and $E_8 \times U(1)^{248}$ were inconsistent, hence obtaining the final picture of the landscape given by figure 1-2(d). Now there is no intermediate regime in the landscape of ten-dimensional supergravity theories with minimal supersymmetry.

The landscape analysis has also been successfully carried out for six-dimensional supergravity theories with $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ supersymmetry¹¹ in [60]. In this work, gravitational anomalies are used to identify the unique consistent massless spectrum that the theory could have. This spectrum precisely agrees with the massless spectrum of type IIB string theory compactified on a K3 manifold. This result shows that all six-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ supergravity theories could be embedded into string theory.

¹¹Six-dimensional theories are chiral and hence supersymmetry can be extended in different directions. $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ denotes that the two supercharges of the extended supersymmetry are of the same chirality.

The space of six dimensional supergravity theories with minimal supersymmetry — which we denote as (1,0) supersymmetry — is an ideal place to extend the landscape analysis. This is because while there are strong anomaly constraints that give us a handle on the space of apparently consistent theories [62, 63, 65], the "volume" of the space of apparently consistent theories is quite large. For example, a wide variety of gauge groups and matter content are allowed in the massless spectrum of the theory. At the same time, six-dimensional (1,0) string vacua are well-studied and shown to be quite diverse.¹² Therefore we have a rich, diverse, and also relatively well-controlled landscape of theories to probe in six-dimensions.

It turns out that there is a rich intermediate regime in this landscape. Among the theories in the intermediate regime, some are interesting candidates for new string vacua while some seem to provide circumstantial evidence for undiscovered low-energy constraints. One would be able to gain a better understanding of the string landscape and quantum gravity in general by either assimilating these theories into string vacua or by ruling them out through the discovery of new consistency conditions. Knowledge acquired by this process have practical implications on four-dimensional string model building and phenomenology — the discovery of new string vacua provides new tools for constructing string models, while new consistency conditions provide additional handles on model building.

1.3 Summary of Results and Outline of Thesis

Now that we have set up the context of our investigation, we explain the main results of this thesis — based on the works [115], [116] and [117] — and outline its presentation in this section. Before summarizing the results, let us present some basic facts about six-dimensional (1,0) supergravity theories.

A low-energy six-dimensional (1,0) supergravity theory can be parameterized by

¹²There is extensive literature on six-dimensional (1,0) string vacua as these string models have played an important part in understanding various string dualities in the mid-90's. A small sample of the vast literature is given in the bibliography [61, 78, 79, 80, 81, 82, 83, 84, 85, 86, 87, 88, 89, 90, 91, 92, 93, 94, 95, 96, 97, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 108, 109, 110, 111, 112]. Further references can be found in the reviews [113] and [114].

its massless spectrum S, a modulus j, and anomaly coefficients, which we schematically denote by $\{b\}$ [65]. The massless particle spectrum of six-dimensional (1,0) supergravity theories come in four multiplets of the supersymmetry algebra; the gravity multiplet, the tensor multiplet, the vector multiplet, and the hypermultiplet. There is only one gravity multiplet of the theory. The massless spectrum of the theory can be summarized by the number of tensor multiplets T, the gauge group, and the matter content.

The modulus j and the anomaly coefficients $\{b\}$ are SO(1,T) vectors. In particular, j is a unit vector that encodes the vacuum expectation values of the T scalar fields that lie in each tensor multiplet. The low-energy couplings that parametrize the theory can be expressed in terms of j and $\{b\}$. For example, for each simple nonabelian gauge group factor \mathcal{G}_{κ} of the full gauge group, there exists a corresponding anomaly coefficient b_{κ} . The coefficient for the kinetic term of the \mathcal{G}_{κ} gauge field is given by $j \cdot b_{\kappa}$ where the inner-product taken by an SO(1,T) metric [86].

The massless spectrum of a six-dimensional (1,0) theory must satisfy anomaly equations that come from a generalized version of the Green-Schwarz factorization condition [80, 86, 97], originally formulated in ten-dimensions [56]. In other words, a set of equations of the form

$$f_i(\{b\}) = F_i(S),$$
 (1.1)

where f_i and F_i are some functions, must be satisfied. For many spectra, there are not any physically sensible $\{b\}$ satisfying these equations, *i.e.*, only certain massless spectra are allowed by the anomaly equations.

The first step of the landscape analysis we perform in this thesis is to list the apparently consistent theories $(S, j, \{b\})$ that satisfy the anomaly equations and have positive definite kinetic terms for the gauge fields. In the next step, we identify among these theories, those that could be embedded in string theory. In the final step, we make observations on the theories in the intermediate regime and explore their implications.

Even before examining the individual theories in the intermediate regime, it is

possible to ask about important qualitative features on the space of apparently consistent theories. One such question is whether the space is bounded, *i.e.*, whether only a finite number of massless spectra are allowed by the anomaly constraints. This question has been answered for theories when the gauge group is non-abelian in [62, 65]. In these references, it was shown that the number of apparently consistent theories with T < 9 is bounded while it is not bounded when $T \ge 9$. In [116], whose results we present here, we have extended the analysis to theories with abelian gauge symmetries. It turns out that the of possible combinations of gauge groups — including abelian factors — and non-abelian matter representations is finite when T < 9, even when abelian group factors are allowed. There are, however, infinite families of theories with distinct U(1) charge assignments to the matter that cannot be ruled out by using known quantum consistency conditions.

Showing that various bounds exist on the space of apparently consistent theories is one thing, actually drawing the bounds is quite another. In order to compare the space of apparently consistent theories and string vacua, one needs to be able to carry out the latter task of drawing the actual boundary of apparently consistent theories. While this seems to be quite a formidable task for the full space of theories, it turns out to be a much more approachable one when we decide to focus on an interesting subsector of the theories, namely, T = 0 theories.

In [115], we have presented a systematic way of constructing the finite set of possible gauge group/matter combinations of non-anomalous six-dimensional (1,0) theories with no tensor multiplets, focusing on the case when the gauge group has only SU(N) factors. Using this method, it is in principle possible to construct and identify all theories in the intermediate regime of the landscape of T = 0 supergravity theories. By scanning through the intermediate regime, we were able to identify many theories that are possible candidates for new string vacua. In fact, more recently, some models among these were realized in string theory [112].

Another important lesson we have learned by studying T = 0 theories is that there is a systematic obstruction to embedding a large majority of the theories in the intermediate regime. To elaborate, the low-energy parameters of all known string vacua satisfy an inequality known as the "Kodaira constraint" [114, 118, 119]. The majority of the apparently consistent T = 0 theories, however, does not satisfy this constraint. An important question that therefore arises is whether the Kodaira constraint is an undiscovered fundamental constraint that applies to all supergravity theories or whether it is an artifact of known string models. Either option would be interesting. The former implies that there is a fundamental constraint on gravity theories that is unknown to us at the present. The latter implies that there is a large class of string vacua that has yet to be discovered. It is worth noting that the Kodaira constraint gets rid of all the infinite classes of apparently consistent non-abelian theories we were able to construct.

While extending the results of the T = 0 analysis to 0 < T < 9 would be technically challenging on the outer-boundary front of the landscape, we have a much better handle on the landscape of known string vacua, given that the gauge group is non-abelian [65]. This is not true, however, if we try to extend the landscape analysis to theories with abelian gauge symmetry. Not only does the outer-boundary of the landscape of six-dimensional theories — as noted previously — qualitatively change, but so does the known string vacua. This is because the non-abelian sector of string vacua is much better understood than the abelian sector. For example, the Kodaira constraint involves only the gravitational anomaly coefficient *a* and the non-abelian anomaly coefficients. We are not aware of a Kodaira-like constraint that involves abelian anomaly coefficients at the present. Therefore, in order to expand our knowledge of the six-dimensional landscape to theories that have abelian gauge symmetry, it is important that we understand the abelian sector of string vacua better.

A first step in this direction is to identify the string data that correspond to the abelian anomaly coefficients of a six-dimensional string vacuum. An important class of string models in which to investigate this problem is F-theory vacua [118, 119, 120]. F-theory compactifications play a central role in understanding the six-dimensional (1,0) string landscape in that they accommodate the widest range of known string vacua in six dimensions [64, 65]. In fact, the data of all non-abelian string models

known in six dimensions can be in principle embedded in F-theory [114].¹³ F-theory string vacua can be thought of as type IIB backgrounds with a non-trivial axiodilaton profile. A convenient way of thinking about F-theory is to treat it as a fictitious twelve-dimensional theory. Six-dimensional (1,0) vacua can be obtained from F-theory by compactifying it on an elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau threefold. The gravitational anomaly coefficient a and the non-abelian anomaly coefficients of F-theory vacua have a nice interpretation in terms of the geometric data of this elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau manifold [64, 65, 118, 119].

As far as we are aware of, the abelian anomaly coefficients did not have a geometric interpretation before the work [117], whose results we present in this thesis. M-theory/F-theory duality [120] plays a central role in identifying the geometric data that correspond to the abelian anomaly coefficients. Once the geometry of the anomaly coefficients are understood, we can translate the six-dimensional anomaly equations into geometric identities. The resulting identities have a very appealing form, although further work must be done to understand their geometric significance.

The structure of this thesis is as the following. In chapter 2, we review sixdimensional supergravity theories with minimal supersymmetry and investigate the boundary of apparently consistent theories in its landscape. After reviewing previous results on the bounds that anomalies place on the space of non-abelian theories, we systematically construct the space of non-anomalous T = 0 theories, and describe its features. We then extend the anomaly analysis to theories with abelian gauge symmetry and investigate how anomalies constrain these theories.

In chapter 3 we investigate the boundary of known string vacua in the sixdimensional landscape. We first explain how the six-dimensional string landscape can be conveniently described in the language of F-theory, and explain how the nonabelian sector of F-theory vacua have a description in terms of the geometry of an elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau threefold. We then investigate the abelian sector of string vacua. We first demonstrate the subtleties of the abelian sector of string vacua

¹³We are not claiming that all known string models in six-dimensions can be embedded in Ftheory. It is true, however, that there is no obstruction in embedding the non-abelian sector of any known string model in F-theory vacua. We elaborate on this issue in chapter 3.

through examining heterotic and F-theory backgrounds. We go on to use M-theory/Ftheory duality to describe the abelian sector of F-theory backgrounds. In particular, we identify the geometric counterpart of the abelian anomaly coefficients of F-theory vacua.

In chapter 4 we present the lessons learned by comparing the space of apparently consistent theories to the space of known string vacua in the six-dimensional supergravity landscape. We first present the results of examining the intermediate regime of T = 0 theories. Next, we describe the intermediate regime of theories with abelian gauge symmetry, and present the challenges of analyzing this space. We also derive the geometric identities that come from the fact that F-theory vacua satisfy six-dimensional anomaly cancellation conditions.

In chapter 5 we summarize the results of this thesis once more and present the interesting questions that arise as a result of our investigations.

As stated at the beginning of this section, the content of this thesis is based on the papers [115], [116] and [117]. The results of [115] were obtained in collaboration with Vijay Kumar and Washington Taylor. The results of [116] were obtained in collaboration with Washington Taylor.

Chapter 2

6D (1,0) Theories and Anomaly Constraints

In this chapter, we review the low-energy data of six-dimensional (1,0) supergravity theories and study the bounds placed on these theories by anomaly constraints, *i.e.*, we study the "outer boundary" of apparently consistent theories in the sixdimensional landscape. A major result in the analysis of the "outer boundary" is that there are only a finite number of consistent non-abelian massless spectra when the number of tensor multiplets is less than nine [62, 64]. When $T \ge 9$, there exist infinite classes of theories. We extend upon this result in two directions in this chapter.

While the space of non-abelian theories with T < 9 has been shown to be bounded, explicitly constructing these consistent theories is still quite a daunting task. This task is much more approachable for theories with no tensor multiplets. In this chapter, we present a systematic way of building all consistent T = 0 theories whose gauge group factors are special unitary. Constructing theories with other gauge groups can be carried out as a straightforward generalization of the methods we have employed here.

We also extend the results [62, 64] to the space of theories with abelian gauge symmetry. It turns out that there are only a finite number of consistent gauge/matter combinations modulo U(1) charge assignments. To elaborate, the number of consis-

tent gauge group/matter representations are finite, but there can be cases where there exists an infinite number of different apparently consistent U(1) charge assignments to a given theory.

This chapter is organized as the following. We first review the data parametrizing the low-energy theory in section 2.1. We then summarize how these theories are constrained by anomaly cancellation conditions when the gauge group is non-abelian in section 2.2 [62, 64]. We then focus on T = 0 theories and describe the boundary of apparently consistent theories in this subsector of six-dimensional theories in section 2.3 [115]. In section 2.4 we investigate how the anomaly constraints place bounds on theories with abelian gauge symmetry [116].

2.1 6D (1,0) Theories and Anomaly Cancellation

In this section we review six-dimensional theories with $\mathcal{N} = (1,0)$ supersymmetry and anomaly cancellation in these theories. In section 2.1.1 we present an overview of the field content of these theories. We compute the anomaly polynomial in section 2.1.2 and review anomaly cancellation and factorization in section 2.1.3. We give explicit formulae for the anomaly factorization condition in the presence of U(1)'s in section 2.1.4 and discuss some salient features of these equations. In section 2.1.5 we discuss aspects of the generalized Green-Schwarz mechanism that come into play when the theory has abelian gauge symmetry, and also explain why this issue can be safely ignored when discussing the massless spectrum. We summarize in section 2.1.6.

2.1.1 The Massless Spectrum

The massless spectrum of the models we consider can contain four different multiplets of the supersymmetry algebra: the gravity and tensor multiplet, vector multiplet, and hypermultiplet. The contents of these multiplets are summarized in table 2.1.

We consider theories with one gravity multiplet. There can in general be multiple tensor multiplets; we denote the number of tensor multiplets by T. When T = 1 it is possible to write a Lagrangian for the theory; the self-dual and anti-self-dual tensors can combine into a single antisymmetric tensor. Theories with T tensor multiplets have a moduli space with SO(1,T) symmetry; the T scalars in each multiplet combine into a SO(1,T) vector j that can be taken to have unit norm. We consider theories with arbitrary gauge group and matter content.

Note that a theory with a general number of tensor multiplets can still be defined despite the lack of a covariant Lagrangian. The partition function can be defined by coupling the three-form field strength to a 3-form gauge potential as in [121, 122]. Classical equations of motion can be formulated as in [82, 86]. Supersymmetry and anomaly cancellation may be discussed at the operator level of a theory obtained by quantizing the classical theory defined by these equations.

We write the gauge group for a given theory as¹

$$\mathcal{G} = \prod_{\kappa=1}^{\nu} \mathcal{G}_{\kappa} \times \prod_{i=1}^{V_A} U(1)_i \,. \tag{2.1}$$

Lowercase greek letters κ, λ, \cdots are used to denote the simple non-abelian gauge group factors; lowercase roman letters i, j, k, \cdots are used to denote U(1) factors. ν and V_A denote the numbers of nonabelian and abelian gauge group factors of the theory.

We denote by N the number of irreducible representations of the non-abelian gauge group under which the matter hypermultiplets transform (including trivial representations); we use uppercase roman letters to index these representations. The hypermultiplet representation I transforms in the representation R_{κ}^{I} under \mathcal{G}_{κ} and have $U(1)_{i}$ charge $q_{I,i}$.

We characterize theories by their massless spectrum. There is a slight subtlety we must consider when dealing with U(1) gauge symmetries. It is possible to break U(1)at the linearized level by certain hypermultiplets, called "linear hypermultiplets" in the literature [123]. We will refer to these multiplets simply as "linear multiplets"

¹The gauge group generally can have a quotient by a discrete subgroup, but this does not affect the gauge algebra, which underlies the anomaly structure analyzed in this thesis.

Multiplet	Field Content
Gravity	$(g_{\mu u},\psi^+_\mu,B^+_{\mu u})$
Tensor	$(\phi, \chi^-, B^{\mu u})$
Vector	(A_{μ}, λ^+)
Hyper	$(4arphi,\psi^-)$

Table 2.1: Six-dimensional (1,0) supersymmetry multiplets. The signs on the fermions indicate the chirality. The signs on antisymmetric tensors indicate self-duality/antiself-duality.

throughout this thesis. When a linear multiplet couples to a vector multiplet the two merge into a long (or non-BPS) multiplet and are lifted from the massless spectrum. Once lifted from the massless spectrum, these long multiplets can be safely ignored. This issue is discussed in more detail in section 2.1.5.

2.1.2 The Anomaly Polynomial for Theories with U(1)'s

In six-dimensional chiral theories there can be gravitational, gauge and mixed anomalies [55, 66, 67]. The sign with which each chiral field contributes to the anomaly is determined by their chirality.

The 6D anomaly can be described by the method of descent from an 8D anomaly polynomial. The anomaly polynomial is obtained by adding up the contributions of all the chiral fields present in the theory [55]. For the T = 1 case this is given in
[87, 108]. In general we obtain

$$I_{8} = -\frac{1}{5760}(H - V + 29T - 273)[\operatorname{tr} R^{4} + \frac{5}{4}(\operatorname{tr} R^{2})^{2}] - \frac{1}{128}(9 - T)(\operatorname{tr} R^{2})^{2} - \frac{1}{96}\operatorname{tr} R^{2}[\sum_{\kappa} \operatorname{Tr} F_{\kappa}^{2} - \sum_{I,\kappa} \mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa} \operatorname{tr}_{R_{\kappa}^{I}} F_{\kappa}^{2}] + \frac{1}{24}[\sum_{\kappa} \operatorname{Tr} F_{\kappa}^{4} - \sum_{I,\kappa} \mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa} \operatorname{tr}_{R_{\kappa}^{I}} F_{\kappa}^{4} - 6\sum_{I,\kappa,\lambda} \mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa\lambda}(\operatorname{tr}_{R_{\kappa}^{I}} F_{\kappa}^{2})(\operatorname{tr}_{R_{\lambda}^{I}} F_{\lambda}^{2})] + \frac{1}{96}\operatorname{tr} R^{2} \sum_{I,i,j} \mathcal{M}_{I} q_{I,i} q_{I,j} F_{i} F_{j} - \frac{1}{6} \sum_{I,\kappa,i} \mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa} q_{I,i}(\operatorname{tr}_{R_{\kappa}^{I}} F_{\kappa}^{3}) F_{i} - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{I,\kappa,i,j} \mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa} q_{I,i} q_{I,j}(\operatorname{tr}_{R_{\kappa}^{I}} F_{\kappa}^{2}) F_{i} F_{j} - \frac{1}{24} \sum_{I,i,j,k,l} \mathcal{M}_{I} q_{I,i} q_{I,j} q_{I,k} q_{I,l} F_{i} F_{j} F_{k} F_{l}.$$

$$(2.2)$$

 \mathcal{M}_I is the size of the representation I that is given by

$$\mathcal{M}_I = \prod_{\kappa} d_{R^I_{\kappa}} \,, \tag{2.3}$$

where $d_{R_{\kappa}}$ is the dimension of the representation R_{κ} of \mathcal{G}_{κ} . Similarly, \mathcal{M}_{I}^{κ} $(\mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa\lambda})$ is the number of \mathcal{G}_{κ} $(\mathcal{G}_{\kappa} \times \mathcal{G}_{\lambda})$ representations in I, which is given by

$$\mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa} = \prod_{\mu \neq \kappa} d_{R_{\mu}^{I}} \qquad (\mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa\lambda} = \prod_{\mu \neq \kappa, \lambda} d_{R_{\mu}^{I}})$$
(2.4)

respectively. V and H are the number of massless vector multiplets and hypermultiplets in the theory. They are given by

$$V \equiv V_{NA} + V_A \equiv \sum_{\kappa} d_{\mathrm{Adj}_{\kappa}} + V_A, \qquad H \equiv \sum_I \mathcal{M}_I$$
(2.5)

where $d_{\mathrm{Adj}_{\kappa}}$ is the dimension of the adjoint representation of gauge group \mathcal{G}_{κ} . V_{NA} is the number of non-abelian vector multiplets in the theory. The integer N, which is the number of irreducible representations of the non-abelian gauge group, plays

an important role in bounding the number of U(1)'s. We use 'tr' to denote the trace in the fundamental representation, and 'Tr' to denote the trace in the adjoint. Multiplication of forms should be interpreted as wedge products throughout this thesis unless stated otherwise.

2.1.3 Anomaly Cancellation and Factorization

The Green-Schwarz mechanism [56] can be generalized to theories with more than one tensor multiplet when the anomaly polynomial is factorizes in the following form [86, 97]:

$$I_8 = -\frac{1}{32} \Omega_{\alpha\beta} X_4^{\alpha} X_4^{\beta} , \qquad (2.6)$$

where Ω is a symmetric bilinear form (or metric) in SO(1,T) and X_4 is a four form that is an SO(1,T) vector. X_4 can be written as

$$X_4^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2}a^{\alpha} \operatorname{tr} R^2 + \sum_{\kappa} (\frac{2b_{\kappa}^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\kappa}}) \operatorname{tr} F_{\kappa}^2 + \sum_{ij} 2b_{ij}^{\alpha} F_i F_j , \qquad (2.7)$$

where we define b_{ij} to be symmetric in i, j. The *a* and *b*'s are SO(1,T) vectors and α are SO(1,T) indices. Note that the anomaly coefficients for the U(1)'s can be written in this way due to the fact that the field strength is gauge invariant on its own [101, 102]. Under linear redefinitions of the U(1)'s b_{ij} transforms as a bilinear, *i.e.*,

$$F_{i} = M_{i}^{j} F_{j}^{\prime}, \quad b_{ij}^{\prime} = M_{i}^{k} M_{j}^{l} b_{kl}, \quad M \in GL(V_{A}, \mathbb{R}).$$
(2.8)

The λ_{κ} 's are normalization factors that are fixed by demanding that the smallest topological charge of an embedded SU(2) instanton is 1. λ_{κ} is actually equal to the Dynkin index of the fundamental representation of the gauge group \mathcal{G}_{κ} . The values of λ_{κ} for given \mathcal{G}_{κ} are listed in table 2.2 for all the simple groups. b_{κ} turn out to form

	A_n	B_n	C_n	D_n	E_6	E_7	E_8	F_4	G_2
λ	1	2	1	2	6	12	60	6	2

Table 2.2: Normalization factors for the simple groups.

an integral SO(1,T) lattice when we include these normalization factors [65].

There is an important fact related to the factors $\lambda(\mathcal{G})$ worth noting for future reference. Let us define the normalized basis $\{T_i\}$ for the Cartan sub-algebra of \mathcal{G} such that

$$\operatorname{tr}_{f}T_{i}T_{j} = \delta_{ij} \,. \tag{2.9}$$

This provides an unambiguous normalization for the root lattice of a given Lie group. Note that two Lie groups with the same Lie algebra can have different normalizations of the root lattice if their fundamental representations differ. We may define the "coroot basis" for the Cartan sub-algebra as

$$\mathcal{T}_{I} \equiv \frac{2\alpha_{I}^{i}T_{i}}{\langle \alpha_{I}, \alpha_{I} \rangle} \tag{2.10}$$

where α_I^i are the coordinates of the *I*'th simple root. \mathcal{T}_I have the following properties:

1. The charge of the root vector E_{α} under \mathcal{T}_{I} is

$$\mathcal{T}_{I}|\alpha\rangle = \frac{2\langle\alpha_{I},\alpha\rangle}{\langle\alpha_{I},\alpha_{I}\rangle}|\alpha\rangle.$$
(2.11)

In particular for the simple roots of the Lie algebra,

$$\mathcal{T}_{I}|\alpha_{J}\rangle = C_{IJ}|\alpha_{J}\rangle. \tag{2.12}$$

where C_{IJ} are the elements of the Cartan matrix. We note that the Cartan matrix is determined by the gauge algebra, rather than the gauge group. For example, it is the same for SO(3) and SU(2).

2. The charge of any weight vector $|\beta\rangle$ under \mathcal{T}_I is

$$\frac{2\langle \alpha_I, \beta \rangle}{\langle \alpha_I, \alpha_I \rangle}, \qquad (2.13)$$

which is always integral, by definition of weight vectors.

3. For two basis elements among $\{\mathcal{T}_I\}$,

$$\frac{1}{\lambda(\mathcal{G})} \operatorname{tr} \mathcal{T}_I \mathcal{T}_J = \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \tag{2.14}$$

where C is the normalized inner product matrix of the coroots, *i.e.*,

$$C_{IJ} = \frac{1}{\lambda(\mathcal{G})} \frac{4\langle \alpha_I, \alpha_J \rangle}{\langle \alpha_I, \alpha_I \rangle \langle \alpha_J, \alpha_J \rangle}.$$
 (2.15)

Just as with the Cartan matrix, the normalized coroot matrix C is determined uniquely by the gauge algebra.

Proofs of these statements are given in appendix A.1.

The gauge-invariant three-form field strengths are given by

$$H^{\alpha} = dB^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}a^{\alpha}\omega_{3L} + 2\sum_{\kappa}\frac{b^{\alpha}_{\kappa}}{\lambda_{\kappa}}\omega^{\kappa}_{3Y} + 2\sum_{ij}b^{\alpha}_{ij}\omega^{ij}_{3Y}, \qquad (2.16)$$

where ω_{3L} and ω_{3Y} are Chern-Simons 3-forms of the spin connection and gauge fields respectively. If the factorization condition (2.6) is satisfied, anomaly cancellation can be achieved by adding the local counterterm

$$\delta \mathcal{L}_{GS} \propto -\Omega_{\alpha\beta} B^{\alpha} \wedge X_4^{\beta} \,. \tag{2.17}$$

Meanwhile, supersymmetry determines the kinetic term for the gauge fields to be (up to an overall factor) [86, 101, 102]

$$-\sum_{\kappa} (\frac{j \cdot b_{\kappa}}{\lambda_{\kappa}}) \operatorname{tr}(F_{\kappa} \wedge *F_{\kappa}) - \sum_{ij} (j \cdot b_{ij}) (F_i \wedge *F_j), \qquad (2.18)$$

where j is the unit SO(1,T) vector that parametrizes the T scalars in the tensor multiplets. The inner product of j and the b vectors are defined with respect to the metric Ω . There must be a value of j such that all the gauge fields have positive definite kinetic terms. This means that there should be some value of j such that all $j \cdot b_{\kappa}$ are positive and such that $j \cdot b_{ij}$ is a positive definite matrix with respect to i, j. If we did not have any U(1)'s, (2.6) would be the only way in which the anomaly can be cancelled. When we have abelian vector multiplets, however, a generalized version of the Green-Schwarz mechanism is available [96]. In this case, it is possible to cancel terms in the 8-form anomaly polynomial that are proportional to

$$F \wedge X_6$$
, (2.19)

where X_6 is a six form, by a counter-term in the action of the form

$$-C \wedge X_6, \qquad (2.20)$$

where C is a Stückelberg 0-form that belongs to a linear multiplet. The coupling of C to the vector boson V is given by

$$\frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\mu}C - V_{\mu})^2, \qquad (2.21)$$

which is what we mean by C being a Stückelberg 0-form. The anomalous gauge boson V recieves a mass, hence rendering the U(1) broken; the abelian vector multiplet is lifted from the massless spectrum by coupling to the linear multiplet by the Stückelberg mechanism. When all the anomalous U(1)'s are lifted and we look at the pure massless spectrum of the theory, all the gravitational anomalies and gauge/mixed anomalies induced by the massless fields are cancelled completely by two forms through the conventional Green-Schwarz mechanism. The lesson is that when we are discussing the massless spectrum, this generalized version of the Green-Schwarz mechanism does not come into play and can be safely ignored.² We elaborate further on this issue in section 2.1.5.

²The situation is quite the opposite when we are taking the top-down approach, for example when we are constructing theories from string compactifications. When working downward from the high-energy end, it is important to figure out which U(1) vector bosons that naively seem to be massless are lifted by this mechanism.

2.1.4 The Factorization Equations

We are now ready to write down the factorization equations in the presence of U(1)'s. The factorization equations come from demanding that the anomaly polynomial (2.2) factorize in the form (2.6). This yields the following anomaly cancellation conditions.

Gravitational Anomaly Equations

$$273 = H - V + 29T$$

$$a \cdot a = 9 - T$$
(2.22)

These equations come from demanding that pure gravitational anomalies are cancelled. Here, H denotes the number of hypermultiplets and V denotes the number of vector multiplets.

The first equation is sometimes referred to as the "gravitational anomaly bound." This is because of the following reason. As will be seen, only the information related to hypermultiplets charged under gauge fields show up in the other anomaly equations, *i.e.*, one has the freedom to add neutral hypermultiplets to the theory and not affect the mixed and gauge anomaly equations. Therefore, as long as the number of charged hypermultiplets of the theory is below 273 + V - 29T, one can add neutral hypermultiplets to the theory to cancel the gravitational anomaly. In this sense, the first equation of (2.22) provides an upperbound on the number of charged hypermultiplets of the theory for given T and gauge group.

Mixed Anomaly Equations

$$a \cdot \left(\frac{b_{\kappa}}{\lambda_{\kappa}}\right) = \frac{1}{6} (A_{\mathrm{Adj}_{\kappa}} - \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa} A_{\kappa}^{I})$$

$$a \cdot b_{ij} = -\frac{1}{6} \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_{I} q_{I,i} q_{I,j}$$

(2.23)

These equations should be satisfied for each gauge group \mathcal{G}_{κ} , $U(1)_i$, and $U(1)_j$. The

inner products on the left-hand-side of the equations are inner products with respect to the SO(1,T) metric Ω . The group theory factor A_R is defined to be

$$\mathrm{tr}_R F_\kappa^2 = A_R \mathrm{tr} F_\kappa^2 \tag{2.24}$$

for a given representation R of the gauge group \mathcal{G}_{κ} .

We can write the mixed anomaly equations in slightly different notation:

$$a \cdot \left(\frac{b_{\kappa}}{\lambda_{\kappa}}\right) = \frac{1}{6} (A_{\mathrm{Adj}_{\kappa}} - \sum_{R} x_{R} A_{R})$$

$$a \cdot b_{ij} = -\frac{1}{6} \sum_{I} x_{q_{i},q_{j}} q_{i} q_{j}$$
(2.25)

Here x_R is the number of hypermultiplets of representation R of gauge group \mathcal{G}_{κ} and x_{q_i,q_j} is the number of hypermultiplets with charge (q_i,q_j) under $U(1)_i \times U(1)_j$.

Gauge Anomaly Equations

 b_{ij}

$$0 = B_{\mathrm{Adj}_{\kappa}} - \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa} B_{\kappa}^{I}$$

$$\left(\frac{b_{\kappa}}{\lambda_{\kappa}}\right)^{2} = \frac{1}{3} \left(\sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa} C_{\kappa}^{I} - C_{\mathrm{Adj}_{\kappa}}\right)$$

$$\left(\frac{b_{\kappa}}{\lambda_{\kappa}}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{b_{\mu}}{\lambda_{\mu}}\right) = \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa\mu} A_{\kappa}^{I} A_{\mu}^{I}$$

$$0 = \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa} E_{\kappa}^{I} q_{I,i}$$

$$\left(\frac{b_{\kappa}}{\lambda_{\kappa}}\right) \cdot b_{ij} = \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa} A_{\kappa}^{I} q_{I,i} q_{I,j}$$

$$\cdot b_{kl} + b_{ik} \cdot b_{jl} + b_{il} \cdot b_{jk} = \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_{I} q_{I,i} q_{I,j} q_{I,k} q_{I,l}$$

$$(2.26)$$

These equations should be satisfied for all $\mathcal{G}_{\kappa} \neq \mathcal{G}_{\lambda}$, and for all $U(1)_i, U(1)_j, U(1)_k$ and $U(1)_l$. For each representation R of group \mathcal{G}_{κ} the group theory coefficients B_R and C_R are defined by

$$tr_R F^4 = B_R tr F^4 + C_R (tr F^2)^2$$
(2.27)

In the event that there is only one fourth order invariant for the given gauge group—as is with for example, SU(2)—we define $B_R = 0$. Also, E is defined by

$$\operatorname{tr}_R F^3 = E_R \operatorname{tr} F^3 \,. \tag{2.28}$$

As was with the case of mixed anomaly equations, it is convenient to write the gauge anomaly equation using slightly different notation:

$$0 = B_{\mathrm{Adj}_{\kappa}} - \sum_{R} x_{R} B_{R}$$

$$(\frac{b_{\kappa}}{\lambda_{\kappa}})^{2} = \frac{1}{3} (\sum_{R} x_{R} C_{R} - C_{\mathrm{Adj}_{\kappa}})$$

$$(\frac{b_{\kappa}}{\lambda_{\kappa}}) \cdot (\frac{b_{\mu}}{\lambda_{\mu}}) = \sum_{I} x_{RS} A_{R} A_{S}$$

$$0 = \sum_{R,q_{i}} x_{R,q_{i}} q_{i} E_{R}$$

$$(\frac{b_{\kappa}}{\lambda_{\kappa}}) \cdot b_{ij} = \sum_{R,q_{i},q_{j}} x_{R,q_{i},q_{j}} q_{i} q_{j} A_{R}$$

$$b_{ij} \cdot b_{kl} + b_{ik} \cdot b_{jl} + b_{il} \cdot b_{jk} = \sum_{q_{i},q_{j},q_{k},q_{l}} x_{q_{i},q_{j},q_{k},q_{l}} q_{i} q_{j} q_{k} q_{l}$$

As before, x_R is the number of hypermultiplets of representation R of gauge group \mathcal{G}_{κ} . x_{RS} is the number of hypermultiplets of representation $R \times S$ of gauge group $\mathcal{G}_{\kappa} \times \mathcal{G}_{\mu}$, while x_{R,q_i} is the number of hypermultiplets of representation R of gauge group \mathcal{G}_{κ} with charge q_i under $U(1)_i$. x_{R,q_i,q_j} is the number of hypermultiplets of representation R of gauge group \mathcal{G}_{κ} with charge (q_i, q_j) under $U(1)_i \times U(1)_j$, and x_{q_i,q_j,q_k,q_l} is the number of hypermultiplets that have charge (q_i, q_j, q_k, q_l) under $U(1)_i \times U(1)_j \times U(1)_j \times U(1)_k \times$ $U(1)_l$.

It was shown in [65] using the anomaly equations that the SO(1,T) vector a and the non-abelian anomaly coefficients b_{κ} can be embedded in an integral lattice Λ . It was subsequently shown that quantum consistency conditions impose that Λ must further be embeddable in a unimodular lattice [124].

2.1.5 Linear Multiplets and Generalized Green-Schwarz Anomaly Cancellation

In this section we discuss linear multiplets and their role in the generalized Green-Schwarz anomaly cancellation mechanism. We first discuss how two different types of hypermultiplets can be distinguished when we consider their representation under $SU(2)_R$. Then we show how each multiplet couples to vector multiplets. In particular, we show how a linear multiplet can couple to an abelian vector multiplet and form a long multiplet. Next we depict the role that linear multiplets play in the generalized Green-Schwarz anomaly cancellation mechanism. Lastly we show that we may ignore long multiplets formed in this way and the generalized Green-Schwarz mechanism when we are discussing the massless spectrum of the theory. Most of the information on linear multiplets given in this section can be found in [125].

There are two different kinds of hypermultiplets in supersymmetric 6D theories with 8 supercharges. The scalar components of the hypermultiplet can transform either as a complex 2 or a real 3 + 1 under the $SU(2)_R$ symmetry of the theory. We refer to the first type of hypermultiplet simply as a "hypermultiplet," and the second kind of hypermultiplet as a "linear multiplet". As far as their contribution to the gravitational anomaly are concerned, the two kinds of hypermultiplets behave identically. The fermions of the linear multiplet are not charged under any gauge group, so the contribution of the linear multiplet to the anomaly is equivalent to that of a neutral hypermultiplet, as shown shortly.

As stated above, under the $SU(2)_R$ symmetry, the scalar components of the hypermultiplet transform as a complex 2. The spinors, on the other hand are neutral, *i.e.*, singlets (1). Meanwhile, the scalar components of the linear multiplet transform as a real 3 + 1. The spinors transform as 2's.

To see how these multiplets couple to other fields, it is useful to reduce to four dimensions on a two-torus and write out the Lagrangian in terms of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superfields. Both multiplets, when dimensionally reduced, are $\mathcal{N} = 2$ fields that consist of two chiral superfields. The hypermultiplets can transform in a non-trivial representation of the gauge group and consist of two chiral superfields Q and \tilde{Q} . In this case, the representation of Q must be the conjugate of that of \tilde{Q} . It is well known that this multiplet couples to the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vector multiplet that consists of a vector multiplet Vand a chiral multiplet Φ in the adjoint representation as

$$\int d^4x d^4\theta \left(Q^{\dagger} e^V Q + \tilde{Q}^{\dagger} e^{-V} \tilde{Q}\right) + \int d^4x d^2\theta \, \tilde{Q}^T \Phi Q + (h.c.) \,. \tag{2.30}$$

Meanwhile, the linear multiplets couple to other fields in quite a different manner [125]. They cannot couple to gauge fields in the standard way, as the Lagrangian would not be $SU(2)_R$ invariant in this case. They can couple to U(1) gauge fields, however. The linear multiplet consists of two chiral fields C and B and couples to U(1) gauge fields as

$$\int d^4x d^4\theta \,\left(\frac{1}{2}(iC - iC^{\dagger} - V)^2 + B^{\dagger}B\right) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \int d^4x d^2\theta \, B\Phi + (h.c.) \,. \tag{2.31}$$

Writing the scalar of C as $(\pi_3 + i\phi)$ and the scalar of B as $(\pi_1 + i\pi_2)$, the kinetic terms for the scalars become

$$-\int d^4x ((\partial_\mu \phi - \frac{1}{2}A_\mu)^2 + (\partial_\mu \pi_i)^2). \qquad (2.32)$$

The ϕ can be gauged away using the gauge transformation

$$A_{\mu} \to A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\Lambda, \qquad \phi \to \phi + \frac{1}{2}\Lambda,$$
 (2.33)

and the U(1) gauge field obtains mass 1/2. The U(1) gauge field has recived a mass by the Stückelberg mechanism.

By integrating out the F-terms of the linear multiplet, we see that the scalar in Φ recieves the same mass(1/2). Meanwhile, the fermions do not couple to the gauge field, and hence only contribute to gravitational anomalies. They only couple to the fermions in V and Φ through Dirac mass terms, *i.e.*, fermions of C and B pair up with fermions of V and Φ into two Dirac fermions of mass 1/2.

Combining the auxiliary fields of V and Φ , we get three real auxiliary fields (the 'D fields' for the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vector multiplet) that are in the **3** of $SU(2)_R$. These couple to the scalars transforming as the **3**:

$$-\int d^4x (\pi_i D^i) \tag{2.34}$$

Expanding around a vacuum with $\pi_i = 0$, the U(1) vector multiplet and linear multiplet together form a long $\mathcal{N} = 2$ multiplet with 5 scalars, 2 Dirac fermions, and a vector field, all of mass 1/2 in units of the mass parameter. Note that this long massive spin-1 multiplet is not chiral, as the fermions are Dirac.

When we have linear multiplets, they may be used to cancel anomalies. As discussed in section 2.1.3, it is possible to cancel anomalies of the form

$$F_i \wedge X_6 \,, \tag{2.35}$$

where X_6 is a six form, by adding the term

$$-\phi \wedge X_6. \tag{2.36}$$

 ϕ is a Stückelberg 0-form inside a linear multiplet.

In order for the generalized anomaly cancellation to work, we must have a linear multiplet at our disposal. If we do not have such a linear multiplet, we cannot get rid of the term and hence the theory would be anomalous. In case we have such a multiplet, through the Stückelberg mechanism, we expect the linear multiplet to be eaten to form a long massive spin-1 multiplet. Schematically, we may write

$$L_i = V_i + H_i \,, \tag{2.37}$$

where L_i denotes the long multiplet, V_i denotes the U(1) vector multiplet, and H_i the linear multiplet.

So we see that all the vector bosons of U(1) gauge symmetries whose anomalies

are cancelled in this fashion must be massive and must form a long multiplet. These long multiplets are non-chiral and hence do not contribute to gravitational anomalies. Furthermore none of the fields inside this multiplet are charged under other gauge groups. Therefore, we see that these multiplets contribute neither to gravitational anomalies nor to unbroken gauge/mixed anomalies.

By this logic we can further state that all long multiplets obtained by U(1) gauge bosons coupling to linear multiplets do not contribute to the anomaly polynomial. Therefore, we may ignore all the long multiplets — or vector/linear multiplet pairs that couple — when we are discussing gravitational anomalies and gauge/mixed anomalies concerning unbroken gauge symmetry, *i.e.*, gauge symmetry of the massless spectrum.

Long multiplets and hence the generalized Green-Schwarz mechanism may thus be ignored when we are discussing the massless spectrum of the theory. In other words, when we are constructing low-energy effective theories, writing down anomalous U(1)'s and then lifting them is a redundant procedure. We may safely restrict our attention to the massless spectrum whose anomalies are all cancelled by two-forms; the factorization condition (2.6) should hold for these theories.

2.1.6 Summary

A six-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (1,0)$ theory is characterized by its massless spectrum S, the vacuum expectation value of the scalars present in the theory, and the anomaly coefficients a, b_{κ} and b_{ij} . The massless spectrum is specified by the following data:

- 1. The number of tensor multiplets T.
- 2. The gauge group

$$\mathcal{G} = \prod_{\kappa=1}^{N} \mathcal{G}_{\kappa} \times \prod_{i=1}^{V_{A}} U(1)_{i} \,. \tag{2.38}$$

3. The hypermultiplet matter content.

The vacuum expectation value of the scalars in the tensor multiplet is given by a SO(1,T) unit vector j. The anomaly coefficients are SO(1,T) vectors, and in partic-

ular b_{ij} is also a bilinear form which transforms under the linear redefinitions of the U(1)'s. The massless matter content and the anomaly coefficients must satisfy the anomaly equations (2.22), (2.23) and (2.26).

The anomaly coefficients determine the invariant field strength of the tensors (2.16), the Green-Schwarz term of the quantum effective action (2.17), and the corrected kinetic term for the gauge fields (2.18). Quantum consistency conditions demand that a, b_{κ} must be embeddable into a unimodular lattice.

2.2 Non-abelian Theories

In this section we review some facts about the space of apparently consistent nonabelian theories in the six-dimensional (1,0) supergravity landscape based on [62, 65, 114]. The main result of these works is the fact that there are only finitely many theories — parameterized by the low-energy spectrum S, the anomaly coefficients a, b_{κ} and the modulus j — that satisfy the following conditions³:

- 1. The gauge symmetry is non-abelian.
- 2. S, a and b_{κ} satisfy the anomaly equations.
- 3. The gauge kinetic terms $j \cdot b_{\kappa}$ are positive.
- 4. T < 9.

When T < 9, a is a time-like SO(1,T) vector as

$$a \cdot a = 9 - T \,. \tag{2.39}$$

Now for time-like vector a, if $a \cdot b = 0$ and $b^2 = 0$ for some SO(1,T) vector b, then b = 0, and accordingly $j \cdot b = 0$. This fact was repeatedly used in the proof for boundedness of non-abelian theories. Therefore the boundedness proof breaks down

³We do not go in to the details of this proof in this section. Later in this thesis, however, we prove statements on how theories with abelian gauge symmetry are bounded using almost identical methods as [62, 65]. For more details, see section A.4.

when $T \ge 9$. As a consequence, infinite families of apparently consistent theories exist when the condition T < 9 is relaxed. We conclude this section by listing three such infinite families.

The first family consists of an infinite family with an arbitrary gauge group $\mathcal{G} = \prod_{\kappa} \mathcal{G}_{\kappa}$. If we let the matter content to be such that there is a single adjoint in each of the factors, the anomaly equation boils down to

$$a \cdot a = 9 - T, \quad a \cdot b_{\kappa} = 0, \quad b_{\kappa}^2 = 0, \quad b_{\kappa} \cdot b_{\lambda} = 0,$$
 (2.40)

for all κ and pairs κ, λ . When T < 9, one cannot find SO(1,T) vectors that satisfy these conditions and have positive definite kinetic terms. For $T \ge 9$, however, this is possible. Taking the SO(1,T) metric to be diag $(+1, -1, -1, \cdots)$, all the anomaly equations can be satisfied by setting the vectors

$$a = (-3, 1 \times T)$$

$$b_{\kappa} = (3, (-1) \times 9, 0 \times (T - 9))$$
(2.41)

for all κ . We used the notation $x \times n$ to mean that n consecutive entries are equal to x. The gauge kinetic terms $j \cdot b$ become positive for the choice

$$j = (1, 0 \times T)$$
. (2.42)

The second family consists of the infinite family of spectra found by Schwarz in [126]. Anomaly coefficients that satisfy the anomaly equations for these spectra always exists, but it turns out that the kinetic terms for the gauge fields cannot have positive definite kinetic terms for T < 9. This is shown using the aforementioned property of SO(1,T) vectors [65]. As in the previous case, however, the anomaly coefficients for these spectra can have give positive kinetic terms when $T \ge 9$. For example, when $\mathcal{G} = SU(M) \times SU(M)$ and the matter consists of two bifundamental matter fields, the anomaly equations boil down to

$$a \cdot a = 9 - T$$
, $a \cdot b_1 = a \cdot b_2 = 0$, $b_1^2 = b_2^2 = -2$, $b_1 \cdot b_2 = 2$. (2.43)

Setting the SO(1,T) metric to diag $(+1, -1, -1, \cdots)$, the vectors

$$a = (-3, 1 \times T)$$

$$b_1 = (1, 1, 1, 1, 0 \times (T - 3))$$

$$b_2 = (2, 0, 0, 0, (-1) \times 6, 0 \times (T - 9))$$

(2.44)

satisfy the anomaly equations. The gauge kinetic terms $j \cdot b$ become positive for the choice

$$j = (1, 0 \times T)$$
. (2.45)

There is also an infinite family of theories with an unbounded number of tensor multiplets [65]. For example, there exists a family of theories with $\mathcal{G} = E_8^k$, no matter with T = 9 + 8k with $k \ge 1$. The anomaly equations are given by

$$-a \cdot b_{\kappa} = -10, \quad b_{\kappa}^2 = -12, \quad b_{\kappa} \cdot b_{\lambda} = 0$$
 (2.46)

for $\kappa \neq \lambda$. The anomaly coefficients are given by

$$a = (-3, 1 \times 8(k+1))$$

$$b_{\kappa} = (-1, 0 \times (4\kappa - 4), -1, -1, -1, -3, 0 \times (8k + 8 - 4\kappa))$$
(2.47)

for $\kappa = 1, \cdots, k$. The choice of j that makes all the gauge kinetic terms positive is given by

$$j = (-\sqrt{4k+9}, 0 \times 4k, 1 \times (4k+8)).$$
(2.48)

2.3 Non-abelian T = 0 Theories

In this section, we examine the space of apparently consistent T = 0 theories. For technical simplicity, we restrict our attention to theories having gauge groups with nonabelian structure

$$\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{G}_1 \times \dots \times \mathcal{G}_k = SU(M_1) \times \dots \times SU(M_k).$$
(2.49)

The analysis of this section can be carried over with minor modifications to more general nonabelian gauge group structures.

We only sketch the strategy for constructing the space of apparently consistent T = 0 theories in this section, and describe details of the constructed theories in section 4.1, where we present the results of the full landscape analysis. We proceed by first reviewing the low-energy constraints of T = 0 theories in section 2.3.1, and then explaining how we can construct the full space of apparently consistent theories in section 2.3.2.

2.3.1 Review of Constraints

In this section, we review the low-energy constraints of T = 0 theories with gauge group

$$\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{G}_1 \times \cdots \times \mathcal{G}_k = SU(M_1) \times \cdots \times SU(M_k).$$
(2.50)

When T = 0 the anomaly cancellation conditions (2.22), (2.23) and (2.26) can be written in terms of a set of integers b_{κ} associated with the simple factors G_{κ} of the gauge group

$$H_{\text{total}} - V = H_{\text{neutral}} + H - V = 273$$
 (2.51)

$$3b_{\kappa} = \frac{1}{6} \left[\sum_{R} x_{R} A_{R} - A_{\mathrm{adj}} \right]$$
(2.52)

$$0 = \sum_{R} x_R B_R - B_{\text{adj}} \tag{2.53}$$

$$b_{\kappa}^{2} = \frac{1}{3} \left[\sum_{R} x_{R} C_{R} - C_{\text{adj}} \right]$$
 (2.54)

$$b_{\kappa}b_{\lambda} = \sum_{RS} x_{RS}A_R A_S. \tag{2.55}$$

Recall that x_R denotes the number of matter fields which transform in the irreducible representation R of gauge group factor \mathcal{G}_{κ} . Similarly, x_{RS} denotes the number of matter fields transforming under representation $R \times S$ of $\mathcal{G}_{\kappa} \times \mathcal{G}_{\lambda}$. The group theory coefficients A_R, B_R, C_R were defined in equations (2.24) and (2.27). The anomaly coefficients should be integers due to the fact that a, b_{κ} must form a one-dimensional unimodular lattice [124] when T = 0.

In obtaining equation (2.52), we have used the fact that

$$a^2 = 9 - T = 9. (2.56)$$

There is an ambiguity in fixing the sign of a relative to the scalar "modulus" j. The word "modulus" is in quotes because actually there is no scalar modulus when T = 0. There is, however, a discrete choice in choosing the sign of the unit vector j. This choice individually is not physical, but the relative sign of a and j does matter. We note that once a is chosen to be -3, additional considerations yield j = 1 [115].

In this section and in section 4.1, we denote by H the number of matter hypermultiplets carrying nonabelian charges for notational simplicity. We have used H_{neutral} to denote the number of neutral hypermultiplets. Note that because we have specialized to models with simple gauge group factors $SU(M_{\kappa})$, the normalization factors λ_{κ} appearing in the anomaly cancellation conditions are all unity ($\lambda_{\kappa} = 1$) and do not appear in our equations.

In addition to local anomalies, quantum consistency requires the absence of global anomalies [127]. For models with SU(M) gauge group factors, the absence of global anomalies is guaranteed for any model without local anomalies when the anomaly coefficients form a integral lattice. This result is proven in Appendix A.2.

As mentioned above, there is no scalar modulus when T = 0, *i.e.*, the vector j can be fixed to j = 1. Hence the coefficient of the kinetic term of the $SU(M_{\kappa})$ gauge fields is given by b_{κ} . By imposing positivity of the kinetic terms, we obtain $b_{\kappa} > 0$. In a general 6D supergravity theory, the tensor multiplet moduli define the coupling constants, or the strength of the gauge interactions relative to gravity. Theories with T = 0 are, therefore, intrinsically gravitational with all interaction strengths set by the Planck scale.

2.3.2 Strategy for Construction

In this section, we explain the method we have used to construct the space of apparently consistent non-abelian T = 0 theories. We first sketch the method of how to construct this space of theories and then justify important features of T = 0 theories that enable our approach to work.

In constructing the full space of apparently consistent theories, the fact that the anomaly equations depend primarily on the integers b_{κ} associated with each gauge group factor separately, plays an important role. It can be seen from the anomaly equations that only the cross-term component (2.55) of the anomaly factorization condition depends upon more than one distinct b_{κ} . By using the other anomaly conditions we can constrain the gauge group factors $SU(M_{\kappa})$ and matter transforming under each factor independently. We can then treat these factors and associated matter as "blocks" which can be combined to build models with multiple gauge group factors. This general approach is discussed in [65] and used there to construct T = 1 models with gauge groups which are products of SU(M) factors with a restricted class of representations. The main reason we are able to use this approach to actually construct the full space of T = 0 theories is because the anomaly coefficients are all

positive integers. This fact is responsible for the following desirable features of T = 0 theories.

First, there are only a finite number of individual blocks that satisfy the anomaly equations (2.52), (2.53), and (2.54) on their own. Furthermore, we are able to construct this full set of individual blocks of the theory. This is a key result for T = 0 theories and we devote the latter part of this section on explaining how this is achieved.

Second, since b_{κ} are non-zero integers, (2.55) implies that any two gauge group factors of a theory must have matter jointly charged under it. If one has the full list of the finite number of individual blocks of the theory, this implies that there are only a finite number of ways to put them together. This is because only a finite number of blocks are joinable to a given block through jointly charged matter.

For example, the number of blocks one can join to an SU(10) block B with 14 fundamentals (\Box) and 3 antisymmetrics (\ominus) is bounded by 8 — the best case is when it is possible to have the 7 pairs of fundamentals of the block to be bifundamentals ($\Box \times \Box$) that join an SU(2) block to B, and the 3 antisymmetrics to be in the representation $\Box \times \Box$ that joins B to an SU(3) block. This, of course, is an overestimation as we have not used any anomaly conditions in the process of determining this number. In general, if a block has r distinct representations and the number of representations iin the block is given by n_i , the block can be joined to at most

$$\lfloor \frac{n_1}{2} \rfloor + \lfloor \frac{n_2}{2} \rfloor + \dots + \lfloor \frac{n_r}{2} \rfloor$$
(2.57)

other blocks. Since there are only a finite number of individual blocks, only a finite number of blocks are joinable to a given block.

These two features make it possible for one to construct the full set of apparently consistent non-abelian theories when T = 0 by the following steps:

- 1. Construct all the individual blocks satisfying the equations (2.52), (2.53), and (2.54).
- 2. Find all the combinations of blocks that can be joined together using (2.55).

3. Eliminate theories that violate the gravitational anomaly bound (2.51).

For the rest of this section, we show that there are only a finite number of blocks that satisfy the single-block anomaly equations (2.52), (2.53), and (2.54). We begin by examining the properties of the group theory coefficients A_R , B_R , C_R in more detail. As discussed for example in [62] (see also [87]), these group theory coefficients can be computed for any particular representation using two diagonal generators T_{12} , T_{34} which, in the fundamental representation, take the form

$$(T_{12})_{ab} = \delta_{a1}\delta_{b1} - \delta_{a2}\delta_{b2} \tag{2.58}$$

$$(T_{34})_{ab} = \delta_{a3}\delta_{b3} - \delta_{a4}\delta_{b4} \tag{2.59}$$

The group theory factors A_R , B_R , C_R can be computed in terms of traces of these generators. For SU(M), M > 3, we have

$$A_R = \frac{1}{2} \text{tr}_R T_{12}^2 \tag{2.60}$$

$$B_R + 2C_R = \frac{1}{2} \text{tr}_R T_{12}^4 \tag{2.61}$$

$$C_R = \frac{3}{4} \text{tr}_R T_{12}^2 T_{34}^2 \tag{2.62}$$

In these traces, we sum over all basis states in the representation R, which can be represented in terms of the Young tableaux with various labelings of the associated Young diagram. For SU(2) and SU(3) there is no fourth order Casimir, or generator T_{34} , so we can take $B_R = 0$ and use (2.61) to compute C_R . We will find it useful to work with the linear combination

$$g_R := \frac{1}{12} \left(2C_R + B_R - A_R \right) = \frac{1}{24} \left(\operatorname{tr}_R T_{12}^4 - \operatorname{tr}_R T_{12}^2 \right) \,. \tag{2.63}$$

Since in any given state in the representation $T_{12}^2 \leq T_{12}^4$, we see that

$$g_R \ge 0, \quad \forall R.$$
 (2.64)

Rep.	Dimension	A_R	B_R	C_R	g_R
	М	1	1	0	0
Adjoint	$M^2 - 1$	2M	2M	6	1
Β	$\frac{M(M-1)}{2}$	M-2	M-8	3	0
	$\frac{M(M+1)}{2}$	M+2	M + 8	3	1
	$\frac{M(M-\overline{1})(M-2)}{6}$	$\frac{M^2-5M+6}{2}$	$\frac{M^2 - 17M + 54}{2}$	3M - 12	0
	$\frac{M(M^2-1)}{3}$	$M^2 - 3$	$M^2 - 27$	6M	M-2
	$\frac{M(M+\check{1})(M+2)}{6}$	$\frac{M^2+5M+6}{2}$	$\frac{M^2 + 17M + 54}{2}$	3M + 12	M+4
	$\frac{M^2(M+1)(M-1)}{12}$	$\frac{M(M-\tilde{2})(M+2)}{3}$	$\frac{M(M^2-58)}{3}$	$3(M^2+2)$	$\frac{(M-1)(M-2)}{2}$

Table 2.3: Values of the group-theoretic coefficients A_R, B_R, C_R , dimension and genus for some representations of SU(M), $M \ge 4$. For SU(2) and SU(3), A_R is given in table, while $B_R = 0$ and C_R is computed by adding formulae for $C_R + B_R/2$ from table with M = 2, 3.

For representations given by Young diagrams with a single column there are no states with $|\langle T_{12} \rangle| > 1$ and therefore $g_R = 0$; all other representations have $g_R > 0$.

For a gauge group factor SU(M) with corresponding anomaly integer b, we can take a linear combination of the anomaly conditions (2.52), (2.53), (2.54) to get

$$\sum_{R} x_R g_R = \frac{1}{2} \left(2g_{\text{adj}} + b^2 - 3b \right) = \frac{(b-1)(b-2)}{2}$$
(2.65)

where we have used $g_{adj} = C_{adj}/6 = 1$. We denote this number as the "genus" of a block, for reasons that will be clear later on. Some examples of group theory coefficients, dimensions, and genera are shown in table 2.3.

Now let us show that there are only a finite number of blocks satisfying the equations (2.52), (2.53), and (2.54). For any fixed M and b, there are only a finite number of solutions to these equations. An efficient way of finding all solutions is given by the following. (2.65) gives a bound on the sum of the non-negative values g_R associated with the matter representations transforming under SU(M). This gives a finite partition problem, to which all solutions can be found. Each solution of the partition problem corresponds to a set of values for the x_R associated with representations with nonzero genus g_R . As noted above, the representations with $g_R > 0$ are all associated with Young diagrams having more than one column. We

can then fix the x_R for all R with $g_R > 0$ and treat (2.54) as a second partition problem. Since all C_R are positive except for the fundamental representation, this gives a set of possible combinations of coefficients x_R for all representations besides the fundamental. We can then use (2.53) to determine the number of fundamental representations, which must be nonnegative. As an example of how this analysis works let us consider the set of blocks with b = 1 and b = 2.

Let us begin with models with b = 1. From (2.65) we have

$$b = 1$$
: $2\sum_{R} x_{R} g_{R} = (b-1)(b-2) = 0.$ (2.66)

Thus, $x_R = 0$ for any representation with $g_R > 0$, and we cannot include any representations other than those with a single column. The anomaly condition (2.54) becomes

$$\sum_{R} x_R C_R = 9. (2.67)$$

For M > 7, the coefficients C_R satisfy $C_R > 9$ for all one-column representations other than the two-index antisymmetric (A2) and fundamental (F) representations. So in these cases the only solution is $x_{A2} = 3$. The anomaly condition (2.53) then becomes

$$\sum_{R} x_R B_R = x_F + 3(N - 8) = B_{\text{adj}} = 2M, \qquad (2.68)$$

so

$$x_F = 24 - M. (2.69)$$

Thus, for b = 1 there are no possible blocks with M > 24, and the only possible blocks with M > 7 are SU(M) factors with matter content

$$(24-M) \times \Box + 3 \times \Box$$
, $(b = 1, M \le 24, H-V = (2+45M-M^2)/2 \le 273)$. (2.70)

(Recall that when describing the hypermultiplet matter content of any block or model we denote by H the number of matter hypermultiplets which carry nonabelian charges; as long as this quantity satisfies $H - V \leq 273$, uncharged hypermultiplets can be added to saturate the gravitational anomaly condition (2.51).)

For $M \leq 7$, other b = 1 blocks are possible. It is easy to verify that including the 3-antisymmetric (A3) representation at the second step of the above analysis for SU(7) gives a block satisfying the anomaly cancellation conditions with

$$SU(7):$$
 $22 \times \Box + 1 \times \Box$, $(b = 1, H - V = 141).$ (2.71)

A similar block can be constructed for SU(6) with 20 fundamental, one A2, and one A3 representation. Since for SU(5) the A3 and A2 representations are conjugate (and therefore treated as equivalent in this analysis), this exhausts the range of possibilities for b = 1. Note that all these blocks automatically satisfy the gravitational anomaly bound $H - V \leq 273$.

A similar analysis for b = 2 again allows only single-column representations, which now restrict $M \leq 12$ and includes SU(M) blocks of the form

$$(48-4M) \times \Box + 6 \times \Box$$
, $(b=2, M \le 12, H-V = 1 + 45M - 2M^2 \le 273)$ (2.72)

for all $M \leq 12$. Other b = 2 blocks are possible for $6 \leq M \leq 10$: blocks with single 3-antisymmetric (A3) representations are possible at M = 10, 9 with H - V > 273 and at M = 8, 7, 6 with $H - V \leq 273$. For SU(6) there are also blocks with two and three A3 representations, and for SU(7) there is a block with two A3 representations; all these blocks satisfy the gravitational anomaly bound $H - V \leq 273$. There is also a single b = 2 block with gauge group SU(8) and a 4-antisymmetric (A4) representation

$$SU(8):$$
 $32 \times \Box + 1 \times \Box$, $(b = 2, H - V = 263).$ (2.73)

This exhausts the range of possibilities for b = 2 blocks.

It can be shown that the equations (2.52), (2.53), and (2.54) impose that b is bounded above for each SU(M). This is proven in appendix A.3 using the Weyl character formula. The bound on b for each M is given in table A.1. In particular, b must be less than or equal to 2 when $M \ge 16$. We have, however, seen above that

М	$\max b$	(total blocks)	# SU(M) models
13-24	1 (1)	(1)	1
12	2(2)	(2)	2
11	2(3)	(4)	2
10	2(4)	(6)	2
9	3 (4)	(8)	3
8	8 (8)	(22)	15
7	4 (7)	(28)	16
6	6 (8)	(147)	48
5	8 (14)	(186)	23
4	16 (34)	(3893)	207
3	597 (597)		10100
2	$24297 \le b_{\max} < 36647$		$\sim 5 imes 10^7$

Table 2.4: A summary of the possible distinct matter representations for gauge group factors SU(M). The numbers in parentheses refer to possible blocks without constraint on the number of hypermultiplets, while the numbers without parentheses refer to possible anomaly-free models with a single nonabelian factor with total gauge group SU(M). The number of blocks not individually satisfying gravitational anomaly bound becomes very large at M = 3, as does the number of blocks for M = 2 even with the gravitational anomaly constraint. We have not precisely computed the number of blocks in these categories.

when $b \leq 2$, $M \leq 24$. We therefore have proven that (M, b) can only take a finite number of values, which in turn implies that there are only a finite number of blocks that satisfy the single-block anomaly equations.

We have explicitly constructed all SU(M) blocks with $M \ge 4$. We have, however, constructed only a subset of SU(3) and SU(2) blocks due to the fact that the sheer number of blocks turns out to be too large. We have summarized the number of blocks for each SU(M) in table 2.4.

2.4 Theories with Abelian Gauge Symmetry

In the previous sections, we have reviewed that the number of apparently consistent non-abelian theories with T < 9 tensor multiplets is finite, and have presented a way to construct the full set of theories when T = 0. In light of these results it is natural to ask whether such nice bounds exist when we allow abelian gauge group factors. It is useful to divide this question into two parts. That is, we ask;

- I. Whether the number of different gauge/matter structures is finite when we ignore the charges of the matter under the U(1)'s.
- II. Whether given the gauge/matter structure, the number of distinct combinations of U(1) charges each matter multiplet can have is finite.

In this section we show that the answer to the first question is "yes" when T < 9. As is the case with non-abelian theories, when $T \ge 9$ we can generate an infinite class of theories in which the bounds that hold for T < 9 theories are violated. An example of such an infinite class is given in section 2.4.2.

In addressing the second question, it is important to note that theories with multiple U(1) gauge symmetries (say $U(1)^n$) are defined up to arbitrary linear redefinitions of the gauge symmetry. If we assume that all the U(1)'s are compact and normalize the unit charge to be 1 for each U(1) factor, the theories are defined up to $SL(n,\mathbb{Z})$.

From this fact, we may deduce that there are an infinite number of distinct U(1)charge assignments possible for certain non-anomalous gauge/matter structures. This is because there are many known examples of theories with two U(1) factors and at least one uncharged scalar, so that the non-anomalous gauge group can be written in the form $U(1)^2 \times \mathcal{G}_0$. Since any linear combination of the two U(1)'s is a non-anomalous U(1) gauge symmetry, it is possible to construct an infinite class of apparently consistent 6D supergravity theories with gauge group $U(1) \times \mathcal{G}_0$ by simply removing the other U(1) along with a neutral scalar from the spectrum.

Hence we see that the answer to the second question is negative. We may now ask, however,

- III. Whether all infinite families of U(1)'s could be generated in the trivial manner presented above.
- IV. Whether additional quantum consistency conditions that are unknown to us at the present could be employed to constrain the set of U(1) charges in a given theory.

Regarding question III, we find that there are non-trivially generated infinite families of U(1) charge solutions. The last question is addressed in later chapters.

This section is organized as follows. In section 2.4.1 we develop a useful technical tool in analyzing the abelian anomaly equations. In section 2.4.2 we address the first question. In section 2.4.3 we address the second and third questions. In particular, we present examples of infinite classes of T = 1 theories with U(1)'s that are trivially/nontrivially generated. We also discuss subtleties arising in the case T = 0, where there are no tensor multiplets. We summarize the results of this section in section 2.4.4.

2.4.1 The Abelian Anomaly Equations

In this section we develop a useful formalism in which to manipulate the abelian anomaly equations. After first understanding the anomaly equations in this picture, we apply this formalism to specific examples with T = 1 and with T = 0.

It is useful to summarize the mixed (2.23) and gauge (2.26) anomaly constraints involving abelian gauge groups by the following polynomial identities:

$$a \cdot P(x_i) = -\frac{1}{6} \sum_I \mathcal{M}_I f_I(x_i)^2$$
 (2.74)

$$0 = \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa} E_{\kappa}^{I} f_{I}(x_{i})$$
(2.75)

$$b_{\kappa} \cdot P(x_i) = \lambda_{\kappa} \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa} A_{\kappa}^{I} f_{I}(x_i)^{2}$$
(2.76)

$$P(x_i) \cdot P(x_i) = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_{I} f_{I}(x_i)^{4}$$
(2.77)

Here we have defined the SO(1,T) scalar and vector polynomials

$$f_I(x_i) \equiv \sum_i q_{I,i} x_i \tag{2.78}$$

$$P^{\alpha}(x_i) \equiv \sum_i b^{\alpha}_{ij} x_i x_j \,. \tag{2.79}$$

The reason that U(1) factorization conditions can be written as polynomial identities

is because the field strengths of the U(1)'s behave like numbers rather than matrices in the anomaly polynomial. We note that the x_i are auxiliary variables and do not have any physical significance. Recall that the *i* indices index the U(1) gauge groups while the *I* indices index all the matter representations of the theory. $q_{I,i}$ is the charge of representation *I* under $U(1)_i$.

A theory with charges $q_{I,i}$ assigned to the hypermultiplets is only consistent if there exist b_{ij} satisfying these equations that give a positive-definite kinetic matrix $j \cdot b_{ij}$ for the U(1) gauge fields. It is useful to define the charge vector with respect to $U(1)_i$ whose components are the charges of the N nonabelian representations:

$$\vec{q_i} \equiv (q_{1,i}, q_{2,i}, \cdots, q_{N,i})$$
 (2.80)

There is a $GL(V_A, \mathbb{R})$ symmetry of the U(1) anomaly equations that originates from the fact that there is a freedom of redefining U(1)'s. Recall that V_A is the number of the abelian gauge group factors. If there are multiple U(1)'s one could take some new linear combination of them to define a new set of non-anomalous U(1)'s. The equations are invariant under

$$\begin{pmatrix} \vec{q_1} \\ \vec{q_2} \\ \vdots \\ \vec{q_{V_A}} \end{pmatrix} \to M \begin{pmatrix} \vec{q_1} \\ \vec{q_2} \\ \vdots \\ \vec{q_{V_A}} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (b^{\alpha})_{ij} \to (M^t(b^{\alpha})M)_{ij}, \qquad (2.81)$$

for $M \in GL(V_A, \mathbb{R})$, as expected from (2.8). We have denoted (b^{α}) to be the matrix whose (i, j) element is b_{ij}^{α} . When we are discussing properly quantized charges of compact U(1)'s the linear redefinitions of the U(1)'s must be given by elements of $SL(V_A, \mathbb{Z}) \subset GL(V_A, \mathbb{R})$. In this section, however, we merely use the fact that the anomaly equations are invariant under $GL(V_A, \mathbb{R})$ as a tool for obtaining bounds on the number of U(1)'s we can add to a given theory. Therefore, we do not need to be concerned with the issue of integrality of charges.

The factorization equations, combined with the positive-definite condition on b_{ij} ,

impose stronger constraints on the theory when T < 9. This is because a is timelike when T < 9:

$$a \cdot a = 9 - T > 0 \tag{2.82}$$

When a is timelike,

$$a \cdot y = 0, \quad y \cdot y \ge 0 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad y = 0$$
 (2.83)

for any arbitrary SO(1,T) vector y. This fact is used in [62] to bound the number of theories with nonabelian gauge groups, and is also crucial in bounding the space of theories with abelian factors. In particular, this fact implies that the charge vectors $\vec{q_i}$ must be linearly independent in order to get a positive definite kinetic term for the U(1)'s when T < 9. If they are not, there exists non-zero (x_i) such that $f_I(x_i) = 0$ for all I since

$$\vec{f}(x_i) \equiv (f_1(x_i), \cdots, f_N(x_i)) = \sum_i x_i \vec{q_i} .$$
 (2.84)

For such x_i , we see that

$$a \cdot P(x_i) = 0, \qquad P(x_i) \cdot P(x_i) = 0.$$
 (2.85)

This implies that $P(x_i) = 0$, which in turn implies that $j \cdot P(x_i) = 0$, *i.e.*,

$$\sum_{ij} (j \cdot b)_{ij} x_i x_j = 0.$$
 (2.86)

This would mean that the kinetic term is not positive-definite. Hence we have proven that in order for the kinetic term to be positive-definite, $\vec{q_i}$ must be linearly independent when T < 9. This in particular means that we cannot have a massless U(1)vector under which nothing is charged, *i.e.*, that when T < 9, the trivial solutions to the U(1) factorization equations where all the charges are set to $q_{I,i} = 0$ are not acceptable. The analogous connection in 10D between U(1) charges and the BF^2 term, which is related by supersymmetry to the gauge kinetic term [86], also played a key role in the analysis in [69] showing that the ten-dimensional supergravity theories with gauge group $U(1)^{496}$ and $E_8 \times U(1)^{248}$ are inconsistent.

The fact that $\vec{q_i}$ are all linearly independent for T < 9 also implies that

$$P(x_i) \cdot P(x_i) = \sum_I \mathcal{M}_I f_I(x_i)^4 > 0$$
 (2.87)

for all non-zero x_i as $f_I(x_i)$ cannot be made simultaneously zero for all I. We make use of (2.87) in bounding the set of abelian theories in section 2.4.2. Now let us examine some examples using this formalism.

Examples : T = 1

Let us examine the abelian anomaly cancellation conditions for examples that have one tensor multiplet. As discussed earlier, T = 1 theories have a Lagrangian description, unlike theories with other T values. The SO(1,T) basis most commonly used for T = 1 theories in the literature is

$$\Omega = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad a = \begin{pmatrix} -2 \\ -2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad b = \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{\kappa} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{\kappa} \\ \tilde{\alpha}_{\kappa} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad j = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\phi} \\ e^{-\phi} \end{pmatrix} \quad (2.88)$$

for which the factorization condition becomes

$$I_8 = -\frac{1}{16} (\operatorname{tr} R^2 - \sum_{\kappa} \alpha_{\kappa} \operatorname{tr} F_{\kappa}^2 - \sum_{ij} \alpha_{ij} F_i F_j) \wedge (\operatorname{tr} R^2 - \sum_{\kappa} \tilde{\alpha}_{\kappa} \operatorname{tr} F_{\kappa}^2 - \sum_{ij} \tilde{\alpha}_{ij} F_i F_j) . \quad (2.89)$$

For the abelian factors we have

$$b_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{ij} \\ \tilde{\alpha}_{ij} \end{pmatrix} , \qquad (2.90)$$

and the gravitational anomaly constraint becomes

$$H - V = 244. (2.91)$$

The kinetic term for the antisymmetric tensor is given by

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2}e^{-2\phi}(dB - \omega) \cdot (dB - \omega), \qquad (2.92)$$

where ϕ is the dilaton. We define the Chern-Simons forms ω and $\tilde{\omega}$ as

$$d\omega = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} (\operatorname{tr} R^2 - \sum_{\kappa} \alpha_{\kappa} \operatorname{tr} F_{\kappa}^2 - \sum_{ij} \alpha_{ij} F_i F_j)$$
(2.93)

$$d\tilde{\omega} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} (\operatorname{tr} R^2 - \sum_{\kappa} \tilde{\alpha}_{\kappa} \operatorname{tr} F_{\kappa}^2 - \sum_{ij} \tilde{\alpha}_{ij} F_i F_j)$$
(2.94)

The variation of the two form under gauge transformations becomes

$$\delta B = -\frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left(\sum_{\kappa} \alpha_{\kappa} \text{tr} \Lambda_{\kappa} F_{\kappa} + \sum_{ij} \alpha_{ij} \Lambda_i F_j \right)$$
(2.95)

and the anomaly can be gotten rid of by adding the term

$$-B \wedge d\tilde{\omega}$$
 (2.96)

to the Lagrangian. Supersymmetry determines the kinetic term for the gauge fields to be

$$-\sum_{\kappa} (\alpha_{\kappa} e^{\phi} + \tilde{\alpha}_{\kappa} e^{-\phi}) \operatorname{tr} F_{\kappa} \wedge *F_{\kappa} - \sum_{ij} (\alpha_{ij} e^{\phi} + \tilde{\alpha}_{ij} e^{-\phi}) F_{i} \wedge *F_{j}.$$
(2.97)

For a consistent theory without instabilities there must be a value of the dilaton such that all the gauge fields have positive kinetic terms. This means that the matrix

$$\gamma_{ij} \equiv \alpha_{ij} e^{\phi} + \tilde{\alpha}_{ij} e^{-\phi} = 2\sqrt{2}j \cdot b_{ij} \tag{2.98}$$

must be positive definite for some value of ϕ . Also, in order for the distinct $U(1)_i$ vector multiplets to be independent degrees of freedom, γ_{ij} must be non-degenerate.

In order to discuss the factorization equations coming from terms with abelian gauge field factors, in addition to $f_I(x_i) = q_{I,i}x_i$ it is convenient to define the quadratic forms

$$F(x_i) = \sum_{ij} \alpha_{ij} x_i x_j \qquad \tilde{F}(x_i) = \sum_{ij} \tilde{\alpha}_{ij} x_i x_j.$$
(2.99)

These are the components of $P^{\alpha}(x)$ defined through (2.79).

The factorization condition can then be summarized by the polynomial identities

$$0 = \sum_{I} (\mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa} E_{\kappa}^{I}) f_{I}(x_{i}) \qquad \text{for all } \kappa \qquad (2.100)$$

$$F(x_i) + \tilde{F}(x_i) = \frac{1}{6} \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_I f_I(x_i)^2$$
(2.101)

$$\tilde{\alpha}_{\kappa}F(x_i) + \alpha_{\kappa}\tilde{F}(x_i) = 4\sum_{I} (\mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa}A_{\kappa}^{I})f_{I}(x_i)^{2} \qquad \text{for all } \kappa \qquad (2.102)$$

$$F(x_i)\tilde{F}(x_i) = \frac{2}{3} \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_I f_I(x_i)^4$$
(2.103)

The basis chosen for the U(1) factors is defined up to $GL(V_A, \mathbb{R})$:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \vec{q_1} \\ \vec{q_2} \\ \vdots \\ \vec{q_{V_A}} \end{pmatrix} \to M \begin{pmatrix} \vec{q_1} \\ \vec{q_2} \\ \vdots \\ \vec{q_{V_A}} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (\alpha)_{ij} \to (M^t(\alpha)M)_{ij}, \quad (\tilde{\alpha})_{ij} \to (M^t(\tilde{\alpha})M)_{ij} . \quad (2.104)$$

(α) and ($\tilde{\alpha}$) denote the matrices whose (i, j) element is α_{ij} and $\tilde{\alpha}_{ij}$, respectively.

As proven in the last section, since T = 1 < 9, the charge vectors $\{\vec{q_i}\}$ are linearly independent for solutions of the factorization equations that give a non-degenerate kinetic term for some value of the dilaton. Linear independence of $\vec{q_i}$ imposes positivedefiniteness on both α_{ij} and $\tilde{\alpha}_{ij}$. The reason is that the r.h.s.'s of (2.101) and (2.103) are both positive for any real x_i if $\vec{q_i}$ are linearly independent. This is because $\vec{f}(x_i)$ cannot be zero for any real x_i . Hence $F(x_i)$ and $\tilde{F}(x_i)$ are positive for all real x_i . Therefore, α_{ij} and $\tilde{\alpha}_{ij}$ both have to be positive definite.

Let us examine two examples where we can see the abelian anomaly cancellation equations at play. The first example is given by orbifold compactifications of the $E_8 \times E_8$ heterotic string theory [87]. This theory has gauge group $E_7 \times E_8 \times U(1)$ with 10 56's and 66 singlets with respect to E_7 . Nothing is charged under the E_8 . This matter structure solves the non-abelian factorization equations. The non-abelian part of the anomaly polynomial factorizes to

$$-\frac{1}{16}(\mathrm{tr}R^2 - \frac{1}{6}\mathrm{tr}F_{E_7}^2 - \frac{1}{30}\mathrm{tr}F_{E_8}^2) \wedge (\mathrm{tr}R^2 - \mathrm{tr}F_{E_7}^2 + \frac{1}{5}\mathrm{tr}F_{E_8}^2).$$
(2.105)

We index the hypermultiplet representations 56 by $I = 1, \dots, 10$ and the singlets by $I = 11, \dots, 76$. Since there is only one U(1), there is only a single $\alpha = \alpha_{11}$ and a single $\tilde{\alpha} = \tilde{\alpha}_{11}$. Also, $f_I(x) = q_I x$.

Therefore, the anomaly equations can be obtained by plugging in

$$F(x) = \alpha x, \quad \tilde{F}(x) = \tilde{\alpha} x, \quad f_I(x) = q_I x$$
 (2.106)

to equations (2.100)-(2.103). Since E_7 and E_8 do not have third order invariants, and no matter is charged under E_8 , we obtain

$$-\frac{1}{5}\alpha + \frac{1}{30}\tilde{\alpha} = 0 \tag{2.107}$$

$$\alpha + \tilde{\alpha} = \frac{1}{6} \left(56 \sum_{I=1}^{10} q_I^2 + \sum_{I=11}^{76} q_I^2 \right)$$
(2.108)

$$\alpha + \frac{1}{6}\tilde{\alpha} = 4\sum_{I=1}^{10} q_I^2 \tag{2.109}$$

$$\alpha \tilde{\alpha} = \frac{2}{3} (56 \sum_{I=1}^{10} q_I^4 + \sum_{I=11}^{76} q_I^4)$$
(2.110)

This can be re-written as

$$56\sum_{I=1}^{10} q_I^4 + \sum_{I=11}^{76} q_I^4 = 36\left(\sum_{I=1}^{10} q_I^2\right)^2 = \frac{9}{196}\left(\sum_{I=11}^{76} q_I^2\right)^2.$$
 (2.111)

Five distinct charge assignments that give solutions to these equations can be obtained by different abelian orbifold — by which we mean an orbifold whose orbifold group is abelian — compactifications. For example, there is a Z_8 orbifold compactification that assigns the charges

$$q_{1} = q_{2} = -3/8, \quad q_{3} = q_{4} = q_{5} = -1/4, \quad q_{8} = q_{9} = q_{10} = 0, \quad q_{6} = q_{7} = -1/8,$$

$$q_{11} = \dots = q_{30} = 1/8, \quad q_{31} = \dots = q_{34} = -7/8, \quad q_{35} = q_{44} = 1/4,$$

$$q_{45} = \dots = q_{50} = -3/4, \quad q_{51} = \dots = q_{54} = 3/8, \quad q_{55} = \dots = q_{58} = -5/8,$$

$$q_{59} = \dots = q_{77} = 1/2, \quad q_{78} = \dots = q_{66} = -1/2$$

to the hypermultiplets. The anomaly coefficients for these charge assignments are

$$\alpha = 1, \qquad \tilde{\alpha} = 6. \tag{2.112}$$

All five solutions from abelian orbifolds are given in table 1 of [87].

We present one more example that proves to be useful later in this section. Consider the gauge group $SU(13) \times U(1)$ with 4 two-index anti-symmetric, 6 fundamental and 23 singlet representations of SU(13). These solve the anomaly equations that do not concern the U(1) field strengths. The non-abelian part factorizes to

$$-\frac{1}{16}(\operatorname{tr} R^2 - 2\operatorname{tr} F_{SU(13)}^2) \wedge (\operatorname{tr} R^2 - 2\operatorname{tr} F_{SU(13)}^2).$$
 (2.113)

Denoting the charges of hypermultiplets in the antisymmetric/fundamental/singlet representations as $a_x(x = 1, \dots, 4)/f_y(y = 1, \dots, 6)/s_z(z = 1, \dots, 23)$ the anomaly equations become

$$0 = \sum_{x} 9a_{x} + \sum_{y} f_{y} \tag{2.114}$$

$$\alpha + \tilde{\alpha} = \frac{1}{6} \left(\sum_{x} 78a_x^2 + \sum_{y} 13f_y^2 + \sum_{z} s_z^2 \right)$$
(2.115)

$$2\alpha + 2\tilde{\alpha} = 4(\sum_{x} 11a_{x}^{2} + \sum_{y} f_{y}^{2})$$
(2.116)

$$\alpha \tilde{\alpha} = \frac{2}{3} \left(\sum_{x} 78a_{x}^{4} + \sum_{y} 13f_{y}^{4} + \sum_{z} s_{z}^{4} \right)$$
(2.117)

If there exist for given a_x, f_y, s_z a solution $\alpha, \tilde{\alpha}$ to these equations, the anomaly

polynomial factorizes into

$$-\frac{1}{16}(\operatorname{tr} R^2 - 2\operatorname{tr} F_{SU(13)}^2 - \alpha F_{U(1)}^2) \wedge (\operatorname{tr} R^2 - 2\operatorname{tr} F_{SU(13)}^2 - \tilde{\alpha} F_{U(1)}^2)$$
(2.118)

We identify infinite classes of charge assignments and $\alpha, \tilde{\alpha}$ values that solve these equations in section 2.4.3.

Examples : T = 0

We now examine the abelian anomaly cancellation conditions for examples with T = 0. In the case T = 0 all the SO(1,T) vectors a, b, j reduce to numbers. As explained in the previous section we may set

$$\Omega = 1, \qquad a = -3, \qquad j = 1.$$
 (2.119)

Positivity of the kinetic term imposes that the b_{κ} 's be positive and that b_{ij} be a positive definite matrix.

In this case the factorization condition becomes

$$I_8 = -\frac{1}{32} \left(-\frac{3}{2} \text{tr} R^2 + \sum_{\kappa} \frac{2b_{\kappa}}{\lambda_{\kappa}} \text{tr} F_{\kappa}^2 + \sum_{ij} 2b_{ij} F_i F_j \right)^2.$$
(2.120)

The gravitational anomaly constraint becomes

$$H - V = 273. (2.121)$$

The factorization equations coming from U(1)'s can be written out by using the quadratic form

$$P(x_i) = \sum_{ij} b_{ij} x_i x_j , \qquad (2.122)$$

as the polynomial identities

$$0 = \sum_{I} (\mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa} E_{\kappa}^{I}) f_{I}(x_{i}) \qquad \text{for all } \kappa \qquad (2.123)$$

$$P(x_i) = \frac{1}{18} \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_I f_I(x_i)^2$$
(2.124)

$$P(x_i) = \frac{\lambda_{\kappa}}{b_{\kappa}} \sum_{I} (\mathcal{M}_{I}^{\kappa} A_{\kappa}^{I}) f_{I}(x_i)^2 \qquad \text{for all } \kappa \qquad (2.125)$$

$$P(x_i)^2 = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_I f_I(x_i)^4$$
(2.126)

The basis chosen for the U(1) factors is as usual defined up to $GL(V_A, \mathbb{R})$ through (2.81). Since T = 0 < 9, the charge vectors $\{\vec{q_i}\}$ are linearly independent for solutions of the factorization equations that give a non-degenerate kinetic term for some value of the dilaton.

Now let us examine a few examples in which the anomaly equations come into play. We first consider a theory with gauge group $SU(6) \times U(1)$ with 1 adjoint, 9 two-index anti-symmetric, 18 fundamental and 31 singlet representations of SU(6). These solve the non-abelian anomaly factorization equations. The factorized nonabelian anomaly polynomial is

$$-\frac{1}{32}\left(-\frac{3}{2}\mathrm{tr}R^2 + 6\mathrm{tr}F_{SU(6)}^2\right)^2.$$
 (2.127)

Denoting the charge of hypermultiplets in the adjoint/antisymmetric/fundamental/singlet representation as $d/a_x(x = 1, \dots, 9)/f_y(y = 1, \dots, 9)/s_z(z = 1, \dots, 31)$ the anomaly

equations become

$$0 = \sum_{x} 5a_{x} + \sum_{y} f_{y}$$
(2.128)

$$b = \frac{1}{18} (35d^2 + \sum_x 15a_x^2 + \sum_y 6f_y^2 + \sum_z s_z^2)$$
(2.129)

$$3b = (12d^2 + \sum_{x} 4a_x^2 + \sum_{y} f_y^2)$$
(2.130)

$$b^{2} = \frac{1}{3}(35d^{4} + \sum_{x} 15a_{x}^{4} + \sum_{y} 6f_{y}^{4} + \sum_{z} s_{z}^{4})$$
(2.131)

For charges and b satisfying these equations, the anomaly polynomial of the theory factorizes into

$$-\frac{1}{32}\left(-\frac{3}{2}\mathrm{tr}R^2 + 6\mathrm{tr}F_{SU(6)}^2 + 2bF_{U(1)}^2\right)^2.$$
(2.132)

Finding an apparently consistent supergravity theory with this gauge group amounts to identifying values for b and the charges d, a_x, f_y, s_z so that (2.128) through (2.131) are satisfied. If we assume that the U(1) is compact and the charges are integers then this is a system of Diophantine equations over the integers. In general, classifying solutions to such a system of equations can be a highly nontrivial problem in number theory.

A particularly interesting class of examples are pure abelian theories. In this case the only non-trivial abelian anomaly equations are the last equations of equation (2.23) and equation (2.26) ((2.128) and (2.131) for T = 0). For a theory with a given number of abelian vector multiplets, there is a lower bound on the number of charged multiplets it must have. When the number of charged hypermultiplets saturate this bound, the charges that the hypermultiplets carry is severely restricted. Such theories have a particularly simple structure and are interesting to study further.

As an example, consider the case of a purely abelian theory when T = 0 and $V_A = 1$. We denote the charges of the X charged hypermultiplets in the theory by
$q_1, \cdots, q_X \neq 0$. Then we must solve

$$18b = \sum_{I} q_{I}^{2},$$

$$3b^{2} = \sum_{I} q_{I}^{4}.$$
(2.133)

Using the inequality

$$(\sum_{I} q_{I}^{2})^{2} \le X(\sum_{I} q_{I}^{4}), \qquad (2.134)$$

we see that

$$X \ge 108.$$
 (2.135)

When X is equal to 108, *i.e.*, when the number of charged hypermultiplets saturates the lower bound, the only solutions to the equations (2.133) are

$$q_I = \pm Q$$
 for all I , $b = 6Q^2$. (2.136)

Similarly for any pure abelian T = 0 theory, using (2.123) and (2.126) we can show that the following relation between V_A and the number of charged hypermultiplets X holds

$$\frac{324\,V_A}{V_A+2} \le X \le V_A + 273. \tag{2.137}$$

The proof is given in appendix A.5. Hence, as above, when $V_A = 1$ there must be at least 108 charged hypermultiplets; likewise, when $V_A = 2$ there must be at least 162 charged hypermultiplets. As seen in the $V_A = 1$ case, in the marginal cases when X exactly saturates this bound, the solutions to the charge equations are particularly simple. From (2.137) it follows that the maximum possible number of U(1) factors that can be included in any T = 0 theory with no nonabelian gauge group is $V_A \leq 17.^4$

A family of marginal/nearly marginal T = 0 theories with gauge group $U(1)^k, k \leq$ 7 can be obtained by Higgsing an SU(8) theory with one adjoint hypermultiplet and

⁴(2.137) alone implies that $V_A \leq 17$ or $V_A \geq 32$. An additional constraint following from equations (2.123) and (2.126) is needed to obtain the desired bound. We derive this constraint and show that indeed $V_A \leq 17$ in appendix A.5.

Gauge Group	•	U(1)	$U(1)^2$	$U(1)^{3}$	$U(1)^4$	$U(1)^5$	$U(1)^{6}$	$U(1)^{7}$
X	0	108	162	198	225	243	252	252
$324 V_A / (V_A + 2)$	0	108	162	194.4	216	231.4	243	252
X'	273	166	113	78	52	35	27	28

Table 2.5: The number of charged hypermultiplets X for pure abelian theories obtained by Higgsing the adjoint of the SU(8) theory with one adjoint and nine antisymmetrics. We have also tabulated the number of uncharged hypermultiplets in the theory, $X' = (273 + V_A - X)$.

nine antisymmetric hypermultiplets. The number of charged hypermultiplets X for the various pure abelian theories one obtains by Higgsing the adjoint of this theory in different ways is summarized in table 4.3.

2.4.2 Bounds on T < 9 Theories With U(1)'s

We now address the first (I) of the four questions raised at the beginning of this section. That is, we prove that the number of different gauge/matter structures — specified by the gauge group and the non-abelian representation of the matter — is finite for theories with T < 9, when we ignore the charge of the matter under the U(1)'s.

The strategy we pursue is the following. First, we prove that in a non-anomalous theory, the number of U(1)'s is bounded by a number determined by the non-abelian gauge/matter content. We prove that the relations

$$V_A \le (T+2)\sqrt{2N} + 2(T+2) \tag{2.138}$$

$$V_A \le (T+2)(T+\frac{7}{2}) + (T+2)\sqrt{2V_{NA} + (T^2 - 51T + \frac{2225}{4})}$$
 (2.139)

hold for non-anomalous theories with T < 9, where V_A is the rank of the abelian gauge group, V_{NA} is the number of nonabelian vector multiplets, and N is the number of hypermultiplet representations. These bounds imply that the number of U(1)'s one could add to a non-abelian theory is finite. We note that these bounds are in no sense optimal; they could be improved by a more careful analysis. These inequalities, however, will be sufficient for the purpose of proving that there is a finite bound on theories with T < 9.

Next, we define the concept of "curable theories" as non-abelian theories with H - V > 273 - 29T that can be made non-anomalous by adding U(1) vector fields and without changing the non-abelian gauge/matter structure. Curable theories are defined so that all non-anomalous theories with abelian gauge symmetry can be obtained by adding U(1)'s either to non-anomalous theories, or to curable theories. We then show that the number of curable theories is finite for T < 9, which combined with our other results, implies that the number of gauge/matter structures possible for non-anomalous theories with T < 9 is finite.

Lastly, we construct an infinite class of non-anomalous theories with an unbounded number of U(1)'s and $T \ge 9$.

Bound on Number of U(1) Factors

In this section we prove equations (2.138) and (2.139) for non-anomalous theories with T < 9. Given a gauge group

$$\mathcal{G} = \prod_{\kappa=1}^{\nu} \mathcal{G}_{\kappa} \times \prod_{i=1}^{V_A} U(1)_i , \qquad (2.140)$$

we show that the bound on V_A can be given as a function of the number of nonabelian vector multiplets

$$V_{NA} = \sum_{\kappa} d_{\mathrm{Adj}_{\kappa}} \tag{2.141}$$

and N, the number of nonabelian matter representations. This can be done by making use of equation (2.77), which is equivalent to the last equation of (2.26):

$$P(x_i) \cdot P(x_i) = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_I f_I(x_i)^4$$

$$\Leftrightarrow b_{ij} \cdot b_{kl} + b_{ik} \cdot b_{jl} + b_{il} \cdot b_{jk} = \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_I q_{I,i} q_{I,j} q_{I,k} q_{I,l}$$
(2.142)

We should be looking for integral solutions of this equation for b_{ij} , $q_{I,i}$, but for now we simply determine the conditions for the equations to have real solutions. These conditions impose a bound on V_A , which also is a bound for integral solutions. These equations have a $GL(V_A, \mathbb{R})$ invariance summarized by (2.104) where the matrices M now can be taken to be real.

We first state the following useful

Fact : For (T + 1) symmetric $n \times n$ matrices S_1, \dots, S_{T+1} , there exists a matrix $M \in GL(n, \mathbb{R})$ such that for $\tau \equiv \lceil n/(T+2) \rceil$ the matrices $S'_{\alpha} = M^t S_{\alpha} M$ satisfy

$$(S'_{\alpha})_{kl} = 0$$
 for distinct $k, l \le \tau$ (2.143)

for all $\alpha = 1, \cdots, (T+1)$.

Proof: First pick an arbitrary *n*-dimensional vector e_1 . Then generate the set of (T+2) vectors

$$V_1 = \{e_1, S_1 e_1, \cdots, S_{(T+1)} e_1\}.$$
(2.144)

When 1 < n/(T+2) there always exists a non-zero vector that is orthogonal to these (T+2) vectors. Pick one and call it e_2 . Then generate the set of (T+2) vectors

$$V_2 = \{e_2, S_1 e_2, \cdots, S_{(T+1)} e_2\}.$$
(2.145)

When 2 < n/(T+2) there always exists a non-zero vector that is orthogonal to the set $V_1 \cup V_2$ of vectors. Pick one and call it e_3 . By iterating this process we can obtain τ non-zero mutually orthogonal vectors,

$$e_1, \cdots, e_{\tau} \tag{2.146}$$

such that

$$e_i^t S_{\alpha} e_j = 0 \quad \text{for } i \neq j$$

$$(2.147)$$

for all α . We can then choose vectors $e_{\tau+1}, \dots, e_n$ that together with e_1, \dots, e_{τ} form a basis of \mathbb{R}^n . Define

$$M = (e_1 \cdots e_n), \qquad (2.148)$$

where e_i are column vectors. It is clear that $\det M \neq 0$ and that for $S'_{\alpha} = M^t S_{\alpha} M$

$$(S'_{\alpha})_{kl} = 0$$
 for distinct $k, l \le \tau$ (2.149)

for all α . \Box

Due to this fact, there exists a matrix $M \in GL(V_A, \mathbb{R})$ such that for all α

$$M_{ik}M_{jl}b_{kl}^{\alpha} = 0 \quad \text{for distinct } i, j \le \tau$$
(2.150)

for any solution of (2.142). We have defined

$$\tau = \left\lceil \frac{V_A}{T+2} \right\rceil \,. \tag{2.151}$$

This means that the existence of a solution of (2.142) implies the existence of a solution of the same equations with

$$\vec{b}_{kl} = 0$$
 for distinct $k, l \le \tau$. (2.152)

Therefore, we may from now on assume that this condition is true.

For ordered pairs (i, j) with $i < j \le \tau$, we define the vectors

$$\vec{Q}_{ij} \equiv \left(\sqrt{\mathcal{M}_1} q_{1,i} q_{1,j}, \sqrt{\mathcal{M}_2} q_{2,i} q_{2,j}, \cdots, \sqrt{\mathcal{M}_N} q_{N,i} q_{N,j}\right).$$
(2.153)

Then we have

$$\vec{Q}_{ij} \cdot \vec{Q}_{kl} = \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_{I} q_{I,i} q_{I,j} q_{I,k} q_{I,l} = b_{ij} \cdot b_{kl} + b_{ik} \cdot b_{jl} + b_{il} \cdot b_{jk} = 0$$
(2.154)

for ordered pairs $(i, j) \neq (k, l)$. Also from the last equation of (2.26), we have

$$\vec{Q}_{ij} \cdot \vec{Q}_{ij} = \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_{I} q_{I,i}^{2} q_{I,j}^{2} = b_{ii} \cdot b_{jj} + 2b_{ij} \cdot b_{ij} = b_{ii} \cdot b_{jj} > 0.$$
(2.155)

The last inequality holds due to the fact that \vec{b}_{ii} are timelike vectors since

$$|\vec{b}_{ii}|^2 = \frac{1}{3} \sum_I \mathcal{M}_I q_{I,i}^4 > 0,$$
 (2.156)

as $\vec{q_i}$ cannot be a zero vector. The inner-product of two timelike SO(1,T) vectors cannot be zero, and $\sum_I \mathcal{M}_I q_{I,i}^2 q_{I,j}^2$ cannot be negative and hence the inequality in (2.155).

Therefore, \vec{Q}_{ij} are non-zero mutually orthogonal vectors for $i < j \leq \tau$. Thus, we have $\tau(\tau - 1)/2$ non-zero orthogonal vectors in an N-dimensional space. Hence

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{V_A}{T+2}-1\right)\left(\frac{V_A}{T+2}-2\right) \le \frac{\tau(\tau-1)}{2} \le N \le H \le V_{NA}+V_A+273-29T.$$
(2.157)

Using the two inequalities

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{V_A}{T+2} - 1\right)\left(\frac{V_A}{T+2} - 2\right) \le N \tag{2.158}$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{V_A}{T+2} - 1\right)\left(\frac{V_A}{T+2} - 2\right) \le V_{NA} + V_A + 273 - 29T, \qquad (2.159)$$

we obtain the bounds

$$V_A \le (T+2)\sqrt{2N} + 2(T+2) \tag{2.160}$$

$$V_A \le (T+2)(T+\frac{7}{2}) + (T+2)\sqrt{2V_{NA} + (T^2 - 51T + \frac{2225}{4})},$$
 (2.161)

as promised. We have used the fact that $\sqrt{a+b} \leq \sqrt{a} + \sqrt{b}$ for non-negative a, b to simplify the first inequality. The second inequality simply follows from solving (2.159) for V_A when the inequality is saturated. This result implies that given a non-anomalous non-abelian theory, the number of U(1)'s one could add to the theory keeping it non-anomalous is bounded.

The equations we have used also apply to pure abelian theories. This is because we have not used any constraint coming from the non-abelian structure of the theory; we have only used the equation (2.142). Hence we can obtain a bound on the number of U(1)'s when the theory is purely abelian:

$$V_A \le (T+2)(T+\frac{7}{2}) + (T+2)\sqrt{T^2 - 51T + \frac{2225}{4}}$$
 (2.162)

Note that this bound is substantially weaker than the tighter bound $V_A \leq 17$ for T = 0. (For T = 0 this bound states that $V_A \leq 54$, while we show that $V_A \leq 17$ in appendix A.5.)

Curability and Finiteness of Curable Theories

We define "curable" theories to be non-abelian theories that violate the gravitational anomaly bound H-V > 273-29T, but whose anomaly polynomial can nonetheless be made factorizable by adding U(1) vector multiplets and some singlet hypermultiplets in such a way that the gravitational bound is satisfied. There should also exist values for the scalars in the tensor multiplets that make the kinetic terms of all gauge fields positive in the resulting non-anomalous theory. We also assume that these theories do not have any hypermultiplets that are singlets under the non-abelian gauge group.

From this definition it is clear that all non-anomalous theories with abelian gauge symmetry can be obtained by the following steps.

- 1. Begin with a theory without abelian gauge group factors that is either nonanomalous or curable.
- 2. Add abelian vector multiplets and (possibly) hypermultiplets in the trivial representation of the non-abelian gauge group.
- 3. Assign U(1) charges to the matter.

We note that it is clear that the number of U(1)'s one could add to a given curable theory is finite, since it is bounded by (2.160) and (2.161). From this it is evident that the crucial remaining step in obtaining bounds on theories with abelian gauge symmetry is showing that the number of curable theories is bounded. As an example of a curable theory, consider the T = 0 theory with gauge group and matter content

$$SU(9):$$
 $26 \times \Box + 1 \times \Box + 1 \times \Box$, $(H - V = 274).$ (2.163)

Although this theory violates the gravitational anomaly bound, it satisfies the other gauge/mixed anomaly equations with b = 2. (Recall that when T = 0 the anomaly coefficients a, b are numbers.) The theory (2.172) can be cured by adding a single U(1) vector multiplet and assigning charges to the matter in the following way

$$SU(9) \times U(1): \quad 6 \times (\Box, +1) + 6 \times (\Box, -1) + 14 \times (\Box, \cdot) + 1 \times (\Box, \cdot), \qquad (H - V = 273).$$

$$(2.164)$$

The anomaly polynomial of the final theory factorizes to

$$I_8 = -\frac{1}{32} \left(-\frac{3}{2} \operatorname{tr} R^2 + 2 \operatorname{tr} F_{SU(9)}^2 + 6 F_{U(1)}^2 \right)^2.$$
 (2.165)

Since abelian vector multiplets and singlet hypermultiplets do not appear in a curable theory and do not contribute to the nonabelian gauge/mixed anomalies, it is clear that the anomaly polynomial of a curable theory takes the form

$$I_{8} = -\frac{(H - V - 273 + 29T)}{5760} \left(\operatorname{tr} R^{4} + \frac{5}{4} (\operatorname{tr} R^{2})^{2} \right) - \frac{1}{32} \Omega_{\alpha\beta} \left(\frac{1}{2} a^{\alpha} \operatorname{tr} R^{2} + \sum_{\kappa} (\frac{2b_{\kappa}^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\kappa}}) \operatorname{tr} F_{\kappa}^{2} \right) \left(\frac{1}{2} a^{\beta} \operatorname{tr} R^{2} + \sum_{\kappa} (\frac{2b_{\kappa}^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\kappa}}) \operatorname{tr} F_{\kappa}^{2} \right) , \qquad (2.166)$$

where H - V is larger than 273 - 29T. One might think that any theory of this type is naively curable, since we could apparently add an arbitrary number of U(1) vector multiplets under which no matter field is charged, so that H - V' = 273 - 29T. The kinetic term for these vector fields, however, would be degenerate — in fact zero — if we do so. In fact, in many cases the bounds on the number of U(1) factors that can be added to a theory make it impossible to cure nonabelian theories with anomalies of the form (2.166). We have reviewed the fact that the number of distinct nonabelian gauge groups and matter representations possible for theories with T < 9 and no U(1) factors is finite in section 2.2 [62, 65]. The bound $H_{\text{charged}} - V \leq 273 - 29T$ from the gravitational anomaly condition played a key role in this proof, limiting the number of charged hypermultiplets that could appear in a theory with any given nonabelian gauge group. To prove that the number of curable theories is also finite for T < 9we need an analogous constraint on the number of hypermultiplets for theories with U(1) factors. We now find such a bound, using the bounds (2.160) and (2.161) on the number of U(1) factors that can be added to a curable theory.

Suppose a theory is curable by adding $V_A U(1)$ vector multiplets and H' hypermultiplets. Then using (2.160) we obtain

$$273 - 29T \ge (H - V)_{\text{cured theory}} = H - V + H' - V_A$$

$$\ge H - V + H' - \sqrt{2}(T + 2)\sqrt{H' + N} - 2(T + 2)$$

$$= (H - V) + (\sqrt{H' + N} - \frac{(T + 2)}{\sqrt{2}})^2 - N - (\frac{1}{2}T^2 + 4T + 6),$$
(2.167)

where H, V and N denote the numbers of hypermultiplets, vector multiplets and hypermultiplet representations in the initial non-abelian theory. Since $H' \ge 0$, when $N \le (T+2)^2/2$ we have

$$(\sqrt{H'+N} - \frac{(T+2)}{\sqrt{2}})^2 - N \ge -\frac{(T+2)^2}{2}, \qquad (2.168)$$

while when $N \ge (T+2)^2/2$ we have

$$(\sqrt{H'+N} - \frac{(T+2)}{\sqrt{2}})^2 - N \ge (\sqrt{N} - \frac{(T+2)}{\sqrt{2}})^2 - N = -\sqrt{2}(T+2)\sqrt{N} + \frac{(T+2)^2}{2}.$$
(2.169)

Thus, any curable theory satisfies one of the following two constraints:

$$H - V \le 273 - 29T + (T^2 + 6T + 8) \tag{2.170}$$

$$H - V - \sqrt{2}(T+2)\sqrt{N} \le 273 - 29T + (2T+4)$$
(2.171)

Curable theories therefore must satisfy the non-abelian gauge/mixed anomaly equations among (2.23), (2.26) and one of these modified gravitational anomaly constraints.

This result suggests that the proof in [62, 65] can be modified to show that the number of curable theories are in fact finite. There it was shown that the H of theories that obey the non-abelian factorization equations — and can have a positive kinetic term — grew faster than the V of the theory when V became large. This in turn implied that V must be bounded for theories that satisfy the the non-abelian factorization equations and respect the H - V bound. We have shown that curable theories must obey the same non-abelian factorization equations with the H - V constraint modified. Fortunately, this constant is only modified by a term subleading in N < H. This suggests that the boundedness of curable theories can be shown along the same lines as the proof of boundedness of non-abelian theories. This is indeed the case, though the added term proportional to \sqrt{N} complicates some parts of the analysis. The details of the full proof of this statement are presented in appendix A.4.

We note that the equations (2.170) and (2.171) enable us to identify many uncurable theories with ease. For example, it can be shown that the T = 0 theory with gauge group and matter content

$$SU(7):$$
 27 × \Box + 1 × \Box , (H - V = 351) (2.172)

is uncurable, since

$$H - V > 273 - 29T + (T^2 + 6T + 8) = 281$$
(2.173)

$$H - V > 273 - 29T + (2T + 4) + \sqrt{2}(T + 2)\sqrt{N} = 277 + 2\sqrt{56} = 291.9... \quad (2.174)$$

To summarize, we have defined 'curable theories' to be supergravity theories that satisfy the following conditions:

1. The gauge group is non-abelian.

- 2. The theory has no singlet hypermultiplets.
- 3. H V > 273 29T
- 4. The theory can be made non-anomalous by adding U(1) vector fields that are independent degrees of freedom, as well as possibly adding singlet hypermultiplets.
- 5. In the resulting non-anomalous theory, there exists a choice for the scalars in the tensor multiplets that makes the kinetic terms of all gauge fields positive.

We have proven the latter three of the following facts:

- 1. The number of non-anomalous non-abelian theories is finite [62, 65].
- 2. The number of U(1)'s one can add to non-anomalous theories is finite.
- 3. The number of curable theories is finite.
- 4. The number of U(1)'s one can add to curable theories is finite.

As pointed out in the beginning of this section, any non-anomalous theory with U(1)'s can be constructed by adding abelian vector multiplets and neutral hypermultiplets to a non-anomalous or curable theory with no abelian gauge symmetry. Hence it follows that there is only a finite number of distinct gauge/matter structures a 6D (1,0) theory could have even when we allow abelian components to the gauge group. In particular, this implies that the total rank of the gauge group is bounded, even when we admit abelian factors in the gauge group.

Infinite Classes of Theories with $T \ge 9$

In this section, we show that for $T \ge 9$ a bound cannot be imposed on the number of U(1)'s as we have done in the case T < 9. We first show that there are certain classes of theories to which one could add an arbitrary number of U(1)'s, and discuss why this is not possible when T < 9 and show an example of an infinite class of non-anomalous theories with an unbounded number of U(1)'s. We end by presenting a class of theories with an unbounded number of U(1)'s and tensor multiplets.

Suppose we have a theory \mathcal{T}_0 with gauge group \mathcal{G}_0 that satisfies all the anomaly equations and has an SO(1,T) unit vector j_0 that satisfies $j_0 \cdot b_{\kappa} > 0$ for all gauge groups κ . Denote the number of vector and hypermultiplets of this theory as V_0 and H_0 .

Suppose an SO(1,T) vector b that satisfies the following conditions exists:

- 1. *b* is light-like, *i.e.*, $b^2 = 0$.
- 2. $a \cdot b = 0$.
- 3. $b_{\kappa} \cdot b = 0$ for all κ .
- 4. $b \cdot j_0 > 0$.

Recall that in the case T < 9 it is impossible for a vector b to satisfy conditions 1, 2 and 4 at the same time. In that case a is a time-like vector and if 1 and 2 are satisfied, b must be a zero vector. This is what prevented us from having a U(1) with nothing charged under it.

The situation is quite different when $T \ge 9$; in this case a vector *b* satisfying the four conditions above is not ruled out in general. Once such a *b* is available one could construct theory \mathcal{T}_k from \mathcal{T}_0 with the following properties.

- 1. The gauge group is $\mathcal{G}_k = \mathcal{G}_0 \times U(1)^k$.
- 2. The matter content is that of \mathcal{T}_0 with k neutral hypermultiplets added.
- 3. Nothing is charged under the U(1)'s, *i.e.*, $q_{I,j} = 0$ for all I, j.
- 4. The non-abelian anomaly coefficients are given by b_{κ} .
- 5. The abelian anomaly coefficients are given by $b_{ij} = \delta_{ij}b$.
- 6. The tensor multiplet scalar vacuum expectation value is given by j_0 .

By adding the k neutral hypermultiplets, the gravitational anomaly condition,

$$H_k - V_k = (H_0 + k) - (V_0 + k) = H_0 - V_0 = 273 - 29T$$
(2.175)

is satisfied. The non-abelian anomaly factorization conditions are all satisfied by definition. We find that all the U(1) anomaly equations among (2.23) and (2.26) are also satisfied as both sides of the equation turn out to be 0. Also,

$$j_0 \cdot b_{ij} = (j_0 \cdot b)\delta_{ij} \tag{2.176}$$

is a positive definite matrix by the assumption that $b \cdot j_0 > 0$. Therefore, this theory satisfies all the anomaly equations and has a sensible kinetic term. Since this is true for any k we find that we could add an infinite number of U(1)'s to \mathcal{T}_0 .

The simplest of these classes of theories is given when there are no non-abelian factors. A $U(1)^k$ theory with 273 - 29T + k neutral hypermultiplets and a, b_{ij} given by

$$a = (-3, 1 \times T, 0, \dots, 0), \quad b_{ij} = b\delta_{ij} \quad \text{for } b = (3, (-1) \times 9, 0, \dots, 0)$$
 (2.177)

satisfies all the factorization equations. $x \times n$ denotes that n consecutive components have the same value x. Defining

$$j = (1, 0, 0, 0, 0, \cdots, 0),$$
 (2.178)

we find that the matrix for the kinetic term of the vector multiplets

$$j \cdot b_{ij} = 3\,\delta_{ij} \tag{2.179}$$

is positive definite. k is bounded below by 29T - 273 but has no upper-bound.

Let us end by giving an example of a class of theories with an indefinitely increasing number of U(1) factors and tensor multiplets. A simple example can be constructed when the gauge group is $U(1)^{29k}$, T = k and the matter is given by 273 neutral hypermultiplets. a, b_{ij} given by

$$a = (-3, 1 \times T, 0, \dots, 0), \quad b_{ij} = b\delta_{ij} \quad \text{for } b = (3, (-1) \times 9, 0, \dots, 0)$$
 (2.180)

These anomaly coefficients trivially satisfy the anomaly equations for the given spectrum. When

$$j = (1, 0, 0, 0, 0, \cdots, 0),$$
 (2.181)

we find that the matrix for the kinetic term of the vector multiplets

$$j \cdot b_{ij} = 3\,\delta_{ij} \tag{2.182}$$

is positive definite. k is bounded below by 9 but has no upper-bound.

2.4.3 Infinite Classes of Non-anomalous Theories with U(1)'s

In this section, we investigate the second and third questions (II and III) posed at the beginning of section 2.4, beginning with II: Given the gauge/matter content of the theory — by which we mean that we fix the gauge group and the representations of the hypermultiplets with respect to the non-abelian part of the gauge group — are there an infinite number of solutions to the U(1) charge equations? We denote these U(1) charge equations "hypercharge" equations.

As pointed out previously, there are infinite families of solutions that may be "trivially generated" in the following sense. There certainly exist solutions of the anomaly equations with gauge group $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{G}_0 \times U(1)^2$. In such a case, denoting the charge vectors with respect to the two U(1)'s $\vec{q_1}$ and $\vec{q_2}$, any linear combination $\vec{Q} = r\vec{q_1} + s\vec{q_2}$ solves the anomaly equation for $\mathcal{G}' = \mathcal{G}_0 \times U(1)$ with the same matter structure. On top of the anomaly cancellation conditions, we may demand that additional consistency conditions be obeyed [124, 128, 129, 130]. Three such conditions are applicable to six-dimensional supergravity theories with compact U(1) abelian factors:

1. Charge Integrality Constraint : All charges of particles should be integral with respect to the minimal charge of the U(1)'s.

- 2. Minimal Charge Constraint : The greatest common divisor of the charges of all particles under each U(1) should coincide with the minimal charge or inverse of the periodicity of the U(1).
- 3. Unimodularity Constraint : The string charge lattice spanned by the anomaly coefficients should be embeddable in a unimodular lattice.

The first and second constraints do not stop us from generating an infinite familiy because if the initial theory with $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{G}_0 \times U(1)^2$ satisfied the charge integrality constraint and the minimal charge constraint, the new theory would also satisfy this constraint when r, s are taken to be mutually prime integers. The unimodularity constraint does not help either, as we see shortly.

Let us depict the situation with the simplest example. For $\mathcal{G} = U(1)^2$, T = 1 the following charges on the 246 hypermultiplets of the theory solve the anomaly equations. Assume that there are 48 hypermultiplets with charge (0,1), 48 hypermultiplets with charge (1,0), 48 hypermultiplets with charge (1,1) and 102 neutral hypermultiplets. Written in terms of charge vectors

$$\vec{q_1} = (1 \times 96, 0 \times 48, 0 \times 102), \qquad \vec{q_2} = (0 \times 48, 1 \times 96, 0 \times 102), \qquad (2.183)$$

where $q \times n$ denotes that n consecutive components have the same value q. The only non-trivial anomaly equations concerned are

$$\frac{1}{6}(48x_1^2 + 48(x_1 + x_2)^2 + 48x_2^2) = (\alpha_{11} + \tilde{\alpha}_{11})x_1^2 + 2(\alpha_{12} + \tilde{\alpha}_{12})x_1x_2 + (\alpha_{22} + \tilde{\alpha}_{22})x_2^2$$
(2.184)

$$\frac{2}{3}(48x_1^4 + 48(x_1 + x_2)^4 + 48x_2^4) = (\alpha_{11}x_1^2 + 2\alpha_{12}x_1x_2 + \alpha_{22}x_2^2)(\tilde{\alpha}_{11}x_1^2 + 2\tilde{\alpha}_{12}x_1x_2 + \tilde{\alpha}_{22}x_2^2)$$
(2.185)

Both equations are satisfied by the choice

$$\alpha_{11} = \alpha_{22} = 2\alpha_{12} = \tilde{\alpha}_{11} = \tilde{\alpha}_{22} = 2\tilde{\alpha}_{12} = 8.$$
(2.186)

Therefore

$$\vec{Q} = (r \times 48, (r+s) \times 48, s \times 48, 0 \times 102)$$
(2.187)

satisfy the equations

$$\frac{1}{6}(48r^2 + 48(r+s)^2 + 48s^2) = 16r^2 + 16rs + 16s^2$$
(2.188)

$$\frac{2}{3}(48r^4 + 48(r+s)^4 + 48s^4) = (8r^2 + 8rs + 8s^2)^2.$$
 (2.189)

It is easy to see that this choice of charges solves the anomaly equation for $\mathcal{G} = U(1)$ with $\alpha = \tilde{\alpha} = (8r^2 + 8rs + 8s^2)$. Therefore, we obtain an infinite class of solutions to the anomaly equations for $\mathcal{G} = U(1)$.

It is clear that imposing the charge integrality constraint and the minimal charge constraint does not stop us from generating this infinite family as we may take r and s to be mutually prime integers. Now we show that the unimodularity constraint is also satisfied when r and s are integers.

It is useful to notice that when T = 1, a sufficient condition for the unimodularity constraint is that all the anomaly coefficients α and $\tilde{\alpha}$ defined in section 2.4.1 are even integers. This is because if all α and $\tilde{\alpha}$ are even integers, all string charge vectors

$$a = \begin{pmatrix} -2\\ -2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad b = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha\\ \tilde{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}$$
 (2.190)

are embeddable in the unimodular lattice spanned by

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{2.191}$$

with inner product structure Ω as defined in (2.88). When r, s are integers, α and $\tilde{\alpha}$ of the U(1) are both equal to $(8r^2 + 8rs + 8s^2)$, which is an even integer. Therefore, the unimodularity constraint does not rule out this infinite class of theories.

The natural follow-up question to ask is whether there is some gauge/matter structure that permits an infinite number of distinct solutions to the hypercharge equations that cannot be lifted to a theory with more U(1)'s. It turns out that there are infinite classes of solutions to anomaly equations of a theory with gauge group $\mathcal{G}_0 \times U(1)$ that cannot be lifted to $\mathcal{G}_0 \times U(1)^2$. The example we examine is the theory with gauge group $SU(13) \times U(1)$ that we presented at the end of section 2.4.1. There we found a solution to the non-abelian factorization condition with 4 antisymmetrics, 6 fundamentals and 23 singlets in the SU(13). The non-abelian part of the factorized polynomial is

$$-\frac{1}{16}(\operatorname{tr} R^2 - 2\operatorname{tr} F_{SU(13)}^2) \wedge (\operatorname{tr} R^2 - 2\operatorname{tr} F_{SU(13)}^2).$$
 (2.192)

Denoting the charge of hypermultiplets in the antisymmetric/fundamental/singlet representation as $a_x(x = 1, \dots, 4)/f_y(y = 1, \dots, 6)/s_z(z = 1, \dots, 23)$ the anomaly equations become

$$9\sum_{x} a_{x} + \sum_{y} f_{y} = 0 \tag{2.193}$$

$$78\sum_{x} a_{x}^{4} + 13\sum_{y} f_{y}^{4} + \sum_{z} s_{z}^{4} = \frac{3}{2}\alpha\tilde{\alpha}$$
(2.194)

$$78\sum_{x}a_{x}^{2} + 13\sum_{y}f_{y}^{2} + \sum_{z}s_{z}^{2} = 6\alpha + 6\tilde{\alpha}$$
(2.195)

$$44\sum_{x}a_{x}^{2} + 4\sum_{y}f_{y}^{2} = 2\alpha + 2\tilde{\alpha}$$
(2.196)

There is an ansatz that solves this equation given by

$$(a_x) = (-3a - \frac{2}{3}f, a, a, a)$$
(2.197)

$$(f_y) = (f, f, f, f, f, f)$$
 (2.198)

$$(s_z) = ((6a+f) \times 18, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)$$
(2.199)

where in the last line we mean that 18 of the s_z take the value (6a + f) while five take 0. This ansatz satisfies the first equation and renders the third and fourth equations equivalent. Then the second and third equation can be solved with respect to $\alpha, \tilde{\alpha}$ to yield

$$\frac{\alpha}{f^2}, \frac{\tilde{\alpha}}{f^2} = \frac{2}{9} \left[(49 + 198t + 594t^2) \pm \sqrt{39}(1+6t)\sqrt{23 - 24t - 36t^2} \right]$$
(2.200)

where we have defined t = a/f. It is easy to see that $\alpha, \tilde{\alpha}$ are real as long as

$$\frac{-2 - 3\sqrt{3}}{6} \le t \le \frac{-2 + 3\sqrt{3}}{6}.$$
(2.201)

Both α , $\tilde{\alpha}$ are positive when t is in this range. Hence we see that there are an infinite number of integral hypercharge solutions to the equations (2.193)-(2.196) that give allowed values of α , $\tilde{\alpha}$.

It is clear that this theory cannot be lifted to a theory with gauge group $SU(13) \times U(1)^2$. Although the ansatz for the given solution seems to imply that this theory can be lifted, for example by choosing the charges for one U(1) to be proportional to a and the charges for the other U(1) to be proportional to f, the fact that a/f must lie in a certain range implies that there must be an obstruction to doing this. The obstruction is that if one tries to lift the theory to a theory with gauge group $SU(13) \times U(1)^2$, the matrices α_{ij} and $\tilde{\alpha}_{ij}$ of this theory cannot be made into positive definite real matrices as is required for the U(1) gauge fields to have positive-definite kinetic terms.

The next question to ask is whether there is an infinite subclass of these theories that satisfy all three quantum consistency conditions introduced at the beginning of this section. Generating a subclass of theories that satisfy the integrality constraint and the minimum charge constraint is not difficult. For example, by taking f and ato be mutually prime integers and f to be a multiple of 3, one can generate an infinite class of solutions that satisfy these two constraints. These conditions, however, do not lead to the unimodularity constraint.

In order to construct a subclass of theories that satisfy all three constraints, let us examine whether there exists an infinite number of rational values of t that make the right hand side of (2.200) rational. This problem boils down to the question of whether the equation

$$23 - 24t - 36t^2 = 39q^2 \tag{2.202}$$

admits an infinite number of solutions with rational t and q. We find that there indeed are an infinite number of rational solutions to this equation using methods outlined in chapter 7 of [131]. When

$$\frac{a}{f} = t = \frac{13k^2 - 234k - 51}{24(13k^2 + 3)} \tag{2.203}$$

for k rational we find that

$$\frac{\alpha}{f^2} = \frac{13}{144(3+13k^2)^2} \begin{bmatrix} 6687 + 54756k + 94458k^2 - 124956k^3 + 39455k^4 \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.204)
$$\frac{\tilde{\alpha}}{f^2} = \frac{13}{144(3+13k^2)^2} \begin{bmatrix} 2475 + 37908k + 170274k^2 - 29484k^3 + 9035k^4 \end{bmatrix} .$$
(2.205)

Hence we find that the number of non-anomalous theories with $SU(13) \times U(1)$ with this particular type of matter content is infinite.

To be clear, we now spell out the explicit subclass of theories that satisfy all three quantum consistency conditions. Setting k = r/s for integers r and s in the above equations, we find that when

$$a = 13r^2 - 234rs - 51s^2 \tag{2.206}$$

$$f = 24(13r^2 + 3s^2), \qquad (2.207)$$

 α and $\tilde{\alpha}$ take on the values

$$\alpha = 52 \left[6687s^4 + 54756s^3r + 94458s^2r^2 - 124956sr^3 + 39455r^4 \right]$$
(2.208)

$$\tilde{\alpha} = 52 \left[2475s^4 + 37908s^3r + 170274s^2r^2 - 29484sr^3 + 9035r^4 \right] , \qquad (2.209)$$

which are even integers. As discussed early on in this section, this implies that the string charge lattice can be embedded in a unimodular lattice. It is clear that this ansatz assigns integer charges to all the fields and hence the charge integrality constraint is also satisfied. If a and (-3a - 2f/3) are mutually prime, the minimal charge constraint is also satisfied. There are an infinite number of integer pairs (r, s) that render a and (-3a - 2f/3) mutually prime. In fact, we can show that when

$$r = 84n + 43 \tag{2.210}$$

$$s = 182n + 92 \tag{2.211}$$

for integer n, a and (-3a-2f/3) are mutually prime. This fact is proven in appendix A.6.

We have found a particular gauge/matter structure with one U(1) that has an infinite number of distinct solutions to the hypercharge equations for T = 1. Furthermore the theory cannot be lifted to a theory with two U(1)'s for these hypercharge assignments.

The situation is rather subtle for the case of T = 0. The equations (2.123)-(2.126) make it clear that any infinite class of solutions to the anomaly equation with charge vectors of the form

$$\vec{Q} = r\vec{q_1} + s\vec{q_2}$$
 (2.212)

for one U(1) can be lifted to $U(1)^2$. As in the T = 1 case there are a plethora of examples of gauge/matter structure that admit an infinite family of hypercharge solutions in this way. If, however, we want to identify an infinite class of theories that satisfy anomaly equations for a single U(1) factor that cannot be extended to $U(1)^2$, we cannot have a simple linear ansatz as in the T = 1 case. Examining some specific examples of T = 0 theories gives interesting number theory problems that in some cases seem to have infinite U(1) families that cannot be extended to $U(1)^2$ models, but we do not go into the details of these constructions here.

2.4.4 Summary

In this section, we have considered 6D supergravity theories with (1,0) supersymmetry with abelian as well as nonabelian gauge group factors. The following statements

have been proven for such theories when the number of tensor multiplets T satisfies T < 9:

- The number of abelian vector multiplets is bounded above by (2.160) and (2.161). The upper bound is determined by the nonabelian gauge/matter content.
- 2. The number of possible gauge groups and nonabelian matter content is finite, though there are families with infinite numbers of possible distinct U(1) charges.

From (2), it immediately follows that

3. There is a global bound on the rank of the gauge group of any non-anomalous $6D \mathcal{N} = (1,0)$ theory with T < 9.

When $T \ge 9$, infinite classes of theories can be constructed, just as it was with non-abelian theories.

Chapter 3

6D (1,0) String Vacua

In the previous chapter, we have investigated the boundary of apparently consistent theories of the six-dimensional (1,0) supergravity landscape. In the present chapter, we carry out the second step of the landscape analysis by investigating the boundary of known string vacua.

An important observation that can be made about string models in six-dimensions is that their non-abelian sectors have a natural embedding into F-theory vacua [64, 65, 114]. In fact, F-theory provides a unifying framework in which to include string vacua with all values of T with a wide variety of gauge groups. Six-dimensional Ftheory vacua can be obtained by compactifying the twelve-dimensional theory on an elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau threefold X [118, 119]. The low-energy data of an Ftheory vacuum can be extracted from the geometric data of manifold X. We review how the geometric language of F-theory is ideal for describing low-energy data of six-dimensional supergravity theories and how non-abelian sectors of string models can be embedded into this framework.

The abelian sector of a string vacuum is more difficult to deal with. The difficultly arises from an aspect of abelian gauge symmetry discussed in section 2.1.5. Abelian vector fields — vector fields under which no other vector field is charged — can be coupled at the linear level to Stückelberg fields and be lifted from the massless spectrum. Therefore, even simple information such as the number of abelian gauge fields is not trivial to obtain.

There are, however, tools to understand the abelian sector of F-theory backgrounds. In particular, M-theory/F-theory duality is useful in understanding the abelian spectrum and the anomaly coefficients of F-theory vacua. In this chapter, we show in detail how to extract information of the abelian sector of six-dimensional F-theory vacua from the geometric data of the Calabi-Yau threefold it is compactified on.

This chapter is organized as the following. In section 3.1 we review how the geometric data of F-theory compactifications translate into low-energy data of the six-dimensional supergravity theory, and explain how non-abelian sectors of string vacua can be naturally embedded in this framework. In particular we introduce type IIB intersecting brane models and magnetized brane backgrounds and show how the non-abelian sector of these vacua can be embedded into F-theory data. In section 3.2 we investigate the subtleties in determining the abelian sector of string vacua. We utilize the example of magnetized brane backgrounds. Finally in section 3.3 we use M-theory/F-theory duality to extract low-energy data of the abelian sector of F-theory vacua. In particular, we determine the spectrum, the charges of matter under abelian gauge groups and the abelian anomaly coefficients from the geometry of the compactification manifold.

3.1 F-theory and the Non-abelian Sector

In this section, we explain why F-theory is an ideal framework to describe sixdimensional (1,0) supergravity theories and string vacua. In particular, we explain why it is possible to embed the non-abelian sector of all known string vacua into F-theory.

We begin by explaining how low-energy parameters of six-dimensional supergravity theories can naturally be embedded into F-theory in section 3.1.1. In particular, there is a beautiful map between anomaly coefficients and geometric data of F-theory vacua [64, 65, 118, 119]. This map is crucial in embedding other string vacua into F-theory — we explain how this is done in section 3.1.1 as well. Next we go on to examine two examples of string vacua — type IIB intersecting brane models in section 3.1.2 and magnetized brane models in section 3.1.3— and see how the non-abelian sector of these backgrounds can naturally be embedded in the framework of F-theory.

3.1.1 6D (1,0) F-theory Vacua and Embeddability

In this section, we review six-dimensional F-theory vacua and how to embed the nonabelian sector of supergravity theories and other string vacua in them. We first give a general review F-theory backgrounds following the presentation of [65]. We then explain an important feature of F-theory vacua, *i.e.*, that they all satisfy the "Kodaira constraint," and how one can embed the non-abelian sector of a supergravity theory satisfying this constraint to F-theory. We conclude the section by explaining how the Kodaira constraint is obeyed in various six-dimensional string vacua and noting that the non-abelian sector of all known string vacua therefore can be in principle embedded in F-theory.

F-theory backgrounds can be thought of as non-perturbative type-IIB backgrounds with seven-branes which are not necessarily mutually local. When we are compactifying F-theory on some elliptically fibered manifold, the base of the manifold \mathcal{B} can be thought of as the space we are compactifying type IIB string theory on. The value of the axio-dilaton varies over the base; this value is identified with the complex structure of the elliptic fiber of the fibration. In order to get $\mathcal{N} = (1,0)$ supersymmetry, the total space of the fibration must be a Calabi-Yau threefold. This fact places restrictions on \mathcal{B} [65]. Two relevant conditions that \mathcal{B} must satisfy are that $h^{2,0}(\mathcal{B}) = h^{1,0}(\mathcal{B}) = 0$ and that $K \cdot K = 10 - h^{1,1}(\mathcal{B})$ where K is the canonical class of \mathcal{B} . We note that the first condition implies that $H_2(\mathcal{B}) \cong H^{1,1}(\mathcal{B})$.

The fiber degenerates on complex codimension-one submanifolds of the base. These submanifolds can be thought of as the submanifolds the seven-branes wrap. The type of degeneration determines the nature of the seven-brane and tells us the non-abelian gauge group we get in the six-dimensional theory [118, 119, 132, 133, 134, 135]. The codimension-two singularities can be thought of as intersecting points of the seven-branes. These contain information on the local matter we obtain [97, 112, 133, 134, 135, 136, 137, 138, 139, 140]. There are various ways of deriving the gauge/matter content coming from a given elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau manifold. One way is to blow up these codimension-one and codimension-two singularities and to compute intersection numbers. We explain this procedure in more detail in section 3.3.

A beautiful fact is that the geometrical data of an elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau threefold can be encoded as vectors in an integral lattice. More precisely, geometric data such as the canonical divisor class, the Kähler class of the base manifold, and the algebraic two-cycles (or divisors) the seven-branes wrap can be expressed as a vector in the $H_2 \cong H^{1,1}$ lattice of the base manifold. It turns out that this integral lattice is precisely the lattice Λ that parametrizes the low energy theory [64, 65].

To provide the complete map between geometrical data and the low-energy data, we begin by noting that the number of tensor multiplets T satisfies $T = h^{1,1}(\mathcal{B}) - 1$. The H_2 lattice of the base manifold is an SO(1,T) lattice [65]. The anomaly coefficients and the modulus j — which parameterizes the vacuum expectation values of the scalars in the tensor multiplets — are vectors in this lattice, and hence correspond to two-cycles in the base. The *a* vector corresponds to the canonical divisor class of the base, the j vector corresponds to the Kähler class of the base, and the b_{κ} vectors corresponds to the locus of brane κ . The "type of degeneration" along the locus b_{κ} — more precisely the singularity type and the monodromy of the fiber — determines the gauge group \mathcal{G}_{κ} .¹ For example, we have listed the gauge algebra obtained from singularity types when there is no monodromy in table 3.1. Note that since b_{κ} must be effective, $j \cdot b_{\kappa} > 0$.

There is an important constraint on the vectors a and b_{κ} that comes from the Calabi-Yau condition. The discriminant locus of an elliptic fibration is given by a divisor class Δ in the base \mathcal{B} . This can be decomposed into a sum of components

$$\Delta = \sum_{\kappa} c_{\kappa} b_{\kappa} + Y \tag{3.1}$$

¹More precisely, the singularity determines the gauge algebra rather than the gauge group. This distinction can be ignored for our purposes.

Singular Fiber	Gauge Group	C_{κ}
In	SU(n)	n
II	none	2
III	SU(2)	3
IV	SU(3)	4
I_n^*	SO(2n + 8)	n+6
<i>II*</i>	E_8	10
III*	E_7	9
IV*	E_6	8

Table 3.1: Singular fibers and their associated gauge group in the absence of monodromy. c denotes the coefficients appearing in the Kodaira formula.

where b_{κ} , recall, are irreducible effective divisors giving rise to non-abelian gauge factors. Y is a residual effective divisor. The coefficients c_{κ} are determined by the codimension-one singularity along b_{κ} . We have listed c_{κ} for singularities with no monodromy in table 3.1. Although the locus Y does not induce any enhanced gauge group, it produces codimension-two singularities by colliding with the brane loci b_{κ} . The Kodaira condition stating that the total space of the elliptic fibration is a Calabi-Yau manifold is

$$-12a = \Delta = \sum_{\kappa} c_{\kappa} b_{\kappa} + Y. \qquad (3.2)$$

This relation implies that (-a) lies inside the Mori cone. Meanwhile, since Y is effective, it must have non-negative volume. This condition implies that

$$-12j \cdot a \ge \sum_{\kappa} c_{\kappa} j \cdot b_{\kappa} \tag{3.3}$$

as j is the normalized Kähler form of the base. We call this inequality, the "Kodaira constraint."

Therefore there is a clear route to mapping the non-abelian sector of a given low-energy theory to an F-theory model using this map given that the parameters of the low-energy theory satisfy the Kodaira constraint. We begin by choosing an appropriate base \mathcal{B} with $h^{1,1}(\mathcal{B}) = T + 1.^2$ Then we tune the complex structure

²This choice is not quite simple as T increases and the number bases to choose from increases. It is known, however, that the number of bases to choose from is finite [141, 142]. A systematic study of the bases that can be used has been undertaken in [143].

of the elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau manifold so that it has the codimension-one singularity structure encoded in the non-abelian anomaly coefficients b_{κ} . Once the codimension-one singularity structure is established, we tune the complex structure further to obtain the required matter structure.

There is no proof that this procedure would work in general. It is true, however, that when the gap between -12a and $\sum_{\kappa} c_{\kappa} b_{\kappa}$ is quite large, and when the matter representations are simple, this procedure is expected to produce the desired F-theory model. This expectation is based on the fact that the procedure sketched above is bound to be executable when the numbers of complex parameters one needs to tune to obtain the desired singularity structure is small.

Some explanation on the term "simple matter" is due. By saying that a given matter representation is "simple" we are implying that they come from codimensiontwo singularities that arise without much tuning. What we mean is the following. After one tunes the complex structure of a given elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau manifold to reproduce some desired codimension-one singularity structure, there are still some degrees of freedom in the complex structure left over. Setting those complex variables to generic values, one in general obtains codimension-two singularities that give these "simple" matter representations. Tuning the complex structure further, one can obtain more "complicated" matter. For example, the codimension-two singularity structure that yields $fundamental(\Box)$, antisymmetric(H) and adjoint matterof an SU(M) gauge group is generic for many single block models [64, 115]. In particular, when there is an A_M singularity over a smooth curve of genus g, there are 2g-2 adjoint hypermultiplets in the massless spectrum [119, 144, 145]. One can, however, tune the complex structure so that the curve has a double point. For each double point, it can be shown that an adjoint hypermultiplet can be traded for an antisymmetric and a symmetric hypermultiplet [97].

As noted above, in the case of SU(M) groups, codimension-two singularities that generate fundamental(\Box), antisymmetric(\Box), symmetric(\Box) matter is well known [97, 119, 136]. Adjoint matter is generated when there is a codimension-one singularity over a curve of genus greater than one [119, 144, 145]. Jointly charged matter arises

when two enhanced singularities collide at a point. The singularity structure that give rise to the bifundamental $(\Box \times \Box)$ is well understood. More exotic matter have been constructed in F-theory from more complicated codimension-two singularities, but we postpone their discussion to section 4.1.

To our knowledge, all perturbative string vacua under-saturate the Kodaira bound, and only have simple types of matter.³ In particular, we find that

$$-12a > -na \ge \sum_{\kappa} c_{\kappa} b_{\kappa} \tag{3.4}$$

for some n < 12. The inequality implies that the difference between the left-handside and the right-hand-side lies inside the Mori cone. Note that this inequality makes sense due to the fact that $-a \cdot j > 0$. The Kodaira bound in many of these string constructions is manifested as tadpole constraints. These facts are the basis for claiming that the non-abelian sectors of all known string vacua are embeddable into F-theory. In the following two subsections, we examine the examples of type IIB intersecting brane models and magnetized brane backgrounds from this point of view.⁴

3.1.2 Type IIB Intersecting Brane Models

In this section, we introduce type IIB intersecting brane models. We find the massless spectrum and anomaly coefficients of the non-abelian gauge groups. We check that the matter structure is simple and that the Kodaira bound is under-saturated for this set of models.

Type IIB intersecting brane models are models constructed by compactifying type IIB string theory on a compact manifold with D-branes and O-planes wrapping compact cycles. A nice general review on this subject can be found in [148]. In this section, we focus on the case where type IIB is compactified on a K3 surface to six

 $^{^{3}}A$ more extensive discussion of this fact can be found in [114].

 $^{^{4}}$ We note that in the case of these models, explicit F-theory duals exist [99, 146, 147]. We, however, use these examples to sketch the general strategy to embed the non-abelian sector of string vacua into F-theory.

Representation	Multiplicity		
$\Box_{\kappa} \times \Box_{\lambda}$	$\pi_{\kappa}\cdot\pi_{\lambda}'$		
$\Box_{\kappa} imes \overline{\Box}_{\lambda}$	$\pi_{\kappa}\cdot\pi_{\lambda}$		
	$rac{1}{2}\pi_{\kappa}\cdot(\pi_{\kappa}'+\pi_{O7})$		
\square_{κ}	$\frac{1}{2}\pi_{\kappa}\cdot(\pi_{\kappa}'-\pi_{O7})$		
Adjoint in $SU(N_{\kappa})$	$\frac{1}{2}\pi_{\kappa}\cdot\pi_{\kappa}+1$		

Table 3.2: The number of hypermultiplets of each representation in an intersecting brane model.

dimensions following [106, 114].

Type IIB compactified on a K3 surface yields a six-dimensional supergravity theory with (2,0) supersymmetry. To obtain (1,0) supersymmetry, one can wrap D7branes and O7-planes on cycles in the K3 surface when the K3 surface admits an anti-holomorphic involution $\bar{\sigma}$. The O-plane lies on a cycle π_{O7} that is invariant under this involution. Meanwhile, groups of M_{κ} coincident D7-branes wrapping a cycle π_{κ} can be thought of as wrapping its image under the involution $\pi'_{\kappa} \equiv \bar{\sigma}(\pi_{\kappa})$ simultaneously in the presence of the O7-plane. The compactness of K3 imposes that the brane tensions cancel:

$$\sum_{\kappa} M_{\kappa}(\pi_{\kappa} + \pi_{\kappa}') = 8\pi_{O7}. \qquad (3.5)$$

Given a intersecting brane configuration such that the O7-plane wraps the cycle π_{O7} and that M_a coincident D7-branes wrap the cycle π_{κ} for $\kappa = 1, \dots, k$, the non-abelian gauge group is given by

$$SU(M_1) \times \cdots \times SU(M_k)$$
 (3.6)

and the hypermultiplets for each gauge group is given by table 3.2 [106, 114]. The dots between cycles are intersection numbers of the two cycles involved.

Using the the tadpole constraint and properties of the involution, one finds that

the anomaly equations become

$$a \cdot a = \frac{1}{2}\pi_{07} \cdot \pi_{07} = 9 - T \tag{3.7}$$

$$a \cdot b_{\kappa} = -\frac{1}{2}\pi_{O7} \cdot (\pi_{\kappa} + \pi_{\kappa}') \tag{3.8}$$

$$b_{\kappa} \cdot b_{\kappa} = \frac{1}{2} (\pi_{\kappa} + \pi_{\kappa}') \cdot (\pi_{\kappa} + \pi_{\kappa}')$$
(3.9)

$$b_{\kappa} \cdot b_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2} (\pi_{\kappa} + \pi_{\kappa}') \cdot (\pi_{\lambda} + \pi_{\lambda}') \quad (\kappa \neq \lambda)$$
(3.10)

The inner-product on the left-hand-side of the equations is, as usual, an SO(1,T) inner-product while the inner-product on the right-hand-side is the intersection product in the K3 manifold.

We find that we can identify the integral cycles invariant under the antiholomorphic involution

$$-\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\pi_{O7}, \quad \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\pi_{\kappa} + \pi'_{\kappa})$$
 (3.11)

with the anomaly coefficients of the low-energy theory

$$a = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\pi_{O7}, \quad b_{\kappa} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\pi_{\kappa} + \pi_{\kappa}').$$
 (3.12)

Now the tadpole constraint becomes

$$\sum M_{\kappa} b_{\kappa} = -8a \,. \tag{3.13}$$

Hence we see that the Kodaira bound is under-saturated for these models. All the matter that appear are also the type that can be generated from F-theory by known methods. We note that there are additional consistency conditions that must be imposed for supersymmetry, namely the fact that the D-branes and O-planes should be calibrated under the real part of the complex structure two-form. We, however, did not need them in deriving the anomaly equations of the low-energy theory and also in finding the tadpole condition. The additional constraint may be required to restrict the cycles ($\pi_{\kappa} + \pi'_{\kappa}$) and π_{O7} to a T + 1 dimensional plane with signature (1, T) within the homology lattice so that the identifications (3.12) could indeed be

made.

3.1.3 Magnetized Brane Backgrounds

In this section, we introduce magnetized brane models and compute the massless spectrum and anomaly coefficients of the non-abelian gauge groups. We confirm that the matter structure is simple and that the Kodaira bound is under-saturated.

Magnetized brane backgrounds are SO(32) heterotic string compactifications on a K3 manifold with U(1) gauge fluxes. These models were widely studied in the context of the dual type I theory [103, 104, 105]. Here we use the formalism of [108, 109, 110, 111].

The equations of motion, which come from imposing that there is a covariantly constant spinor in the internal manifold, imposes that we have a gauge bundle over K3. The U(1) background gauge bundle can be written as,

$$\bar{F} = 4\pi \sum_{i} f_i T^i \tag{3.14}$$

where T^i are generators of the Cartan subgroup of SO(32) with the normalization,

$$trT_i^2 = 2 \tag{3.15}$$

By the assumption that F is in the Cartan subalgebra, the equations of motion impose that f_i are harmonic two-forms. Harmonic two-forms have a natural inner product

$$f_i \cdot f_j = 4 \int_{K3} f_i \wedge f_j \,. \tag{3.16}$$

We restrict ourselves to "multiple stack models" where we define the background

field to be of the form,

where there are M_1, \dots, M_n blocks of $-if_1\sigma_y, \dots, -if_n\sigma_y$ matrices along the diagonal with

$$2M_1 + \dots + 2M_n = 32 - 2M. ag{3.18}$$

Our background could be written more concisely as,

$$\bar{F} = 4\pi \sum_{a=1}^{n} f_a \mathcal{T}_a \tag{3.19}$$

for

$$\mathcal{T}_{a} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} (M_{1} + \dots + M_{a}) \\ \sum_{i=(M_{1} + \dots + M_{a-1} + 1)}^{(M_{1} + \dots + M_{a})} T^{i} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.20)

Note that the \mathcal{T}_a do not satisfy $\operatorname{tr} \mathcal{T}_a^2 = 2$ in general. It is clear that the gauge group

Representation	Number	U(1) charge	
$(N_a, \bar{N}_b) + (\bar{N}_a, N_b)$	$-2 - (f_a - f_b)^2$	(1, -1), (-1, 1)	
$(N_a, N_b) + (\bar{N}_a, \bar{N}_b)$	$-2 - (f_a + f_b)^2$	(1,1), (-1,-1)	
Antisym. in $U(N_a) + c.c.$	$-2-4f_a^2$	2, -2	
$(N_a, 2M) + (\bar{N}_a, 2M)$	$-2 - f_a^2$	1, -1	
Neutral	20	-	

Table 3.3: The number of hypermultiplets of each representation and their U(1) charge.

is broken to

$$\prod_{a=1}^{n} U(M_a) \times SO(2M) \tag{3.21}$$

in this background.

The tadpole cancellation condition imposed by the equations of motion becomes in this language

$$\sum_{a} M_a f_a^2 = -24. ag{3.22}$$

There are additional constraints imposed on f_a by supersymmetry. Denoting the holomorphic (antiholomorphic) and Kähler 2-forms as $\Omega(\bar{\Omega})$ and J, the f_a must satisfy

$$f_a \cdot \Omega = 0, \qquad f_a \cdot \overline{\Omega} = 0, \qquad f_a \cdot J = 0.$$
 (3.23)

The magentic brane models are parametrized precisely by f_a obeying such constraints which can be embedded into the integral lattice, $H^2(K3,\mathbb{Z})$. It turns out to be enough to demand that f_a spans a negative definite plane in the $H^2(K3,\mathbb{Z})$ lattice [111]. Since this implies that $f_a^2 < 0$, and since the $H^2(K3,\mathbb{Z})$ lattice is even, this automatically implies that the number of $U(M_a)$ gauge factors $n \leq 12$.

The matter content of the dimensionally reduced theory has been worked out many times in the literature — for example, in [83] — and we simply state the results. The ten-dimensional gravity multiplet decomposes in to one gravity multiplet, one tensor multiplet and twenty hypermultiplets. The ten-dimensional SO(32)vector multiplet decomposes in to six-dimensional multiplets of the gauge group $\prod_{a=1}^{n} U(M_a) \times SO(2M)$ and charged hypermultiplets. The number of hypermultiplets can be obtained by using index theorems. It is summarized in table 3.3. We can normalize the $U(1)_a$ charges so that the fundamental of $SU(M_a)$ has charge 1 under this U(1). The corresponding U(1) charges are written out in the table for future reference.

The anomaly polynomial of the nonabelian sector can be computed explicitly from the matter content. It is given by

$$I_8 \propto [\text{tr}R^2 + \sum_a 4(f_a^2 + 1)\text{tr}F_a^2 + 2\text{tr}F_{2M}^2] \wedge [\text{tr}R^2 - \sum_a 2\text{tr}F_a^2 - \text{tr}F_{2M}^2]$$
(3.24)

 F_a denote the field strengths for the $SU(M_a)$ gauge fields and F_{2m} denotes the field strength for the SO(2M) gauge field. The anomaly coefficient for $SU(M_a)$ and SO(2M) are given by

$$b_a = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -4(f_a^2 + 1) \\ 2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad b_{2M} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -4 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.25)

We have used the fact that for SO(2M), $\lambda = 2$. Note that we are using the conventional metric and a vector

$$\Omega = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad a = \begin{pmatrix} -2 \\ -2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.26)

It is clear that by the two constraints (3.18) and (3.22),

$$\sum c_{\kappa} b_{\kappa} = \sum_{a} M_{a} b_{a} + (M+2) b_{2M} = \begin{pmatrix} 12\\18 \end{pmatrix} < -9a < -12a.$$
(3.27)

This inequality holds since for any value of the modulus

$$j = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\phi} \\ e^{-\phi} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.28)$$

the inner product

$$j \cdot (-9a - \sum_{a} M_{a}b_{a} - (M+2)b_{2M}) = 3\sqrt{2}e^{-\phi} > 0.$$
(3.29)

We therefore find that these models have simple matter structure, and also undersaturate the Kodaira bound, as desired.

We must expose a caveat in our discussion here. All of our discussions have been perturbative — we have assumed that we are working in a background in which tendimensional SO(32) supergravity provides a valid description of the physics. It must be noted, however, that U(1) backgrounds have the subtlety that the K3 manifold on which they are compactified over are often singular. This point is discussed in detail in [111].

This is due to the fact that the K3 manifold can have vanishing cycles due to (3.23) and can have orbifold singularities for some f_a . It is known that worldsheet instantons smooth these singularities when there is no gauge bundle [149] but in the cases of interest, we have non-trivial gauge bundles precisely at the orbifold point. Furthermore, this corresponds to a small instanton limit, so we expect an enhanced gauge symmetry. So to analyze the the low-energy physics properly, we must factor in the non-perturbative effects that come from the small instanton limit. Therefore, the validity of our analysis only holds in the perturbative sector of this background.

There is a way to move out of this small instanton limit. We have nineteen moduli that blow up the orbifold singularity of the theory. Turning on the nineteen moduli renders the manifold non-singular, but can potentially break the gauge symmetries. This is because that we generically have to turn on vacuum expectation values for hypermultiplets charged under some of the gauge groups. A careful analysis of this phenomenon along the lines of [110, 125, 150, 151, 152, 153] must be carried out to understand these points of enhanced gauge symmetry properly. We note that these points have also been studied in the context of F-theory in [154, 155].
3.2 Non-trivialities of the Abelian Sector : An Example

As stressed many times throughout this thesis, the abelian sector of string models involve subtleties that do not arise for the non-abelian sector. For example, even determining the abelian gauge symmetry itself is an involved process in a wide variety of string constructions, including heterotic, orbifold, intersecting brane, fractional brane and F-theory models [80, 81, 87, 96, 98, 100, 107, 108, 109, 110, 118, 119, 156, 157, 158, 159, 160, 161, 162, 163, 164, 165, 166, 167]. The subtlety comes, as pointed out in the beginning of this chapter, from the fact that abelian vector fields in the spectrum that are naively massless can be lifted at the linear level by coupling to Stückelberg fields. In this section, we demonstrate the process of determining the abelian sector of magnetized brane backgrounds introduced in section 3.1.3, and find that additional constraints on the vacuum construction is needed to find massless abelian gauge fields.

From the discussion in section 3.1.3, we might naively expect that there are n U(1)'s, where n is the number of $U(M_a)$ gauge group factors. Many of these U(1)'s, however, should be lifted by the generalized Green-Schwarz mechanism we have described in section 2.1.5. To see how the generalized Green-Schwarz mechanism comes into play, let us examine the full anomaly polynomial of the magnetized brane background given in section 3.1.3. As before, we use F_a (A_a) to denote the $SU(M_a)$ field strength(vector field,) G_a (\mathcal{A}_a) to denote the $U(1)_a$ field strength(vector field,) and $F_{2M}(A_{2M})$ to denote the SO(2M) field strength(vector field.) With these conventions,

the anomaly polynomial becomes

$$I_{8} = [\operatorname{tr} R^{2} + \sum_{a} 4(f_{a}^{2} + 1)\operatorname{tr} F_{a}^{2} + \sum_{a} 4M_{a}(f_{a}^{2} + 1)G_{a}^{2} + 2\operatorname{tr} F_{2M}^{2}]$$

$$\wedge [\operatorname{tr} R^{2} - \sum_{a} 2\operatorname{tr} F_{a}^{2} - \sum_{a} 2M_{a}G_{a}^{2} - \operatorname{tr} F_{2M}^{2}]$$

$$- \frac{8}{3} \sum_{a} M_{a}G_{a} \wedge \sum_{b} (f_{a} \cdot f_{b})[-\frac{1}{4}M_{b}(\operatorname{tr} R^{2})G_{b} + 4\operatorname{tr} F_{b}^{3} + 12(\operatorname{tr} F_{b}^{2})G_{b} + 4M_{a}G_{b}^{3}]$$

$$(3.30)$$

Let us first find the six-dimensional terms relevant to the Green-Schwarz mechanism. These are terms that involve the six-dimensional B field. The kinetic term for the B field is found to be,

$$-\frac{1}{2}e^{-2\phi}(dB-\omega)\cdot(dB-\omega) \tag{3.31}$$

with

$$d\omega \propto {\rm tr}R^2 - \sum_a 2{\rm tr}F_a^2 - \sum_a 2M_a G_a^2 - {\rm tr}F_{2M}^2$$
 (3.32)

Part of the ten-dimensional Green-Schwarz term descends to,

$$-B \wedge d\tilde{\omega}$$
 (3.33)

with

$$d\tilde{\omega} \propto \text{tr}R^2 + \sum_a 4(f_a^2 + 1)\text{tr}F_a^2 + \sum_a 4M_a(f_a^2 + 1)G_a^2 + 2\text{tr}F_{2M}^2.$$
(3.34)

Therefore we see that the Green-Schwarz mechanism cancels the first term in (3.30), as it should.

Before finding the terms relevant to the generalized Green-Schwarz mechanism, let us examine the neutral hypermultiplets which will participate in the anomaly cancellation. The four scalars of a neutral hypermultiplet transform under $SU(2)_R$ as a 1+3. For nineteen of the neutral hypermultiplets, the 1 comes from the ten dimensional tensor reduced over nineteen harmonic two-forms ω_k , *i.e.*,

$$B_{10} \ni \sum_{k} b^k \omega_k \,. \tag{3.35}$$

These two-forms ω_k are orthogonal to the Kähler form J and the holomorphic and anti-holomorphic 2-forms, Ω and $\overline{\Omega}$. The **3** come from geometric moduli of the K3 manifold. For one neutral hypermultiplet, the **1** is the volume modulus of the internal manifold. The **3** come from reducing the ten-dimensional tensor over the Kähler, holomorphic and anti-holomorphic two-forms [108].

Now let us dimensionally reduce the Lagrangian of the ten-dimensional heterotic string theory to observe the generalized Green-Schwarz mechanism at play. Defining

$$\int_{K3} \omega_k \wedge f_a = f_{a,k} \tag{3.36}$$

we obtain the kinetic term

$$-\frac{1}{2}e^{-2\phi}(db^{k} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{a}M_{a}f_{a,k}\mathcal{A}_{a})^{2}$$
(3.37)

for the Stückelberg fields by dimensionally reducing the ten-dimensional kinetic term of the tensor field. Part of the ten-dimensional Green-Schwarz term descends to

$$\sum_{k} \left(b^{k} \wedge \sum_{a} f_{a,k} \left[-\frac{1}{4} M_{a} (\operatorname{tr} R^{2}) G_{a} + 4 \operatorname{tr} F_{a}^{3} + 12 (\operatorname{tr} F_{a}^{2}) G_{a} + 4 M_{a} G_{a}^{3} \right] \right).$$
(3.38)

Therefore we see that the generalized Green-Schwarz mechanism gets rid of the second term in (3.30). We note that the reason all this is possible by using only nineteen harmonic forms is because of the relations (3.23).

The U(1)'s being lifted can precisely be read off of the kinetic term (3.37) of the linear multiplets. A useful way to write out the nineteen components of the f_a that parametrize the U(1) instanton background is to organize them into column vectors:

$$f \equiv \left(\begin{array}{ccc} M_1 f_1 & M_2 f_2 & \cdots & M_n f_n \end{array} \right) \tag{3.39}$$

Now (3.37) implies that the rank of this matrix is precisely the number of U(1)'s being lifted. In order for some U(1) to survive, the rank of this matrix should be less than the number of U(1)'s, n. As seen in the last section $n \leq 12 < 19$ which is the number of rows. Therefore, in order for there to be an unlifted U(1), f_1, \dots, f_n should not be linearly independent. In this case, there exist n component vectors v_1, \dots, v_r with $r = n - \operatorname{rank} f$ such that

$$\sum_{a=1}^{n} M_a v_{i,a} f_{a,k} = 0 \tag{3.40}$$

for all $k = 1, \dots, 19$. $f_{a,k}$ are the components of the two-forms f_a given in equation (3.36). Then the r abelian vector fields

$$\mathbf{A}_{i} = \sum_{a} v_{i,a} \mathcal{A}_{a} \tag{3.41}$$

survive the Stückelberging and remain in the low-energy spectrum.

Therefore, we have demonstrated that in order to properly identify the abelian gauge sector, a careful treatment of the Stückelberg mechanism is necessary for magnetized brane backgrounds. In this example, we found that additional constraints on the gauge fluxes f_a must be imposed in order for there to be massless abelian gauge fields.

3.3 M-theory/F-theory Duality and the Abelian Sector of F-theory

We have demonstrated non-trivial aspects of abelian gauge symmetry of string backgrounds through the example of magnetized brane backgrounds in the previous section. Such non-trivialities show up in F-theory vacua as well. Unlike the non-abelian sector, there is a global flavor to the abelian sector of F-theory backgrounds. For example, even simple information such as the number of massless abelian vector fields is encoded in global data of the full manifold [119, 168, 169]. This should be contrasted to the case of the non-abelian sector of the theory as its dynamics could be determined locally — only the near-brane geometry mattered in understanding it.

It is not clear how to probe the abelian sector of F-theory backgrounds directly. This is because the degrees of freedom of the underlying twelve-dimensional theory and their interactions — if they exist at all — are unclear at the moment. In order to understand the abelian sector of the theory, it turns out to be more convenient to take an intersection theory-based⁵ approach in the M-theory dual of the F-theory back-ground [132, 144, 145, 172]. By recovering the low-energy data of the six-dimensional F-theory background using this duality, we can identify the geometric meaning of the abelian anomaly coefficients by comparing the coefficients of topological terms obtained from both sides [172, 173, 174].

We proceed in three steps. In section 3.3.1, we first review M-theory/F-theory duality and obtain basic information about the massless spectrum of F-theory from the M-theory side. In the process we obtain equation (3.49), which is an identity relating various topological data of the manifold. In section 3.3.2, we demonstrate how M-theory/F-theory duality can be used to recover the low-energy data of the non-abelian sector. Finally in section 3.3.3, we identify the geometric counterparts of the low-energy data of the abelian sector in an analogous way.

3.3.1 M/F-theory Duality

The duality between M and F-theory [120] provides the clearest way to see how the low-energy dynamics of gauge bosons and matter content arise in F-theory backgrounds.⁶ F-theory compactified on $X \times S^1$ —where X is an elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau threefold with a section—is dual to M-theory compactified on X. In the five-dimensional M-theory background, all the Kähler deformations of X become available, unlike in the six-dimensional theory. These moduli on the F-theory side are given by the size of the S^1 and the Wilson lines of the gauge fields along the S^1 . By turning these moduli on to generic values, we may resolve the singular manifold

⁵Some standard texts on intersection theory are [170] and [171].

⁶A great review on F-theory and M-theory/F-theory duality can be found in [175].

6D	5D		
Gravity	$1 \times (Gravity) + 1 \times (Vector)$		
Tensor	$1 \times (\text{Vector})$		
Vector	$1 \times (\text{Vector})$		
Hyper	$1 \times (Hyper)$		

Table 3.4: Six-dimensional (1,0) supersymmetry multiplets and their descendants in five dimensions when compactified on a circle.

X to \hat{X} . This is equivalent to going to the Coulomb branch of the non-abelian gauge theory, as the five-dimensional vector multiplet has a real adjoint scalar. We can recover the fibration limit $\hat{X} \to X$ as we turn off all the Wilson lines and take the radius of the S^1 to infinity. In this sense, the six-dimensional theory can be thought of as a "decompactification limit" of the M-theory background. We use the terms "decompactification limit," "F-theory limit," and "fibration limit" interchangeably.

Now let us recover the massless spectrum of the six-dimensional theory from the geometrical data of \hat{X} . When we compactify the six-dimensional theory with $\mathcal{N} = (1,0)$ supersymmetry on S^1 , we get a five-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theory with 8 supercharges. The short multiplets of the six-dimensional theory descend to short multiplets of the five-dimensional theory as shown in table 3.4. By resolving Xto \hat{X} we have turned on Wilson lines, and hence all multiplets charged under the Cartan sub-algebra of the full gauge group become massive. We denote these multiplets "charged multiplets." Charged multiplets descend from either vector multiplets or hypermultiplets. Therefore the six-dimensional massless spectrum can be recovered from the five-dimensional theory by identifying the massless multiplets and the charged multiplets that become massless in the decompactification limit.

There is nothing special about the Cartan basis. The Wilson lines turned on are generic and mutually commuting, and hence we can always find a Cartan subgroup of which the Wilson lines are elements of. We note that the Cartan sub-algebra of the full gauge algebra consists of the direct sum of the Cartan sub-algebra of the individual gauge groups. For abelian groups, the Cartan sub-algebra is equal to the full gauge algebra.

Let us first identify the massless fields of the five-dimensional theory [176, 177,

178]. M-theory compactified on the fully resolved manifold \hat{X} has $h^2(\hat{X}) = h^{1,1}(\hat{X})$ massless vector fields coming from descending the three-form on the harmonic twoforms of \hat{X} . Among these, one vector field is inside the five-dimensional gravity multiplet and the others belong to vector multiplets. The two-forms are Poincaré dual to four-cycles in \hat{X} , that is, for any harmonic two-form ω there exists a fourcycle Σ in \hat{X} such that for any two-cycle c in \hat{X} ,

$$\int_{c} \omega = \Sigma \cdot c \tag{3.42}$$

where the right-hand side denotes the intersection number between the two cycles. Therefore, for each massless vector field, there is a corresponding four-cycle. On the F-theory side, one of these vector fields come from KK-reducing the graviton along the S^1 , while $(T + 1) = h^{1,1}(\mathcal{B})$ come from KK-reducing the one self-dual and Tanti-self dual tensor fields. The rest come from vectors in the six-dimensional vector multiplets that are either abelian or in the Cartan of a non-abelian gauge group.

Also, there are $h^3(\hat{X}) = h^{2,1}(\hat{X}) + 1$ massless hypermultiplets in the five-dimensional spectrum. In the decompactification limit, all of these hypermultiplets become six-dimensional neutral hypermultiplets—hypermultiplets that are not charged under any vector field in the Cartan.

Now let us identify the charged multiplets. These come from M2 branes wrapping complex curves of \hat{X} . Since the charged multiplets should become massless in the decompactification limit, they should come from M2 branes wrapping curves that shrink in the fibration limit. As we move along the Coulomb branch to recover the full non-abelian gauge symmetry of X, two types of curves shrink to zero size.

- 1. Type I : Isolated rational curves that shrink to zero size in the limit $\hat{X} \to X$.
- 2. Type F : Rational curves fibered over a curve that shrink to zero size in the limit $\hat{X} \to X$.

These curves are all rational curves; they are topologically \mathbb{P}^1 's as only these types of curves can shrink in \hat{X} [179]. We index the curves of type I by r and denote them c_r , and index the curves of type F by ρ and denote them χ_{ρ} . We use g_{ρ} to denote the genus of the curve χ_{ρ} is fibered over. The curve a type F curve is fibered over is either a curve in the base or its branched cover [132]. In the fibration limit $\hat{X} \to X$, the type F curves shrink into points on the singular fibers along codimension-one loci in the base while the type I curves shrink into points on singular fibers at codimension-two loci.

A curve of type I contributes one hypermultiplet, while a curve of type F fibered over a curve of genus g contributes 2g hypermultiplets and 2 vector multiplets to the BPS spectrum [144, 145]. By quantizing the zero mode of an M2 brane wrapping a curve of type I, one obtains a half-hypermultiplet. Together with another halfhypermultiplet that comes from quantizing the zero modes of an anti-brane wrapping the same curve, a curve of type I contributes one hypermultiplet. Meanwhile, 2ghalf-hypermultiplets and one vector multiplet come from quantizing the zero-modes of an M2 brane wrapping a curve of type F fibered over a curve of genus g. Also the same number of multiplets come from quantizing the zero-modes of an anti-M2 brane wrapping the same curve. By definition, these multiplets become massless in the decompactification limit, and are in the massless spectrum of the six-dimensional theory.

The charge of a charged BPS particle coming from a brane wrapping a rational curve c under a vector field A_{Σ} coming from reducing the eleven-dimensional three-form field on the harmonic three-form ω is given by

$$\pm \int_{c} \omega = \pm \Sigma \cdot c \,, \tag{3.43}$$

where Σ is the four-cycle that is Poincaré dual to ω . The sign depends on whether the brane is an M2 brane or and anti-M2 brane. While the charge of a vector multiplet is unambiguous, there is an overall sign ambiguity in defining charges of the hypermultiplet. A hypermultiplet consists of two half-hypermultiplets with opposite charges under any abelian or non-abelian Cartan gauge field; one coming from M2 branes wrapped on a curve and the other coming from an anti-brane wrapped on the same curve. We fix the sign of the charge of a hypermultiplet coming from a curve cunder a gauge field A_{Σ} as

$$\int_{c} \omega = \Sigma \cdot c \,. \tag{3.44}$$

Meanwhile, the charge of vector or hypermultiplets under the vector multiplets coming from shrinking rational curves of type F can be obtained by considering the algebra of BPS states in the Calabi-Yau manifold as described in [180, 181]. Some of the multiplets that are uncharged under the vector fields in the Cartan sub-algebra can be charged under vector fields that come from shrinking type F rational curves.

Let us summarize what we have learned. There are $h^{1,1}(\hat{X})$ massless vector fields in the five-dimensional M-theory background. In the decompactification limit, two of them belong to the gravity multiplet, $T = (h^{1,1}(\mathcal{B}) - 1)$ of them belong to the tensor multiplets and the rest of them belong to the vector multiplets that are either abelian or in the Cartan of the non-abelian gauge groups. There are $h^{2,1}(\hat{X}) + 1$ massless hypermultiplets in the five-dimensional theory. In the decompactification limit, they are hypermultiplets uncharged under the Cartan/abelian vector multiplets. There are $(\sum_r 1 + \sum_{\rho} 2g_{\rho})$ massive hypermultiplets and $(\sum_{\rho} 2)$ massive vector multiplets, which in the decompactification limit, are hyper/vector multiplets charged under the abelian or non-abelian Cartan vector multiplets.

Since we have accounted for all the vector and hypermultiplets of the six-dimensional theory from the geometric data of \hat{X} , the gravitational anomaly constraint

$$H - V + 29T = 273, (3.45)$$

can be written in terms of this data. The number of six-dimensional vector multiplets and hypermultiplets are given by

$$V = (h^{1,1}(\hat{X}) - 2 - T) + \sum_{\rho} 2$$
(3.46)

$$H = (h^{2,1}(\hat{X}) + 1) + \sum_{r} 1 + \sum_{\rho} 2g_{\rho}.$$
(3.47)

Thus, the gravitational anomaly constraint can be re-written as

$$270 - 30T + (h^{1,1}(\hat{X}) - h^{2,1}(\hat{X})) = \sum_{r} 1 + \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2).$$
 (3.48)

Using the fact that $K \cdot K = 9 - T$ for the canonical divisor K of \mathcal{B} , and that $\chi_{\hat{X}} = 2(h^{1,1}(\hat{X}) - h^{2,1}(\hat{X}))$ for the Euler characteristic $\chi_{\hat{X}}$ of \hat{X} , we find

$$30K \cdot K + \frac{1}{2}\chi_{\hat{X}} = \sum_{r} 1 + \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2). \qquad (3.49)$$

3.3.2 The Non-Abelian Sector

In this section, we continue the analysis of the M-theory/F-theory duality. We first classify the vector fields of the five-dimensional theory in a useful way. Then we recover the low-energy data of the non-abelian sector from the geometric data of \hat{X} . The results turn out to be consistent with that of section 3.1. Most of the discussion in this section can be found in [132, 133, 134, 135, 136] but we have rephrased them in a way more convenient for our purposes.

Let us first classify the vector fields of the five-dimensional theory in a useful way. Recall there is a one-to-one correspondence between the massless five-dimensional vector fields and four-cycles of \hat{X} . There are four types of four-cycles in \hat{X} .

- 1. Type $\hat{\mathbf{Z}}$: The zero section; $\hat{Z} \leftrightarrow \hat{\zeta}$.
- 2. Type B : Four-cycles obtained by fibering the elliptic fiber f over two-cycles H_0, \dots, H_T in the base $\mathcal{B}; B_0, \dots, B_T \leftrightarrow \beta_0, \dots, \beta_T$.
- 3. Type C : Monodromy invariant four-cycles that are locally type F rational curves fibered over a curve in the base \mathcal{B} ; $T_1, \dots, T_r \leftrightarrow \tau_1, \dots, \tau_R$.
- 4. Type $\hat{\mathbf{S}}$: Non-zero sections of the fibration; $\hat{S}_1, \dots, \hat{S}_{V_A} \leftrightarrow \hat{\sigma}_1, \dots, \hat{\sigma}_{V_A}$.

The lowercase greek letters denote the Poincaré dual two-forms in the resolved manifold. The type \hat{S} four-cycles are generators of the non-torsion part of the Mordell-Weil group of the elliptic fibration. The number V_A is the Mordell-Weil rank of the elliptic fibration [119, 168, 169].

We note that the intersection of type B cycles satisfy

$$B_{\alpha} \cdot B_{\beta} = (H_{\alpha} \cdot H_{\beta})_{\mathcal{B}} f \equiv \Omega_{\alpha\beta} f , \qquad (3.50)$$

where the subscript \mathcal{B} means that we are taking the intersection of curves on the base and f is the fiber class of the elliptic fibration. We emphasize once more that H_{α} are the basis elements of $H_2(\mathcal{B})$. From this relation we also see that the triple intersection products among the type B cycles are zero, as the type B cycles do not intersect a generic fiber. The Ω is a symmetric invertible SO(1,T) bilinear form, or an SO(1,T)"metric." We denote

$$\Omega^{\alpha\beta} \equiv (\Omega^{-1})_{\alpha\beta} \tag{3.51}$$

and raise and lower SO(1,T) indices by Ω .

We postpone the discussion of the four cycles of type \hat{S} to section 3.3.3 and focus on the first three types of cycles. We make the following

(Claim 1)

- The vector field Z obtained by the three-form KK-reduced along ζ = ζ̂ 1/2(2̂ · 2̂ · B^α)β_α can be identified with the vector field coming from KK-reducing the six-dimensional metric along S¹ in the decompactification limit. It is inside the five dimensional gravity multiplet.
- 2. The vector fields B_0, \dots, B_T obtained by the three form KK-reduced along β_0, \dots, β_T can be identified with the vector fields obtained by KK-reducing the (T+1) six-dimensional tensor fields along S^1 in the decompactification limit.
- 3. The vector fields $\mathcal{A}_1, \dots, \mathcal{A}_R$ obtained by the three-form KK-reduced along τ_i can be identified with the vector fields obtained by KK-reducing the sixdimensional non-abelian vector fields in the coroot basis of the Cartan of each gauge group along S^1 in the decompactification limit.

For convenience, we abuse the term "duality" throughout the rest of this thesis in the following way; we say that a vector field is "dual to" a four-cycle S when it is obtained by KK-reducing the eleven-dimensional three-form on a two-form that is Poincaré dual to S.

We denote the Poincaré dual four-cycle of ζ as

$$Z = \hat{Z} - \frac{1}{2}(\hat{Z} \cdot \hat{Z} \cdot B^{\alpha})B_{\alpha}$$
(3.52)

Z has been defined so that

$$B_{\alpha} \cdot Z \cdot Z = 0 \tag{3.53}$$

for all α , as can be checked explicitly. Also, as the B_{α} do not intersect the fiber, $Z \cdot f = \hat{Z} \cdot f = 1$. We denote this four-cycle a **type Z** four-cycle.

Let us verify the third entry of (Claim 1) first. We can always organize the basis of type C cycles in a convenient way. For each non-abelian gauge group \mathcal{G}_{κ} , there exists a curve b_{κ} in the base over which the fiber takes the Kodaira fiber-type corresponding to \mathcal{G}_{κ} . We use b_{κ} to denote both the actual curve and its class in the base. The fiber at b_{κ} consists of groups of type F rational curves. There is a canonical way of choosing linearly independent monodromy invariant groups of these rational curves, which we discuss in length in appendix B.1. If we denote this group as $\gamma_{I,\kappa}$ for each κ , the four cycles obtained by fibering $\gamma_{I,\kappa}$ over b_{κ} are dual to the vector field corresponding to $\mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa}$, the I'th element of the coroot basis of the Cartan of \mathcal{G}_{κ} . This is because, as we have checked in appendix B.1, the intersection numbers reproduce the charges of the charged adjoint multiplets under $\mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa}$ correctly.

To be more precise, let us denote $T_{I,\kappa}$ to be the four cycle obtained by fibering $\gamma_{I,\kappa}$ over the curve b_{κ} . As checked case by case for each Lie group in B.1, for each κ we can find type F rational curves that correspond to the simple roots $\alpha_{I,\kappa}$ of the Lie group \mathcal{G}_{κ} . Let us denote those curves $\chi_{I,\kappa}$. Then,

$$T_{I,\kappa} \cdot \chi_{J,\lambda} = -\delta_{\kappa\lambda} \frac{2\langle \alpha_{I,\kappa}, \alpha_{J,\kappa} \rangle}{\langle \alpha_{I,\kappa}, \alpha_{I,\kappa} \rangle} = -\delta_{\kappa\lambda} C_{IJ,\kappa}, \qquad (3.54)$$

where C_{κ} is the Cartan matrix of \mathcal{G}_{κ} . All type F rational curves χ_{ρ} can be written as linear combinations of $\chi_{I,\kappa}$. The intersection numbers between these curves and $T_{I,\kappa}$ precisely reproduce the charges all the negative roots of each gauge group. By wrapping branes and anti-branes along these type F curves, one recovers all the charged adjoint vector fields of the theory. In the F-theory limit, these charged vector fields become massless, and along with the vector fields dual to $T_{I,\kappa}$ form the vector multiplet of gauge group \mathcal{G}_{κ} .

Therefore we can group the type C cycles according to their gauge groups *i.e.*,

$$T_{I,\kappa} : (T_{1,1}, \cdots, T_{R_{1},1}), \cdots, (T_{1,N}, \cdots, T_{R_{N},N}).$$
(3.55)

These are dual to non-abelian gauge field components

$$\mathcal{A}_{I,\kappa} : (\mathcal{A}_{1,1}, \cdots, \mathcal{A}_{R_1,1}), \cdots, (\mathcal{A}_{1,N}, \cdots, \mathcal{A}_{R_N,N})$$

$$(3.56)$$

of the coroot basis elements of the Cartans of the non-abelian gauge groups;

$$\mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa} : (\mathcal{T}_{1,1}, \cdots, \mathcal{T}_{R_1,1}), \cdots, (\mathcal{T}_{1,N}, \cdots, \mathcal{T}_{R_N,N}).$$

$$(3.57)$$

Meanwhile, hypermultiplets obtained by wrapping M2 branes around clusters of type I curves in the resolved manifold also form representations under the non-abelian gauge groups. The representations can be determined by computing the intersection number of all the type I curves in each "cluster" with each $T_{I,\kappa}$. Note that the intersection number between $T_{I,\kappa}$ and any rational curve is integral. This is consistent with the fact that the charge of any weight vector is integral under elements of the coroot basis.

There is one question we raise before we go further. The type B cycles and type Z cycles do not intersect any of the shrinking curves, *i.e.*,

$$B_{\alpha} \cdot c_{r} = B_{\alpha} \cdot \chi_{\rho} = Z \cdot c_{r} = Z \cdot \chi_{\rho} = 0.$$
(3.58)

A given shrinking rational curve sits at a point above the base, and hence B_{α} , which is a fibration over a curve in the base, can always be smoothly deformed to avoid intersecting it. Z does not intersect any shrinking curves since the zero section does not touch any singularities in the fibration limit. Therefore, a vector field obtained by reducing the 11D three-form over some type C cycle T, and a vector field dual to $T + xZ + t^{\alpha}B_{\alpha}$ should reproduce the same charges. We claim that x and t^{α} can be fixed to zero by comparing the coefficient for the Chern-Simons five-form for the vector fields.

We now justify the two claims about vector fields Z and B^{α} by examining the Chern-Simons term in the five-dimensional theory in a generic point in the Coulomb branch. It is given by [178]

$$\left(\mathcal{S}_x \cdot \mathcal{S}_y \cdot \mathcal{S}_z\right) \int A^x \wedge F^y \wedge F^z , \qquad (3.59)$$

where S_x are the dual four-cycles of the two-forms each gauge field is KK-reduced upon. The coefficient is the triple intersection of the four-cycles involved.

The intersection numbers are given by

$$\frac{1}{4}(9-T)(ZZZ) + \frac{3}{2}\delta_{\kappa\lambda}C_{IJ,\kappa}(K \cdot b)_{\mathcal{B}}(ZT_{I,\kappa}T_{J,\lambda})
+ 3\Omega_{\alpha\beta}(ZB_{\alpha}B_{\beta}) - 3\delta_{\kappa\lambda}C_{IJ,\kappa}b_{\alpha,\kappa}(B_{\alpha}T_{I,\kappa}T_{J,\lambda})
+ (triple intersections among T's)$$
(3.60)

in standard polynomial notation⁷; the coefficient of the term $(S_x S_y S_z)$ is the intersection number $(S_x \cdot S_y \cdot S_z)$ with multiplicities, *i.e.*, the polynomial is defined as

$$\sum_{x,y,z} (\mathcal{S}_x \cdot \mathcal{S}_y \cdot \mathcal{S}_z) (\mathcal{S}_x \mathcal{S}_y \mathcal{S}_z) .$$
(3.61)

⁷We have not computed the triple intersections among the type T cycles, as we do not need them for the purposes of this thesis. We note that these terms have been computed and matched with the F-theory side in [182].

 b^{lpha}_{κ} are the SO(1,T) coordinates of $b_{\kappa}, \; i.e.,$

$$b_{\kappa} = b_{\kappa}^{\alpha} H_{\alpha} \,. \tag{3.62}$$

 C_{κ} is the normalized coroot inner-product matrix for gauge group \mathcal{G}_{κ} defined in section 2.1.4 and discussed extensively in appendix B.1. K is the canonical divisor of the base.

Let us explain this result first. It is more convenient to obtain the intersection numbers using \hat{Z} , so we use the \hat{Z} rather than Z. Intersection numbers involving Z can be obtained straightforwardly from those involving \hat{Z} .

We first note that

$$\hat{Z} \cdot X \cdot Y = (X|_{\mathcal{B}} \cdot Y|_{\mathcal{B}})_{\mathcal{B}}$$
(3.63)

since \hat{Z} is the normal bundle of the base \mathcal{B} . $X|_{\mathcal{B}}$ is the two-cycle on \mathcal{B} —or more precisely, the zero section \hat{Z} —obtained by restricting the four-cycle X to \hat{Z} . The manifold \hat{X} is Calabi-Yau and hence by the adjunction formula

$$\hat{Z}|_{\mathcal{B}} = K. \tag{3.64}$$

Also,

$$B_{\alpha}|_{\mathcal{B}} = H_{\alpha} \,. \tag{3.65}$$

Hence

$$\hat{Z} \cdot \hat{Z} \cdot \hat{Z} = (K \cdot K)_{\mathcal{B}} = (9 - T), \quad \hat{Z} \cdot \hat{Z} \cdot B_{\alpha} = (K \cdot H_{\alpha})_{\mathcal{B}} = K_{\alpha},$$
$$\hat{Z} \cdot B_{\alpha} \cdot B_{\beta} = (H_{\alpha} \cdot H_{\beta})_{\mathcal{B}} = \Omega_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(3.66)

By construction, \hat{Z} and $T_{I,\kappa}$ are disjoint; the zero section does not touch any of the singularities. Hence for any four cycle X,

$$Z \cdot T_{I,\kappa} \cdot X = 0. \tag{3.67}$$

Also, by (3.50)

$$B_{\alpha} \cdot B_{\beta} \cdot T_{I,\kappa} = \Omega_{\alpha\beta} f \cdot T_{I,\kappa} \,. \tag{3.68}$$

Since $T_{I,\kappa}$ are rational curves fibered along a curve in the base, it does not intersect with a generic fiber. Hence the intersection number is 0.

It is shown in appendix B.1 that

$$B_{\alpha} \cdot T_{I,\kappa} \cdot T_{J,\lambda} = -b_{\alpha,\kappa} (\gamma_{I,\kappa} \cdot T_{J,\lambda}) = -\delta_{\kappa\lambda} \mathcal{C}_{IJ} b_{\alpha,\kappa} \,. \tag{3.69}$$

 κ and λ must be the same in order to get a non-zero result since $T_{I,\kappa}$ does not intersect type F rational curves fibered over a different locus.

It is convenient to express this relation using the projection π to the base manifold. More precisely, we define $\pi(C)$ of some two-cycle C in \hat{X} to be the projection of C to the $H_2(\mathcal{B}) \cong H^{1,1}(\mathcal{B})$ lattice of the base manifold. As pointed out in the introduction, the projection of C to the base can in general be a linear combination of two, one and zero-cycles in the base. We treat one-cycles and zero-cycles to be null vectors in $H_2(\mathcal{B})$. Then π is defined so that for any two-cycle C in \hat{X} ,

$$\pi(C) = (C \cdot B^{\alpha})H_{\alpha} \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad B_{\alpha} \cdot C = (H_{\alpha} \cdot \pi(C))_{\mathcal{B}} = \pi(C)_{\alpha}.$$
(3.70)

Therefore (3.69) can be rewritten as

$$\pi(T_{I,\kappa} \cdot T_{J,\lambda}) = -\delta_{\kappa\lambda} \mathcal{C}_{IJ} b_{\alpha,\kappa} H^{\alpha} = -\delta_{\kappa\lambda} \mathcal{C}_{IJ} b_{\kappa} \,. \tag{3.71}$$

Now let us investigate the six-dimensional F-theory background compactified on the singular manifold X and then further compactified on S^1 . Let us denote the vector fields obtained by KK-reduction on S^1 in the following way:

- 1. Z' is the vector field obtained by KK-reducing the six-dimensional metric. It is inside the gravity multiplet.
- 2. B' are the vector fields obtained by KK-reducing the (T + 1) tensors.
- 3. \mathcal{A}' are the vector fields obtained by KK-reducing the non-abelian vector fields

in the coroot basis of the Cartan of the gauge group.

Let us denote the anomaly coefficients for the non-abelian gauge fields as b'_{κ} . In section 3 of [173], the coefficients of the Chern-Simons term of the KK-reduced fivedimensional theory on a generic point in the Coulomb branch is worked out explicitly. The intersection polynomial is given by

$$\Omega_{\alpha\beta}(Z'B'_{\alpha}B'_{\beta}) - 2\delta_{\kappa\lambda}C_{IJ,\kappa}b'_{\alpha,\kappa}(B'_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}'_{I,\kappa}\mathcal{A}'_{J,\lambda}) + (\text{triple intersections among }\mathcal{A}'s)$$
(3.72)

up to an overall constant—that we denote K_{int} —in the "decompactification limit," *i.e.*, when the vacuum expectation value of the scalars in the vector multiplets and the inverse radius of the S^1 go to zero [173]. Note that we have used the non-trivial fact that λ_{κ} is chosen so that the Cartan generators $\{\mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa}\}$ of \mathcal{G}_{κ} in the coroot basis satisfy

$$\frac{1}{\lambda_{\kappa}} \operatorname{tr} \mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa} \mathcal{T}_{J,\kappa} = \mathcal{C}_{IJ,\kappa} \,. \tag{3.73}$$

This intersection form agrees with (3.60) up to terms that do not involve B when we identify $b_{\kappa} = b'_{\kappa}$ — which is indeed true for non-abelian gauge fields [64, 65] — and take Z and B_{α} to be proportional to Z' and B'_{α} . The terms that involve B cannot receive corrections for the following reason. The corrections to these Chern-Simons terms come from one-loop integrals of five-dimensional fermions [144]. The only way that terms involving B could receive corrections on the F-theory side is if some sixdimensional fermion in a short multiplet couples to the tensor field B in a way that reduces to

$$\bar{\psi}B_{\mu}\Gamma^{\mu}\psi \tag{3.74}$$

in five dimensions. There are no such couplings so these terms are not modified [182]. Meanwhile, the vector field $Z_{\mu} \sim g_{\mu 5}$ can couple in this manner to charged fermions in short multiplets. One-loop contributions of these fermions generate the first two terms of (3.60) [182].

We note that we have a well defined normalization prescription for Z and B given

in the following way. There is an unambiguous prescription for the normalization of non-abelian gauge fields on both sides; they were normalized to reproduce the charges of the coroot lattice. This implies that \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}' are indeed identical. Then we can fix the proportionality constant of the B with respect to B' by using the fact that

$$b_{\kappa} = b_{\kappa}'. \tag{3.75}$$

This in turn fixes the proportionality constant of Z with respect to Z'. Fixing the normalization of B and Z is important in determining what the abelian anomaly coefficients are.

We have verified (Claim 1) by comparing the Chern-Simons five form on the Mtheory and F-theory side. Note that if we add type B or type Z cycles to type C cycles, the intersection polynomial becomes modified. In particular, terms of form (ZBT) would appear, which do not and cannot appear on the F-theory side in the decompactification limit.

3.3.3 The Abelian Sector

In this section we find the four-cycles dual to KK-reduced abelian gauge fields and identify the abelian anomaly coefficients. We make the following

(Claim 2) The vector fields A_1, \dots, A_{V_A} dual to type S four-cycles S_i — which we shortly define — can be identified with the vector fields obtained by KK-reducing the six-dimensional abelian vector fields along S^1 in the decompactification limit.

We construct the **type S** four-cycles in the following way. For each type \hat{S} fourcycle \hat{S}_i , define the corresponding type S four-cycle S_i as

$$S_{i} = \hat{S}_{i} - (\hat{S}_{i} \cdot f)\hat{Z} - ((\hat{S}_{i} - (\hat{S}_{i} \cdot f)\hat{Z}) \cdot \hat{Z} \cdot B^{\alpha})B_{\alpha} + \sum_{I,J,\kappa} (\hat{S}_{i} \cdot \chi_{I,\kappa})(C_{\kappa}^{-1})_{IJ}T_{J,\kappa}$$
(3.76)

where κ labels the non-abelian gauge groups of the six-dimensional theory and I labels their simple roots. $(C_{\kappa}^{-1})_{IJ}$ is the (I, J) component of the inverse of the Cartan matrix C_{κ} . Recall that $\chi_{I,\kappa}$ is the type F cycle corresponding to the simple roots $\alpha_{I,\kappa}$

of \mathcal{G}_{κ} . Type S cycles are defined so that

1. $S_i \cdot f = 0$.

2.
$$S_i \cdot \hat{Z} \cdot B_{\alpha} = 0.$$

3.
$$S_i \cdot \chi_{\rho} = 0.$$

The first and second identities can be checked easily by using intersection identities given in the previous section. We note that the first condition implies that

$$S_i \cdot B_\alpha \cdot B_\beta = \Omega_{\alpha\beta} S_i \cdot f = 0.$$
(3.77)

We also note that the second condition implies that

$$S_i \cdot \hat{Z} \cdot X = (S_i|_{\mathcal{B}} \cdot X|_{\mathcal{B}})_{\mathcal{B}} = (X|_{\mathcal{B}})^{\alpha} S_i \cdot \hat{Z} \cdot B_{\alpha} = 0$$
(3.78)

for any four-cycle X.

Since all χ_{ρ} are homologically equivalent to a sum of $\chi_{I,\kappa}$, the third identity needs to be checked only for all $\chi_{I,\kappa}$. This can be done:

$$S_{i} \cdot \chi_{I,\kappa} = \hat{S}_{i} \cdot \chi_{I,\kappa} + \sum_{J,K,\lambda} (\hat{S}_{i} \cdot \chi_{J,\lambda}) (C_{\lambda}^{-1})_{JK} (T_{K,\lambda} \cdot \chi_{I,\kappa})$$

$$= \hat{S}_{i} \cdot \chi_{I,\kappa} + \sum_{J,K,\lambda} (\hat{S}_{i} \cdot \chi_{J,\lambda}) (C_{\lambda}^{-1})_{JK} (-\delta_{\lambda\kappa} C_{KI,\kappa})$$

$$= \hat{S}_{i} \cdot \chi_{I,\kappa} - \hat{S}_{i} \cdot \chi_{I,\kappa} = 0.$$
 (3.79)

Meanwhile,

$$S_i \cdot T_{I,\kappa} \cdot B_{\alpha} = b_{\alpha,\kappa} (S_i \cdot \gamma_{I,\kappa}).$$
(3.80)

Recall that $\gamma_{I,\kappa}$ is the monodromy invariant fiber of $T_{I,\kappa}$ over b_{κ} . As can be seen in appendix B.1, the $\gamma_{I,\kappa}$ are linear combinations of $\chi_{J,\kappa}$. Therefore, it follows that

$$S_i \cdot T_{I,\kappa} \cdot B_\alpha = 0 \tag{3.81}$$

for any $T_{I,\kappa}$ and B_{α} .

Equation (3.76) is the threefold analog of the map Shioda used to map rational sections of an elliptically fibered surface to points in the Néron-Severi lattice of that surface [183].⁸ Once the rational sections were mapped to a lattice, a number-valued inner-product on the sections could be defined. In our case there is an $H_2(\mathcal{B})$ vector-valued inner-product on type S cycles. It is $-\pi(S_i \cdot S_j)$. We claim that these are the anomaly coefficients of the abelian gauge groups.

Now we verify that vector fields dual to type S cycles can indeed be identified with the KK-reduced six dimensional abelian vector fields in the decompactification limit. We verify that none of the vector multiplets are charged under A_i and that the coefficients of the Chern-Simons five-forms have the proper form. The first point is easily checked since $S_i \cdot \chi_{\rho} = 0$ implies that none of the charged vector multiplets are charged under A_i . S_i , however, can intersect with curves of type I, *i.e.*, hypermultiplets can be charged under abelian gauge fields.

The triple intersection polynomial, when incorporating S_i becomes

$$\frac{1}{4}(9-T)(ZZZ) + \frac{3}{2}\delta_{\kappa\lambda}C_{IJ,\kappa}(K\cdot b)_{\mathcal{B}}(ZT_{I,\kappa}T_{J,\lambda}) - \frac{3}{2}(K\cdot\pi(S_{i}\cdot S_{j}))_{\mathcal{B}}(ZS_{i}S_{j})
+ 3\Omega_{\alpha\beta}(ZB_{\alpha}B_{\beta}) - 3\delta_{\kappa\lambda}C_{IJ,\kappa}b_{\alpha,\kappa}(B_{\alpha}T_{I,\kappa}T_{J,\lambda}) + 3\pi(S_{i}\cdot S_{j})_{\alpha}(B_{\alpha}S_{i}S_{j})
+ (triple intersections among T, S)$$
(3.82)

We have explained the absence of the terms (SBB), (SBZ), (STZ) and (STB). Coefficients of the (SSB) terms follow from the definition of the projection π .

Adding the contributions of A'—the vector fields obtained by KK-reducing the six-dimensional abelian vector fields—to equation (3.72), the tree-level intersection polynomial on the F-theory side is given by

$$\Omega_{\alpha\beta}(Z'B'_{\alpha}B'_{\beta}) - 2\delta_{\kappa\lambda}C_{IJ,\kappa}b'_{\alpha,\kappa}(B'_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}'_{I,\kappa}\mathcal{A}'_{J,\lambda}) - 2b_{\alpha,ij}(B'_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}'_{I,\kappa}\mathcal{A}'_{J,\lambda}) + (\text{triple intersections among }\mathcal{A}'\text{s and }\mathcal{A}'\text{s})$$
(3.83)

⁸The image of the rational sections of an elliptically fibered K3 manifold \mathcal{M} under the Shioda map—which are two-cycles—are also dual to the abelian vector fields of the eight-dimensional supergravity theory obtained by compacifying F-theory on \mathcal{M} [120, 179, 184, 185].

up to the same overall constant K_{int} defined below (3.72). Recall that $b_{\alpha,ij}$ are the SO(1,T) vector components of the abelian anomaly coefficients. We see that the intersection polynomial (3.82) matches with (3.83) up to terms not involving B, when we normalize Z and B with respect to Z' and B' according to the prescription given at the end of the previous section. The matching of the intersection polynomial concludes the justification of (Claim 2).

Furthermore, if we normalize the gauge fields A'_i so that the charge of the hypermultiplet coming from branes wrapping c_r is $c_r \cdot S_i$, we can equate A'_i and A_i . Then due to the normalization prescription of B_{α} we have given in the previous section, we can unambiguously equate

$$b_{ij} = -\pi (S_i \cdot S_j) \,. \tag{3.84}$$

This is the main result of this section.

3.3.4 Summary

Let us summarize our findings. F-theory compactified on $X \times S^1$ —where X is an elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau threefold with a section—is dual to M-theory compactified on X. We have identified the massless field content of the six-dimensional theory from the M-theory dual. In the process, we have proven equation (3.49).

The vector fields of the six-dimensional theory KK-reduce along S^1 to vector fields in five dimensions. In the M-theory dual, the KK-reduced vector fields have the following origins:

- 1. Abelian Vector Fields : KK-reduction of the 11D three-form on two-forms dual to four-cycles of type S.
- 2. Non-abelian Vector Fields in the Cartan of the Gauge Group: KKreduction of the 11D three-form on two-forms dual to four-cycles of type C.
- Non-abelian Vector Fields Not in the Cartan of the Gauge Group: M2 branes and anti-branes wrapping curves of type F.

The definitions of the various types of cycles are given in section 3.3.2. We note once again that we abuse the term "duality" in the following way; we say that a vector field is "dual to" a four-cycle S when it is obtained by KK-reducing the eleven-dimensional three-form on a two-form Poincaré dual to S. The abelian and non-abelian Cartan vector multiplets are dual to four-cycles that do not intersect the fiber.

Let us elaborate on the construction of cycles of type S. Type S cycles S_i are constructed from four-cycles that are the generators of the rational sections through the Shioda map (3.76). The anomaly coefficient of the abelian vector fields can be identified with the opposite vector of the projection of the the intersection of two type S four-cycles to the $H^{1,1}$ lattice of the base:

$$b_{ij} = -\pi (S_i \cdot S_j) \,. \tag{3.85}$$

All the fields charged under abelian or non-abelian Cartan vector fields come from M2 branes wrapping shrinking rational curves. Rational curves of type I—or isolated rational curves—contribute one hypermultiplet each to the massless spectrum in the decompactification limit: a brane and an anti-brane wrapping a given curve contribute a half-hypermultiplet each, which together form one hypermultiplet. Rational curves of type F—or fibered rational curves—contribute 2g hypermultiplets where g is the genus of the curve over which the rational curve is fibered. As mentioned above, a type F rational curve also contributes two vector multiplets to the massless spectrum of the six-dimensional theory, each obtained by either wrapping a brane or an anti-brane.

A charged hypermultiplet consists of two half-hypermultiplets each coming from wrapping an M2 brane or anti-brane on a curve. There is an overall sign ambiguity in defining charges of hypermultiplets. We use the convention that a hypermultiplet coming from wrapping branes and anti-branes on a rational curve C has charge $C \cdot S$ under the vector field dual to a four-cycle S. Meanwhile, each vector field coming from wrapping M2 branes(anti-branes) on the type F curve χ_{ρ} has charge $\chi_{\rho} \cdot S(-\chi_{\rho} \cdot S)$ under the vector multiplet dual to a four-cycle S, respectively.

Chapter 4

Lessons Learned

We have seen in section 2 that the anomaly constraints of six dimensional supergravity theories with minimal supersymmetry render the space of potentially consistent theories quite manageable under certain assumptions. For example, we have reviewed that the number of possible non-anomalous massless spectra is bounded when the number of tensor multiplets T is smaller than nine and there are no abelian gauge group factors [62, 65].

In particular, we have seen that when T = 0, all the anomaly equations simplify so that there is a systematic way of constructing all non-anomalous models given the gauge group. Therefore, we are now in a position to compare the non-anomalous models with all known string vacua for T = 0. Comparing the set of non-anomalous theories and the set of string vacua, we identify many theories that can readily be embedded into string theory, as well as theories that are candidates for new string vacua.

We also find many of theories that we do not know how to incorporate into any known string vacua. These are theories whose anomaly coefficients violate the Kodaira bound

$$\sum_{\kappa} \nu_{\kappa}(j \cdot b_{\kappa}) \le -12j \cdot a \tag{4.1}$$

that we have introduced in the previous chapter. In fact, as can be seen from table 4.1, these theories turn out to populate the bulk of the T = 0 landscape. If these

M	# SU(M) models	# satisfy Kodaira	
13-24	1	1	
12	2	2	
11	2	2	
10	2	2	
9	3	3	
8	15	14	
7	16	16	
6	48	47	
5	23	16	
4	207	154	
3	10100	262	
2	$\sim 5 \times 10^7$	176	
U(1)	∞	?	

Table 4.1: The table of numbers of non-anomalous T = 0 theories with gauge group SU(M) for various M. There are no non-anomalous theories when M > 24. The number of all theories that are non-anomalous are given in the second column. The number of theories that satisfy the Kodaira condition in addition are given in the third column. The number of non-anomalous theories with M = 2 are very large and have not been computed precisely. Note when the gauge group is abelian there exist an infinite number of non-anomalous theories. There is no known analogue of the Kodaira constraint for abelian theories.

theories indeed are undiscovered string vacua, there must be a large part of the string landscape that is currently undiscovered. If these are secretly inconsistent, there must be some fundamental reason that the Kodaira bound should hold for these supergravity theories. The Kodaira bound has other intriguing features that make it attractive as a candidate for a fundamental constraint of supergravity. We show in section 4.2 that in fact all the infinite families of $T \ge 9$ theories constructed in section 2.2 violate the Kodaira bound. We therefore have identified an important question regarding the consistency of quantum supergravity theories through the landscape analysis:

(Q1) Is the Kodaira constraint a fundamental constraint of quantum supergravity?

Meanwhile, we have shown in section 2.4 that the situation becomes less tractable

when the gauge group has abelian factors. For example, it has been shown that while the number of allowed gauge groups and non-abelian matter representations are bounded when T < 9, there exist infinite classes of theories generated by assigning different U(1) charges to the matter.

The immediate question that arises in this context is whether such infinite classes of theories are consistent. This is a hard question to answer. To our knowledge, there are no consistency conditions that could rule out the simple examples of infinite classes of theories given in section 2.4.3, but at the same time, there is no guarantee that these examples are consistent. We may be less ambitious and ask whether there is an obstruction to embedding all of these theories in string theory. This question is still a difficult one to answer, as there is no known abelian generalization of the Kodaira constraint that would restrict the charge structure of U(1) theories. By examining the table 4.1, however, it is easy to observe that the U(1) theories fit the general trend of anomaly equations being less restrictive for groups with less structure. This table strongly suggests that a generalized version of the Kodaira constraint might be attainable in string theory. Hence, another important question arising from our landscape analysis is:

(Q2) Is there a generalized version of the Kodaira constraint for theories with abelian gauge symmetry (in string theory) ?

A practical strategy to pursue in this direction is to ask whether there is an obstruction in incorporating the infinite class of theories to known string vacua, and hope to gain insight from it. In section 3.3 we have made some progress in this direction by identifying a geometrical object that corresponds to the abelian anomaly coefficients for F-theory vacua. Although we have not been able to go further to identify a generalized version of the Kodaira constraint, some interesting results follow from carrying the analysis further. The dictionary of section 3.3 enables us to translate the anomaly equations that hold for six-dimensional (1,0) theories to intersection theory equalities of Calabi-Yau threefolds — we present these equations in section

4.3.

The structure of this chapter is as the following. We present the results from the analysis of T = 0 theories in section 4.1. Then we discuss the status of the landscape of theories with abelian gauge symmetry in 4.2. In particular, we review the infinite classes of theories that could be generated for these theories and pose the question of how to think about them. Finally, in section 4.3 we decribe the intersection theory equalities that could be obtained by translating the anomaly equations to geometric terms.

4.1 Non-abelian T = 0 Theories

In this section, we compare the space of apparently consistent T = 0 theories with gauge group

$$\mathcal{G} = SU(M_1) \times \dots \times SU(M_k) \tag{4.2}$$

with the space of string vacua, in particular, F-theory vacua. According to the dictionary reviewed in section 3.1, F-theory models with T = 0 are obtained by compactifying on an elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau threefold with base \mathbb{P}^2 [118, 119]. The set of toric Calabi-Yau threefolds with base \mathbb{P}^2 have recently been systematically studied in [186]. Also, a detailed study of the matter sector of T = 0 F-theory compactifications is given in [112].

We can classify the set of apparently consistent T = 0 theories constructed by the strategy sketched in section 2.3 into three groups:

- 1. Theories readily embeddable in F-theory
- 2. Candidate theories for new string vacua
- 3. Theories we do not know how to embed in string theory

As reviewed in section 3.1.1, there is no clear obstruction to embedding any apparently consistent theory that satisfies the Kodaira bound (3.3) into F-theory. In other words, any theory that satisfies the Kodaira constraint has a chance of being an F-theory

vacuum. As reviewed in section 2.3, the anomaly coefficients of T = 0 vacua are integers b_{κ} , and the gravitational anomaly coefficient is given by a = -3. Using the group theory coefficients given in section 3.1.1, we find that the Kodaira bound (3.3) for theories with gauge group $SU(M_1) \times \cdots \times SU(M_k)$ is given by

$$M_1b_1 + M_2b_2 + \dots + M_kb_k \le 36.$$
(4.3)

If a theory satisfies the Kodaira constraint and only has conventional, or simple, matter — matter that is known to be generated in F-theory vacua — it is expected to be obtainable from F-theory by tuning the complex structure in a generic way. We classify these theories to be readily embeddable.

Meanwhile, we find theories that satisfy the Kodaira bound but that have exotic matter structure that has not been constructed in F-theory previously. Although there is exotic matter, there is no clear reason why these theories cannot be F-theory vacua with complicated singularities unstudied before. We therefore expect these theories to be embeddable into F-theory, with non-trivial tuning of the complex structure. These theories are candidate theories for new string vacua. A systematic study of such exotic vacua was initiated in the recent work [112].

Finally there are — in fact, quite many — theories that violate the Kodaira bound. As discussed in the introduction of this chapter, we do not have a framework in which to understand these theories. These theories might be exotic string vacua that have not been constructed yet, or inconsistent theories violating an undiscovered consistency condition.

In this section, we systematically scan the space of apparently consistent T = 0 theories and see how these theories fall into each category described above. As explained in section 2.3, we construct theories by putting together blocks of single gauge group factors. Therefore, it is convenient to classify theories in the landscape by the number of blocks it is made of. We examine the structure of the single building "blocks" as well as single block models in section 4.1.1. We then proceed to examine the structure of two-block and multi-block models in sections 4.1.2 and 4.1.3. We

summarize our findings in section 4.1.4.

4.1.1 Singe Blocks in T = 0 Theories

In this section, we examine the single SU(M) blocks that satisfy the gauge anomaly equations (2.52), (2.53) and (2.54):

$$3b_{\kappa} = \frac{1}{6} \left[\sum_{R} x_{R} A_{R} - A_{\text{adj}} \right]$$
(4.4)

$$0 = \sum_{R} x_R B_R - B_{\text{adj}} \tag{4.5}$$

$$b_{\kappa}^{2} = \frac{1}{3} \left[\sum_{R} x_{R} C_{R} - C_{adj} \right]$$
 (4.6)

and also the single block models that consist of one of these blocks. Recall from section 2.3 that $M \leq 24$ for all blocks that satisfy these equations.

Let review facts about blocks with b = 1 or 2 shown in section 2.3. For M > 7, the only possible blocks with M > 7 are SU(M) factors with matter content

$$(24 - M) \times \Box + 3 \times \Box$$
, $(b = 1, M \le 24, H - V = (2 + 45M - M^2)/2 \le 273)$. (4.7)

(In this section, we use H to denote the number of charged hypermultiplets of a given block.)

For $M \leq 7$, other b = 1 blocks are possible. For SU(7) there exists the block

$$SU(7):$$
 $22 \times \Box + 1 \times \Box$, $(b = 1, H - V = 141).$ (4.8)

A similar block can be constructed for SU(6) with 20 fundamental, one A2, and one A3 representation. For SU(5) the A3 and A2 representations are conjugate (and therefore treated as equivalent in this analysis), this exhausts the range of possibilities for b = 1. All these blocks automatically satisfy the gravitational anomaly bound $H - V \leq 273$, and hence can give single block models.

For b = 2 there are again only single-column representations. Now $M \leq 12$. The

generic blocks have the form

$$(48 - 4M) \times \Box + 6 \times \Box$$
, $(b = 2, M \le 12, H - V = 1 + 45M - 2M^2 \le 273)$ (4.9)

for all $M \leq 12$. There are other b = 2 blocks when $6 \leq M \leq 10$. Blocks with single 3-antisymmetric (A3) representations are possible for M = 10, 9 with H - V > 273 and at M = 8, 7, 6 with $H - V \leq 273$. For SU(6) there are also blocks with two and three A3 representations, and for SU(7) there is a block with two A3 representations; all these blocks satisfy the gravitational anomaly bound $H - V \leq 273$. There is also a single b = 2 block with gauge group SU(8) and a 4-antisymmetric (A4) representation

$$SU(8):$$
 $32 \times \Box + 1 \times \Box$, $(b = 2, H - V = 263).$ (4.10)

This completes the list of all possible b = 2 blocks.

Continuing to b = 3, there is now a nonzero contribution to the genus,¹

$$b = 3:$$
 $2\sum_{R} x_{R} g_{R} = (b-1)(b-2) = 2.$ (4.13)

There is, therefore, necessarily a matter representation with more than one column, which has $g_R = 1$. The only possibilities are the adjoint and two-index symmetric representations for general N (note that the representation \square in Table 2.3 for SU(3)

$$g_R = \frac{1}{12} \left(2C_R + B_R - A_R \right) \,. \tag{4.11}$$

For models with an F-theory construction, the anomaly integer b is the degree of the curve realizing the corresponding gauge group. The quantity $g := \sum_R x_R g_R = (b-1)(b-2)/2$ is then the (arithmetic) genus of this curve. In F-theory, the number of adjoint hypermultiplets in the low-energy theory is given by the geometric genus g_g of the curve. The genus-degree formula for a general, possibly singular, curve relates the arithmetic and geometric genera

$$g = (b-1)(b-2)/2 = g_g + \sum_P \frac{m_P(m_P-1)}{2},$$
(4.12)

where the sum is over all singular points P of the curve, and m_P is the multiplicity at point P [187]. This relationship provides a clue towards realizing general matter representations in F-theory through codimension-2 singularities. This point has been explored further in [112].

¹Some comments are due on the genus g of a block given by (b-1)(b-2)/2 and the genus g_R of each matter representation defined by

has $g_R = 1$, but is also the adjoint of SU(3)). For each choice of representation saturating the genus g = 1, there are various possible combinations of *n*-antisymmetric single-column representations which can solve the partition problem for the C's. The largest N for which a one-block model appears with b = 3 which satisfies the gravitational anomaly bound on the number of hypermultiplets is N = 9; the matter content of this model is

$$SU(9): \qquad 5 \times \Box + 4 \times \Box + 1 \times \Box + 1 \times \operatorname{Adj}, \quad (b = 3, H - V = 273). \quad (4.14)$$

Note that the blocks listed explicitly above (4.7, 4.8, 4.9, 4.10, 4.14) have $H-V \leq$ 273, and therefore, by adding neutral hypermultiplets, can be completed to anomalyfree low-energy supergravity theories with single factor gauge groups G = SU(M). The model in (4.14) precisely saturates the gravitational anomaly bound with H-V = 273. This model therefore has no neutral hypermultiplets and is "rigid" in the sense that deformation along any scalar modulus will break the symmetry of the model. As we will see, many of the most exotic matter representations arise in such rigid models.

All the models described above furthermore satisfy the Kodaira bound from Ftheory $\sum_{\kappa} b_{\kappa} M_{\kappa} = bM \leq 36$. We might therefore expect that these models have F-theory realizations. While the fundamental and antisymmetric matter representations have standard F-theory realizations, however, the 3-index and 4-index representations are more exotic. These representations were also encountered in T = 1models in [65]. In the case of the 3-index representations, a codimension two singularity structure has been identified in F-theory which realizes this matter representation for N = 6, 7, 8 [134] through local enhancement of the singularity type to E_6, E_7 and E_8 respectively. We are not aware, however, of any known F-theory realization of the 4-index antisymmetric representation, or of the 3-index antisymmetric representation for M = 9. Progress in this direction has recently been made by [112].

We have systematically analyzed the set of all possible SU(M) blocks with arbitrary matter representations for T = 0 and any M. A summary of the results of

M	$\max b$	(total blocks)	SU(M) models	Kodaira models
13-24	1 (1)	(1)	1	1
12	2(2)	(2)	2	2
11	2(3)	(4)	2	2
10	2(4)	(6)	2	2
9	3 (4)	(8)	3	3
8	8 (8)	(22)	15	14
7	4 (7)	(28)	16	16
6	6 (8)	(147)	48	47
5	8 (14)	(186)	23	16
4	16 (34)	(3893)	207	154
3	597 (597)		10100	262
2	$24297 \le b_{\max} < 36647$		$\sim 5 imes 10^7$	176

Table 4.2: A summary of possible distinct SU(M) blocks. The numbers in parentheses refer to possible blocks without the gravitational anomaly constraint imposed, while the numbers without parentheses refer to possible single block SU(M) models. The last column gives the number of single factor models which satisfy the Kodaira constraint $bM \leq 36$ needed for an F-theory realization. The number of blocks not individually satisfying the gravitational anomaly bound becomes very large at M = 3, as does number of blocks for M = 2 even with the gravitational anomaly constraint. We have not precisely computed the number of blocks in these categories.

this analysis — part of which was already shown in table 2.4 — appears in table 4.2. We carried out this analysis by finding all of the finite number of solutions for the partition problem for each combination of M and b, within the bounded range of b's for which a solution can be found for each M. As noted before, we have explicitly computed all blocks for $M \ge 4$, dividing the set into those which do or do not individually satisfy the gravitational anomaly bound $H - V \le 273$. For SU(2) and SU(3), the total number of blocks becomes quite large. For SU(3) we have only explicitly computed the number of blocks which individually satisfy the gravitational anomaly bound, and for SU(2) we have only estimated the number of blocks and their range and computed some specific examples, as described below. The detailed analysis of upper bounds on b for each fixed M is given in appendix A.3.

We now describe briefly a few interesting aspects of the results summarized in Table 4.2 and highlight a few specific blocks of interest.

M > 8:

For M > 9, there are known F-theory realizations of all matter representations appearing in all single-block models. Furthermore, the Kodaira constraint is satisfied for all single blocks with $M \ge 8$. Thus, it seems likely that all the single-block SU(M) models with M > 9 which are anomaly-free can be realized in F-theory. The only unusual representation which arises at M = 9 is the 3-index antisymmetric representation mentioned above in the model (4.14).

M = 8:

At M = 8 we find several novel features. As mentioned above, there is an SU(8) model with a 4-index antisymmetric representation. There is also a somewhat exotic model with

$$SU(8):$$
 1 × \square (b = 8, H - V = 273). (4.15)

This is the only SU(8) model containing a block with b > 4 and is another example of a model with rigid symmetry. There is no known F-theory realization of the "box" matter representation appearing in this model, although a singularity structure that could possibly give this representation for a low-rank gauge group was studied in [112]. Furthermore, this model violates the Kodaira condition (bM = 64 > 32). Nonetheless, the numerology seems to work out rather nicely for this model, suggesting that there may possibly be some new class of string compactification which could realize this model.

$$M \leq 6$$

At M = 6 and below, the range of possible representations expands significantly, and models which violate the Kodaira condition begin to proliferate. There is one model at M = 6 which has another exotic representation

$$SU(6):$$
 $2 \times \square + 2 \times \square + 2 \times \square + 2 \times \operatorname{Adj}, \quad (b = 6, H - V = 273).$ (4.16)

This is another example of a model with rigid symmetry, although this model is (just barely) within the Kodaira bound.

At M = 5 and below an increasing range of exotic representations becomes pos-

sible. At the end of this section we summarize the set of representations which can be realized in models satisfying the Kodaira condition for any M. One particularly simple and interesting block with M = 4 is

$$SU(4):$$
 1 × \square + 64 × \square , (b = 4, H - V = 261). (4.17)

For models not satisfying the Kodaira bound, an even wider range of representations can be realized; for example, for N = 4 there are single block models violating the Kodaira bound which have the representations $\square \square$ and $\square \square$. Most of these exotic representations appear in models which precisely saturate or almost saturate the gravitational anomaly bound. For example, one SU(4) model at b = 16 has

$$SU(4):$$
 $3 \times \square + 3 \times \square + 1 \times \square ,$ $(b = 16, H - V = 272).$ (4.18)

At M = 3 the range of possibilities increases still further. The distribution of blocks across values of b is rather non-uniform. There are an enormous range of blocks not satisfying the gravitational anomaly bound and having b < 500 which we have not attempted to completely enumerate. Among those blocks individually satisfying the gravitational anomaly bound, most are distributed across values of b < 70, with more blocks at values of b divisible by 3. The most blocks satisfying the gravitational anomaly bound occur at b = 24 (910 blocks). There are only a few values of b > 70 with allowed such blocks, including 44 blocks at b = 93, followed by 3 blocks at b = 105 and single blocks each at b = 153, 168, 408 and 597. The matter content for b = 597 is given by

$$SU(3):$$
 1 × \square (S6) + 1 × (S21) (b = 597, H - V = 273). (4.19)

Even without imposing the gravitational anomaly bound, there are only blocks possible for three distinct values of b > 500. At b = 521 there are 79,151 different blocks possible with $H - V \le 1000$; at b = 522 there are 40 such blocks. The only block possible with b > 522 is (4.19). It is striking that the largest possible SU(3) block precisely saturates the gravitational anomaly bound.

For SU(2) we have not computed all blocks explicitly, even restricting to blocks satisfying the gravitational anomaly bound, as the number of possibilities is very large. The best upper bound we have found for b for SU(2) is 36,647 (see Appendix B). We have sampled the distribution by computing the number of blocks satisfying the gravitational anomaly bound for multiples of 20, b = 20k, up to b = 1000, and for multiples of 250 up to b = 20,000. The number of blocks at fixed b seems to peak around b = 420, where there are 65,459 distinct SU(2) blocks. The number of blocks starts to drop significantly after b = 1000, with for example 11,121 blocks at b = 1000, 835 blocks at b = 2000, and 12 blocks at b = 4000. As for N = 3, however, there are individual blocks out to much larger values of b. We have found blocks satisfying $H-V \leq 273$ for b up to 24,297, though there are probably sporadic blocks appearing for larger b up to close to the bound of 36,647 (though these must be rare; for example 24,297 is the only value of b between 24,000 and 25,500 which admits a block). Based on the partial data we have computed, we estimate the number of blocks satisfying the gravitational anomaly bound to be on the order of 5×10^7 . The total number of blocks without imposing the gravitational anomaly constraint is much larger, but still finite. An example of an SU(2) block with a very large value of b satisfying the gravitational anomaly bound is the following block with b = 10,750

$$SU(2): \qquad 1 \times \square(S2) + 1 \times (S3) + 1 \times (S4) + 1 \times (S5) + 1 \times (S6)(4.20)$$
$$+ 1 \times (S17) + 1 \times (S55) + 1 \times (S69) + 1 \times (S85),$$
$$(b = 10750, H - V = 252).$$

An example of a block with larger b which violates the gravitational anomaly bound is

$$SU(2): \qquad 24530 \times \Box + 8380 \times \Box + 1 \times (S12) + 1 \times (S29) + 1 \times (S4(3).21) \\ + 1 \times (S113), \qquad (b = 18000, H - V = 74398).$$

This block, in fact, wildly violates the gravitational anomaly bound, and it can be shown fairly easily that no model satisfying the gravitational anomaly bound can contain this block. For SU(2) there are many such single blocks at large b that satisfy the single block anomaly equations but violate the gravitational anomaly bound. Thus, as the rank decreases the gravitational anomaly bound becomes a more important constraint in restraining the class of allowed models, even though the gravitational anomaly bound alone is sufficient to prove that the number of blocks is finite.

We conclude this description of single SU(M) factor matter blocks in T = 0models with a brief summary of all novel representations which can appear in single block models satisfying the F-theory Kodaira constraint, but for which no F-theory realization is known. There is no argument we are aware of which rules out these representations in F-theory; indeed it seems likely that some of these representations can be realized by new codimension-two singular structures, some which are suggested in [112]. Note that further representations can appear when multiple blocks are considered, so this list is not a complete list of all possible matter types for T = 0models.

As review in section 3.1.1, matter representations with standard F-theory constructions are the fundamental (\Box), 2-antisymmetric (A2 = \square), and adjoint representations [119]. The 2-symmetric (S2 = \square) was identified in terms of a double point singularity in F-theory in [97] and the local singularity structure associated with 3antisymmetric representations (\square) have also been identified in F-theory for SU(6)[135, 136, 134], SU(7) [136, 134], and SU(8) [134].

The novel matter representations which can appear in a model satisfying the Kodaira constraint, where the gauge group has a single nonabelian factor SU(M) are

as follows

 \Box : Appears for SU(M), M = 9, 8, 7, 6. \Box : Appears for SU(8) as in the single block model (4.10) \Box : Appears for SU(M), M = 5, 4 (Adjoint for SU(3)). \Box : Appears for SU(5) (Adjoint for SU(4)). \Box : Appears for SU(5) (Adjoint for SU(4)). \Box : Appears for SU(4). \Box : Appears for SU(M), M = 4, 3, 2. \Box : Appears for SU(4). \Box : Appears for SU(4). \Box : Appears for SU(2). \Box : Appears for SU(2).

4.1.2 **Two-factor combinations**

In principle, given the complete list of all possible single blocks one can construct all multi-block models satisfying the gravitational anomaly bound by simply considering all possible ways in which matter can be multiply charged between blocks in a fashion compatible with equation (2.55):

$$b_{\kappa}b_{\lambda} = \sum_{R,S} x_{RS}A_RA_S \,. \tag{4.22}$$

Since the number of jointly charged hypermultiplets grows quickly as the number of blocks increases, the ways of combining multiple blocks are actually quite constrained. We have used the complete analysis of single blocks to construct in this fashion all possible two-block models with gauge group $SU(M) \times SU(P)$ for $4 \leq M \leq P$. We present here some examples of the features which can appear in such two-block models.

From the cross-term anomaly constraint (2.55), it follows that any pair of blocks must share matter which transforms under each gauge group factor, satisfying the
summation relation

$$b_{\kappa}b_{\lambda} = \sum_{RS} x_{RS}A_R A_S \,, \tag{4.23}$$

where R and S are representations in $SU(M_{\kappa})$ and $SU(M_{\lambda})$ respectively. The simplest type of matter charged under two gauge group factors is bifundamental matter, familiar from various string constructions. In this case $A_R = A_S = 1$. There is a simple family of two-block models with matter content of the form

$$G = SU(M) \times SU(24 - M)$$

$$b_1 = b_2 = 1$$

$$matter = 3(\square \times \cdot) + 3(\cdot \times \square) + 1(\square \times \square).$$

$$(4.24)$$

Another family of models takes the form

$$G = SU(M) \times SU(12 - M)$$

$$b_1 = b_2 = 2$$

$$matter = 6(\square \times \cdot) + 6(\cdot \times \square) + 4(\square \times \square)$$

$$(4.25)$$

for $N \leq 12$. The family of models (4.25), including the single block model with b = 2, M = 12 were previously constructed by Schellekens using Gepner models [188].

There are a variety of other two-block combinations possible with bifundamental matter and higher values of b's. When we consider larger values of b_{κ}, b_{λ} , more interesting combinations can also arise. There are some models which contain representations of the form $\Box \times \Box$. For example, the two-block model with largest $M \leq P$ with such a representation has gauge group and matter content

$$G = SU(5) \times SU(7)$$

$$(4.26)$$

$$(b_1, b_2) = (4, 2)$$

$$matter = 2(\Box \times \cdot) + 1(\Box \times \cdot) + 3(\Box \times \cdot) + 2(\cdot \times \Box) + 2(\Box \times \Box) + 2(\Box \times \Box)$$

$$H - V = 273.$$

There is a similar model with gauge group $SU(5) \times SU(6)$, but with SU(5) adjoints instead of symmetric representations.

$$G = SU(5) \times SU(6)$$

$$(4.27)$$

$$(b_1, b_2) = (4, 2)$$

$$matter = 4(\Box \times \cdot) + 3(\operatorname{Adj} \times \cdot) + 3(\cdot \times \Box) + 2(\Box \times \Box) + 2(\Box \times \Box)$$

$$H - V = 273.$$

These models both saturate the gravitational anomaly, have similar representation content, and satisfy the Kodaira constraint.

As the rank of the gauge group factors drops, more exotic matter multiplets charged under two factors appear. For example, for $SU(4) \times SU(4)$ there are models containing matter which transforms in a non-trivial non-fundamental representation of two gauge groups. One example is given by the model

$$G = SU(4) \times SU(4)$$
(4.28)
(b₁, b₂) = (2, 2)
matter = $32(\Box \times \cdot) + 32(\cdot \times \Box) + 1(\Box \times \Box)$
 $H - V = 262$.

Another interesting class of models are those which contain two blocks $SU(M) \times SU(P)$ for large P and small M. For example we find the following three models

$$G = SU(2) \times SU(24)$$
(4.29)
(b₁, b₂) = (88, 1)
matter = 1($\Box = 1 \times \cdot$) + 1($\Box = 1 \times \cdot$) + 1($\Box = 1 \times \cdot$) + 1($\Box = 1 \times \cdot$)

$$G = SU(3) \times SU(24)$$

$$(b_1, b_2) = (22, 1)$$

$$matter = 1(\square \square \square \land \land) + 1(\square \land \square)$$

$$H - V = 273.$$

$$(4.30)$$

$$G = SU(2) \times SU(19)$$

$$(b_1, b_2) = (27, 1)$$
matter = $1(\Box \times \cdot) + 2(\Box \times \cdot) + 1(\Box \to \Box) + 1(\Box \to \Box)$

$$H - V = 273.$$

$$(4.31)$$

These are the only multiblock models with a gauge group larger than SU(18) that has non-bifundamental jointly charged matter. These models all severely violate the Kodaira bound. It is perhaps interesting to note that models containing SU(M) factors with M = 20, 21, 22, 23 cannot have jointly charged matter other than bifundamental matter as in the family of models (4.24)

4.1.3 Matter transforming under more than two factors

We have also considered models containing more than two blocks which when taken together satisfy the gravitational anomaly bound, and which contain matter charged under more than two gauge group factors. A limited class of such multiply-charged matter representations are known to appear in F-theory constructions. In particular tri-fundamental representations of $SU(2) \times SU(2) \times SU(M)$ can arise at a point where the singularity structure is enhanced to D_{M+2} [136], and tri-fundamentals of $SU(2) \times SU(3) \times SU(M)$ can be realized from E_{M+3} singularities for $M \leq 5$. In [65] apparently consistent low-energy models with T = 1 containing tri-fundamental matter charged under the three gauge group factors $SU(2) \times SU(3) \times SU(6)$ were identified. While we have not done a completely systematic search, we have identified a number of the interesting matter structures of this type which can arise in T = 0models. We list here some of the possibilities. While this list is not necessarily comprehensive, it should serve to demonstrate the kinds of multiply-charged matter representations which may be possible.

3-charged matter

As for T = 1, at T = 0 we find tri-fundamental matter charged under $SU(2) \times SU(3) \times SU(6)$. Such matter appears in the following 3-block model

$$G = SU(2) \times SU(3) \times SU(6)$$

$$(4.32)$$

$$(b_1, b_2, b_3) = (3, 2, 1)$$

$$matter = 1(\Box \times \Box \times \Box) + 36(\Box \times \cdot \times \cdot) + 30(\cdot \times \Box \times \cdot) + 12(\cdot \times \cdot \times \Box)$$

$$+1(\Box \times \cdot \times \cdot) + 3(\cdot \times \cdot \times \Box)$$

$$H - V = 272.$$

Matter charged under $SU(2) \times SU(4) \times SU(4)$ appears in the model

$$G = SU(2) \times SU(4) \times SU(4)$$

$$(4.33)$$

$$(b_1, b_2, b_3) = (2, 4, 4)$$

$$matter = 2(\Box \times \Box \times \Box) + 4(\cdot \times \Box \times \Box) + 2(\cdot \times \Box \times \Box)$$

$$+8(\Box \times \cdot \times \cdot) + 3(\cdot \times \operatorname{Adj} \times \cdot) + 3(\cdot \times \cdot \times \operatorname{Adj})$$

$$H - V = 273.$$

There is also matter charged under $SU(3) \times SU(3) \times SU(3)$, appearing in the

model

$$G = SU(3) \times SU(3) \times SU(3)$$

$$(b_1, b_2, b_3) = (2, 2, 2)$$

$$matter = 1(\Box \times \Box \times \Box) + 1[(\Box \times \Box \times \cdot) + cyclic] + 27[(\Box \times \cdot \times \cdot) + cyclic]$$

$$H - V = 273.$$

$$(4.34)$$

Both these models containing tri-fundamental matter satisfy the Kodaira constraint. There is also an interesting combination of 3 blocks of the form (4.17) which contains matter charged under $SU(4) \times SU(4) \times SU(4)$.

$$G = SU(4) \times SU(4) \times SU(4)$$

$$(4.35)$$

$$(b_1, b_2, b_3) = (4, 4, 4)$$

$$matter = 4(\Box \times \Box \times \Box) + 1 [(\Box \times \cdot \times \cdot) + cyclic]$$

$$H - V = 271.$$

It is possible to combine four SU(3) blocks to have multiple tri-fundamentals between groups of 3 of the SU(3)'s

$$G = SU(3) \times SU(3) \times SU(3) \times SU(3)$$

$$(4.36)$$

$$(b_1, b_2, b_3, b_4) = (3, 3, 3, 3)$$

$$matter = 1 [(\Box \times \Box \times \Box \times \cdot) + cyclic] + 3 [(\Box \times \Box \times \cdot \times \cdot) + 5 \text{ permutations}]$$

$$+1 [(\Box \times \cdot \times \cdot \times \cdot) + cyclic]$$

$$H - V = 270.$$

Matter charged under more than three factors

We have found a few exotic models in which matter can be charged under more than 3 gauge group factors.

There is a combination of 4 SU(2) factors carrying a 4-fundamental in a model which satisfies the Kodaira constraint

$$G = SU(2)^{4}$$

$$b_{i} = 4$$
matter = $2(\square \times \square \times \square \times \square) + 8[(\square \times \square \times \cdot \times \cdot) + 5 \text{ permutations}]$

$$+3[(\square \times \cdot \times \cdot \times \cdot) + \text{cyclic}]$$

$$H - V = 248.$$
(4.37)

And there is a more exotic combination of 8 SU(2) factors at b = 8 where each block has 128 fundamental representations and one S4 (5-dimensional) representation

$$G = SU(2)^{8}$$

$$b_{i} = 8$$
matter = 1(\[\low \box \cdot \times \box \times \box \times \times \box \times \box

4.1.4 Summary

Let us summarize the results from the landscape analysis on the space of T = 0 theories:

Candidates for new string vacua:

We have identified a number of SU(M) matter representations which are not ruled

out by low-energy consistency conditions, but whose realization in string theory is not yet known. Some of the novel matter representations we have found are compatible with the Kodaira constraint, and may be realized by new codimension-two singularities in F-theory.

Theories Violating the Kodaira bound:

All F-theory — and to our knowledge, string theory — realizations of T = 06D theories satisfy the Kodaira constraint, as elaborated in section 3.1. There are many — but a finite number of — models which satisfy the anomaly cancellation condition on the low-energy theory but which violate the Kodaira constraint. We do not have a framework to think about these theories at the present. Whether the Kodaira constraint can be derived from a yet unknown fundamental principle of quantum gravity, or whether it is an artifact of the constraints on the landscape of known string models is an important question that this investigation presents. We investigate this question further for the rest of the thesis.

Models with rigid symmetry:

Many of the most unusual matter representations we have found live in models which either completely or almost completely saturate the gravitational anomaly bound $H - V \leq 273$. When this bound is saturated, there are no uncharged hypermultiplets, and any deformation of the model will break the symmetry and reduce the matter content. Thus, these models are delicately balanced configurations which exist only at specific points in the moduli space of 6D supergravity theories. Many of the explicit models we have found which go outside the domain of established Ftheory constructions turn out to precisely saturate the gravitational anomaly bound and exhibit remarkable numerological/group theory structure, suggesting that perhaps some novel stringy mechanism may enable the existence of these theories as quantum-complete theories of supergravity.

Diversity at low rank:

When the rank of a gauge group factor is large, in general we find that the associated models contain matter associated with well-known F-theory singularity types and clearly satisfy the Kodaira constraint. As the rank of the factors decreases, however, more exotic types of matter appear and more models arise which violate the Kodaira constraint. Models containing only SU(2) factors become difficult to classify, and admit a wide range of representations. This observation matches with the results of section 2.4, where it is shown that an infinite number of charge solutions exist for U(1) models.

4.2 Theories with Abelian Gauge Symmetry

As we have seen in sections 2.4, 3.2 and pointed out in numerous places in the thesis, the space of six-dimensional theories with abelian gauge symmetry is not as well controlled as the space of non-abelian theories, to say the least. There are infinite classes of apparently consistent theories for any T, and the abelian sector of the string landscape is not well understood. For example, how many different "kinds" of Mordell-Weil sections — which would lead to different U(1) theories — an elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau manifold could have is not well known.

The tables 4.1 and 4.2, however, gives us reason to hope that there may be, at least on the string side, a generalized version of the Kodaira constraint that truncates the infinite families of theories that exist in abelian theories. These tables indicate that there being an infinite number of apparently consistent charge assignments to an abelian theory fits the general trend of theories with less structure having a wider variety of allowed matter. If there indeed exists a generalized version of the Kodaira constraint, it would truncate the infinite classes of theories along with the charge integrality, minimality and unimodularity constraints [124, 128, 129, 130]. For example, let us consider the first infinite class of theories considered in section 2.4.3. In these T = 1 theories with gauge group U(1), there are 48 hypermultiplets with charge r, 48 hypermultiplets with charge s, 48 hypermultiplets with charge (r + s), and 102 neutral hypermultiplets. The anomaly coefficient is given by

$$(\alpha, \tilde{\alpha}) = (8r^2 + 8rs + 8s^2, 8r^2 + 8rs + 8s^2), \qquad (4.39)$$

while the gravitational anomaly coefficient is given by

$$a = (-2, -2). \tag{4.40}$$

It is clear that if the charge is quantized so that r and s are integral and mutually prime, then α and $\tilde{\alpha}$ would be unbounded in magnitude. If there exists some condition that imposes a bound on α and $\tilde{\alpha}$, it would truncate this infinite family.

A bound on the magnitude of abelian anomaly coefficients have strong implications for T < 9, since for such values of T, the infiniteness of the space of apparently consistent abelian theories lie entirely in the infinite choice charge assignments. Any infinite choice of charge assignments for a given gauge/matter representation structure would lead to one of the abelian anomaly coefficients to diverge, given that charges and anomaly coefficients are quantized. Therefore if a generalized version of the Kodaira constraint — which bounds the magnitude of abelian anomaly coefficients — exists for string vacua, it will pick out a finite subset of the infinite set of apparently consistent abelian models with T < 9.

A generalized version of the Kodaira constraint is expected to truncate the infinite classes of $T \ge 9$ theories also. In the case of non-abelian theories, the Kodaira constraint actually truncates all the infinite classes of $T \ge 9$ theories constructed in section 2.2. For example, let us consider the first family with arbitrary gauge group $\mathcal{G} = \prod_{\kappa} \mathcal{G}_{\kappa}$ with anomaly coefficients

$$a = (-3, 1 \times T)$$

$$b_{\kappa} = (3, (-1) \times 9, 0 \times (T - 9))$$
(4.41)

for all κ and modulus

$$j = (1, 0 \times T)$$
. (4.42)

As before, we use the notation $x \times n$ to mean that n consecutive entries are equal to

x. Then the Kodaira constraint becomes

$$\sum c_{\kappa}(b_{\kappa} \cdot j) = \sum 3c_{\kappa} \le 36 \tag{4.43}$$

which imposes that

$$\sum c_{\kappa} \le 12. \tag{4.44}$$

This constrains the gauge group and truncates the infinite family to a finite subset. It can be checked that the Kodaira constraint truncates the other two infinite families constructed in section 2.2.

These observations suggest that a generalized version of the Kodaira constraint should exist at least for F-theory vacua, since F-theory can only allow a finite number of possible U(1) charges for any class of theories. The result of section 3.3, in which the geometric counterpart of abelian anomaly coefficients are identified for F-theory vacua, is a first step in the direction of identifying such a generalized constraint for the abelian sector. We have so far not been able to go further towards achieving this goal. We, however, can use the geometric characterization of the abelian sector given in section 3.3 to translate the gauge/graviational and mixed anomaly equations into non-trivial geometric identities. We present the results in the following section.

Let us end this section by examining an interesting class of abelian F-theory backgrounds that might give us further insight into charge constraints of F-theory vacua upon further investigation. These are the pure abelian T = 0 theories we have introduced in section 2.4. Recall that a family of T = 0 theories with gauge group $U(1)^k, k \leq 7$ can be obtained by Higgsing an SU(8) theory with one adjoint and nine antisymmetric matter. The number of charged hypermultiplets X for the various pure abelian theories one obtains by Higgsing the adjoint of this theory in different ways is summarized in table 4.3. There exists an F-theory construction of this SU(8)model, which has b = 3, through an explicit Weierstrass model in [112], and hence all the seven theories of this family should be embeddable in F-theory, although we have not worked out the details of this Higgsing.

Explicit F-theory compactifications are known for the first four theories on table

Gauge Group	•	U(1)	$U(1)^2$	$U(1)^{3}$	$U(1)^4$	$U(1)^5$	$U(1)^{6}$	$U(1)^{7}$
X	0	108	162	198	225	243	252	252
$324 V_A / (V_A + 2)$	0	108	162	194.4	216	231.4	243	252
X'	273	166	113	78	52	35	27	28

Table 4.3: The number of charged hypermultiplets X for pure abelian theories obtained by Higgsing the adjoint of the SU(8) theory with one adjoint and nine antisymmetrics. We have also tabulated the number of uncharged hypermultiplets in the theory, $X' = (273 + V_A - X)$.

4.3. Since these theories have T = 0, they can be obtained by F-theory compactifications on Calabi-Yau threefolds that are elliptic fibrations of \mathbb{P}^2 [118, 119]. Such a Calabi-Yau threefold that is non-singular can be expressed as a degree 18 hypersurface in the projective space $\mathbb{P}[1, 1, 1, 6, 9]$ [189], which is denoted by

$$X_{18}[1,1,1,6,9]^{2,272}. (4.45)$$

The subscript denotes the degree of the hypersurface, the number in the brackets parametrize the projective space, and the two superscripts denote the $h_{1,1}$ and $h_{2,1}$ values of the manifold. Using M-theory/F-theory duality explained in detail in section 3.3, one can see that when T = 0 the total rank of the gauge group is given by $(h_{1,1}-2)$ and the number of uncharged hypermultiplet is given by $(h_{2,1}+1)$. It is easy to check that the data of this manifold reproduces the first theory in table 4.3.

There is a general process by which one can replace the fiber-type of an elliptically fibered manifold to generate a different manifold [189]. From the point of view of stringy geometry, one can understand this as a conifold transition between topologically distinct manifolds [190]. Three manifolds can be generated from $X_{18}[1, 1, 1, 6, 9]^{2,272}$ by successive conifold transitions. They are given by

$$X_{12}[1,1,1,3,6]^{3,165}, \qquad X_{9}[1,1,1,3,3]^{4,112}, \qquad X_{6,6}[1,1,1,3,3,3]^{5,77}.$$
(4.46)

At a generic point in the complex moduli space, theories obtained by compactifying on these manifolds do not have nonabelian gauge symmetry. Comparing the numbers with table 4.3, we find that the massless spectrum of the six-dimensional theories obtained by F-theory compactifications on the three manifolds of (4.46) coincides with the massless spectrum of the second, third and fourth theories of table 4.3 with gauge groups $U(1)^k$, k = 1, 2, 3. We do not know how to continue this process to construct an explicit geometry realizing a theory with gauge group $U(1)^4$.

This simple set of theories seems to be an ideal place to start examining aspects of abelian gauge symmetry for F-theory vacua. Hopefully insight gained from studying these simple examples will lead to a better understanding of how charges of abelian gauge symmetry are constrained in F-theory.

4.3 Intersection Theory

Due to the identifications made in the section 3.3, the mixed/gauge anomaly equations can be reformulated into equalities between intersection numbers obtained in the resolved Calabi-Yau threefold. Remarkably, they can be summarized in two equalities. They are given by the following:

$$\pi(\mathcal{S}_{1}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{2})\cdot\pi(\mathcal{S}_{3}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{4}) + \pi(\mathcal{S}_{1}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{3})\cdot\pi(\mathcal{S}_{2}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{4}) + \pi(\mathcal{S}_{1}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{4})\cdot\pi(\mathcal{S}_{2}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{3})$$

$$=\sum_{r}(c_{r}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{1})(c_{r}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{2})(c_{r}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{3})(c_{r}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{4}) + \sum_{\rho}(2g_{\rho}-2)(\chi_{\rho}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{1})(\chi_{\rho}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{2})(\chi_{\rho}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{3})(\chi_{\rho}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{4})$$

$$(4.47)$$

and

$$6K \cdot \pi(\mathcal{S}_1 \cdot \mathcal{S}_2) = \sum_r (c_r \cdot \mathcal{S}_1)(c_r \cdot \mathcal{S}_2) + \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot \mathcal{S}_1)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot \mathcal{S}_2)$$
(4.48)

when

$$f \cdot \mathcal{S}_n = 0. \tag{4.49}$$

As in the previous chapter, c_r denote the isolated (type I) rational curves, while χ_{ρ} denote the fibered (type F) rational curves. Recall that by definition c_r and χ_{ρ} are curves that shrink to zero area in the fibration limit. g_{ρ} denotes the genus of the curve

over which rational curve χ_{ρ} is fibered. We have used K to denote the canonical class divisor of the base.

 π is the projection to the base manifold. More precisely, $\pi(C)$ of some two-cycle Cin \hat{X} is the projection of C to the $H_2(\mathcal{B})$ lattice of the base manifold. The intersection between projected curves are taken in the base, while all the other intersections are taken inside the full manifold. Recall that for any two-cycle C in \hat{X}

$$\pi(C) = (C \cdot B^{\alpha})H_{\alpha} \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad B_{\alpha} \cdot C = (H_{\alpha} \cdot \pi(C))_{\mathcal{B}} = \pi(C)_{\alpha}, \qquad (4.50)$$

for the basis elements H_{α} of $H_2(\mathcal{B})$. Recall that B_{α} are type B four-cycles obtained by fibering the elliptic fiber over H_{α} .

As seen in section 3.3, any four-cycle that does not intersect the fiber is a linear combination of four-cycles of type B, S, or C. One can easily check that to prove equations (4.47) and (4.48) for any four-cycle with zero intersection with the fiber, it is enough to prove them in the case when all S_n are among the basis elements $\{B_{\alpha}, T_{I,\kappa}, S_i\}$. We can carry out this procedure in the following steps.

- 1. We first show that these equations trivially hold when one of S_n is of type B.
- 2. We then show that these equations hold when all four four-cycles S_n are of type S or of type C.
- 3. Finally we show the validity of the equations when there are both four-cycles of type S and C among S_n thereby concluding the proof of these equations.

The details of these steps are unilluminating, but the basic idea is simple. For the rest of the section, we carry out step 1 explicitly and sketch the idea behind showing steps 2 and 3. We have carried out steps 2 and 3 explicitly in appendix B.2.

Let us prove equations (4.47) and (4.48) in the case that one of the four cycles is of type B. Without loss of generality, let $S_1 = B_{\alpha}$. All shrinking two-cycles do not intersect S_1 . Therefore the right-hand sides of both equations are 0. Meanwhile, for any S such that $S \cdot f = 0$

$$B_{\alpha} \cdot B_{\beta} \cdot S = \Omega_{\alpha\beta} f \cdot S = 0 \tag{4.51}$$

for all B_{β} and therefore

$$\pi(B_{\alpha} \cdot S) = (B_{\beta} \cdot B_{\alpha} \cdot S)H^{\beta} = 0.$$
(4.52)

Therefore $\pi(S_n \cdot S_1) = 0$ for n = 2, 3, 4 and hence the left-hand sides of the two equations are also zero.

When all S_n are either of type C or S, the equations (4.47) and (4.48) become more interesting. In this case, the gauge anomaly equations (2.26) lead to (4.47) and the mixed anomaly equations (2.23) lead to (4.48). As can be seen in section 3.3, each gauge field A_x in the Cartan subalgebra of the full gauge group is dual to a four-cycle $C_x \in \{T_{I,\kappa}, S_i\}$ in the resolved Calabi-Yau manifold \hat{X} . If we restrict our attention to only these gauge fields, the anomaly polynomial takes the structure of an abelian theory. In particular, the anomaly coefficients of $F_x F_y$ are given by $-\pi(C_x \cdot C_y)$ — they are bilinear forms in the x index and are vectors in the H_2 lattice of the base. Therefore, by plugging in elements of the Cartan to the gauge/mixed anomaly equations, the inner-products between anomaly coefficients on left-hand sides reproduce the intersection numbers between between various $\pi(S_i \cdot S_j)$ of (4.47) and (4.48).

The right-hand sides of the gauge/mixed anomaly equations (2.26)/(2.23), are given by the sum of products of the charges of "charged multiplets" under vector fields dual to $C_x \in \{T_{I,\kappa}, S_i\}$. The charged multiplets come from quantizing zeromodes of the M2 branes and anti-branes wrapping type I or type F curves. A type I curve c_r contributes one hypermultiplet with charge $c_r \cdot C_x$, while a type F curve χ_ρ contributes $2g_\rho$ hypermultiplets of charge $\chi_\rho \cdot C_x$ and two vector multiplets each with charge $\pm \chi_\rho \cdot C_x$ under the vector field dual to C_x [144, 145]. Therefore the right-hand sides of equations (4.47)/(4.48) are reproduced by plugging in elements of the Cartan to the right-hand sides of the gauge/mixed anomaly equations. This concludes the proof of the two equations.

Together with the gravitational anomaly equation (3.49), the equations (4.47) and (4.48) can be rewritten as

$$3\pi(\mathcal{S}\cdot\mathcal{S})\cdot\pi(\mathcal{S}\cdot\mathcal{S}) = \sum_{r} (c_{r}\cdot\mathcal{S})^{4} + \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho}-2)(\chi_{\rho}\cdot\mathcal{S})^{4}$$
(4.53)

$$6K \cdot \pi(\mathcal{S} \cdot \mathcal{S}) = \sum_{r} (c_r \cdot \mathcal{S})^2 + \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot \mathcal{S})^2$$
(4.54)

$$30K \cdot K + \frac{1}{2}\chi_{\hat{X}} = \sum_{r} 1 + \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2)$$
(4.55)

for any $S \cdot f = 0$. It is easy to check that these set of equations are equivalent to equations (4.47) and (4.48) and (3.49) by setting

$$S = \sum_{i=1}^{4} t_i S_i \quad \text{or} \quad S = \sum_{i=1}^{2} t_i S_i \tag{4.56}$$

and treating both sides of the equations as polynomials of t_i and comparing coefficients. Noting that the Euler characteristic of a point is 1 and that the Euler characteristic of a genus g curve is (2 - 2g), we can finally write the equations in the appealing form:

$$3\pi(\mathcal{S}\cdot\mathcal{S})\cdot\pi(\mathcal{S}\cdot\mathcal{S}) = \sum_{c}\chi_{M}(c)(c\cdot\mathcal{S})^{4}$$
(4.57)

$$6K \cdot \pi(S \cdot S) = \sum_{c} \chi_M(c) (c \cdot S)^2$$
(4.58)

$$30K \cdot K + \frac{1}{2}\chi_{\hat{X}} = \sum_{c} \chi_{M}(c) \tag{4.59}$$

for any $S \cdot f = 0$.

The sum of the right-hand-sides of the equations are over all — both type I and F — curves c that shrink in the fibration limit. $\chi_M(c)$ is the Euler characteristic of the moduli space of the curve in the manifold \hat{X} graded by the complex dimension of the moduli space, *i.e.*,

$$\chi_M(c) = \begin{cases} 1 & (\text{Moduli space of } c \text{ is a point}) \\ 2g - 2 & (\text{Moduli space of } c \text{ is a curve of genus } g) \end{cases}$$
(4.60)

We note that the geometric implications of the mixed and gauged anomaly equations have been studied in [133, 134] for non-abelian gauge groups, but have not been put into the form we have presented here. The implications of the third equation coming from the gravitational anomaly constraint — has also been studied previously [132, 133, 134], although not quite in the language that we have used. An interesting fact is that the equation (4.59) can be translated into a threefold analogue [189] of the Sethi-Vafa-Witten formula [191] for elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau threefolds with various fiber types. We note that the Sethi-Vafa-Witten formula was originally derived for elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau fourfolds in Weierstrass form, and has been extended to more general elliptically fibered fourfolds [189, 192, 193]. While these equations are aesthetically pleasing, we do not yet have much insight into how much they add to what we already know about the geometry of Calabi-Yau threefolds. Understanding the origin and implications of these equations geometrically and possibly generalizing them in a meaningful way would be an interesting direction of inquiry.

Chapter 5

Conclusions and Outlook

Let us conclude this thesis by summarizing the major lessons that we have learned from examining the landscape of six-dimensional (1,0) supergravity theories and exploring directions for future developments.

Candidates for new string vacua

We have identified theories with exotic matter that have a high chance of being new string — in particular, F-theory — vacua. If these are indeed verified to be new F-theory vacua, it would also have implications on four-dimensional F-theory vacua, since the codimension-two singularities that generate the exotic matter would also generate the same kind of matter for four-dimensional backgrounds. A thorough investigation of T = 0 global models with exotic matter has been initiated in [112].

The Kodaira bound

We have found that many — in fact, most — apparently consistent non-abelian theories violate the Kodaira bound (3.3), which all string models known to us satisfy. The Kodaira bound essentially states that the weighted sum of the inverse gauge couplings of the non-abelian gauge groups is bounded above by the coupling of a higher curvature term. The question whether this bound comes from a fundamental principle of quantum gravity, or whether it comes from artificial constraints particular

to the known string vacua must be answered to gain a full understanding of the sixdimensional supergravity landscape.

One hope is that the Kodaira bound is indeed a fundamental constraint of quantum supergravity theory that follows from basic properties such as unitarity or causality [194]. Indeed, constraints on higher curvature terms in gravity have been imposed by demanding such basic properties, especially in the context of AdS/CFT[195, 196, 197, 198]. There also is an intuition that probe solitons contain non-trivial information of the theory [89, 199, 200, 201] and can be used to detect hidden pathologies of supergravity theories [202]. Putting these results together, one may speculate that conformal field theories dual to the near horizon geometry of BPS solitons of six-dimensional supergravity theories might exhibit pathologies when the Kodaira bound is violated. Six-dimensional supergravity theories with a non-abelian gauge group have extremal dyonic strings [203, 204]. One might be able to find additional constraints on the gravity theory by imposing the consistency of the dual CFT living on these strings.

Existence of a generalized Kodaira bound

We have seen that the space of apparently consistent abelian theories is not well controlled due to the infinite number of apparently consistent charge assignments possible to a given theory. The space of known string vacua is also less well-characterized due to the lack of a generalized version of the Kodaira bound that involves the abelian anomaly coefficients. A major result we have presented is that the infiniteness of the space of apparently consistent theories with abelian gauge symmetry lies solely in the infinite number of charge assignments a given gauge/matter structure could have. Therefore a subspace satisfying a generalized version of the Kodaira constraint would be finite given that we demand that the abelian charges are quantized.

This strongly motivates the search for a generalized version of the Kodaira constraint that applies to theories with abelian gauge symmetry. If the Kodaira constraint could be derived from low-energy methods mentioned above, one would guess that the generalized Kodaira constraint could be obtained by a slight generalization of those methods. From the string theory/F-theory point of view, however, deriving a generalized Kodaira constraint seems to require qualitatively different methods. The hope is that the intersection theory based techniques we have used in this thesis to analyze the abelian sector could be used to derive a generalized Kodaira constraint for F-theory vacua. Whether this could be achieved remains to be seen. One thing for certain is that a thorough study of the abelian sector of F-theory itself should be carried out in order to understand the charge constraints of abelian gauge fields.

The intersection equations

We were able to derive non-trivial geometric equalities that hold for elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau threefolds by using gravitational/gauge and mixed anomaly equations of the six-dimensional theory obtained by compactifying F-theory on it. The mathematical origin of these equations is unclear. An interesting question is whether such equations could be derived by geometric means. Another is whether these equations could be generalized in a meaningful way. Answering these questions could hopefully lead to a deeper understanding of the geometry of Calabi-Yau threefolds.

An intriguing observation that we can make is that the formulae strongly resemble the instanton-corrected triple intersections introduced in [205]. In mirror symmetry, these instanton sums are taken in the large Kähler structure limit. In our case, however, the mixed anomaly equations seem to be related to an instanton-corrected triple intersection form in a singular limit. We do not understand this connection fully at this moment.

Understanding the interaction between anomaly constraints and consistency conditions that the geometry and various fluxes of four-dimensional F-theory constructions must satisfy is expected to be more involved. This is because four dimensional F-theory backgrounds have much richer structure than six-dimensional backgrounds.¹ There has, however, been beautiful work [165] in which constraints on "hypercharge fluxes" on F-theory SU(5) GUT models with U(1) symmetries — referred to as

¹An incomplete list of references on the structure of four-dimensional F-theory backgrounds is given in the bibliography [163, 164, 167, 174, 175, 206, 207, 208, 209, 210, 211, 212, 213, 214]. A nice review of this subject and further references can be found in [215].

"generalized Dudas-Palti relations" [216] — are derived by four-dimensional anomaly cancellation conditions. The generalized Dudas-Palti relations provide a good handle on F-theory GUT models with U(1) symmetries [165, 166]. It would be interesting to expand the anomaly analysis to more general F-theory constructions and see if one could understand the constraints that anomaly cancellation imposes upon the various building-blocks of four-dimensional F-theory models in the language of intersection theory.

Some final words

The space of six-dimensional supergravity theories with minimal supersymmetry has provided us with surprising insights into quantum gravity and string theory. There is a long way to go, however, to achieve an understanding of this space of theories at the level of, say, ten-dimensional theories. If the Kodaira constraint and its abelian generalization could indeed be shown to be fundamental constraints of quantum gravity, it would be a major breakthrough in proving the string universality conjecture in six-dimensions [63]. According to the current picture of the six-dimensional landscape we have, this seems to be the best-case scenario among the many imaginable options. Attaining string universality would be, to say the least, quite an important result it would provide strong evidence toward an affirmative answer to the vague question we have posed at the beginning of this thesis:

(Q') Are all consistent quantum gravity theories, string theories?

History shows, however, that one could never be sure as nature has many surprises hidden up her sleeves. One could only hope that she or he is ready enough to discover those surprises which are sure to be pleasant and beautiful in their unexpected way.

Appendix A

Appendices for Chapter 2

A.1 Some Lie Algebra

In this section, we review some relevant Lie algebra to understand the group factors λ_{κ} introduced in table 2.2 of section 2.1.3, and their relation to the normalized coroot matrix C_{IJ} . Almost all of what is discussed in this section can be found in standard texts such as [217, 218].

For a given Lie group \mathcal{G} and its Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , let us define the generators of Cartan sub-algebra $\{T_i\}$. Let us normalize the Cartan generators so that

$$trT_iT_j = \delta_{ij} \tag{A.1}$$

where the trace is taken in the fundamental representation. We can diagonalize all the other generators of the Lie group with respect to $\{T_i\}$. Each such generator is uniquely labelled by its eigenvalue under $\{T_i\}$, *i.e.*,

$$[T_i, E_\alpha] = \alpha_i E_\alpha \,. \tag{A.2}$$

In other words, there is a one-to-one correspondence between the vectors α and the generators of the Lie group. These vectors α are called the roots of the Lie algebra.

Notice that α will scale with a change of normalization in T_i . Since we have nor-

malized the Cartan generators in an unambiguous way with respect to the definition of \mathcal{G} , the normalization of α are also fixed. This is because the weights β_s of the fundamental representation of \mathcal{G} must satisfy

$$\sum_{s} \beta_{s,i}^2 = 1 \tag{A.3}$$

for each *i*, where $\beta_{s,i}$ is the *i* coordinate value of β_s . This condition fixes the normalization of the weight lattice. In this sense, we can say that α are the roots of the Lie group \mathcal{G} , with a slight abuse of terminology.

Now let us determine $\lambda(\mathcal{G})$ with respect to these vectors. Recall that $\lambda(\mathcal{G})$ is a normalization factor fixed by demanding that the smallest topological charge of an embedded SU(2) instanton is 1. This definition can be rephrased in the following way.

For any given Lie group \mathcal{G} , we may find an SU(2) subgroup. Hence we may always find an SU(2) sub-algebra \mathfrak{s} generated by a subgroup of the generators of the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} of \mathcal{G} , *i.e.*, there exist elements S_i , i = 1, 2, 3 of the Lie algebra that satisfy

$$[S_i, S_j] = i\epsilon_{ijk}S_k. \tag{A.4}$$

From this relation, one can deduce that

$$2\mathrm{tr}S_1^2 = 2\mathrm{tr}S_2^2 = 2\mathrm{tr}S_3^2 \tag{A.5}$$

in any representation. Let us call this value $l(\mathfrak{s})$ where the trace is taken in the fundamental representation. The normalization of the S_i are fixed; if we multiply them by a factor, the defining commutation relation does not hold anymore. Therefore, for all the SU(2) sub-algebras \mathfrak{s} of Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , the $l(\mathfrak{s})$ is a well-defined number. We define $\lambda(\mathcal{G})$ to be,

$$\lambda(\mathcal{G}) = \min_{\{\mathfrak{s}\}} l(\mathfrak{s}) \tag{A.6}$$

where $\{\mathfrak{s}\}\$ are all the SU(2) sub-algebras of \mathfrak{g} . For example, in SU(2) the generators that satisfy the SU(2) sub-algebra — in the fundamental representation — are given

by $S_i = \frac{1}{2}\sigma_i$ where σ_i are the Pauli matrices. It is clear that $2\text{tr}S_1^2 = 1$. For SO(4), the generators that satisfy the SU(2) sub-algebra with minimum $l(\mathfrak{s})$ are,

$$S_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & i/2 & 0 & 0 \\ -i/2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -i/2 \\ 0 & 0 & i/2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, S_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1/2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1/2 \\ 1/2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1/2 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(A.7)

and

$$S_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & i/2 \\ 0 & 0 & -i/2 & 0 \\ 0 & -i/2 & 0 & 0 \\ i/2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(A.8)

In this case, $l(\mathfrak{s}) = 2 \operatorname{tr} S_1^2 = 2$.

Now it can be shown that for any root α

$$\left[\frac{\alpha \cdot T}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle}, E_{\alpha}\right] = E_{\alpha}, \quad \left[\frac{\alpha \cdot T}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle}, E_{-\alpha}\right] = -E_{\alpha}, \quad \left[E_{\alpha}, E_{-\alpha}\right] \propto \alpha \cdot T, \qquad (A.9)$$

where we have defined

$$\alpha \cdot T \equiv \alpha_i T_i \,. \tag{A.10}$$

We may use the freedom to rescale E_{α} so that the proportionality constant in (A.9) is $\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle^{-1}$. Then

$$\frac{E_{\alpha} + E_{-\alpha}}{2}, \quad \frac{E_{\alpha} - E_{-\alpha}}{2i}, \quad \frac{\alpha \cdot T}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle}$$
 (A.11)

generate a $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ subalgebra $\mathfrak{s}(\alpha)$ of \mathfrak{g} . Then

$$l(\mathfrak{s}(\alpha)) = 2\mathrm{tr}(\frac{\alpha \cdot T}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle})^2 = \frac{2}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle}.$$
 (A.12)

Every $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sub-algebra can be embedded into the Lie algebra in this way by a change of basis, so we find that

$$\lambda(\mathcal{G}) = \frac{2}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle_{\max}} \tag{A.13}$$

where $\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle_{\max}$ is the length squared of the longest root of the Lie algebra.

Now let us examine properties of $\{\mathcal{T}_I\}$, which are the coroot basis for the Cartan generators. They are defined to be

$$\mathcal{T}_{I} \equiv \frac{2\alpha_{I} \cdot T}{\langle \alpha_{I}, \alpha_{I} \rangle} \tag{A.14}$$

where α_I are the simple roots of the Lie group. The charges of the root vectors E_{β} under \mathcal{T}_I are given as

$$[\mathcal{T}_I, E_\beta] = \frac{2\alpha_{I,i}}{\langle \alpha_I, \alpha_I \rangle} [T_i, E_\beta] = \frac{2\langle \alpha_I, \beta \rangle}{\langle \alpha_I, \alpha_I \rangle}.$$
 (A.15)

In particular,

$$[\mathcal{T}_I, E_{\alpha_J}] = \frac{2\langle \alpha_I, \alpha_J \rangle}{\langle \alpha_I, \alpha_I \rangle} = C_{IJ}.$$
(A.16)

Now let us examine

$$\frac{1}{\lambda(\mathcal{G})} \operatorname{tr} \mathcal{T}_I \mathcal{T}_J \,. \tag{A.17}$$

Using (A.13) we find that

$$\frac{1}{\lambda(\mathcal{G})} \operatorname{tr} \mathcal{T}_{I} \mathcal{T}_{J} = \frac{2\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle_{\max} \langle \alpha_{I}, \alpha_{J} \rangle}{\langle \alpha_{I}, \alpha_{I} \rangle \langle \alpha_{J}, \alpha_{J} \rangle} = \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \,. \tag{A.18}$$

This is exactly the inner-product matrix for the coroot lattice normalized such that the shortest coroot has length 2. Note that although we had to refer to the group \mathcal{G} in defining \mathcal{T}_{I} , the matrix \mathcal{C}_{IJ} only depends on the Lie algebra due to the dividing out by $\lambda(\mathcal{G})$. For example, $\mathcal{C} = (2)$ for both SU(2) and SO(3).

For simply laced groups, C_{IJ} coincides with the Cartan matrix C_{IJ} . For non-simply

laced groups $\mathcal C$ and C are different. $\mathcal C$ for B_n and C_n are given by

$$\mathcal{C}(B_n) = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 2 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 2 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & -1 & 2 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & -1 & 2 & -2 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & -2 & 4 \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.19)

and

$$C(C_n) = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -2 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ -2 & 4 & -2 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -2 & 4 & -2 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -2 & 4 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 4 & -2 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & -2 & 4 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (A.20)

For B_n we have defined α_n to be the simple root with the different(short) norm, *i.e.*,

$$\langle \alpha_1, \alpha_1 \rangle = \langle \alpha_2, \alpha_2 \rangle = \dots = \langle \alpha_{n-1}, \alpha_{n-1} \rangle = 2 \langle \alpha_n, \alpha_n \rangle.$$
 (A.21)

For C_n we have defined α_1 to be the simple root with the different(long) norm, *i.e.*,

$$\langle \alpha_1, \alpha_1 \rangle = 2 \langle \alpha_2, \alpha_2 \rangle = \dots = 2 \langle \alpha_{n-1}, \alpha_{n-1} \rangle = 2 \langle \alpha_n, \alpha_n \rangle.$$
 (A.22)

Note that the coroot corresponding to a long/short root becomes a short/long coroot, respectively.

 \mathcal{C} for F_4 and G_2 are given by

$$\mathcal{C}(F_4) = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 2 & -2 & 0 \\ 0 & -2 & 4 & -2 \\ 0 & 0 & -2 & 4 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathcal{C}(G_2) = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -3 \\ -3 & 6 \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.23)

respectively. For F_4 we have taken α_1 and α_2 to be the long roots, *i.e.*,

$$\langle \alpha_1, \alpha_1 \rangle = \langle \alpha_2, \alpha_2 \rangle = 2 \langle \alpha_3, \alpha_3 \rangle = 2 \langle \alpha_4, \alpha_4 \rangle.$$
 (A.24)

For G_2 we have taken α_1 to be the long root, *i.e.*,

$$\langle \alpha_1, \alpha_1 \rangle = 3 \langle \alpha_2, \alpha_2 \rangle.$$
 (A.25)

For each non-simply laced group, we have aligned the roots so that they are decreasing in norm.

A.2 Global anomalies

In this section we prove that locally non-anomalous blocks with anomaly coefficient band gauge group SU(2) or SU(3) are free of global anomalies of the kind addressed in [127] if and only if $b \cdot b$ is integral. The problem with SU(2) and SU(3) charged chiral fermions is that the fermion measure might obtain a phase under global gauge transformations, which are gauge transformations that are not homotopic to the identity. This happens for only for the gauge groups SU(2) and SU(3) among the SU groups in six dimensions because $\pi_6(SU(2)) = \mathbb{Z}_{12}, \pi_6(SU(3)) = \mathbb{Z}_6$ while π_6 is trivial for the other SU(N) gauge groups.

Let us first consider SU(3) in six dimensions. Defining the global gauge transformation that generates $\pi_6(SU(3)) = \mathbb{Z}_6$ as g, we need to determine the phase $2\pi\alpha_r$ a chiral fermion measure in representation r acquires when acted on by g. Note that α_r is defined up to integers.

This problem was essentially solved in [219], but let us phrase it in a language convenient for our purposes. The result of [219, 220] is that if an SU(4) representation R is broken into $\sum_{i} r_{i}$ of SU(3) representations r_{i} in a canonical embedding then

$$\sum \alpha_{r_i} = \frac{B_R}{3!} \tag{A.26}$$

Let us define two generators of SU(4), T_{12} , T_{34} which, in the fundamental representation, take the form

$$(T_{12})_{ab} = \delta_{a1}\delta_{b1} - \delta_{a2}\delta_{b2} \tag{A.27}$$

$$(T_{34})_{ab} = \delta_{a3}\delta_{b3} - \delta_{a4}\delta_{b4} \tag{A.28}$$

The group theory factors B_R , C_R can be computed in terms of traces of these generators, by their definitions:

$$B_R + 2C_R = \frac{1}{2} \text{tr}_R T_{12}^4 \tag{A.29}$$

$$C_R = \frac{3}{4} \text{tr}_R T_{12}^4 T_{34}^4 \tag{A.30}$$

Note that C_R is a multiple of 3 as $\operatorname{tr}_R T_{12}^4 T_{34}^4$ is integral, and is a multiple of 4. This can be seen from looking at which Young tableaux contribute to the trace for a given representation (for an explicit proof, see [65]). If R is broken into $\sum_i r_i$, it is clear that

$$B_R + 2C_R = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}_R T_{12}^4 = \sum_i \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}_{r_i} T_{12}^4 = 2 \sum_i C_{r_i}$$
(A.31)

and therefore

$$2\sum_{i} C_{r_i} \equiv B_R \mod 6 \equiv \sum_{i} 6\alpha_{r_i} \mod 6 \tag{A.32}$$

Since the measure of a chiral fermion in the trivial representation does not acquire a phase under global transformations, and by taking R = 4 we find that $\alpha_3 = C_3/3$. It is straightforward to carry this through by going through the representations of SU(4), and showing by induction that actually

$$\alpha_r = \frac{C_r}{3} \tag{A.33}$$

For SU(2) the situation is similar. Denoting the generator of $\pi_6(SU(2)) = \mathbb{Z}_{12}$ by g' we need to find the phase $2\pi\alpha_{r'}$ the chiral fermion measure in representation r' of SU(2) acquires when acted on by g'.

Let us embed SU(2) into SU(3). It is known (for example as stated in [219]), that g' maps to g when we do the embedding. Therefore we see that if an SU(3) representation r is broken into $\sum_{i} r'_{i}$ of SU(2) representations r'_{i} in a canonical embedding

$$\sum_{i} \alpha_{r'_{i}} = \alpha_{r} = \frac{C_{r}}{3} = \sum_{i} \frac{C_{r'_{i}}}{3}$$
(A.34)

By an almost word-by-word duplication of the argument for SU(3), we obtain

$$\alpha_{r'} = \frac{C_{r'}}{3} \tag{A.35}$$

This is a satisfying result, because we see from the anomaly equations on the C factors

$$\sum_{i} x_r \alpha_r - \alpha_{\mathrm{adj}} = \sum_{i} x_r \frac{C_r}{3} - \frac{C_{\mathrm{adj}}}{3} = b \cdot b.$$
(A.36)

The far left hand side of this equation is the phase (divided by 2π) the fermion measure obtains under the global transformation given by the generator of π_6 of the gauge group. Therefore the condition that the given gauge group does not have any global gauge anomalies is equivalent to the condition that the far right hand side of the above equation is integral. Therefore an SU(2) or SU(3) block with anomaly coefficient b does not have global gauge anomalies if and only if $b \cdot b$ is integral.

A.3 Proof of bounds on b

Using group theory identities, one can find constraints on the matter content of individual blocks of a given theory. In this Appendix, we show that even without the H - V constraint we can bound the degree b of an SU(M) block just from group theory constraints when T = 0. The only equations we use are the anomaly cancellation conditions for a given gauge group:

$$18b + A_{\text{adj}} = \sum_{R} x_R A_R \tag{A.37}$$

$$B_{\rm adj} = \sum_{R} x_R B_R \tag{A.38}$$

$$3b^2 + C_{\rm adj} = \sum_R x_R C_R \tag{A.39}$$

In section A.3.1 we make some useful statements based on the Weyl character formula. In section A.3.2 we see how this bounds b for gauge groups larger than SU(3). In section A.3.3 we discuss the process of bounding b's for the gauge groups SU(2) and SU(3). In section A.3.4 we summarize the results. A useful reference for this section is [218], chapters 12 and 13.

A.3.1 The Weyl Character Formula

We use the Weyl character formula (equation (XIII.37) of [218])

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\lambda} e^{\rho} = \frac{\sum_{w \in W} \operatorname{sign}(w) e^{\langle \lambda + \delta, w \rho \rangle}}{\sum_{w \in W} \operatorname{sign}(w) e^{\langle \delta, w \rho \rangle}}$$
(A.40)

In this formula $\operatorname{tr}_{\lambda}$ denotes the trace of the representation with highest weight vector λ . ρ is an element of the Lie algebra $\rho = \rho_a T^a$ where T^a is the Cartan basis, and (ρ_1, \dots, ρ_r) are coordinates on the weight space. Brackets denote inner products in the weight space. R^+ is the set of positive roots of the Lie algebra, and W is the

Weyl group. The vector δ is defined to be half the sum of the positive roots

$$\delta = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in R^+} \alpha \tag{A.41}$$

For $\rho = s\delta$ the equation simplifies to

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\lambda} e^{s\delta}$$

$$= \prod_{\alpha \in R^{+}} \left(\frac{e^{\frac{s}{2} \langle \alpha, \lambda + \delta \rangle} - e^{-\frac{s}{2} \langle \alpha, \lambda + \delta \rangle}}{e^{\frac{s}{2} \langle \alpha, \delta \rangle} - e^{-\frac{s}{2} \langle \alpha, \delta \rangle}} \right)$$

$$= \prod_{\alpha \in R^{+}} \frac{\langle \alpha, \lambda + \delta \rangle}{\langle \alpha, \delta \rangle} \prod_{\alpha \in R^{+}} \left(\frac{1 + \frac{1}{6} \langle \alpha, \lambda + \delta \rangle^{2} (\frac{s}{2})^{2} + \frac{1}{120} \langle \alpha, \lambda + \delta \rangle^{4} (\frac{s}{2})^{4} + \cdots}{1 + \frac{1}{6} \langle \alpha, \delta \rangle^{2} (\frac{s}{2})^{2} + \frac{1}{120} \langle \alpha, \delta \rangle^{4} (\frac{s}{2})^{4} + \cdots} \right)$$

$$(A.42)$$

This is due to the relation (equation (XIII.13) of [218])

$$\sum_{w \in W} \operatorname{sign}(w) e^{\langle \delta, w \rho \rangle} = \prod_{\alpha \in R^+} \left(e^{\frac{1}{2} \langle \alpha, \rho \rangle} - e^{-\frac{1}{2} \langle \alpha, \rho \rangle} \right)$$
(A.43)

which holds for an arbitrary vector ρ .

Expanding in s, and looking at the terms of order 0, 2, and 4, we find that

$$D_{\lambda} = \operatorname{tr}_{\lambda} 1 = \prod_{\alpha \in R^{+}} \frac{\langle \alpha, \lambda + \delta \rangle}{\langle \alpha, \delta \rangle}$$

$$A_{\lambda}(\operatorname{tr}_{f} \delta^{2}) = \operatorname{tr}_{\lambda} \delta^{2} = \frac{D_{\lambda}}{12} \sum_{\alpha \in R^{+}} (\langle \alpha, \lambda + \delta \rangle^{2} - \langle \alpha, \delta \rangle^{2})$$

$$B_{\lambda}(\operatorname{tr}_{f} \delta^{4}) + C_{\lambda}(\operatorname{tr}_{f} \delta^{2})^{2} = \operatorname{tr}_{\lambda} \delta^{4} = \frac{D_{\lambda}}{120} \sum_{\alpha \in R^{+}} (-\langle \alpha, \lambda + \delta \rangle^{4} + \langle \alpha, \delta \rangle^{4})$$

$$+ \frac{D_{\lambda}}{48} (\sum_{\alpha \in R^{+}} (\langle \alpha, \lambda + \delta \rangle^{2} - \langle \alpha, \delta \rangle^{2}))^{2}$$
(A.44)

Now $\operatorname{tr}_f \delta^2$ and $\operatorname{tr}_f \delta^4$ are explicitly calculable. We consider SU(M) groups with the normalization $\operatorname{tr}_f T^a T^b = 2\delta_{ab}$. We use the fact that for SU(M) the positive roots are given by

$$\alpha_{ij} = \alpha_i + \alpha_{i+1} + \dots + \alpha_{j-1} + \alpha_j \tag{A.45}$$

for $i \leq j$ where α_i for $i = 1, 2, \dots, N-1$ are the simple roots of SU(M) whose Cartan

matrix is given by

$$(\alpha_i \cdot \alpha_j) = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 2 & -1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 2 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 2 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & -1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.46)

Then,

$$\delta = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \le j} \alpha_{ij} = \sum_{i=1}^{M-1} \frac{i(M-i)}{2} \alpha_i$$
 (A.47)

By explicit calculation one may show that

$$\langle \alpha_i, \delta \rangle = 1 \tag{A.48}$$

and therefore taking the dual basis of $\{\alpha_i\}$ to be $\{\beta_i\}$,

$$\delta = \sum_{i} \beta_i \tag{A.49}$$

Now we use the fact that the highest weight vector for the fundamental representation is β_1 . Then using (A.44) we find that

$$tr_{f}\delta^{2} = \frac{M}{12} \sum_{i \le j} (\langle \alpha_{ij}, \beta_{1} + \delta \rangle^{2} - \langle \alpha_{ij}, \delta \rangle^{2})$$

$$= \frac{M}{12} \sum_{i \le j} ((\delta_{i1} + (j - i + 1))^{2} - (j - i + 1)^{2})$$

$$= \frac{M}{12} \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} ((j + 1)^{2} - j^{2}) = \frac{M(M - 1)(M + 1)}{12}$$
(A.50)

and likewise

$$tr_{f}\delta^{4} = \frac{M}{120} \sum_{i \leq j} (-\langle \alpha_{ij}, \beta_{1} + \delta \rangle^{4} + \langle \alpha_{ij}, \delta \rangle^{4}) + \frac{M}{48} \sum_{i \leq j} (\langle \alpha_{ij}, \beta_{1} + \delta \rangle^{2} - \langle \alpha_{ij}, \delta \rangle^{2}))^{2}$$

$$= \frac{M}{120} \sum_{i \leq j} (-(\delta_{i1} + (j - i + 1))^{4} + (j - i + 1)^{4}) + \frac{M}{48} (N^{2} - 1)^{2}$$

$$= \frac{M}{120} \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} (-(j + 1)^{4} + j^{4}) + \frac{M}{48} (M^{2} - 1)^{2}$$

$$= -\frac{M}{120} (M^{4} - 1) + \frac{M}{48} (M^{2} - 1)^{2}$$

$$= \frac{1}{240} M (M - 1) (M + 1) (3M^{2} - 7)$$
(A.51)

Furthermore, plugging in the equation for A_{λ} to the equation for the fourth order invariants and dividing both sides by $(tr_f \delta^2)^2$ we find that

$$y_M B_\lambda + C_\lambda \le \frac{3A_\lambda^2}{D_\lambda} \tag{A.52}$$

where we have defined

$$y_M \equiv \frac{\mathrm{tr}_f \delta^4}{(\mathrm{tr}_f \delta^2)^2} = \frac{3(3M^2 - 7)}{5M(M^2 - 1)}$$
(A.53)

All the results of the current section hold for SU(2) and SU(3) also if we set $B_{\lambda} = 0$ by hand, which we can certainly do for these groups.

A.3.2 Restriction on b

For a single SU(M) block with $M \ge 4$ define

$$\frac{\sum_{R} x_{R} (y_{M} B_{R} + C_{R})}{\sum_{R} x_{R} A_{R}} = \frac{3b^{2} + 6 + 2My_{M}}{18b + 2M} \equiv \eta$$
(A.54)

This means that there must exist a representation R_0 with

$$\frac{y_M B_{R_0} + C_{R_0}}{A_{R_0}} \ge \eta \tag{A.55}$$

since by definition, $y_M B_{R_0} + C_{R_0}$ and A_{R_0} are positive. Then by inequality (A.52),

$$(\frac{D_{R_0}}{3})\eta \le A_{R_0} \le \sum_R x_R A_R = 18b + 2M \tag{A.56}$$

Plugging in the definition of η , we find that

$$D_{R_0} \le \frac{324(b+M/9)^2}{b^2 + (2+2y_MM/3)} \tag{A.57}$$

The maximum value for the right hand side of the above equation is obtained for $b = (18/M + 6y_M)$ and plugging in this value of b we obtain the inequality

$$D_{R_0} \le 324 + \frac{4M^2}{2 + 2y_M M/3} \equiv D_M \tag{A.58}$$

Hence we obtain

$$\frac{b^2 + 2 + 2My_M/3}{18b + 2M} = \frac{\eta}{3} \le \max_{R:D_R < D_M} (\frac{A_R}{D_R})$$
(A.59)

This procedure gives an upper bound b_u on b, for all $M \ge 4$. For M = 2, 3 we are able to obtain slightly improved bounds as we have explicit expressions for A_R, C_R, D_R for these groups. This is helpful since the enumeration of SU(2) and SU(3) blocks takes much more time numerically compared to blocks with $M \ge 4$. We will elaborate on this in section A.3.3.

Implementing (A.59) to obtain an upper bound of b is a rather tedious, but straightforward task. In practice we must find all representations with $D_R < D_M$ and find the maximum value of A_R/D_R among those representations. This can be done by using the following useful

Fact : Given two representations R_1 and R_2 represented by young-diagrams Y_1 , Y_2 , if Y_2 can be obtained by attaching columns of blocks to the right of Y_1 , then necessarily $D_{R_1} < D_{R_2}$.

This follows simply from the fact that the dimension of a representation is associated with the number of distinct labelings of the boxes which are horizontally non-decreasing and vertically increasing. Adding columns to the right, there is always at least one labeling of Y_2 for each labeling of Y_1 by simply repeating entries on each row in the added columns. For example, if we define

$$Y_1 = \blacksquare, \qquad Y_2 = \blacksquare, \qquad Y_3 = \blacksquare \qquad (A.60)$$

the dimension of representation Y_1 is smaller than that of Y_2 . Meanwhile, it is not guaranteed that the dimension of Y_1 is smaller than the dimension of Y_3 .

Starting from single column representations one may span a tree of young diagrams by attaching columns of varying length to the right until one runs into a diagram with $D_R > D_M$. Since the dimension strictly increases at each step, all the branches of the tree will eventually terminate and one can obtain all the representations with bounded dimension.

Although we have thus found an upper bound on b for each group SU(M), which in principle makes the problem of enumerating blocks into a finite algorithm, in practice it is helpful to reduce the bound somewhat to make the enumeration of blocks more tractable. It turns out that we can further restrict b by utilizing the condition

$$A_{R_0} \le 18b_u + 2M \tag{A.61}$$

That is, it can be the case that

$$\frac{b^2 + 2 + 2My_M/3}{18b + 2M} = \frac{\eta}{3} \le \max_{\substack{R:D_R < D_M \\ \text{and } A_R \le 18b_u + 2M}} \left(\frac{A_R}{D_R}\right) \tag{A.62}$$

further restricts b below the bound coming from (A.59).

For example, in the case of SU(7) one finds that

$$\max_{R:D_R<386} \left(\frac{A_R}{D_R}\right) = \frac{495}{492} = 1.07\cdots$$
 (A.63)

and hence

$$b \le 19. \tag{A.64}$$

M	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	≥ 16
b bound	617	126	40	24	14	12	11	6	6	5	3	3	3	2

Table A.1: Upper bound on b for individual block of group SU(M).

But one finds that for $b \leq 19$, $18b + 2M \leq 356$, so

$$\max_{\substack{R:D_R < 386 \\ \text{and } A_R \le 356}} \left(\frac{A_R}{D_R}\right) = \frac{165}{210} = 0.78 \cdots$$
(A.65)

and hence b is further restricted to the value

$$b \le 14. \tag{A.66}$$

The bound on b obtained this way for $4 \le M \le 17$ is given in table A.1. For $M \ge 18$,

$$324 + \frac{4M^2}{2 + 2y_M M/3} < \frac{M(M-1)(M-2)}{6}$$
(A.67)

This means that the representation with maximum A/D in an SU(M), $M \ge 18$ block is either the adjoint, symmetric, antisymmetric or fundamental. The maximum value of A/D of these is given by the symmetric and hence it must be the case that

$$\frac{b^2 + 2 + 2My_M/3}{18b + 2M} \le \frac{2(M+2)}{M(M+1)} \tag{A.68}$$

A little bit of algebra shows that this implies $b \le 2$ for $M \ge 18$. This completes the data needed for Table A.1. Given the upper bound on b for each M it is therefore a finite problem to enumerate all possible gauge factor + matter "blocks". As noted in section 4.1, in most cases the actual maximum b for each M is smaller than that given in Table A.1. In particular, above M = 12 only blocks with b = 1 are possible.

A.3.3 Comments on SU(2) and SU(3) Blocks

The *b* values of the SU(2) blocks can be restricted in an equivalent fashion. The reason we are addressing them separately is because the bound on *b* obtained for

SU(2) using the equations in the previous section is very high. In particular, the most naive bounds on b for SU(2) is of order 10^5 .

We first provide the most naive bounds on b we can get for SU(2) and SU(3). As mentioned in the previous section we can get slightly better bounds because the equations for A, C, D are simple enough to manipulate directly.

For SU(2) all representations are *m*-symmetric representations. The dimension and group theory coefficients of the representation are

$$A_m = m(m+1)(m+2)/6$$
 (A.69)

$$C_m = A_m (3m^2 + 6m - 4)/10$$
 (A.70)

$$D_m = m+1. \tag{A.71}$$

Also recall that $B_m = 0$ for all representations. The anomaly equations (A.37), (A.39) can be written as

$$\sum_{m} m(m+1)(m+2)x_m = 108b + 24 \tag{A.72}$$

$$\sum_{m}^{m} m^2 (m+2)^2 (m+1) x_m = 60b^2 + 36b + 192.$$
 (A.73)

Taking the largest m with $x_m \neq 0$ to be m_M , we find that,

$$\frac{10b^2 + 6b + 32}{18b + 4} \le m_M(m_M + 2) \tag{A.74}$$

and hence

$$\left(\frac{10b^2 + 6b + 32}{18b + 4}\right)^{3/2} \le m_M(m_M + 2)\sqrt{m_M(m_M + 2)} < m_M(m_M + 2)(m_M + 1) \le 108b + 24.$$
(A.75)

This gives the bound $b \leq 68018$.

The representations of SU(3) can be represented by a pair of numbers x and y which denote the number of two block/one block columns of its young diagram. Then
the dimension and group theory coefficients of representation (x, y) are given by

$$A_{x,y} = \frac{1}{24} XY(X+Y)(X^2+Y^2+XY-3)$$
(A.76)

$$C_{x,y} = \frac{1}{120} XY(X+Y)(X^2+Y^2+XY-3)(X^2+Y^2+XY-\frac{9}{2}) \quad (A.77)$$

$$D_{x,y} = \frac{1}{2}XY(X+Y), \qquad (A.78)$$

where we have defined X = (x + 1), Y = (y + 1). Writing out the anomaly equations and going through a similar process as in the SU(2) case one obtains the bound $b \le 617$.

Up to now we have been using that fact that in order for a block to satisfy the anomaly equations, we must have some representation R with a large

$$\frac{C_R}{A_R} \ge \frac{3b^2 + C_{\text{adj}}}{18b + A_{\text{adj}}} \sim \mathcal{O}(b) \,. \tag{A.79}$$

We have been ruling out b values for which all such large representations R have $A_R > 18b + A_{adj}$. Finding all solutions to the anomaly equations for SU(2) and SU(3) for the range of b values constrained only by this condition turns out to be a demanding task numerically, and it is useful to further restrict the allowed values of b. To do this, we generalize the strategy employed up to now.

Suppose b_0 is a value not ruled out by the previous arguments. This means that there exists a representation R satisfying

$$\frac{C_R}{A_R} \ge \frac{3b_0^2 + C_{\rm adj}}{18b_0 + A_{\rm adj}}$$
(A.80)

and

$$A_R \le 18b_0 + A_{\mathrm{adj}} \tag{A.81}$$

within the block. Let $S(b_0) = \{R_1, \dots, R_k\}$ be all the representations that satisfy these two equations. The fact that A, C, D, A/D and C/A are all strictly increasing functions with respect to m in the case of SU(2) and of x and y in the case of SU(3)is helpful in constructing this list. Now assume that we have the representation R_1 in a block with given b_0 . If R_1 satisfied,

$$3b_0^2 + C_{adj} = C_{R_1}, \quad \text{and} \quad 18b_0 + A_{adj} = A_{R_1}, \quad (A.82)$$

we would have a solution for a single block whose matter content is given by just one R_1 . Suppose this were not the case. ¹ By the same line of argument as before we must have a representation R satisfying

$$\frac{C_R}{A_R} > \frac{3b_0^2 + C_{\text{adj}} - C_{R_1}}{18b_0 + A_{\text{adj}} - A_{R_1}}$$
(A.83)

and

$$A_R < 18b_0 + A_{\rm adj} - A_{R_1} \,. \tag{A.84}$$

If no such representation R exists, the representation R_1 cannot show up in a block with $b = b_0$. If the situation were same for all the representations in $S(b_0) =$ $\{R_1, R_2, \dots, R_k\}$ we could rule out $b = b_0$. We can iterate this process to further rule out b values.

We have employed this procedure for SU(2) and the initial bound 68,018 has been pulled down to 36,647. For SU(3) we have iterated this process 5 times and were able to rule out 288 values of b in the range $b \leq 617$.

We can describe the problem of constructing single block models in a very concise way as a partition problem for SU(2) and SU(3) as the coefficients of the anomaly equations are all positive for these cases. While the situation is similar for SU(3) only depict the process for SU(2) for simplicity. The problem is to find a combination of representations where the A_R, C_R, D_R values add up to $(4 + 18b, 8 + 3b^2, D)$ with $D \leq 276$. This is a straightforward partition problem, whose algorithmic solution is simplified by the fact that A_m/D_m and C_m/A_m are monotonically increasing functions of m. We have implemented an algorithm which computes all such partitions for fixed b and checked a representative sample of b's in the allowed range as described in the main text.

¹In fact, we can show that for SU(2) and SU(3) there cannot be a block with a single matter representation, i.e. a block with $\sum_{R} x_{R} = 1$.

One last note is that the maximum b value possible for single block models turns out to be within an order of magnitude of the upper bounds for small gauge groups. For SU(3) the maximum b possible for an SU(3) is b = 597 while the bound is 617, and for SU(2) we were able to find a block with b = 24,297 while the bound is given by 36,647.

A.3.4 Summary

To summarize, just from the group theory we find that each individual block cannot have a gauge group larger than 24. The *b* values are bounded as in table A.1 SU(N)with $N \ge 3$. The best bound we have for SU(2) is 36,647. As discussed in the main text of this thesis, given an upper bound on *b*, for each fixed $N \le 24$ we can solve the finite partition problem for each *b* to enumerate all possible blocks.

A.4 Proof of Bound on Curable Theories

We prove that the number of curable theories as defined in section 2.4.2 is finite for T < 9. The crucial fact we use is that for curable theories one of the two following conditions must hold:

$$H - V \le 273 - 29T + (T^2 + 6T + 8) \tag{A.85}$$

$$H - V - \sqrt{2}(T+2)\sqrt{N} \le 273 - 29T + (2T+4)$$
(A.86)

where N is the number of hypermultiplet representations of the theory. It is clear from [62, 65] that there could not be an infinite family of theories for which the first condition holds as it requires H - V to be bounded. Therefore, it is sufficient to show that there does not exist an infinite family of curable theories for which the second condition (A.86) holds. It proves convenient to define

$$c(T) \equiv \frac{T+2}{\sqrt{2}}.\tag{A.87}$$

Before presenting the proof of the desired result, we point out that the proof is very similar to that given for non-abelian theories in [62, 65]. Proofs of the existence of bounds on non-anomalous theories are carried out by two steps in these references. First, the authors identify infinite classes of theories that satisfy all the anomaly equations other than the gravitational anomaly bound, and that have positive kinetic terms for the gauge fields. Then they show that it is impossible for all the theories in that infinite class to satisfy the gravitational anomaly bound. This is proven by showing that as the total rank of the gauge group increases, the increase of H is much faster than V. This proves that constructing an infinite class of theories that satisfy all the anomaly cancellation conditions and that have positive kinetic terms for the gauge fields does not exist.

We also take the same approach in proving our bounds. In our case, however, we must prove that the increase of $H - c(T)\sqrt{N}$ is much faster than V for the infinite classes of theories one could construct. Most of our effort will be put in to showing that \sqrt{N} does not increase so fast as to affect the growth of H.

There are infinite classes of theories that this is easy to show. For example, for the class of theories whose H and V exhibit a scaling behavior with respect to the rank of the total gauge group when it becomes large, the arguments presented in [62, 65] can be virtually repeated. This is because equation (A.86) implies that

$$(\sqrt{H} - c(T))^2 - V \le 277 - 27T + c(T)^2.$$
(A.88)

This is because as we have assumed there exist no singlets in curable theories, and hence

$$N \le \frac{H}{2} < H \tag{A.89}$$

holds. Therefore, the scaling behavior of $(\sqrt{H} - c(T))^2 - V$ and H - V with respect to the rank is equivalent and the boundedness argument for these classes of theories are essentially the same. In particular, for an infinite class of theories whose simple group factors have bounded rank, the proof of boundedness given in [62, 65] can be used with very little adjustments. This is presented in section A.4.1. It is, however, worth pointing out that for some infinite class of theories, the situation is rather subtle. When there exist simple group factors with unbounded rank in the infinite class of theories, the bound (A.88) becomes too delicate to use. In that case the stronger bound (A.86) turns out to be more useful in proving the existence of bounds of curable theories. We will carry this out in section A.4.2.

We now turn to presenting the complete proof of the bound on curable theories. We proceed by *reductio ad absurdum*. Let us assume there is an infinite family of curable non-abelian theories with gauge group $\prod_{\kappa} \mathcal{G}_{\kappa}$. Due to the bound on $H - V - 2c\sqrt{N} > (\sqrt{H} - c)^2 - V - c^2$, we see that theories in an infinite family of curable theories should be unbounded in the dimension of the gauge group. If not, H and V are both bounded, and hence only a finite number of theories can be constructed. There are two ways an unbounded family can occur. These are given as the following:

- 1. The dimension of each \mathcal{G}_{κ} , or equivalently, $d_{\mathrm{Adj}_{\kappa}}$ is bounded, but the number of simple factors is unbounded in this family.
- 2. The dimension of a single simple group factor \mathcal{G}_{κ} is unbounded.
- We show that both kinds of families cannot exist in the following subsections.

An important fact we use throughout the proof is the fact that,

$$H \ge \begin{pmatrix} \text{Number of pairs of } \mathcal{G}_{\iota} \neq \mathcal{G}_{\kappa} \\ \text{for which there exists a jointly charged hypermultiplet.} \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.90)
= (Number of pairs of $\mathcal{G}_{\iota} \neq \mathcal{G}_{\kappa}$ with $b_{\iota} \cdot b_{\kappa} \neq 0.$)

This can be shown in the following way.

Suppose a hypermultiplet representation I is charged under $\lambda \geq 2$ gauge groups. Then

$$\mathcal{M}_{I} \geq 2^{\lambda} \geq \lambda(\lambda - 1) = \begin{pmatrix} \text{Number of pairs of } \mathcal{G}_{\iota} \neq \mathcal{G}_{\kappa} \\ \text{that } I \text{ is charged jointly under.} \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.91)

and therefore

$$H = \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_{I} \ge \sum_{I} \begin{pmatrix} \text{Number of pairs of } \mathcal{G}_{\iota} \neq \mathcal{G}_{\kappa} \\ \text{that } I \text{ is charged jointly under.} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\ge \begin{pmatrix} \text{Number of pairs of } \mathcal{G}_{\iota} \neq \mathcal{G}_{\kappa} \\ \text{for which there exist a jointly charged hypermultiplet.} \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.92)

This means that any ordered pair of gauge groups that has matter jointly charged under it contributes at least 1 to H. This proves the inequality in the first line of (A.90).

Since A_{κ}^{R} for any representation R of any simple Lie group \mathcal{G}_{κ} is positive and since,

$$b_{\iota} \cdot b_{\kappa} = \sum \lambda_{\kappa} \lambda_{\iota} \sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_{I}^{\iota \kappa} A_{\iota}^{I} A_{\kappa}^{I} \ge 0$$
(A.93)

the necessary sufficient condition for two gauge groups $\mathcal{G}_{\iota}, \mathcal{G}_{\kappa}$ to have jointly charged matter is $b_{\iota} \cdot b_{\kappa} \neq 0$. Therefore

$$H \ge \sum_{\iota \neq \kappa, \ b_{\iota} \cdot b_{\kappa} \neq 0} 1 = (\text{Number of pairs of } \iota \neq \kappa \text{ with } b_{\iota} \cdot b_{\kappa} \neq 0.)$$
(A.94)

This proves the equality in the second line of (A.90).

A.4.1 Case 1 : Bounded Simple Group Factors

Let us assume that there exists an infinite number of curable theories with bounded simple group factors but with unbounded total dimension.

Let's denote the gauge group of this infinite family of theories $\{\mathcal{T}_{\Phi}\}$ as $\mathcal{G}_{\Phi} = \prod_{\kappa=1}^{\nu} \mathcal{G}_{\kappa}$ with $d_{\mathrm{Adj}_{\kappa}} < D$. Notice that we are denoting the number of gauge group factors, ν . So as $\Phi \to \infty$, $\nu \to \infty$. It is useful to classify the gauge group factors into three types according to their b^2 value:

- 1. Type **Z** : $b_{\kappa}^2 = 0$
- 2. Type N : $b_{\kappa}^2 < 0$

3. Type P : $b_{\kappa}^2 > 0$

Since the dimension of each factor is bounded,

$$(\sqrt{H} - c)^2 \le H - 2c\sqrt{N} + c^2 \le 273 - 29T + \nu D + c^2 \equiv B \sim \mathcal{O}(\nu)$$
. (A.95)

Therefore, the dimension of any representation is bounded also by

$$B' \equiv (\sqrt{B} + c)^2 \sim \mathcal{O}(\nu) \,. \tag{A.96}$$

Let's denote the number of N, Z, P type factors as ν_N, ν_Z, ν_P . Then

$$\nu = \nu_N + \nu_Z + \nu_P \,. \tag{A.97}$$

It is shown in [65] that b_{ι}, b_{κ} of any two P type factors $\mathcal{G}_{\iota}, \mathcal{G}_{\kappa}$ satisfy $b_{\iota} \cdot b_{\kappa} > 0$. Also it is shown that there exists $\nu_N^2/T - \nu_N$ distinct ordered pairs of type N gauge group factors that have matter jointly charged under them. Therefore, using (A.90) we can show that

$$\nu_P(\nu_P - 1) + (\frac{\nu_N^2}{T} - \nu_N) \le H \le B' \sim \mathcal{O}(\nu)$$
 (A.98)

Thus when ν is large,

$$\nu_P, \nu_N \le \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\nu}) \ll \nu \tag{A.99}$$

and therefore the majority of gauge group factors are of type Z:

$$\nu_Z \sim \mathcal{O}(\nu) \tag{A.100}$$

From the fact that two lightlike vectors cannot have zero inner product unless they are parallel, it is clear that in order for two Z type gauge groups to have no jointly charged matter their *b* vectors must be parallel. When we denote the size of the largest collection of parallel type Z vectors as μ there are at least $\nu_Z(\nu_Z - \mu)$ ordered pairs of type Z gauge groups with $b_{\iota} \cdot b_{\kappa} \neq 0$. This means that

$$\nu_Z(\nu_Z - \mu) = (\nu_Z - \mu)(\nu - \nu_P - \nu_N) \le B', \qquad (A.101)$$

so from (A.100) we see that $\nu_Z - \mu$ is of order at most $\mathcal{O}(1)$, *i.e.*, $\nu_Z - \mu$ is bounded as a function of D as we take $\nu \to \infty$. Therfore

$$\mu \sim \nu_Z \sim \mathcal{O}(\nu) \,. \tag{A.102}$$

Meanwhile, it was shown in [62] that all Z factors satisfy H - V > 0 on their own. Since the μ Z factors have no jointly charged matter among themselves,

$$H - V > \mu - D \times [(\nu_Z - \mu) + \nu_p + \nu_N] \sim \mathcal{O}(\nu), \qquad (A.103)$$

i.e., the right hand side of the inequality is unbounded as a function of ν . Then it is clear that,

$$H - V - 2c\sqrt{N} > H - 2c\sqrt{H} - V = (\sqrt{H} - c)^2 - V - c^2$$
(A.104)

is also unbounded as a function of ν . Therefore, $H - V - 2c\sqrt{N}$ cannot be bounded when each simple group factor of the infinite family has bounded rank. This rules out case 1.

A.4.2 Case 2 : Unbounded Simple Group Factors

Let us assume that there exists an infinite number of curable theories with a simple group factor that is unbounded. This is possible if the gauge group contains a classical group $H(\mathcal{N})$ (which is either SU, SO or Sp) with unbounded rank. In this case, there would be an infinite subfamily whose gauge group is given by $H(\mathcal{N}) \times \mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{N}}$ with fixed classical group type H, and $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{N}} = \prod_{\kappa=1}^{\nu(\mathcal{N})} \mathcal{G}_{\kappa}$ an arbitrary product of simple gauge groups with \mathcal{N} unbounded. It is shown in [62] that when \mathcal{N} is large, the $\mathcal{H}(\mathcal{N})$ block must be among those given in table A.2.

Group	Matter content	H' - V'	$2c\sqrt{N'}$	$a \cdot b$	b^2
$SU(\mathcal{N})$	$2\mathcal{N}$	$\mathcal{N}^2 + 1$	$\leq 2c\sqrt{2N}$	0	-2
	$(\mathcal{N}+8)\Box+1\Box$	$\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{N}^2 + \frac{15}{2}\mathcal{N} + 1$	$\leq 2c\sqrt{\mathcal{N}+9}$	1	-1
	$(\mathcal{N}-8)\Box+1\Box\Box$	$\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{N}^2 - \frac{15}{2}\mathcal{N} + 1$	$\leq 2c\sqrt{\mathcal{N}-7}$	-1	-1
	$16\Box + 2\Box$	$15\mathcal{N}+1$	$\leq 2c\sqrt{18}$	2	0
$SO(\mathcal{N})$	$(\mathcal{N}-8)$ \Box	$rac{1}{2}\mathcal{N}^2-rac{15}{2}\mathcal{N}$	$\leq 2c\sqrt{\mathcal{N}-8}$	-1	-1
$Sp(\mathcal{N}/2)$	$(\mathcal{N}+8)$	$rac{1}{2}\mathcal{N}^2+rac{15}{2}\mathcal{N}$	$\leq 2c\sqrt{N+8}$	1	-1
	$16\Box+1\Box$	$15\mathcal{N}$	$\leq 2c\sqrt{17}$	2	0

Table A.2: Allowed charged matter for an infinite family of models with gauge group $H(\mathcal{N})$. The last column gives the values of α , $\tilde{\alpha}$ in the factorized anomaly polynomial. H', V' and N' are as defined in the text.

Let us enumerate the hypermultiplet representations charged under $H(\mathcal{N})$ with indices, $I' = 1, \dots, N'$ and the ones uncharged(and hence charged only under other gauge group factors) as $I'' = N' + 1, \dots, (N' + N'')$. Note that (N' + N'') = N. We call the former hypermultiplets I' hypermultiplets and the latter I'' hypermultiplets. We also define

$$H' \equiv \sum_{I'} \mathcal{M}_{I'} \qquad \qquad V' \equiv d_{\mathrm{Adj}_{H(\mathcal{N})}} \qquad (A.105)$$

$$H'' \equiv \sum_{I''} \mathcal{M}_{I''} \qquad \qquad V'' \equiv \sum_{\kappa} d_{\mathrm{Adj}_{\mathcal{G}_{\kappa}}} \qquad (A.106)$$

Then

$$H - V = (H' - V') + (H'' - V'')$$
(A.107)

$$H - V - 2c\sqrt{N} \ge (H' - V' - 2c\sqrt{N'}) + (H'' - V'' - 2c\sqrt{2N''}), \qquad (A.108)$$

where we have used the fact that for positive x and y, $\sqrt{x+y} < \sqrt{x} + \sqrt{y}$.

From the $H - V - 2c\sqrt{N}$ constraint, we see that additional gauge groups have to be added to make the theory curable since for large \mathcal{N} , $(H' - V' - 2c\sqrt{N'}) \sim \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N}^2)$ or $\sim \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N})$. We shortly see that this is not possible for arbitrary large \mathcal{N} . We explicitly work out the proof for the cases when $(H' - V' - 2c\sqrt{N'}) \sim \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N}^2)$, but the proof generalizes to the other case straightforwardly. Let us see whether we can find an infinite class of $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{N}}$ such that $(H'' - V'' - 2c\sqrt{N''}) \sim -\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N}^2)$ for large \mathcal{N} . There are again two kinds of behavior of $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{N}}$ under $\mathcal{N} \to \infty$. It can consist of simple gauge factors of bounded rank, or it can have a simple gauge factor whose rank is unbounded. We consider these cases separately.

Case 2-1 : Rank of Simple Gauge Group Factors of $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{N}}$ Bounded

Assume that the dimensions of the simple gauge group factors are bounded by D. Denoting $\nu(\mathcal{N})$ as the number of gauge group factors, as previously mentioned, we see that

$$H'' - V'' - 2c\sqrt{N} > (\sqrt{H''} - c)^2 - c^2 - D\nu(\mathcal{N})$$
(A.109)

must behave as $-\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N}^2)$ for large \mathcal{N} . Therefore,

$$\nu(\mathcal{N}) \ge \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N}^2) \,. \tag{A.110}$$

Hence we must have an infinite family of theories where the number of simple gauge group factors of $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{N}}$ increase at least as $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N}^2)$. Also it is clear that

$$H'' \le \mathcal{O}(\nu) \tag{A.111}$$

for large \mathcal{N} and therefore,

$$H = H' + H'' \le \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N}^2) + \mathcal{O}(\nu) \le \mathcal{O}(\nu).$$
(A.112)

Meanwhile, we know from table A.2 that the size of the representation of I' hypermultiplets with respect to the κ gauge groups can be at most of order $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N})$ in our case.² Therefore, the maximum number of gauge groups an I' hypermultiplet could be charged under is given by $\mathcal{O}(\log \mathcal{N}) \leq \mathcal{O}(\log \nu)$. Since there are at most $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N} \log \mathcal{N}) \leq \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\nu} \log \nu)$ such factors, there exists an order $\mathcal{O}(\nu) \geq \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N}^2)$ number of gauge groups among the ν gauge groups \mathcal{G}_{κ} under which only the I'' hypermultiplets

²When $(H' - V' - 2c\sqrt{N'}) \sim \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N})$, the number of I' hypermultiplets can be at most of order $\mathcal{O}(1)$.

are charged. We denote theses gauge groups as $\{\mathcal{G}_{\kappa''}\}$.

Let us denote the size of the set ν'' and the total number of vector multiplets in $\{\mathcal{G}_{\kappa''}\}$ as V'''. Note that $\nu'' \sim \mathcal{O}(\nu)$. Then

$$H'' - V'' - 2c\sqrt{N''} \ge H'' - V''' - 2c\sqrt{N''} - D\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\nu}\log\nu).$$
 (A.113)

Defining the number of P, N, and Z type factors in $\{\mathcal{G}_{\kappa''}\}$ as ν''_P, ν''_N and ν''_Z as before repeating the steps of case 1 we can show that

$$\nu_P'', \nu_N'' \le \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\nu''}) \ll \nu'', \qquad (A.114)$$

and therefore that

$$\nu_Z'' \sim \mathcal{O}(\nu'') \,. \tag{A.115}$$

Also, denoting the size of the largest collection of parallel type Z vectors as μ'' we may show that

$$\mu'' \sim \mathcal{O}(\nu'') \tag{A.116}$$

as in case 1. We may finally show as in case 1 that

$$H'' - V''' > \mu'' - D \times [(\nu_Z - \mu'') + \nu_P'' + \nu_N'']$$

$$\sim \mathcal{O}(\nu'') \sim \mathcal{O}(\nu), \qquad (A.117)$$

and hence that

$$H'' - V''' - 2c\sqrt{N''} > (\sqrt{H''} - c)^2 - V''' - c^2 \ge \mathcal{O}(\nu).$$
 (A.118)

Putting this result together with (A.113) we find that

$$H'' - V'' - 2c\sqrt{N''} > \mathcal{O}(\nu) - D\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\nu}\log\nu) \sim \mathcal{O}(\nu).$$
 (A.119)

Hence $(H'' - V'' - 2c\sqrt{N''})$ cannot behave as $-\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N}^2)$ for large \mathcal{N} . We have come a long way to show that there exists a simple gauge group factor in $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{N}}$ that is unbounded in rank.

Case 2-2 : A Simple Gauge Group Factor of Unbounded Rank in $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{N}}$

In this case, there must be an infinite family of theories with

$$\hat{H}(\mathcal{N}) \times H(\mathcal{P}) \times \mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{N},\mathcal{P}}$$
 (A.120)

with unbounded \mathcal{N} and \mathcal{P} where \hat{H} and H are given classical groups. It is clear that both gauge groups have to come from table A.2.

Unless $H' - V' - 2c\sqrt{N'}$ for $\hat{H}(\mathcal{N}) \times H(\mathcal{P})$ is bounded, by the same arguments as case 2-1 we can show that $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{N},\mathcal{P}}$ contains a gauge group factor of unbounded rank. By the same investigation as in [65] we find that all combinations that have bounded $H' - V' - 2c\sqrt{N'}$ cannot have positive definite kinetic terms.

Hence we are led to the conclusion that there must be an infinite family of theories with

$$\tilde{H}(\mathcal{N}) \times \hat{H}(\mathcal{P}) \times H(\mathcal{Q}) \times \mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{N},\mathcal{P},\mathcal{Q}}.$$
 (A.121)

 \mathcal{N}, \mathcal{P} and \mathcal{Q} are unbounded and \tilde{H}, \hat{H} and H are given classical groups. All three unbounded gauge groups must be from table A.2.

It also is the case that $H' - V' - 2c\sqrt{N'}$ for $\tilde{H}(\mathcal{N}) \times \hat{H}(\mathcal{P}) \times H(\mathcal{Q})$ must be bounded in order for $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{N},\mathcal{P},\mathcal{Q}}$ to have no gauge group factor of unbounded rank. It turns out to be impossible to find such a family with bounded $H' - V' - 2c\sqrt{N'}$ for which there exists a j vector that gives a positive kinetic term.

Our proof is concluded by the fact that one cannot construct an infinite family of theories that consists of four blocks from table A.2 for which all the ranks of the individual gauge group factors go to infinity. \Box

A.5 A Bound on the Number of Vector Multiplets for Pure Abelian Theories with T = 0

In the case that T = 0 and the gauge group is purely abelian, we can obtain a lower bound on the number of charged hypermultiplets as a function of the the total rank of the gauge group. Similar bounds may be obtained for other values of T < 9 though they are less stringent.

We label the U(1) gauge groups by $i = 1, \dots, V_A$. The gravitational anomaly condition imposes that the number of hypermultiplets is equal to $V_A + 273$. We denote the number of charged hypermultiplets to be $X \leq (V_A + 273)$, and label them by $I = 1, \dots, X$.

For T = 0, the vectors

$$\vec{q_i} \equiv (q_{1,i}, q_{2,i}, \cdots, q_{X,i}),$$
 (A.122)

whose components are the charges of the X charged hypermultiplets under $U(1)_i$, must satisfy

$$108 \sum_{I} f_{I}(x_{i})^{4} = \left(\sum_{I} f_{I}(x_{i})^{2}\right)^{2}.$$
 (A.123)

This follows from (2.124) and (2.126) where, as before, we have defined

$$f_I(x_i) = q_{I,i} x_i \,. \tag{A.124}$$

In order for the kinetic term matrix proportional to

$$b_{ij} = \sum_{I} q_{I,i} q_{I,j} \tag{A.125}$$

to be positive definite, $\vec{q_i}$ must be linearly independent. This was explained at the end of section 2.1.4. Therefore, using the $GL(V_A)$ invariance of the equation, we can redefine $\vec{q_i}$ so these vectors become orthogonal. It is convenient to normalize them to have norm $\sqrt{108}$, *i.e.*,

$$\sum_{I} q_{I,i} q_{I,j} = \sqrt{108} \delta_{ij} \,. \tag{A.126}$$

(Note that the q's are not necessarily integers in this basis.)

Plugging this into (A.123) and expanding, we find that $q_{I,i}$ must also satisfy

$$\sum_{I} q_{I,i}^4 = 1 \tag{A.127}$$

for
$$i, j$$
 distinct (A.128)

$$\sum_{I} q_{I,i}^2 q_{I,j}^2 = \frac{1}{3} \qquad \text{for } i, j \text{ distinct} \qquad (A.128)$$

$$\sum_{I} q_{I,i}^3 q_{I,j} = 0 \qquad \text{for } i, j \text{ distinct} \qquad (A.129)$$

$$\sum_{I} q_{I,i}^2 q_{I,j} q_{I,k} = 0 \qquad \text{for } i, j, k \text{ distinct} \qquad (A.130)$$

$$\sum_{I} q_{I,i} q_{I,j} q_{I,k} q_{I,l} = 0 \qquad \text{for } i, j, k, l \text{ distinct}. \qquad (A.131)$$

Defining the vectors

$$\vec{Q}_i \equiv (q_{1,i}^2, q_{2,i}^2, \cdots, q_{X,i}^2)$$
 (A.132)

$$\vec{A} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{X}}(1, 1, \cdots, 1),$$
 (A.133)

and

$$\hat{Q}_{ij} \equiv (q_{1,i}q_{1,j}, q_{2,i}q_{2,j}, \cdots, q_{X,i}q_{X,j})$$
 (A.134)

for i < j, the equations obtained from (A.123) and (A.126) can be re-written as,

$$\vec{A} \cdot \vec{Q}_i = \sqrt{\frac{108}{X}} \tag{A.135}$$

$$\vec{Q}_i^2 = 1 \tag{A.136}$$

$$\vec{Q}_{i}^{2} = 1$$
 (A.136)
 $\vec{Q}_{i} \cdot \vec{Q}_{j} = \vec{Q}_{ij}^{2} = \frac{1}{3}$ for *i*, *j* distinct (A.137)

$$\vec{A} \cdot \vec{Q}_{ij} = \vec{q}_i \cdot \vec{q}_j = 0$$
 for i, j distinct (A.138)

$$\vec{Q}_i \cdot \vec{Q}_{ij} = 0$$
 for i, j distinct (A.139)

$$\vec{Q}_{i} \cdot \vec{Q}_{jk} = \vec{Q}_{ij} \cdot \vec{Q}_{ik} = 0 \qquad \text{for } i, j, k \text{ distinct} \qquad (A.140)$$
$$\vec{Q}_{ij} \cdot \vec{Q}_{kl} = 0 \qquad \text{for } i, j, k, l \text{ distinct} \qquad (A.141)$$

It is easy to see that \vec{Q}_i and \vec{Q}_{ij} are all non-zero, since all $\vec{q}_i \neq \vec{0}$. Also \vec{Q}_i and \vec{Q}_{ij} are X-dimensional vectors by definition.

Using the given inner products we can show that

$$|\vec{Q}_1 + \dots + \vec{Q}_{V_A}|^2 = V_A + \frac{1}{3}V_A(V_A - 1) = \frac{1}{3}V_A(V_A + 2).$$
 (A.142)

Since \vec{A} is a unit vector by definition,

$$V_A \sqrt{\frac{108}{X}} = \vec{A} \cdot \left(\sum_i \vec{Q}_i\right) \le \left|\sum_i \vec{Q}_i\right| = \sqrt{\frac{1}{3}V_A(V_A + 2)} \,. \tag{A.143}$$

Hence

$$\frac{324V_A}{V_A+2} \le X \le V_A + 273, \tag{A.144}$$

as promised. This equation implies that

$$V_A \le 17 \quad \text{or} \quad V_A \ge 32.$$
 (A.145)

An additional constraint is needed to obtain an upper bound on V_A .

The additional constraint can be obtained by utilizing the full set of vectors \vec{Q}_{ij} and \vec{Q}_i we have defined. Note that by (A.140) and (A.141), \vec{Q}_{ij} are mutually orthogonal. They are also orthogonal to \vec{Q}_i and \vec{A} as can be seen in (A.138), (A.139) and (A.140).

Also, all $\vec{Q_i}$ must be linearly independent. This is because if we assume

$$k_1 \bar{Q}_1 + \dots + k_{V_A} \bar{Q}_{V_A} = 0, \qquad (A.146)$$

then for non-zero k_i

$$k_1^2 + \dots + k_{V_A}^2 + \frac{2}{3}(k_1k_2 + \dots + k_{V_A-1}k_{V_A}) = 0.$$
 (A.147)

But the l.h.s. can be rewritten as

$$\frac{2}{3}(k_1^2 + \dots + k_{V_A}^2) + \frac{1}{3}(k_1 + \dots + k_{V_A})^2 = 0$$
 (A.148)

and hence the equality cannot hold for non-zero k_i .

Therefore, we find that \vec{Q}_i together with \vec{Q}_{ij} form a set of linearly independent vectors. This means that we must have $V_A(V_A + 1)/2$ linearly independent vectors in $X \leq V_A + 273$ dimensional space. Hence,

$$\frac{V_A(V_A+1)}{2} \le X \le V_A + 273. \tag{A.149}$$

From this we obtain the bound $V_A \leq 24$.

Put together with the bound (A.145) we obtain

$$V_A \le 17, \tag{A.150}$$

as desired. \Box

A.6 Proof of Minimal Charge Condition for $SU(13) \times U(1)$ Models

In this section we prove that when

$$r = 84n + 43 = 2 \times 3 \times 7 \times (2n+1) + 1 \tag{A.151}$$

$$s = 182n + 92 = 7 \times 13 \times (2n+1) + 1 \tag{A.152}$$

for integer n, then the integers a and (-3a - 2f/3) for

$$a = 13r^2 - 234rs - 51s^2 \tag{A.153}$$

$$f = 24(13r^2 + 3s^2) \tag{A.154}$$

are mutually prime. Let us define

$$g \equiv gcd(a, -3a - \frac{2}{3}f) = gcd(a, \frac{2}{3}f).$$
 (A.155)

Our goal is to show that g = 1.

We first acknowledge that r and s are mutually prime. This is because

$$gcd(r,s)|(13r-6s)$$
 (A.156)

and

$$13r - 6s = 7. \tag{A.157}$$

It is clear, however, that 7 and r are mutually prime. Therefore, gcd(r, s) must be 1, and hence r and s must be mutually prime. Meanwhile, a is odd since r is even and s is odd. Therefore g must also be odd, i.e. $2 \nmid g$. Also, g is not divisible by 3. We can show $3 \nmid g$ by noting that $g \mid (13r^2 + 3s^2)$ and that

$$13r^2 + 3s^2 \equiv 1 \pmod{3}.$$
 (A.158)

Let us show that g = 1. By definition

$$g = gcd(a, \frac{2f}{3}) = gcd(13r^2 - 234rs - 51s^2, 16(13r^2 + 3s^2))$$

= $gcd(13r^2 - 234rs - 51s^2, 13r^2 + 3s^2),$ (A.159)

where we have used the fact that $2 \nmid g$. Using standard properties of the greatest common divisor, we further find that

$$g = gcd(13r^{2} - 234rs - 51s^{2}, 13r^{2} + 3s^{2})$$

= $gcd(-234rs - 54s^{2}, 13r^{2} + 3s^{2})$
= $gcd(-234r - 54s, 13r^{2} + 3s^{2}) = gcd(-18(13r + 3s), 13r^{2} + 3s^{2})$
= $gcd(13r + 3s, 13r^{2} + 3s^{2})$ (A.160)

In the penultimate line we have used the fact that

$$gcd(s, 13r^2 + 3s^2) = gcd(s, 13r^2) = 1$$
 (A.161)

since $s \equiv 1 \pmod{13}$ and s and r are mutually prime. In the last line we have used $2 \nmid g$ and $3 \nmid g$.

Therefore, g must be a divisor of

$$-(13r+3s)(13-3s)+13(13r^2+3s^2)=48s^2.$$
 (A.162)

We have seen in (A.161) that s is mutually prime with $13r^2 + 3s^2$. Therefore, g is mutually prime with s and hence

$$g|2^3 \times 3. \tag{A.163}$$

We, however, know that $2 \nmid g$ and $3 \nmid g$. This proves that g = 1, as desired. \Box

Appendix B

Appendices for Chapter 4

B.1 Lie Algebra and Intersection Theory

In this appendix, we show that the normalized coroot inner-product matrix, and the Cartan matrix defined as

$$C_{IJ} = \frac{1}{\lambda(\mathcal{G})} \frac{4\langle \alpha_I, \alpha_J \rangle}{\langle \alpha_I, \alpha_I \rangle \langle \alpha_J, \alpha_J \rangle}$$
(B.1)

$$C_{IJ} = \frac{2\langle \alpha_I, \alpha_J \rangle}{\langle \alpha_I, \alpha_I \rangle} \tag{B.2}$$

are related to the intersection matrix of cycles obtained by blowing up singular fibers. α_I are simple roots of the Lie algebra. The simple roots are normalized by fixing the normalization of the matrices $\{T_i\}$ that generate the Cartan sub-algebra such that

$$\mathrm{tr}T_iT_j = \delta_{ij}\,,\tag{B.3}$$

where the trace is taken in the fundamental representation. Therefore we see that the normalization of the roots depend on the Lie group, rather than the Lie algebra. The Cartan matrix, however, clearly only depends on the Lie algebra rather than the Lie group from its definition; it is independent of the normalization of the roots. We have shown that the same holds for the normalized coroot matrix C_{IJ} in appendix A.1. To make a precise statement relating these matrices to the intersection theory of a resolved codimension-one singularity on the base, let us set up the context. Suppose there is a singular fiber of Calabi-Yau threefold X fibered over a curve b in the base that gives an enhanced gauge symmetry with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . One can resolve this singularity by blowing up r independent \mathbb{P}^1 's, where r is the rank of \mathfrak{g} . Denote the r \mathbb{P}^1 's as χ_1, \dots, χ_r . Also denote the r four-cycles obtained by fibering the \mathbb{P}^1 's along b as C_1, \dots, C_r . In the case of non-simply laced gauge groups, a single fiber of C_I might contain multiple copies \mathbb{P}^1 's because monodromy of the fibers will map rational curves in the fiber into each other. We denote the monodromy invariant fibers γ_I , so that C_I is obtained by fibering γ_I over b.

The statement is that

$$B_{\alpha} \cdot C_{I} \cdot C_{J} = -C_{IJ}b_{\alpha}$$

$$C_{I} \cdot c_{J} = -C_{IJ}$$
(B.4)

where B_{α} are the four-cycles that are obtained by fibering the elliptic fiber over elements of $H_2(\mathcal{B})$. We check this statement by comparing the Cartan matrix and the normalized coroot matrix \mathcal{C} computed in section A.1 and the explicit intersection numbers to obtain (B.4).

We verify the equations pictorially. For each gauge algebra, we draw the corresponding tree of resolved rational curves and label the linearly independent curves as α_I and label the monodromy invariant combinations of rational curves γ_J according to [133]. The curves χ_I that M2 branes wrap to give root vectors are identified with α_I . The four cycles C_J dual to non-abelian gauge field components of the coroot basis elements \mathcal{T}_J of the Cartan are obtained by fibering γ_J over b.

We verify that

$$\gamma_I \cdot \gamma_J = -\mathcal{C}_{IJ} \tag{B.5}$$
$$\gamma_I \cdot \alpha_J = -C_{IJ}$$

where the intersections are taken within a local complex dimension two slice of the

manifold transverse to b at a generic point in b. These two equations imply (B.4) since

$$B_{\alpha} \cdot C_I \cdot C_J = b_{\alpha}(\gamma_I \cdot C_J) = -b_{\alpha} \mathcal{C}_{IJ}, \qquad (B.6)$$

$$C_I \cdot \chi_J = C_I \cdot \alpha_J = -C_{IJ} \,. \tag{B.7}$$

The latter equalities of the two equations follow from (B.5) since C_I is a γ_I fibration over b. We note that all the data are defined for the Lie algebra, and not sensitive to the Lie group.

We verify these equations first for simply laced Lie algebras, and then for nonsimply laced Lie algebras. All of the facts stated in this appendix either can be found in, or are implicit in [118, 119, 132, 133, 134, 135, 179], but we have stated them in a way that is convenient for our purposes.

B.1.1 Simply Laced Lie Algebras

For simply laced Lie algebras, the monodromy group of the blown-up singular fibers are trivial and the blown-up rational curves form the Dynkin diagram of the corresponding Lie algebra, except possibly for the case of $\mathfrak{su}(2)$. It turns out that $\alpha_I = \gamma_I$ for all the simply laced Lie algebras.

The self-intersection number of a rational curve is (-2) and the intersection number between adjacent rational curves is 1. The intersection number between nonadjacent curves are 0. The intersection number satisfies linearity conditions, *i.e.*,

$$c \cdot (\lambda_1 c_1 + \lambda_2 c_2) = \lambda_1 (c \cdot c_1) + \lambda_2 (c \cdot c_2). \tag{B.8}$$

Based on these rules, we can verify that the resolved fibers that give the A, D, E algebra satisfy (B.5).

 I_{n+1} fibers, or possibly the III/IV fiber for A_1/A_2 respectively, give the A_n Lie algebra. The tree of blown-up rational curves of the resolved I_{n+1} fiber—or the

III/IV fiber for A_1/A_2 —is depicted in figure B-1. It is clear that

$$(\gamma_{I} \cdot \gamma_{J}) = (\gamma_{I} \cdot \alpha_{J}) = \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & -2 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & -2 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 & -2 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 1 & -2 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 1 & -2 \end{pmatrix} = -C_{IJ} = -C_{IJ}.$$
(B.9)



Figure B-1: Resolved fiber for A_n . The curves α corresponding to root vectors are in solid lines while the monodromy invariant fibers γ corresponding to coroots are in dotted lines.

 I_{n-4}^* fibers give the D_n Lie algebra. The tree of blown-up rational curves of the resolved I_{n-4}^* fiber is depicted in figure B-2. The intersection matrices are given by

$$(\gamma_{I} \cdot \gamma_{J}) = (\gamma_{I} \cdot \alpha_{J}) = \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -2 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & -2 & 1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -2 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & -2 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 & -2 \end{pmatrix} = -C_{IJ} = -C_{IJ}.$$
(B.10)

The fibers IV^* , III^* and II^* give the E_6 , E_7 and E_8 Lie algebra respectively. The tree of blown-up rational curves of the resolved E_n fiber is depicted in figure B-3.



Figure B-2: Resolved fiber for D_n .

The intersection matrices are given by

$$(\gamma_{I} \cdot \gamma_{J}) = (\gamma_{I} \cdot \alpha_{J}) = \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & -2 & 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -2 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & -2 & 1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -2 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & -2 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 & -2 \end{pmatrix} = -C_{IJ} = -C_{IJ}.$$
(B.11)



Figure B-3: Resolved fiber for E_n .

 $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ can come from an I_3 or IV fiber with a \mathbb{Z}_2 monodromy. The resolved fiber that gives the A_1 Lie algebra in this way is given by figure B-4. The \mathbb{Z}_2 interchanges the two \mathbb{P}^1 's drawn in the figure, and hence the point where the two rational curves touch is singular. γ_1 is the monodromy invariant fiber. It is shown in [132] that the BPS states come from branes wrapping α_1 rather than the the individual components drawn as spheres in the figure. The intersection matrices are given by

$$(\gamma_I \cdot \gamma_J) = (\gamma_I \cdot \alpha_J) = (-2) = -C_{IJ} = -C_{IJ}.$$
 (B.12)



Figure B-4: Resolved fiber for A_1 .

B.1.2 Non-simply Laced Lie Algebras

For non-simply laced Lie algebras, the blown-up singular fibers have non-trivial monodromy. The blown-up rational curves form the Dynkin diagram of a larger Lie algebra. Under monodromy, the rational curves are exchanged among themselves. For each fiber, we denote the independent rational curves α_I , and the monodromy invariant components of the fiber γ_I . Let us verify that the resolved fibers that give the A, D, E algebra satisfy (B.5).

The fibers $I_{(n-3)}^*$ with \mathbb{Z}_2 monodromy give the B_n Lie algebra. The tree of blownup rational curves of the resolved $I_{(n-3)}^*$ fiber is depicted in figure B-5. The \mathbb{Z}_2 monodromy exchanges the two rational curves in γ_n . The intersection matrices are given by

$$(\gamma_{I} \cdot \gamma_{J}) = \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & -2 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & -2 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 & -2 & 2 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 2 & -4 \end{pmatrix} = -C_{IJ},$$

$$(B.13)$$

$$(\gamma_{I} \cdot \alpha_{J}) = \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & -2 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & -2 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 & -2 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 2 & -2 \end{pmatrix} = -C_{IJ}.$$



Figure B-5: Resolved fiber for B_n . The curves α corresponding to root vectors are in solid lines while the monodromy invariant fibers γ corresponding to coroots are in dotted lines.

The fibers I_{2n} or $I_{(2n+1)}$ with \mathbb{Z}_2 monodromy give the C_n Lie algebra. The trees of blown-up rational curves of the resolved I_{2n} and $I_{(2n+1)}$ fibers are depicted in figure B-6. The \mathbb{Z}_2 monodromy exchanges the two rational curves in each γ_I . Just as with the case of $\mathfrak{su}(2)$, α_1 should be taken to be equal to γ_1 [132]. The intersection matrices are given by

$$(\gamma_{I} \cdot \gamma_{J}) = \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 2 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & -4 & 2 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 & -4 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & -4 & 2 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 2 & -4 \end{pmatrix} = -C_{IJ},$$

$$(B.14)$$

$$(\gamma_{I} \cdot \alpha_{J}) = \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & -2 & 1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -2 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & -2 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 & -2 \end{pmatrix} = -C_{IJ}.$$



Figure B-6: Resolved fiber for C_n .

The fiber IV^* with \mathbb{Z}_2 monodromy gives the F_4 Lie algebra. The tree of blown-up rational curves of the resolved IV^* fiber is depicted in figure B-7. The \mathbb{Z}_2 monodromy exchanges the two rational curves in γ_3 and γ_4 . The intersection matrices are given

$$(\gamma_I \cdot \gamma_J) = \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & -2 & 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 & -4 & 2 \\ 0 & 0 & 2 & -4 \end{pmatrix} = -\mathcal{C}_{IJ}, \ (\gamma_I \cdot \alpha_J) = \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & -2 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 & -2 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -2 \end{pmatrix} = -\mathcal{C}_{IJ}.$$
(B.15)

by



Figure B-7: Resolved fiber for F_4 .

The fiber I_0^* with \mathbb{Z}_3 or \mathfrak{S}_3 monodromy gives the G_2 Lie algebra. The tree of blown-up rational curves of the resolved I_0^* fiber is depicted in figure B-8. The \mathbb{Z}_3 or \mathfrak{S}_3 monodromy exchanges the three rational curves in γ_2 . The intersection matrices are given by

$$(\gamma_I \cdot \gamma_J) = \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 3\\ 3 & -6 \end{pmatrix} = -\mathcal{C}_{IJ}, \quad (\gamma_I \cdot \alpha_J) = \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 1\\ 3 & -2 \end{pmatrix} = -\mathcal{C}_{IJ}. \tag{B.16}$$



Figure B-8: Resolved fiber for G_2 .

B.2 Proof of Intersection Equations for S_n of Type S or C

We prove the intersection equations

$$\pi(\mathcal{S}_{1}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{2})\cdot\pi(\mathcal{S}_{3}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{4}) + \pi(\mathcal{S}_{1}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{3})\cdot\pi(\mathcal{S}_{2}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{4}) + \pi(\mathcal{S}_{1}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{4})\cdot\pi(\mathcal{S}_{2}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{3})$$

$$=\sum_{r}(c_{r}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{1})(c_{r}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{2})(c_{r}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{3})(c_{r}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{4}) + \sum_{\rho}(2g_{\rho}-2)(\chi_{\rho}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{1})(\chi_{\rho}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{2})(\chi_{\rho}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{3})(\chi_{\rho}\cdot\mathcal{S}_{4})$$
(B.17)

and

$$6K \cdot \pi(\mathcal{S}_1 \cdot \mathcal{S}_2) = \sum_r (c_r \cdot \mathcal{S}_1)(c_r \cdot \mathcal{S}_2) + \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot \mathcal{S}_1)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot \mathcal{S}_2)$$
(B.18)

when

$$\mathcal{S}_n \in \{T_{I,\kappa}, S_i\}. \tag{B.19}$$

We first check the case when S_n are all of type S, then check the case when S_n are all of type C. Finally we check the case when there is a mixture of type S and C cycles among S_n . We refer to the first equation (B.17) the quartic equation and the second equation (B.18) the quadratic equation throughout this appendix.

B.2.1 Type S Cycles Only

Take S_n to be type S cycles $\{S_i, S_j, S_k, S_l\}$. S_n are dual to abelian vector multiplets. Then using the result (3.84)

$$b_{ij} = -\pi (S_i \cdot S_j), \qquad (B.20)$$

the last equation of (2.26) can be rewritten in the form

$$\pi(S_i \cdot S_j) \cdot \pi(S_k \cdot S_l) + \pi(S_i \cdot S_k) \cdot \pi(S_j \cdot S_l) + \pi(S_i \cdot S_l) \cdot \pi(S_j \cdot S_k) = \sum_x q_i^x q_j^x q_k^x q_l^x \,.$$
(B.21)

We have used x to index all the hypermultiplets in the theory and q_n^x denotes the charge of hypermultiplet x under the U(1) vector field dual to S_n .

We note that all hypermultiplets charged under these vector multiplets come from M2 branes wrapping type I curves, which are precisely c_r . Recall that

$$S_j \cdot \chi_{\rho} = 0 \tag{B.22}$$

for all ρ by the construction of S-type cycles.

Then since the charge of the hypermultiplet coming from wrapping branes on c_r under vector field n is $c_r \cdot S_i$, the last equation of (2.26) is indeed equivalent to the equation

$$\pi(S_i \cdot S_j) \cdot \pi(S_k \cdot S_l) + \pi(S_i \cdot S_k) \cdot \pi(S_j \cdot S_l) + \pi(S_i \cdot S_l) \cdot \pi(S_j \cdot S_k)$$

$$= \sum_r (c_r \cdot S_i)(c_r \cdot S_j)(c_r \cdot S_k)(c_r \cdot S_l) + \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot S_i)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot S_j)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot S_k)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot S_l)$$
(B.23)

since the latter term on the right hand side is zero.

Similarly, since the vector a is identified with the canonical class of the base K, the second equation in (2.23) implies that

$$6K \cdot \pi(S_i \cdot S_j) = -6a \cdot b_{ij} = \sum_x q_i^x q_j^x$$

$$= \sum_r (c_r \cdot S_i)(c_r \cdot S_j) + \sum_\rho (2g_\rho - 2)(\chi_\rho \cdot S_i)(\chi_\rho \cdot S_j)$$
(B.24)

for two type S four-cycles S_i, S_j . Hence we have shown that (B.17) and (B.18) hold when S_n are all of type S.

B.2.2 Type C Cycles Only

We prove

$$\pi(T_{I,\kappa} \cdot T_{J,\nu}) \cdot \pi(T_{K,\lambda} \cdot T_{L,\mu}) + (2 \text{ other groupings})$$

$$= \sum_{r} (c_{r} \cdot T_{I,\kappa}) (c_{r} \cdot T_{J,\nu}) (c_{r} \cdot T_{K,\lambda}) (c_{r} \cdot T_{L,\mu})$$

$$+ \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2) (\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{I,\kappa}) (\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{J,\nu}) (\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{K,\lambda}) (\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{L,\mu})$$
(B.25)

and

$$6K \cdot \pi(T_{I,\kappa} \cdot T_{J,\nu}) = \sum_{r} (c_r \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(c_r \cdot T_{J,\nu}) + \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{J,\nu})$$
(B.26)

for $T_{I,\kappa}$ of type C. The quartic equation is only non-trivial when the $\kappa, \nu, \lambda, \mu$ are equal in pairs—this includes the case when they are all equal. The quadratic equation is only non-trivial when κ and ν are equal.

The two statements above follow from three facts.

1. $\pi(T_{I,\kappa} \cdot T_{J,\nu})$ satisfies

$$\pi(T_{I,\kappa} \cdot T_{J,\nu}) = -\delta_{\kappa\nu} b_{\kappa} \mathcal{C}_{IJ,\kappa}, \qquad (B.27)$$

so the left-hand side of the quartic equation is zero unless $\kappa, \nu, \lambda, \mu$ are equal in pairs. Similarly, the left hand side of the quadratic equation is zero unless κ and ν are equal.

2. Unless $\kappa, \nu, \lambda, \mu$ are equal in pairs,

$$\sum_{r} (c_r \cdot T_{I,\kappa}) (c_r \cdot T_{J,\nu}) (c_r \cdot T_{K,\lambda}) (c_r \cdot T_{L,\mu}) = \sum_{R} k_R \operatorname{tr}_R \mathcal{T}_{M,\eta} = 0$$
(B.28)

for some constants k_R and $M,\eta.$ Similarly, unless κ and ν are equal,

$$\sum_{r} (c_r \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(c_r \cdot T_{J,\nu}) = \sum_{R} k_R \operatorname{tr}_R \mathcal{T}_{M,\eta} = 0$$
(B.29)

for some constants k_R and M, η . This is because the hypermultiplets coming from type I cycles always can be organized into representations of the Lie algebra.

3. χ_{ρ} can be organized into positive(or negative, depending on convention) roots of the simple Lie algebra factors as $\{\chi_{\rho}\} = \{\chi_{s,\kappa}\}$. Any $\chi_{s,\kappa}$ for a given κ is a linear combination of curves $\chi_{I,\kappa}$ corresponding to the simple roots of \mathcal{G}_{κ} . Since

$$\chi_{I,\kappa} \cdot T_{J,\nu} = -\delta_{\kappa\nu} C_{IJ,\kappa} \,, \tag{B.30}$$

the equation

$$(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{I,\nu}) = 0 \tag{B.31}$$

holds for $\kappa \neq \nu$.

Therefore (B.25) is non-trivial only when $\kappa, \nu, \lambda, \mu$ are equal in pairs, and (B.26) is non-trivial only when $\kappa = \nu$.

Now let us write the anomaly equations in a form more convenient to our purposes. The anomaly equations concerning only non-abelian gauge group factors implies that the following holds for all elements T_{κ}, T_{ν} of the Cartan of the gauge groups $\mathcal{G}_{\kappa}, \mathcal{G}_{\nu}$:

$$a \cdot b_{\kappa} \frac{\operatorname{tr} T_{\kappa}^{2}}{\lambda_{\kappa}} = \frac{1}{6} (\operatorname{tr}_{\operatorname{Adj}_{\kappa}} T_{\kappa}^{2} - \sum_{I} x_{R} \operatorname{tr}_{R} T_{\kappa}^{2})$$
(B.32)

$$b_{\kappa} \cdot b_{\kappa} (\frac{\operatorname{tr} T_{\kappa}^{2}}{\lambda_{\kappa}})^{2} = \frac{1}{3} (\sum_{I} x_{R} \operatorname{tr}_{R} T_{\kappa}^{4} - \operatorname{tr}_{\operatorname{Adj}_{\kappa}} T_{\kappa}^{4})$$
(B.33)

$$b_{\kappa} \cdot b_{\nu}\left(\frac{\operatorname{tr}T_{\kappa}^{2}}{\lambda_{\kappa}}\right)\left(\frac{\operatorname{tr}T_{\nu}^{2}}{\lambda_{\nu}}\right) = \sum_{R,S} x_{RS} \operatorname{tr}_{R} T_{\kappa}^{2} \operatorname{tr}_{S} T_{\nu}^{2} \quad (\kappa \neq \nu)$$
(B.34)

Let us take $T_{\kappa} = t_I \mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa}$ and $T_{\nu} = s_I \mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa}$ where *I* runs over the indices of the coroot basis of the Cartan sub-algebra of each gauge group. Expanding the equalities above, we obtain polynomials with respect to t_I and s_I on both sides of the equations. The anomaly equations must hold for any value of t_I and s_I . Hence all the coefficients of the polynomials must be identical. By identifying the coefficients, we obtain

$$a \cdot b_{\kappa} C_{IJ,\kappa} = \frac{1}{6} (\operatorname{tr}_{\operatorname{Adj}_{\kappa}} \mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa} \mathcal{T}_{J,\kappa} - \sum_{I} x_{R} \operatorname{tr}_{R} \mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa} \mathcal{T}_{J,\kappa})$$

$$b_{\kappa} \cdot b_{\kappa} (C_{IJ,\kappa} C_{KL,\kappa} + C_{IK,\kappa} C_{JL,\kappa} + C_{IL,\kappa} C_{JK,\kappa}) = \sum_{I} x_{R} \operatorname{tr}_{R} \mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa} \mathcal{T}_{J,\kappa} \mathcal{T}_{K,\kappa} \mathcal{T}_{L,\kappa} - \operatorname{tr}_{\operatorname{Adj}_{\kappa}} \mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa} \mathcal{T}_{J,\kappa} \mathcal{T}_{K,\kappa} \mathcal{T}_{L,\kappa}$$

$$b_{\kappa} \cdot b_{\nu} C_{IJ,\kappa} C_{KL,\nu} = \sum_{R,S} x_{RS} \operatorname{tr}_{R} \mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa} \mathcal{T}_{J,\kappa} \operatorname{tr}_{S} \mathcal{T}_{K,\nu} \mathcal{T}_{L,\nu}$$
(B.35)

for $\kappa \neq \nu$.

We can write all the elements of the right-hand sides as a sum of products of the charge of each vector or hypermultiplet under each Cartan element. Each charged multiplet corresponds to a type I or a type F rational curve, and its charges are given by the intersection numbers of the curve with the four-cycles of type C. Rewriting the right-hand sides of the equations we obtain

$$-6a \cdot b_{\kappa} C_{IJ,\kappa} = \sum_{r} (c_{r} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot T_{J,\kappa}) + \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{J,\kappa})$$

$$b_{\kappa} \cdot b_{\kappa} (C_{IJ,\kappa} C_{KL,\kappa} + C_{IK,\kappa} C_{JL,\kappa} + C_{IL,\kappa} C_{JK,\kappa}) = \sum_{r} (c_{r} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot T_{J,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot T_{K,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot T_{L,\kappa})$$

$$+ \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{J,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{K,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{L,\kappa})$$

$$b_{\kappa} \cdot b_{\nu} C_{IJ,\kappa} C_{KL,\nu} = \sum_{r} (c_{r} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot T_{J,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot T_{K,\nu})(c_{r} \cdot T_{L,\nu})$$

$$+ \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{J,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{K,\nu})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{L,\nu})$$

Note that the curve χ_{ρ} contributes $2g_{\rho}$ hypermultiplets and two vector multiplets [144, 145], as explained in section 3.3.1. The vector multiplet always contributes with a negative sign with respect to the contribution of the hypermultiplet to the right

hand sides of the equations. The last term of the last equation is zero.

Finally using

$$\pi(T_{I,\kappa} \cdot T_{J,\nu}) = -\delta_{\kappa\nu} b_{\kappa} \mathcal{C}_{IJ,\kappa} , \qquad (B.37)$$

and the fact that a is equal to the canonical class K of the base, the three equations translate into

$$6K \cdot \pi(T_{I,\kappa} \cdot T_{J,\kappa}) =$$

$$\sum_{r} (c_{r} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot T_{J,\kappa}) + \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{J,\kappa})$$

$$\pi(T_{I,\kappa} \cdot T_{J,\kappa}) \cdot \pi(T_{K,\kappa} \cdot T_{L,\kappa}) + (2 \text{ other groupings}) =$$

$$\sum_{r} (c_{r} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot T_{J,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot T_{K,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot T_{L,\kappa})$$

$$+ \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{J,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{K,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{L,\kappa})$$

$$\pi(T_{I,\kappa} \cdot T_{J,\kappa}) \cdot \pi(T_{K,\nu} \cdot T_{L,\nu}) + (2 \text{ other groupings}) =$$

$$\sum_{r} (c_{r} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot T_{J,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot T_{K,\nu})(c_{r} \cdot T_{L,\nu})$$

$$+ \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{J,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{K,\nu})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{L,\nu})$$

We note that in the last equation, the two other groupings of cycles that are not written down are zero.

B.2.3 Both Type S and C Cycles

The quadratic equation is always trivial when S_1 and S_2 are each of type S and C, for the following reasons.

1. The left hand side of the quadratic equation is trivially zero since

$$\pi(S_i \cdot T_{I,\kappa}) = 0, \qquad (B.39)$$

due to the construction of type S cycles.

2. The hypermultiplets come in representations of the non-abelian Lie algebra. Hence,

$$\sum_{r} (c_r \cdot S_i)(c_r \cdot T_{I,\kappa}) = \sum_{R} k_R \operatorname{tr}_R \mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa} = 0.$$
 (B.40)

3. S_i do not intersect type χ_ρ curves by construction. Hence,

$$\sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot S_i)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{I,\kappa}) = 0.$$
 (B.41)

Similarly we can show that the non-trivial cases to check for the quartic equation are, without loss of generality, when

- 1. $S_1 = \mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa}, S_2 = \mathcal{T}_{J,\kappa}, S_3 = \mathcal{T}_{K,\kappa}, S_4 = S_i.$ 2. $S_1 = \mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa}, S_2 = \mathcal{T}_{J,\kappa}, S_3 = S_i, S_4 = S_j.$
- From the anomaly equations, we can show that for any element of the Cartan T_{κ} of \mathcal{G}_{κ}

$$0 = \sum_{R,q_i} x_{R,q_i} q_i \operatorname{tr}_R T_{\kappa}^3$$

$$b_{\kappa} \cdot b_{ij} \frac{\operatorname{tr}_{\kappa}^2}{\lambda_{\kappa}} = \sum_{R,q_i,q_j} x_{R,q_i,q_j} q_i q_j \operatorname{tr}_{\kappa}^2$$
(B.42)

Setting $T_{\kappa} = \mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa} t_I$, we can write both sides of the two equations as polynomials with respect to t_I . Since the equality must hold for all values of t_I , the coefficients of the polynomials must match on both sides, and hence

$$0 = \sum_{R,q_i} x_{R,q_i} \operatorname{tr}_R(\mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa}\mathcal{T}_{J,\kappa}\mathcal{T}_{L,\kappa})q_i$$

$$b_{\kappa} \cdot b_{ij}\mathcal{C}_{IJ} = \sum_{R,q_i,q_j} x_{R,q_i,q_j} \operatorname{tr}_R(\mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa}\mathcal{T}_{J,\kappa})q_iq_j$$
(B.43)

As before, we can write all the elements of the right-hand sides as a sum of products of the charge of each vector or hypermultiplet under $\mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa}$, $U(1)_i$ or $U(1)_j$. Each charged hypermultiplet has a corresponding type I rational curve, and its charge is given by the intersection numbers of the curve with the four-cycles of type C or S. Rewriting the right-hand sides of the equations we obtain

$$0 = \sum_{r} (c_r \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(c_r \cdot T_{J,\kappa})(c_r \cdot T_{K,\kappa})(c_r \cdot S_i)$$

$$b_{\kappa} \cdot b_{ij} \mathcal{C}_{IJ,\kappa} = \sum_{r} (c_r \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(c_r \cdot T_{J,\kappa})(c_r \cdot S_i)(c_r \cdot S_j)$$
(B.44)

Using

$$b_{\kappa} \mathcal{C}_{IJ,\kappa} = -\pi (\mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa} \cdot \mathcal{T}_{J,\kappa}), \quad \pi (\mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa} \cdot S_i) = 0, \quad b_{ij} = -\pi (S_i \cdot S_j), \quad (B.45)$$

we obtain the final expressions by rewriting the equations:

$$\pi(\mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa} \cdot S_{i}) \cdot \pi(\mathcal{T}_{J,\kappa} \cdot \mathcal{T}_{L,\kappa}) + (2 \text{ other groupings})$$

$$= \sum_{r} (c_{r} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot T_{J,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot T_{K,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot S_{i})$$

$$+ \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{J,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{K,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot S_{i})$$

$$\pi(\mathcal{T}_{I,\kappa} \cdot \mathcal{T}_{J,\kappa}) \cdot \pi(S_{i} \cdot S_{j}) + (2 \text{ other groupings})$$

$$= \sum_{r} (c_{r} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot T_{J,\kappa})(c_{r} \cdot S_{i})(c_{r} \cdot S_{j})$$

$$+ \sum_{\rho} (2g_{\rho} - 2)(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{I,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot T_{J,\kappa})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot S_{i})(\chi_{\rho} \cdot S_{j})$$
(B.46)

Note that the left hand side of the first equation is zero, and that the two other groupings in the second equation are zero. The second term on the right hand side of both equations are zero since $S_i \cdot \chi_{\rho} = 0$ by construction of type S cycles. \Box
Bibliography

- C. Itzykson and J. Zuber, "QUANTUM FIELD THEORY," New York, Usa: Mcgraw-hill (1980) 705 p.
- [2] L. Ryder, "QUANTUM FIELD THEORY," Cambridge, Uk: Univ. Pr. (1985) 443 p.
- [3] M. E. Peskin and D. V. Schroeder, "An Introduction to quantum field theory," *Reading, USA: Addison-Wesley* (1995) 842 p.
- [4] S. Weinberg, "The Quantum theory of fields. Vol. 1: Foundations," Cambridge, Uk: Univ. Pr. (1995) 609 p.
- [5] S. Weinberg, "The quantum theory of fields. Vol. 2: Modern applications," Cambridge, Uk: Univ. Pr. (1996) 489 p.
- [6] S. Weinberg, "The quantum theory of fields. Vol. 3: Supersymmetry," Cambridge, Uk: Univ. Pr. (2000) 419 p.
- [7] A. Zee, "Quantum field theory in a nutshell," Princeton, UK: Princeton Univ. Pr. (2003) 576 p.
- [8] M. Srednicki, "Quantum field theory," Cambridge, Uk: Univ. Pr. (2007) 641 p.
- [9] J. Donoghue, E. Golowich, and B. R. Holstein, "Dynamics of the standard model," Camb.Monogr.Part.Phys.Nucl.Phys.Cosmol. 2 (1992) 1-540.
- [10] S. Carlip, "Quantum gravity: A Progress report," Rept. Prog. Phys. 64 (2001) 885, arXiv:gr-qc/0108040 [gr-qc].
- [11] S. B. Giddings, "Is string theory a theory of quantum gravity?," arXiv:1105.6359 [hep-th].
- [12] R. Woodard, "How Far Are We from the Quantum Theory of Gravity?," *Rept. Prog. Phys.* 72 (2009) 126002, arXiv:0907.4238 [gr-qc].
- [13] M. B. Green, J. Schwarz, and E. Witten, "SUPERSTRING THEORY. VOL. 1: INTRODUCTION," Cambridge, UK: Univ. Pr. (1987) 469 p.

- [14] M. B. Green, J. Schwarz, and E. Witten, "SUPERSTRING THEORY. VOL.
 2: LOOP AMPLITUDES, ANOMALIES AND PHENOMENOLOGY," *Cambridge, UK: Univ. Pr.* (1987) 596 p.
- [15] J. Polchinski, "String theory. Vol. 1: An introduction to the bosonic string," Cambridge, UK: Univ. Pr. (1998) 402 p.
- [16] J. Polchinski, "String theory. Vol. 2: Superstring theory and beyond," *Cambridge, UK: Univ. Pr.* (1998) 531 p.
- [17] J. H. Schwarz, "The Early History of String Theory and Supersymmetry," arXiv:1201.0981 [physics.hist-ph].
- [18] L. Susskind, "Some speculations about black hole entropy in string theory," arXiv:hep-th/9309145 [hep-th].
- [19] A. Sen, "Extremal black holes and elementary string states," Mod. Phys. Lett. A10 (1995) 2081-2094, arXiv:hep-th/9504147 [hep-th]. 16 pages, LaTeX file Report-no: TIFR-TH-95-19.
- [20] J. Polchinski, "Dirichlet Branes and Ramond-Ramond charges," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **75** (1995) 4724–4727, arXiv:hep-th/9510017 [hep-th].
- [21] A. Strominger and C. Vafa, "Microscopic origin of the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy," Phys.Lett. B379 (1996) 99-104, arXiv:hep-th/9601029 [hep-th].
- [22] C. G. Callan and J. M. Maldacena, "D-brane approach to black hole quantum mechanics," Nucl. Phys. B472 (1996) 591-610, arXiv:hep-th/9602043
 [hep-th].
- [23] G. T. Horowitz and J. Polchinski, "A Correspondence principle for black holes and strings," *Phys.Rev.* D55 (1997) 6189-6197, arXiv:hep-th/9612146 [hep-th].
- [24] J. M. Maldacena, "The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231-252, arXiv:hep-th/9711200 [hep-th].
- [25] S. Gubser, I. R. Klebanov, and A. M. Polyakov, "Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory," *Phys.Lett.* B428 (1998) 105-114, arXiv:hep-th/9802109 [hep-th].
- [26] E. Witten, "Anti-de Sitter space and holography," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253-291, arXiv:hep-th/9802150 [hep-th].
- [27] O. Aharony, S. S. Gubser, J. M. Maldacena, H. Ooguri, and Y. Oz, "Large N field theories, string theory and gravity," *Phys.Rept.* **323** (2000) 183–386, arXiv:hep-th/9905111 [hep-th].

- [28] J. M. Maldacena, "AdS/CFT Correspondence." Aspects of Supersymmetry, Prospects in Theoretical Physics, 2010. Video of lectures available at http://video.ias.edu/pitp-2010.
- [29] J. D. Bekenstein, "Black holes and entropy," Phys. Rev. D7 (1973) 2333-2346.
- [30] S. Hawking, "Particle Creation by Black Holes," Commun. Math. Phys. 43 (1975) 199–220.
- [31] L. Susskind and E. Witten, "The Holographic bound in anti-de Sitter space," arXiv:hep-th/9805114 [hep-th].
- [32] E. Witten, "Quantum gravity in de Sitter space," arXiv:hep-th/0106109 [hep-th].
- [33] A. Strominger, "The dS / CFT correspondence," JHEP 0110 (2001) 034, arXiv:hep-th/0106113 [hep-th].
- [34] L. Dyson, J. Lindesay, and L. Susskind, "Is there really a de Sitter/CFT duality?," JHEP 0208 (2002) 045, arXiv:hep-th/0202163 [hep-th].
- [35] J. M. Maldacena, "Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models," JHEP 0305 (2003) 013, arXiv:astro-ph/0210603 [astro-ph].
- [36] M. Alishahiha, A. Karch, E. Silverstein, and D. Tong, "The dS/dS correspondence," AIP Conf.Proc. 743 (2005) 393-409, arXiv:hep-th/0407125 [hep-th].
- [37] M. Alishahiha, A. Karch, and E. Silverstein, "Hologravity," JHEP 0506 (2005) 028, arXiv:hep-th/0504056 [hep-th].
- [38] T. Banks, B. Fiol, and A. Morisse, "Towards a quantum theory of de Sitter space," JHEP 0612 (2006) 004, arXiv:hep-th/0609062 [hep-th].
- [39] B. Freivogel, Y. Sekino, L. Susskind, and C.-P. Yeh, "A Holographic framework for eternal inflation," *Phys.Rev.* D74 (2006) 086003, arXiv:hep-th/0606204 [hep-th].
- [40] L. Susskind, "The Census taker's hat," arXiv:0710.1129 [hep-th].
- [41] R. Bousso, B. Freivogel, Y. Sekino, S. Shenker, L. Susskind, et al., "Future foam: Nontrivial topology from bubble collisions in eternal inflation," *Phys. Rev.* D78 (2008) 063538, arXiv:0807.1947 [hep-th].
- [42] J. Garriga and A. Vilenkin, "Holographic Multiverse," JCAP 0901 (2009) 021, arXiv:0809.4257 [hep-th].
- [43] B. Freivogel and M. Kleban, "A Conformal Field Theory for Eternal Inflation," JHEP 0912 (2009) 019, arXiv:0903.2048 [hep-th].

- [44] J. Garriga and A. Vilenkin, "Holographic multiverse and conformal invariance," JCAP 0911 (2009) 020, arXiv:0905.1509 [hep-th].
- [45] Y. Sekino and L. Susskind, "Census Taking in the Hat: FRW/CFT Duality," *Phys.Rev.* D80 (2009) 083531, arXiv:0908.3844 [hep-th]. A preliminary version of the ideas in this paper was reported in arxiv:0710.1129.
- [46] J. Maldacena, "Vacuum decay into Anti de Sitter space," arXiv:1012.0274 [hep-th].
- [47] D. Harlow and L. Susskind, "Crunches, Hats, and a Conjecture," arXiv:1012.5302 [hep-th].
- [48] X. Dong, B. Horn, E. Silverstein, and G. Torroba, "Micromanaging de Sitter holography," *Class. Quant. Grav.* 27 (2010) 245020, arXiv:1005.5403 [hep-th].
- [49] D. Harlow and D. Stanford, "Operator Dictionaries and Wave Functions in AdS/CFT and dS/CFT," arXiv:1104.2621 [hep-th].
- [50] J. Maldacena, "Einstein Gravity from Conformal Gravity," arXiv:1105.5632 [hep-th].
- [51] D. Anninos, T. Hartman, and A. Strominger, "Higher Spin Realization of the dS/CFT Correspondence," arXiv:1108.5735 [hep-th].
- [52] D. Harlow, S. H. Shenker, D. Stanford, and L. Susskind, "Eternal Symmetree," arXiv:1110.0496 [hep-th].
- [53] C. Vafa, "The String landscape and the swampland," arXiv:hep-th/0509212 [hep-th].
- [54] H. Ooguri and C. Vafa, "On the Geometry of the String Landscape and the Swampland," Nucl. Phys. B766 (2007) 21-33, arXiv:hep-th/0605264 [hep-th].
- [55] L. Alvarez-Gaume and E. Witten, "Gravitational Anomalies," Nucl. Phys. B234 (1984) 269.
- [56] M. B. Green and J. H. Schwarz, "Anomaly Cancellation in Supersymmetric D=10 Gauge Theory and Superstring Theory," *Phys.Lett.* B149 (1984) 117-122.
- [57] D. J. Gross, J. A. Harvey, E. J. Martinec, and R. Rohm, "The Heterotic String," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 54 (1985) 502–505.
- [58] D. J. Gross, J. A. Harvey, E. J. Martinec, and R. Rohm, "Heterotic String Theory. 1. The Free Heterotic String," Nucl. Phys. B256 (1985) 253.

- [59] D. J. Gross, J. A. Harvey, E. J. Martinec, and R. Rohm, "Heterotic String Theory. 2. The Interacting Heterotic String," Nucl. Phys. B267 (1986) 75.
- [60] N. Seiberg, "Observations on the Moduli Space of Superconformal Field Theories," *Nucl. Phys.* B303 (1988) 286.
- [61] S. D. Avramis and A. Kehagias, "A Systematic search for anomaly-free supergravities in six dimensions," JHEP 0510 (2005) 052, arXiv:hep-th/0508172 [hep-th].
- [62] V. Kumar and W. Taylor, "A Bound on 6D N=1 supergravities," JHEP 0912 (2009) 050, arXiv:0910.1586 [hep-th].
- [63] V. Kumar and W. Taylor, "String Universality in Six Dimensions," arXiv:0906.0987 [hep-th].
- [64] V. Kumar, D. R. Morrison, and W. Taylor, "Mapping 6D N = 1 supergravities to F-theory," JHEP 1002 (2010) 099, arXiv:0911.3393 [hep-th].
- [65] V. Kumar, D. R. Morrison, and W. Taylor, "Global aspects of the space of 6D N = 1 supergravities," *JHEP* 1011 (2010) 118, arXiv:1008.1062 [hep-th].
- [66] S. L. Adler, "Axial vector vertex in spinor electrodynamics," Phys. Rev. 177 (1969) 2426–2438.
- [67] J. Bell and R. Jackiw, "A PCAC puzzle: pi0 -¿ gamma gamma in the sigma model," Nuovo Cim. A60 (1969) 47-61.
- [68] B. Fiol, "Populating the swampland: The Case of U(1)**496 and E(8) x U(1)**248," JHEP 1007 (2010) 090, arXiv:0809.1525 [hep-th].
- [69] A. Adams, O. DeWolfe, and W. Taylor, "String universality in ten dimensions," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 105 (2010) 071601, arXiv:1006.1352 [hep-th].
- [70] R. Bousso and J. Polchinski, "Quantization of four form fluxes and dynamical neutralization of the cosmological constant," JHEP 0006 (2000) 006, arXiv:hep-th/0004134 [hep-th].
- [71] M. R. Douglas, "The Statistics of string / M theory vacua," JHEP 0305 (2003) 046, arXiv:hep-th/0303194 [hep-th]. harvmac, 72pp (v4: fixed error in discussion of quiver ensembles).
- [72] S. Ashok and M. R. Douglas, "Counting flux vacua," JHEP 0401 (2004) 060, arXiv:hep-th/0307049 [hep-th].
- [73] F. Denef and M. R. Douglas, "Distributions of flux vacua," JHEP 0405 (2004) 072, arXiv:hep-th/0404116 [hep-th].

- [74] F. Denef and M. R. Douglas, "Distributions of nonsupersymmetric flux vacua," JHEP 0503 (2005) 061, arXiv:hep-th/0411183 [hep-th]. 28 pages, JHEP Latex format. v2: a correction further favoring high scale, v3: minor clarifications.
- [75] M. R. Douglas and W. Taylor, "The Landscape of intersecting brane models," JHEP 0701 (2007) 031, arXiv:hep-th/0606109 [hep-th].
- [76] M. R. Douglas and S. Kachru, "Flux compactification," Rev. Mod. Phys. 79 (2007) 733-796, arXiv:hep-th/0610102 [hep-th].
- [77] F. Denef, M. R. Douglas, and S. Kachru, "Physics of String Flux Compactifications," Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 57 (2007) 119–144, arXiv:hep-th/0701050 [hep-th].
- [78] H. Nishino and E. Sezgin, "Matter and Gauge Couplings of N=2 Supergravity in Six-Dimensions," *Phys.Lett.* B144 (1984) 187. Revised version.
- [79] H. Nishino and E. Sezgin, "THE COMPLETE N=2, d = 6 SUPERGRAVITY WITH MATTER AND YANG-MILLS COUPLINGS," Nucl. Phys. B278 (1986) 353-379.
- [80] M. B. Green, J. H. Schwarz, and P. C. West, "Anomaly Free Chiral Theories in Six-Dimensions," *Nucl. Phys.* B254 (1985) 327–348.
- [81] A. Strominger, "Superstrings with Torsion," Nucl. Phys. B274 (1986) 253.
- [82] L. Romans, "SELFDUALITY FOR INTERACTING FIELDS: COVARIANT FIELD EQUATIONS FOR SIX-DIMENSIONAL CHIRAL SUPERGRAVITIES," Nucl. Phys. B276 (1986) 71.
- [83] M. A. Walton, "THE HETEROTIC STRING ON THE SIMPLEST CALABI-YAU MANIFOLD AND ITS ORBIFOLD LIMITS," Phys. Rev. D37 (1988) 377.
- [84] M. Bianchi and A. Sagnotti, "On the systematics of open string theories," *Phys.Lett.* B247 (1990) 517–524.
- [85] M. Bianchi and A. Sagnotti, "Twist symmetry and open string Wilson lines," Nucl. Phys. B361 (1991) 519–538.
- [86] A. Sagnotti, "A Note on the Green-Schwarz mechanism in open string theories," *Phys.Lett.* B294 (1992) 196-203, arXiv:hep-th/9210127 [hep-th].
- [87] J. Erler, "Anomaly cancellation in six-dimensions," J.Math.Phys. 35 (1994) 1819-1833, arXiv:hep-th/9304104 [hep-th].

- [88] G. Aldazabal, A. Font, L. E. Ibanez, and F. Quevedo, "Chains of N=2, D = 4 heterotic type II duals," *Nucl. Phys.* B461 (1996) 85-100, arXiv:hep-th/9510093 [hep-th].
- [89] E. Witten, "Small instantons in string theory," Nucl. Phys. B460 (1996) 541-559, arXiv:hep-th/9511030 [hep-th].
- [90] M. Duff, R. Minasian, and E. Witten, "Evidence for heterotic / heterotic duality," Nucl. Phys. B465 (1996) 413-438, arXiv:hep-th/9601036 [hep-th].
- [91] E. G. Gimon and J. Polchinski, "Consistency conditions for orientifolds and d manifolds," *Phys.Rev.* D54 (1996) 1667-1676, arXiv:hep-th/9601038 [hep-th].
- [92] A. Dabholkar and J. Park, "An Orientifold of type IIB theory on K3," Nucl. Phys. B472 (1996) 207-220, arXiv:hep-th/9602030 [hep-th].
- [93] N. Seiberg and E. Witten, "Comments on string dynamics in six-dimensions," Nucl. Phys. B471 (1996) 121-134, arXiv:hep-th/9603003 [hep-th].
- [94] E. G. Gimon and C. V. Johnson, "K3 orientifolds," Nucl. Phys. B477 (1996) 715-745, arXiv:hep-th/9604129 [hep-th].
- [95] P. S. Aspinwall and M. Gross, "The SO(32) heterotic string on a K3 surface," *Phys.Lett.* B387 (1996) 735-742, arXiv:hep-th/9605131 [hep-th].
- [96] M. Berkooz, R. G. Leigh, J. Polchinski, J. H. Schwarz, N. Seiberg, et al., "Anomalies, dualities, and topology of D = 6 N=1 superstring vacua," Nucl. Phys. B475 (1996) 115-148, arXiv:hep-th/9605184 [hep-th].
- [97] V. Sadov, "Generalized Green-Schwarz mechanism in F theory," *Phys.Lett.* B388 (1996) 45-50, arXiv:hep-th/9606008 [hep-th].
- [98] G. Aldazabal, A. Font, L. E. Ibanez, and A. Uranga, "New branches of string compactifications and their F theory duals," *Nucl. Phys.* B492 (1997) 119-151, arXiv:hep-th/9607121 [hep-th].
- [99] R. Friedman, J. Morgan, and E. Witten, "Vector bundles and F theory," Commun.Math.Phys. 187 (1997) 679-743, arXiv:hep-th/9701162 [hep-th].
- [100] P. Berglund, A. Klemm, P. Mayr, and S. Theisen, "On type IIB vacua with varying coupling constant," *Nucl. Phys.* B558 (1999) 178-204, arXiv:hep-th/9805189 [hep-th].
- [101] F. Riccioni, "Abelian vector multiplets in six-dimensional supergravity," *Phys.Lett.* B474 (2000) 79-84, arXiv:hep-th/9910246 [hep-th].
- [102] F. Riccioni, "All couplings of minimal six-dimensional supergravity," Nucl. Phys. B605 (2001) 245-265, arXiv:hep-th/0101074 [hep-th].

- [103] R. Blumenhagen, L. Goerlich, B. Kors, and D. Lust, "Noncommutative compactifications of type I strings on tori with magnetic background flux," *JHEP* 0010 (2000) 006, arXiv:hep-th/0007024 [hep-th].
- [104] C. Angelantonj, I. Antoniadis, E. Dudas, and A. Sagnotti, "Type I strings on magnetized orbifolds and brane transmutation," *Phys.Lett.* B489 (2000) 223-232, arXiv:hep-th/0007090 [hep-th].
- [105] R. Blumenhagen, L. Goerlich, B. Kors, and D. Lust, "Magnetic flux in toroidal type I compactification," *Fortsch. Phys.* 49 (2001) 591-598, arXiv:hep-th/0010198 [hep-th].
- [106] R. Blumenhagen, V. Braun, B. Kors, and D. Lust, "Orientifolds of K3 and Calabi-Yau manifolds with intersecting D-branes," JHEP 0207 (2002) 026, arXiv:hep-th/0206038 [hep-th].
- [107] P. S. Aspinwall, "An analysis of fluxes by duality," arXiv:hep-th/0504036
 [hep-th]. 24 pages, LaTeX Report-no: DUKE-CGTP-05-02,SU-ITP-05/13.
- [108] G. Honecker, "Massive U(1)s and heterotic five-branes on K3," Nucl. Phys. B748 (2006) 126-148, arXiv:hep-th/0602101 [hep-th].
- [109] G. Honecker and M. Trapletti, "Merging Heterotic Orbifolds and K3 Compactifications with Line Bundles," JHEP 0701 (2007) 051, arXiv:hep-th/0612030 [hep-th].
- [110] G. Honecker, "Orbifolds versus smooth heterotic compactifications," arXiv:0709.2037 [hep-th].
- [111] V. Kumar and W. Taylor, "Freedom and Constraints in the K3 Landscape," JHEP 0905 (2009) 066, arXiv:0903.0386 [hep-th].
- [112] D. R. Morrison and W. Taylor, "Matter and singularities," JHEP 1201 (2012) 022, arXiv:1106.3563 [hep-th].
- [113] L. E. Ibanez and A. Uranga, "D = 6, N=1 string vacua and duality," arXiv:hep-th/9707075 [hep-th].
- [114] W. Taylor, "TASI Lectures on Supergravity and String Vacua in Various Dimensions," arXiv:1104.2051 [hep-th].
- [115] V. Kumar, D. S. Park, and W. Taylor, "6D supergravity without tensor multiplets," JHEP 1104 (2011) 080, arXiv:1011.0726 [hep-th].
- [116] D. S. Park and W. Taylor, "Constraints on 6D Supergravity Theories with Abelian Gauge Symmetry," JHEP 1201 (2012) 141, arXiv:1110.5916
 [hep-th]. 49 pages, latex/ v2: minor corrections, references added.

- [117] D. S. Park, "Anomaly Equations and Intersection Theory," JHEP 1201 (2012) 093, arXiv:1111.2351 [hep-th]. 29 pages + appendices, 8 figures/ v2: minor corrections, references added.
- [118] D. R. Morrison and C. Vafa, "Compactifications of F theory on Calabi-Yau threefolds. 1," Nucl. Phys. B473 (1996) 74-92, arXiv:hep-th/9602114 [hep-th].
- [119] D. R. Morrison and C. Vafa, "Compactifications of F theory on Calabi-Yau threefolds. 2.," Nucl. Phys. B476 (1996) 437-469, arXiv:hep-th/9603161 [hep-th].
- [120] C. Vafa, "Evidence for F theory," Nucl. Phys. B469 (1996) 403-418, arXiv:hep-th/9602022 [hep-th].
- [121] E. Witten, "Five-brane effective action in M theory," J.Geom. Phys. 22 (1997) 103-133, arXiv:hep-th/9610234 [hep-th].
- [122] D. Belov and G. W. Moore, "Holographic Action for the Self-Dual Field," arXiv:hep-th/0605038 [hep-th].
- [123] P. S. Howe, G. Sierra, and P. Townsend, "Supersymmetry in Six-Dimensions," Nucl. Phys. B221 (1983) 331.
- [124] N. Seiberg and W. Taylor, "Charge Lattices and Consistency of 6D Supergravity," JHEP 1106 (2011) 001, arXiv:1103.0019 [hep-th].
- [125] M. R. Douglas and G. W. Moore, "D-branes, quivers, and ALE instantons," arXiv:hep-th/9603167 [hep-th].
- [126] J. H. Schwarz, "Anomaly free supersymmetric models in six-dimensions," *Phys.Lett.* B371 (1996) 223-230, arXiv:hep-th/9512053 [hep-th].
- [127] E. Witten, "An SU(2) Anomaly," Phys. Lett. B117 (1982) 324-328.
- [128] J. Polchinski, "Monopoles, duality, and string theory," Int.J.Mod.Phys. A19S1 (2004) 145–156, arXiv:hep-th/0304042 [hep-th].
- [129] T. Banks and N. Seiberg, "Symmetries and Strings in Field Theory and Gravity," Phys. Rev. D83 (2011) 084019, arXiv:1011.5120 [hep-th].
- [130] S. Hellerman and E. Sharpe, "Sums over topological sectors and quantization of Fayet-Iliopoulos parameters," arXiv:1012.5999 [hep-th].
- [131] L. J. Mordell, "Diophantine Equations," London, UK: Academic Press (1969) 312 p.
- [132] P. S. Aspinwall, S. H. Katz, and D. R. Morrison, "Lie groups, Calabi-Yau threefolds, and F theory," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 4 (2000) 95-126, arXiv:hep-th/0002012 [hep-th].

- [133] A. Grassi and D. R. Morrison, "Group representations and the Euler characteristic of elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau threefolds," arXiv:math/0005196 [math-ag].
- [134] A. Grassi and D. R. Morrison, "Anomalies and the Euler characteristic of elliptic Calabi-Yau threefolds," arXiv:1109.0042 [hep-th]. 63 pages, 15 tables. v2: minor changes.
- [135] M. Bershadsky, K. A. Intriligator, S. Kachru, D. R. Morrison, V. Sadov, et al., "Geometric singularities and enhanced gauge symmetries," Nucl. Phys. B481 (1996) 215-252, arXiv:hep-th/9605200 [hep-th].
- [136] S. H. Katz and C. Vafa, "Matter from geometry," Nucl. Phys. B497 (1997) 146-154, arXiv:hep-th/9606086 [hep-th].
- [137] M. Esole and S.-T. Yau, "Small resolutions of SU(5)-models in F-theory," arXiv:1107.0733 [hep-th].
- [138] M. Esole, J. Fullwood, and S.-T. Yau, "D₅ elliptic fibrations: non-Kodaira fibers and new orientifold limits of F-theory," arXiv:1110.6177 [hep-th].
- [139] J. Marsano and S. Schafer-Nameki, "Yukawas, G-flux, and Spectral Covers from Resolved Calabi-Yau's," JHEP 1111 (2011) 098, arXiv:1108.1794 [hep-th].
- [140] S. Krause, C. Mayrhofer, and T. Weigand, "G₄ flux, chiral matter and singularity resolution in F-theory compactifications," Nucl. Phys. B858 (2012) 1-47, arXiv:1109.3454 [hep-th]. 53 pages, 2 figures/ v2: details on Freed-Witten quantisation condition included, typos corrected.
- [141] A. Grassi, "On minimal models of elliptic threefolds," Math. Ann. 290 (1991) 287301.
- [142] M. Gross, "A Finiteness theorem for elliptic Calabi-Yau threefolds," arXiv:alg-geom/9305002 [alg-geom].
- [143] D. R. Morrison and W. Taylor, "Classifying bases for 6D F-theory models," arXiv:1201.1943 [hep-th].
- [144] E. Witten, "Phase transitions in M theory and F theory," Nucl. Phys. B471 (1996) 195-216, arXiv:hep-th/9603150 [hep-th].
- S. H. Katz, D. R. Morrison, and M. Plesser, "Enhanced gauge symmetry in type II string theory," Nucl. Phys. B477 (1996) 105-140, arXiv:hep-th/9601108 [hep-th]. 43 pages using harvmac's 'big' option Report-no: OSU-M-96-1, DUKE-TH-96-103, WIS-95-62-PH.
- [146] A. Sen, "Orientifold limit of F theory vacua," *Phys.Rev.* D55 (1997) 7345-7349, arXiv:hep-th/9702165 [hep-th].

- [147] A. Sen, "F theory and orientifolds," Nucl. Phys. B475 (1996) 562-578, arXiv:hep-th/9605150 [hep-th].
- [148] R. Blumenhagen, M. Cvetic, P. Langacker, and G. Shiu, "Toward realistic intersecting D-brane models," Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 55 (2005) 71–139, arXiv:hep-th/0502005 [hep-th].
- [149] E. Witten, "Heterotic string conformal field theory and A-D-E singularities," JHEP 0002 (2000) 025, arXiv:hep-th/9909229 [hep-th].
- [150] K. A. Intriligator, "RG fixed points in six-dimensions via branes at orbifold singularities," Nucl. Phys. B496 (1997) 177-190, arXiv:hep-th/9702038 [hep-th].
- [151] K. A. Intriligator, "New string theories in six-dimensions via branes at orbifold singularities," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 1 (1998) 271-282, arXiv:hep-th/9708117 [hep-th].
- [152] J. D. Blum and K. A. Intriligator, "Consistency conditions for branes at orbifold singularities," *Nucl.Phys.* B506 (1997) 223-235, arXiv:hep-th/9705030 [hep-th].
- [153] J. D. Blum and K. A. Intriligator, "New phases of string theory and 6-D RG fixed points via branes at orbifold singularities," *Nucl. Phys.* B506 (1997) 199-222, arXiv:hep-th/9705044 [hep-th].
- [154] P. S. Aspinwall, "Point like instantons and the spin (32) / Z(2) heterotic string," Nucl. Phys. B496 (1997) 149-176, arXiv:hep-th/9612108 [hep-th].
- [155] P. S. Aspinwall and D. R. Morrison, "Point like instantons on K3 orbifolds," Nucl. Phys. B503 (1997) 533-564, arXiv:hep-th/9705104 [hep-th].
- [156] R. Blumenhagen, G. Honecker, and T. Weigand, "Loop-corrected compactifications of the heterotic string with line bundles," JHEP 0506 (2005) 020, arXiv:hep-th/0504232 [hep-th].
- [157] R. Blumenhagen, G. Honecker, and T. Weigand, "Supersymmetric (non-)Abelian bundles in the Type I and SO(32) heterotic string," JHEP 0508 (2005) 009, arXiv:hep-th/0507041 [hep-th].
- [158] R. Blumenhagen, G. Honecker, and T. Weigand, "Non-Abelian brane worlds: The Heterotic string story," JHEP 0510 (2005) 086, arXiv:hep-th/0510049 [hep-th].
- [159] T. Weigand, "Heterotic vacua from general (non-) Abelian bundles," Fortsch. Phys. 54 (2006) 505-513, arXiv:hep-th/0512191 [hep-th].
- [160] M. Buican, D. Malyshev, D. R. Morrison, H. Verlinde, and M. Wijnholt, "D-branes at Singularities, Compactification, and Hypercharge," JHEP 0701 (2007) 107, arXiv:hep-th/0610007 [hep-th].

- [161] H. Hayashi, T. Kawano, Y. Tsuchiya, and T. Watari, "More on Dimension-4 Proton Decay Problem in F-theory – Spectral Surface, Discriminant Locus and Monodromy," *Nucl. Phys.* B840 (2010) 304–348, arXiv:1004.3870 [hep-th]. 59 pages, 31 figures.
- [162] T. W. Grimm and T. Weigand, "On Abelian Gauge Symmetries and Proton Decay in Global F-theory GUTs," *Phys.Rev.* D82 (2010) 086009, arXiv:1006.0226 [hep-th].
- [163] J. Marsano, N. Saulina, and S. Schafer-Nameki, "A Note on G-Fluxes for F-theory Model Building," JHEP 1011 (2010) 088, arXiv:1006.0483 [hep-th].
- [164] J. Marsano, "Hypercharge Flux, Exotics, and Anomaly Cancellation in F-theory GUTs," *Phys.Rev.Lett.* **106** (2011) 081601, arXiv:1011.2212 [hep-th].
- [165] J. Marsano, "Hypercharge Flux, Exotics, and Anomaly Cancellation in F-theory GUTs," *Phys.Rev.Lett.* **106** (2011) 081601, arXiv:1011.2212 [hep-th].
- [166] M. J. Dolan, J. Marsano, N. Saulina, and S. Schafer-Nameki, "F-theory GUTs with U(1) Symmetries: Generalities and Survey," *Phys.Rev.* D84 (2011) 066008, arXiv:1102.0290 [hep-th].
- [167] T. W. Grimm, M. Kerstan, E. Palti, and T. Weigand, "Massive Abelian Gauge Symmetries and Fluxes in F-theory," *JHEP* 1112 (2011) 004, arXiv:1107.3842 [hep-th]. 49 pages.
- [168] R. Wazir, "Arithmetic on elliptic threefolds," Compos. Math. 140 (2004) 567–580.
- [169] K. Hulek and R. Kloosterman, "Calculating the Mordell-Weil rank of elliptic threefolds and the cohomology of singular hypersurfaces," arXiv:0806.2025v3 [math.AG].
- [170] P. Griffiths and J. Harris, Principles of Algebraic Geometry. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1978.
- [171] W. Fulton, Intersection Theory. Springer Verlag, 1984.
- [172] T. W. Grimm and H. Hayashi, "F-theory fluxes, Chirality and Chern-Simons theories," arXiv:1111.1232 [hep-th]. 53 pages, 5 figures; v2: typos corrected, minor improvements.
- [173] S. Ferrara, R. Minasian, and A. Sagnotti, "Low-energy analysis of M and F theories on Calabi-Yau threefolds," *Nucl. Phys.* B474 (1996) 323-342, arXiv:hep-th/9604097 [hep-th].

- [174] T. W. Grimm, "The N=1 effective action of F-theory compactifications," Nucl. Phys. B845 (2011) 48-92, arXiv:1008.4133 [hep-th].
- [175] F. Denef, "Les Houches Lectures on Constructing String Vacua," arXiv:0803.1194 [hep-th].
- [176] A. Cadavid, A. Ceresole, R. D'Auria, and S. Ferrara, "Eleven-dimensional supergravity compactified on Calabi-Yau threefolds," *Phys.Lett.* B357 (1995) 76-80, arXiv:hep-th/9506144 [hep-th].
- [177] I. Antoniadis, S. Ferrara, and T. Taylor, "N=2 heterotic superstring and its dual theory in five-dimensions," *Nucl. Phys.* B460 (1996) 489-505, arXiv:hep-th/9511108 [hep-th].
- [178] S. Ferrara, R. R. Khuri, and R. Minasian, "M theory on a Calabi-Yau manifold," *Phys.Lett.* B375 (1996) 81–88, arXiv:hep-th/9602102 [hep-th].
- [179] P. S. Aspinwall, "K3 surfaces and string duality," arXiv:hep-th/9611137 [hep-th].
- [180] J. A. Harvey and G. W. Moore, "Algebras, BPS states, and strings," Nucl. Phys. B463 (1996) 315-368, arXiv:hep-th/9510182 [hep-th].
- [181] J. A. Harvey and G. W. Moore, "On the algebras of BPS states," Commun.Math.Phys. 197 (1998) 489-519, arXiv:hep-th/9609017 [hep-th].
- [182] F. Bonetti and T. W. Grimm, "Six-dimensional (1,0) effective action of F-theory via M-theory on Calabi-Yau threefolds," arXiv:1112.1082
 [hep-th]. 55 pages.
- [183] T. Shioda, "Mordell-Weil lattices and Galois representation. I," Proc. Japan Acad. 65A (1989) 268–271.
- [184] M. Fukae, Y. Yamada, and S.-K. Yang, "Mordell-Weil lattice via string junctions," Nucl. Phys. B572 (2000) 71-94, arXiv:hep-th/9909122 [hep-th].
- [185] Z. Guralnik, "String junctions and nonsimply connected gauge groups," JHEP 0107 (2001) 002, arXiv:hep-th/0102031 [hep-th].
- [186] V. Braun, "Toric Elliptic Fibrations and F-Theory Compactifications," arXiv:1110.4883 [hep-th].
- [187] D. Perrin, Algebraic geometry: an introduction. Springer, 2008.
- [188] K. Schellekens, unpublished.
- [189] A. Klemm, B. Lian, S. Roan, and S.-T. Yau, "Calabi-Yau fourfolds for M theory and F theory compactifications," *Nucl. Phys.* B518 (1998) 515-574, arXiv:hep-th/9701023 [hep-th]. 60 pages, harvmac.tex, 1 figure blow.eps Report-no: EFI-97-01.

- [190] A. Strominger, "Open p-branes," Phys.Lett. B383 (1996) 44-47, arXiv:hep-th/9512059 [hep-th].
- [191] S. Sethi, C. Vafa, and E. Witten, "Constraints on low dimensional string compactifications," Nucl. Phys. B480 (1996) 213-224, arXiv:hep-th/9606122 [hep-th].
- [192] P. Aluffi and M. Esole, "New Orientifold Weak Coupling Limits in F-theory," JHEP 1002 (2010) 020, arXiv:0908.1572 [hep-th].
- [193] J. Fullwood, "On generalized Sethi-Vafa-Witten formulas," arXiv:1103.6066 [math.AG].
- [194] A. Adams, N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dubovsky, A. Nicolis, and R. Rattazzi,
 "Causality, analyticity and an IR obstruction to UV completion," *JHEP* 0610 (2006) 014, arXiv:hep-th/0602178 [hep-th].
- [195] M. Brigante, H. Liu, R. C. Myers, S. Shenker, and S. Yaida, "Viscosity Bound Violation in Higher Derivative Gravity," *Phys. Rev.* D77 (2008) 126006, arXiv:0712.0805 [hep-th].
- [196] M. Brigante, H. Liu, R. C. Myers, S. Shenker, and S. Yaida, "The Viscosity Bound and Causality Violation," *Phys.Rev.Lett.* 100 (2008) 191601, arXiv:0802.3318 [hep-th].
- [197] D. M. Hofman and J. Maldacena, "Conformal collider physics: Energy and charge correlations," JHEP 0805 (2008) 012, arXiv:0803.1467 [hep-th].
- [198] D. M. Hofman, "Higher Derivative Gravity, Causality and Positivity of Energy in a UV complete QFT," Nucl. Phys. B823 (2009) 174-194, arXiv:0907.1625 [hep-th].
- [199] J. Callan, Curtis G., J. A. Harvey, and A. Strominger, "Supersymmetric string solitons," arXiv:hep-th/9112030 [hep-th].
- [200] A. Sen, "String string duality conjecture in six-dimensions and charged solitonic strings," Nucl. Phys. B450 (1995) 103-114, arXiv:hep-th/9504027 [hep-th].
- [201] J. A. Harvey and A. Strominger, "The heterotic string is a soliton," Nucl. Phys. B449 (1995) 535-552, arXiv:hep-th/9504047 [hep-th].
- [202] A. M. Uranga, "D-brane probes, RR tadpole cancellation and K theory charge," Nucl. Phys. B598 (2001) 225-246, arXiv:hep-th/0011048 [hep-th].
- M. Duff, S. Ferrara, R. R. Khuri, and J. Rahmfeld, "Supersymmetry and dual string solitons," *Phys.Lett.* B356 (1995) 479-486, arXiv:hep-th/9506057 [hep-th]. 13 pages, harvmac Report-no: CTP-TAMU-50/94, CERN-TH/95-122, UCLA 95/TEP-15, McGill/95-23, NI-94-035.

- [204] M. Duff, H. Lu, and C. Pope, "Heterotic phase transitions and singularities of the gauge dyonic string," *Phys.Lett.* B378 (1996) 101-106, arXiv:hep-th/9603037 [hep-th].
- [205] P. Candelas, X. C. De La Ossa, P. S. Green, and L. Parkes, "A Pair of Calabi-Yau manifolds as an exactly soluble superconformal theory," *Nucl. Phys.* B359 (1991) 21–74.
- [206] R. Donagi and M. Wijnholt, "Model Building with F-Theory," arXiv:0802.2969 [hep-th]. 49p, 5 figs, Latex.
- [207] R. Donagi and M. Wijnholt, "Higgs Bundles and UV Completion in F-Theory," arXiv:0904.1218 [hep-th].
- [208] C. Beasley, J. J. Heckman, and C. Vafa, "GUTs and Exceptional Branes in F-theory - I," JHEP 0901 (2009) 058, arXiv:0802.3391 [hep-th].
- [209] C. Beasley, J. J. Heckman, and C. Vafa, "GUTs and Exceptional Branes in F-theory - II: Experimental Predictions," JHEP 0901 (2009) 059, arXiv:0806.0102 [hep-th].
- [210] H. Hayashi, T. Kawano, R. Tatar, and T. Watari, "Codimension-3 Singularities and Yukawa Couplings in F-theory," Nucl. Phys. B823 (2009) 47-115, arXiv:0901.4941 [hep-th]. 90 pages.
- [211] R. Blumenhagen, T. W. Grimm, B. Jurke, and T. Weigand, "Global F-theory GUTs," *Nucl.Phys.* B829 (2010) 325–369, arXiv:0908.1784 [hep-th]. 56 pages, 8 tables.
- [212] M. Cvetic, I. Garcia-Etxebarria, and J. Halverson, "Global F-theory Models: Instantons and Gauge Dynamics," JHEP 1101 (2011) 073, arXiv:1003.5337 [hep-th].
- [213] M. Cvetic, I. Garcia Etxebarria, and J. Halverson, "Three Looks at Instantons in F-theory – New Insights from Anomaly Inflow, String Junctions and Heterotic Duality," JHEP 1111 (2011) 101, arXiv:1107.2388 [hep-th].
- [214] A. P. Braun, A. Collinucci, and R. Valandro, "G-flux in F-theory and algebraic cycles," *Nucl.Phys.* B856 (2012) 129–179, arXiv:1107.5337
 [hep-th]. 55 pages, 1 figure/ added refs, corrected typos.
- [215] T. Weigand, "Lectures on F-theory compactifications and model building," Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 214004, arXiv:1009.3497 [hep-th]. Invited contribution to the proceedings of the CERN Winter School on Supergravity, Strings and Gauge Theory 2010, to appear in Classical and Quantum Gravity/ 63 pages/ v2: references added, typos corrected.
- [216] E. Dudas and E. Palti, "On hypercharge flux and exotics in F-theory GUTs," JHEP 1009 (2010) 013, arXiv:1007.1297 [hep-ph].

- [217] H. Georgi, "LIE ALGEBRAS IN PARTICLE PHYSICS. FROM ISOSPIN TO UNIFIED THEORIES," Front. Phys. 54 (1982) 1–255.
- [218] R. N. Cahn, Semisimple Lie Algebras And Their Representations, vol. 59 of Frontiers In Physics. Menlo Park, Usa: Benjamin/cummings, 1984.
- [219] M. Bershadsky and C. Vafa, "Global anomalies and geometric engineering of critical theories in six-dimensions," arXiv:hep-th/9703167 [hep-th].
- [220] S. Elitzur and V. Nair, "NONPERTURBATIVE ANOMALIES IN HIGHER DIMENSIONS," Nucl. Phys. B243 (1984) 205.